

Insights in:Psychopathology research

Edited by

Antoine Bechara, Xavier Noel, Ofir Turel, Drozdstoy Stoyanov Stoyanov and Diogo Telles-Correia

Published in Frontiers in Psychology Frontiers in Psychiatry





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source

acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-83252-129-8 DOI 10.3389/978-2-83252-129-8

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

Insights in: Psychopathology research

Topic editors

Antoine Bechara — University of Southern California, United States Xavier Noel — Université libre de Bruxelles, Belgium Ofir Turel — California State University, Fullerton, United States Drozdstoy Stoyanov Stoyanov — Plovdiv Medical University, Bulgaria Diogo Telles-Correia — University of Lisbon, Portugal

Citation

Bechara, A., Noel, X., Turel, O., Stoyanov, D. S., Telles-Correia, D., eds. (2023). Insights in: Psychopathology Research. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-83252-129-8

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.



Table of contents

- 04 Editorial: Insights in: Psychopathology research Drozdstoy Stoyanov, Diogo Telles Correia, Antoine Bechara, Ofir Turel and Xavier Noel
- 07 Spanish Validation of the Multidimensional Existential Meaning Scale: Which Dimension of Meaning in Life Is More Associated With Psychopathology in People With Mental Disorders?

Jose Heliodoro Marco, Joaquín García-Alandete, Sandra Pérez Rodríguez, Verónica Guillén, Rosa M. Baños and Maria Pilar Tormo-Irun

- 17 Dissociative Model in Patients With Resistant Schizophrenia Georgi Panov
- 24 Can Cognitive Control and Attentional Biases Explain More of the Variance in Depressive Symptoms Than Behavioral Processes? A Path Analysis Approach Audrey Krings, Jessica Simon, Arnaud Carré and Sylvie Blairy
- 40 Comparative Analysis of Lateral Preferences in Patients With Resistant Schizophrenia Georgi Panov
- 47 Cognitive remediation for depression vulnerability: Current challenges and new directions Yannick Vander Zwalmen, Kristof Hoorelbeke, Eveline Liebaert, Constance Nève de Mévergnies and Ernst H.W. Koster
- 54 Gender-associated role in patients with schizophrenia. Is there a connection with the resistance? Georgi Panov
- 61 Intersection of anxiety and negative coping among Asian American medical students Michelle B. Moore, David Yang, Amanda M. Raines, Rahn Kennedy Bailey and Waania Beg
- 67 Going beyond the DSM in predicting, diagnosing, and treating autism spectrum disorder with covarying alexithymia and OCD: A structural equation model and process-based predictive coding account

Darren J. Edwards

- 94 Adolescence between biology and culture a perspective on the crisis of symbolization Stefano Carta and Stefania Cataudella
- 100 Physiological reactivity at rest and in response to social or emotional stimuli after a traumatic brain injury: A systematic review

Alice Bodart, Sandra Invernizzi, Laurent Lefebvre and Mandy Rossignol

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Qinghua He, Southwest University, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Drozdstoy Stoyanov Image: drozdstoy.stoyanov@mu-plovdiv.bg

 $^{\dagger}\mbox{These}$ authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Psychopathology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

RECEIVED 19 February 2023 ACCEPTED 09 March 2023 PUBLISHED 24 March 2023

CITATION

Stoyanov D, Telles Correia D, Bechara A, Turel O and Noel X (2023) Editorial: Insights in: Psychopathology research. *Front. Psychol.* 14:1169631. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2023.1169631

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Stoyanov, Telles Correia, Bechara, Turel and Noel. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: Insights in: Psychopathology research

Drozdstoy Stoyanov^{1*†}, Diogo Telles Correia^{2†}, Antoine Bechara³, Ofir Turel⁴ and Xavier Noel⁵

¹Department of Psychiatry and Medical Psychology, Plovdiv Medical University, Plovdiv, Bulgaria, ²Department of Psychiatry and Medical Psychology, University of Lisbon, Lisbon, Portugal, ³Department of Psychology, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, CA, United States, ⁴Information Systems Management, School of Computing and Information Systems, Faculty of Engineering and Information Technology, The University of Melbourne, Melbourne, VIC, Australia, ⁵Laboratoire de Psychologie Médicale et Addictologie, Université Libre de Bruxelles, Brussels, Belgium

KEYWORDS

psychopathology, mental disorder (disease), diagnostics, clinical assessment and patient diagnosis, psychodiagnosis methods

Editorial on the Research Topic Insights in: Psychopathology research

Modern psychopathology is going through a period of necessary transition. Traditionally, it has been associated with the historical legacy of Franco-German and Russian classical authors who studied symptoms and syndromes with the precision of clinical descriptions. We can mention the milestone contributions of J. E. D. Esquirol and Jules Baillarger (hallucinations), Karl Ludwig Kahlbaum (catatonia and paraphrenia), W. Mayer-Gross and S. T. Stoianov (oneiroid syndrome), Victor K. Kandinsky (pseudo-hallucinations), Valentin Magnan (delusions), Sergey S. Korsakoff and Carl Wernicke (eponymous syndrome), among many others.

Both J. H. Jackson and H. Ey took cross-sectional and longitudinal approaches to the formation of symptoms and the evolution of syndromes. These led to the concept of dissolution.

It was not until the end of the nineteenth century that psychopathology began to focus on the explanatory mechanisms of mental disorders, which at that time were arguably attributed to degenerative factors from a post-Darwinian evolutionary perspective (Bénédict Morel). In the same period, Emil Kraepelin attempted to introduce what he understood to be a medical or nosological system of mental disorders, sparking controversies over the possibility of producing a universal psychiatric classification. His robust approach was almost immediately confronted by the phenomenological psychopathology of Karl Jaspers, which in practice denied categories in psychopathology and higher-order medical taxonomy. This view is still very influential (Stanghellini and Fuchs, 2013).

As a result, psychopathology in the twentieth century was torn apart by diverse and incompatible conceptual explanations of mental phenomena in health and disease. In order to escape from this impasse, instrumentalist descriptive psychopathology was introduced, where diagnostic procedures and criteria followed clinical ratings and structured interviews. This led to scientific anarchy in the late twentieth century, where "anything goes" and diagnostic systems were under constant debate and revision.

The more recent interventions in neuroscience were not successful in providing an epistemological platform for new psychopathology, as there exist major methodological gaps between psychopathology and neuroscience. The majority of neurobiological studies remained exhaustively focused on state-independent measures, combined as endophenotypes. Only a limited number of authors and research groups have targeted clinical

states using "symptom" capture paradigms, e.g., verbal acoustic hallucinations (Hugdahl et al., 2022), paranoid delusions, and depressive symptoms (Aryutova et al., 2021).

Despite encouraging advances in molecular neuroscience and functional neuroimaging, especially in the areas of resting-state functional (Stoyanov et al., 2022) and effective connectivity (Kandilarova et al., 2021), the caveats that undermine the production of a meaningful psychiatric nosology remain.

The persistent problem of how to define normal mental functions and classify mental disorders beyond high-level clusters, prototypes, or dimensional diagnosis remains.

This Research Topic is dedicated to new findings in psychopathology research, with the clear understanding that there are many overlaps and shared trans-diagnostic areas of inquiry.

This issue begins with an original paper by Krings et al. that explores the proportion of variance in depressive symptoms that can be explained by processes targeted by behavioral activation. It was concluded that activation, behavioral avoidance, brooding, and anticipatory pleasure are relevant processes to target in order to reduce depressive symptoms, while cognitive control and attentional biases are not (Krings et al.).

The second article in this issue by Marco et al. validates the Multidimensional Existential Meaning Scale in a Spanish-speaking sample. It resulted in an adequate version to assess the three dimensions of meaning in Spanish-speaking participants (Marco et al.).

The third study, by Panov (a), looks at the connection between the degree of dissociation and resistance to therapy in 106 patients with schizophrenia. The author concluded that patients with resistant schizophrenia have a much higher level of dissociation than patients in clinical remission and suggested that resistance to the administered antipsychotics is associated with the presence of high dissociation in the group of resistant patients [Panov (a)].

In the fourth work, also an original study, Panov (b) looks at the relation between functional lateralization and the effect of treatment in patients with schizophrenia. An increased number of patients with cross-dominance left eye dominance was found in patients with schizophrenia [Panov (b)].

The fifth article of this issue, by Vander Zwalmen et al., reviews the current state-of-the-art of cognitive control training as an intervention to reduce vulnerability to depression. Several issues are discussed, such as (i) identifying working mechanisms and potential moderators of CCT; (ii) establishing conditions for the effective use of CCT; and (iii) evaluating possible combinations of CCT with other antidepressant interventions (Vander Zwalmen et al.).

The sixth article included, by Moore et al., consists of a systematic, nationwide survey to assess the relationship between anxiety and depression symptoms and coping skills among Asian American medical students. It was concluded that Asian American

References

students who experience anxiety were more likely to use avoidant or negative coping strategies and that those experiencing depressive symptoms were not more likely to utilize these negative coping strategies (Moore et al.).

The seventh study, by Bodart et al., systematically reviews the physiological reactivity at rest and in response to social or emotional stimuli after a traumatic brain injury. It was concluded that although electrodermal activity responses were frequently reported in patients with traumatic brain injury, other measures did not consistently indicate an impairment in physiological reactivity (Bodart et al.).

The eighth article included, by Carta and Cataudella, consists of a perspective on the historical transformation of adolescence—itself a psychological developmental process embedded in sociocultural history.

The ninth article in this issue is an original study that aims at identifying direct and indirect associations among alexithymia, OCD, cardiac interoception, psychological inflexibility, and self-ascontext with DV ASD and depression. The results are discussed in relation to the limitations of the DSM with its categorical focus on protocols for syndromes (Edwards).

The final contribution is a brief research report by Panov (c), which purports to analyze the perceived gender role in patients with schizophrenia, looking for differences between patients with treatment resistance and those in clinical remission. A higher percentage of schizophrenic patients who showed a higher identification with the female gender role was found [Panov (c)].

Author contributions

DS and DT wrote together the manuscript. AB, OT, and XN edited and approved it. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Aryutova, K., Paunova, R., Kandilarova, S., Todeva-Radneva, A., and Stoyanov, D. (2021). Implications from translational cross-validation of clinical assessment tools for diagnosis and treatment in psychiatry. *World J. Psychiatry* 11, 169–180. doi: 10.5498/wjp.v11.i5.169

Hugdahl, K., Craven, A. R., Johnsen, E., Ersland, L., Stoyanov, D., Kandilarova, S., et al. (2022). Neural activation in the ventromedial prefrontal cortex precedes conscious experience of being in or out of a transient hallucinatory state. *Schizophr. Bull.* 49 (Suppl_1), S58–S67. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbac028

Kandilarova, S., Stoyanov, D. S., Paunova, R., Todeva-Radneva, A., Aryutova, K., and Maes, M. (2021). Effective connectivity between major nodes of the limbic system, salience and frontoparietal networks differentiates schizophrenia and mood disorders from healthy controls. *J. Pers. Med.* 11, 1110. doi: 10.3390/jpm1111110

Stanghellini, G., and Fuchs, T. (eds.). (2013). One Century of Karl Jaspers' General

Psychopathology. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.

Stoyanov, D., Khorev, V., Paunova, R., Kandilarova, S., Simeonova, D., and Badarin, A. (2022). Resting-state functional connectivity impairment in patients with major depressive episode. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 19, 14045. doi: 10.3390/ijerph192114045



Spanish Validation of the Multidimensional Existential Meaning Scale: Which Dimension of Meaning in Life Is More Associated With Psychopathology in People With Mental Disorders?

Jose Heliodoro Marco^{1,2*}, Joaquín García-Alandete¹, Sandra Pérez Rodríguez¹, Verónica Guillén^{1,2}, Rosa M. Baños^{1,2} and Maria Pilar Tormo-Irun³

¹ University of Valencia, Valencia, Spain, ² CIBER Fisiopatología Obesidad y Nutrición (CIBEROBN), Madrid, Spain, ³ Valencian International University, Valencia, Spain

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Drozdstoy Stoyanov Stoyanov, Plovdiv Medical University, Bulgaria

rontiers

in Psychiatry

Reviewed by:

Rosario Josefa Marrero Quevedo, University of La Laguna, Spain Kristina Stoyanova, Plovdiv Medical University, Bulgaria

> *Correspondence: Jose Heliodoro Marco iose.h.marco@uv.es

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychopathology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 10 December 2021 Accepted: 05 January 2022 Published: 02 February 2022

Citation:

Marco JH, García-Alandete J, Pérez Rodríguez S, Guillén V, Baños RM and Tormo-Irun MP (2022) Spanish Validation of the Multidimensional Existential Meaning Scale: Which Dimension of Meaning in Life Is More Associated With Psychopathology in People With Mental Disorders? Front. Psychiatry 13:832934. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.832934 **Background:** To assess three dimensions of Meaning in Life (comprehension, purpose, and mattering) the Multidimensional Existential Meaning Scale (MEMS) was developed, however, the MEMS's factorial structure has not yet been confirmed in a Spanish-speaking sample. A question that remains unanswered is which of the three dimensions of MiL are associated with psychopathology in clinical samples.

Aims: (1) to analyze the psychometric properties of the MEMS in a Spanish non-clinical population, and (2) to identify which of the three dimensions of MiL shows the strongest relationship with depression, anxiety and positive affect in a clinical population.

Method: The non-clinical sample, consisted of N = 1106 Spanish adults, and the clinical sample consisted of 88 adults diagnosed with mental disorders. A Confirmatory Factor Analysis and regression analysis were carried out.

Results: The three-factor model for the MEMS showed an acceptable fit, and full invariance across gender groups. In the clinical sample, the mattering dimension had the highest association with depression and anxiety, and purpose with positive affect.

Conclusion: The MEMS is an adequate instrument to assess the three dimensions of meaning in Spanish-speaking participants. These results support the importance of evaluating the MiL construct from a multidimensional perspective in clinical samples.

Keywords: meaning in life, coherence, purpose, mattering, positive affect

INTRODUCTION

Meaning in life (MIL) can be defined as the extent to which one's life is experienced as making sense, being directed and motivated by important goals, and mattering in the world. Several scales have been developed to assess MiL, both unidimensional scales, such as the Purpose in Life scale (PIL) (1), and multidimensional scales, such as the Meaning in Life Questionnaire (MLQ) (2). Multidimensional models seem to assess MiL more accurately than unidimensional models

7

by distinguishing different facets or dimensions of MiL. Even the PIL, a classic instrument for the assessment of MiL, has shown better psychometric properties and been found to be more clinically useful when different dimensions have been distinguished (3). Therefore, it appears that multidimensional models for the assessment of MiL are preferrable to unidimensional models.

and Martela Steger (4) elaborated a tripartite conceptualization of MiL, suggesting that MiL would be made up of three clearly interconnected dimensions that interact with each other, making us feel that life has meaning: Comprehension, purpose, and mattering. The comprehension dimension refers to the extent to which people feel their life is coherent, predictable, and connected as a whole (5, 6). Thus, comprehension is the cognitive dimension of MiL. Low comprehension of one's life means that the person feels that his/her life is incoherent, fragmented, and confused. An example would be the feeling of low comprehension that occurs after experiencing a traumatic event that has violated one's schemes about the world and one's life. The violation of these schemes would reduce comprehension and increase distress (7). In contrast, people with high comprehension feels that their life is meaningful, that everything happens in a coherent way, and that the positive or negative events that occur daily are integrated into their global schemes. Previous studies found that the meaning-making process moderates and mediates several mental disorders, such as posttraumatic stress disorder (8), eating disorders (9), adjustment disorders (10), and stress (11).

The purpose dimension refers to the extent to which a person's life is aimed at achieving specific goals and values (12), and the extent to which the person takes responsibility for these goals. Thus, purpose is the motivational dimension. This dimension was originally proposed by Viktor Frankl (13), who suggested that human beings should be directed toward something or someone greater than themselves that transcends them, in order to experience MiL. High-purpose people feel that their life is oriented toward functional, adaptive goals that extend beyond themselves. These people usually develop creative goals (doing something, work, academic career, hobbies, among others) and experiential goals (loving something or someone, feeling, caring, interpersonal relationships, among others). Low-purpose people feel that their life is not oriented toward functional or important goals for them, or they feel that their life has no purpose. The dimension of purpose has been negatively associated with borderline personality disorder psychopathology (14), hopelessness (15), and mortality risk (16).

The mattering dimension, also known as significance (4), refers to the extent to which people feel that their existence is important and significant and has intrinsic value to the world (17). People high in mattering think that they are valuable for merely existing, that life has intrinsic value, and that if they did not exist the world would have been different. People feel that their life matters because it is important to the people around them (e.g., interpersonal relationships). When people experience mattering, they feel that their actions and existence make a difference in the world around them and that their lives are valuable (18). Thus, mattering is based on a global evaluation

of one's life from a spiritual or existential perspective. Mattering is the affective dimension of MiL, and it has been found to be positively associated with positive affect, self-esteem, and wellbeing (19), and negatively associated with hostility, aggression, and negative affect (20, 21).

Although mattering is the dimension of MiL that has been investigated least and, to our knowledge, there are no studies with clinical populations, there has recently been an increased interest in this dimension and its role in the MiL construct. Costin and Vignoles (18), in a longitudinal study with a nonclinical population, analyzed which of the three dimensions of meaning (coherence, purpose, and mattering) made a greater contribution to the feeling of MiL, and they found that mattering was the greatest predictor of MiL. These results suggest the need to use instruments that measure the three dimensions of meaning and analyze their differential contributions to psychopathology and mental health.

To assess the comprehension, purpose, and mattering dimensions of MiL George and Park (22) developed the Multidimensional Existential Meaning Scale (MEMS). To develop the MEMS, 43 items were generated to capture the three dimensions of MiL. These items were qualitatively examined by several experts in measuring MiL, and 29 items were retained. Three samples of university students from the United States were utilized to perform several exploratory and confirmatory factor analyses (CFA), and the MEMS was reduced to 15 items to evaluate the three dimensions of MiL: items 1, 7, 8, 10, and 14 assess comprehension; items 3, 5, 6, 9, and 12 assess purpose; and items two (which is reverse-scored), 4, 11, 13, and 15 assess mattering. The MEMS subscales showed good internal consistency, and good validity (the subscales showed strong associations with the Presence subscale of the MLQ). Moreover, the MEMS subscales were associated with wellbeing variables, such as positive affect. Comprehension had the highest negative association with psychopathology constructs (depression, anxiety, and negative affect), and purpose had the highest positive association with positive affect.

In a sample with 401 Polish participants a CFA was performed on the Polish version of the MEMS confirmed the reliability and validity of the trifactorial structure of a reduced scale containing nine items (23). The Comprehension factor was composed of items 7, 8, and 10; the Purpose factor consisted of items 3, 5, and 9; and the Mattering factor contained items 2, 13, and 15. Finally, the three subscales were highly and positively associated with MiL, assessed with the PIL and the MLQ Presence subscale.

In summary, the MEMS has been shown to be a reliable and valid instrument to assess the three dimensions of MiL (comprehension, purpose, and mattering) in English- and Polishspeaking samples. However, its factorial structure has not yet been analyzed and confirmed in a sample of Spanish-speaking people. Moreover, previous studies have associated the three dimensions of MiL with psychopathology variables however they have always been carried out in non-clinical populations (2). In addition, a question that remains unanswered is which of the three dimensions presents a greater association with psychopathology and positive affect in patients diagnosed with mental disorders. The identification of these relationships would allow a better understanding of the functioning of these variables as protective factors that can help to improve prevention or treatment programs for some mental disorders.

The present study has two aims: (1) to analyze the psychometric characteristics and confirm the factorial structure of the MEMS in a Spanish non-clinical population (Sample 1); and (2) to identify which of the three dimensions of MiL, assessed with the MEMS (comprehension, purpose, or mattering), shows the strongest relationship with psychopathological distress and positive affect in a clinical population (Sample 2).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

The non-clinical sample (Sample 1) consisted of N = 1106Spanish participants between 18 and 83 years old (M = 35.05; SD = 13.72); 80.4% were women. The majority of the participants were married (51.1%) or single (42%), 5.9% were separated or divorced, and 1% widowed. Regarding their level of education, 49.6% of the sample had a university degree, 33.1% had a university master's degree, 16.3% had secondary studies, and 1% had primary studies. All participants were Spanish. The exclusion criterion was having been diagnosed with any mental disorder.

The clinical sample (Sample 2) consisted of 88 participants with a mean age of 29.34 (SD = 11.95), and a range of 19–67 years; n = 80 (90.9%) were women. The inclusion criteria were being an adult, having a diagnosis of a mental disorder, and receiving psychiatric or psychological treatment at the time of the evaluation. Regarding the residence country, 52 participants (59.1%) were from Spain, and 33 participants (40.9%) were from other Spanish-speaking South American countries. Regarding marital status, 54 participants (60.4%) were single or separated, and 34 participants (38.6%) were married. Most of the participants (n = 68, 77.3%) did not have children, and 38.6% were employed.

Regarding clinical characteristics of the sample, 88 participants (100%) were undergoing pharmacological or psychological treatment, 42 participants (47.72%) were diagnosed with anxiety disorders, 24 participants (27.27%) were diagnosed with depressive disorders, nine participants (10.22%) were diagnosed with bipolar disorders, nine participants (10.22%) were diagnosed with obsessive compulsive disorder, and four participants (4.54%) were diagnosed with posttraumatic stress disorder.

Instruments

The Multidimensional Existential Meaning Scale (MEMS) (22) assesses the MiL dimensions: Comprehension, purpose, and mattering, with a total of 15 items (e.g. "My life makes sense"; "I have overarching goals that guide me in my life"; "I understand my life"; "I know what my life is"). Likert type responses are given on a seven-point scale (1 = Very strongly disagree; 7 = Very strongly agree). This self-report is described in the introduction section. In our sample, the three MEMS subscales showed adequate internal consistency: Comprehension ($\overline{\omega} = 91$), Purpose ($\overline{\omega} = 92$), and Mattering ($\overline{\omega} = 86$). For this study, the MEMS was translated from English to Spanish by two PhD

researchers who are experts in MIL assessment, and subsequently a back translation from Spanish to English was carried out by two other expert PhD researchers. The whole translation and back translation process were overseen by a bilingual native English editor.

The Brief Symptom Inventory 18 [BSI-18; (24, 25)]. The BSI-18 was designed to assess psychopathological distress. This instrument consists of 18 items rated on a five-point Likert scale (0 = Not at all; 4 = Extremely) indicating the presence of the symptom in the past seven days. The BSI-18 yields a global score, the General Severity Index, and three subscale scores: somatization, depression, and anxiety. In this study, we used the depression, anxiety subscale and the General Severity Index. In the present study, excellent internal consistency was found for the BSI-18 total scale ($\overline{\omega} = 0.96$).

The Positive and Negative Affect Schedule [PANAS; (26, 27)]. The questionnaire includes 20 adjective items, 10 assessing positive affect (PANAS-P) and 10 assessing negative affect (PANAS-N). Respondents are asked to rate the extent to which they had experienced each particular emotion within a specified time period, using a five-point scale (1 = Very slightly or not at all; 5 = Very much). In this study, both affect subscales showed adequate internal consistency: PANAS-P, $\overline{\omega} = 0.92$, and PANAS-N, $\overline{\omega} = 0.88$.

Purpose In Life Test-10 [PIL-10; (28)]. This scale is a reduced Spanish version of the PIL (29), and it is composed of a 10-item Likert scale related to different aspects of meaning in life (e.g., "In life I have many definite goals and longings"). The PIL-10 has two subscales. The total score ranges from 10 to 70: higher scores indicate greater MiL. In this study, the PIL-10 showed adequate internal consistency ($\overline{\omega} = 0.94$).

Procedure

For the present study, two samples were selected: Sample 1 was composed of non-clinical participants, and Sample 2 was composed of clinical participants. For the two samples, we used snowball sampling techniques to recruit participants through main social networks (Facebook, WhatsApp, Twitter, Linkedin, and Instagram) and a massive mailing to the researchers' contacts in May and July 2020. In Internet announcements, we described the study and requirements for participation. All participants provided their consent to participate in the study, and they answered a 20-min survey using the Google Forms online platform. The inclusion criteria were being 18 years old, speaking Spanish, and signing the informed consent. In this online survey, the following question appeared: "Are you currently diagnosed with a mental disorder?" "Indicate which one"; and "Are you in psychiatric or psychological treatment for your mental disorder at this time?" yes/no. If the participants did not have any diagnosis and were not receiving psychiatric or psychological treatment, we considered them for the non-clinical sample. If, on the other hand, the participants had a diagnosis of a mental disorder and were currently undergoing psychiatric or psychological treatment, they were part of the clinical sample. Participants did not receive any compensation for participating in the study.

Data Analyses

With the participants in the non-clinical sample, we carried out the following analyses: First, descriptive statistics, skewness, kurtosis, and internal consistency (McDonald's ω) of the scales used in this study were calculated. Second, descriptive statistics of the MEMS items as well as the item-rest correlations and the average inter-item correlations of the MEMS subscales were calculated. Third, a Confirmatory Factor Analysis (CFA) was carried out to evaluate the structural validity of the MEMS, and a Multi-Group Confirmatory Factor Analysis (MG-CFA) was performed to evaluate the structural invariance of the MEMS subscales across gender and age groups (30). Because Mardia's coefficient, normalized estimate, was higher than five (that is, multivariate normality was not assumed) and the MEMS subscales are ordinal scales, robust methods (31) and the Diagonally Weighted Least Squares method (DWLS) were used (32). Fit indices included the Comparative Fit Index (CFI) (values \geq 0.90 indicate acceptable fit; values \geq 0.95 indicate good model fit) and the Root Mean Square Error of Approximation (RMSEA) (values <0.08 indicate acceptable model fit; values \leq 0.05 indicate good model fit) [e.g., (33)]. To evaluate the fit difference between nested models, the differences between both the CFI and RMSEA indices (Δ CFI and Δ RMSEA, respectively) were used (values ≤ 0.01 in both the Δ CFI and an increasing <0.015 in the Δ RMSEA indicate non-significant differences between the models) [e.g., (34, 35). Fourth, the convergent validity of the MEMS subscales was reported with the Average Variance Extracted AVE, which should be > 0.50) (33), and the discriminant validity was obtained by squaring the correlation between the factors of the scale. Fifth, the correlations with the PIL-10 (meaning in life) and PANAS-P (positive affect) were analyzed to report the concurrent validity of the MEMS subscales. The correlations between the MEMS subscales and the BIS and PANAS-N (negative affect) were calculated to report the divergent validity. Sixth, the differences between men and women and between the age groups on the MEMS subscales were analyzed using the Mann-Whitney test and the Kruskal-Wallis test, respectively.

With the participants in the clinical sample, we performed four linear regression analyses with the participants diagnosed with mental disorders, taking the model composed of comprehension, purpose, and mattering as predictor variables and the BSI-18 depression subscale, BSI-18 anxiety subscale, general distress (BSI-18 overall score), and PANAS-P as dependent variables. For all these statistical analyses, the JASP $0.14.1^{\odot}$ statistical software (36) was used. Interpretations of effect sizes were based on Cohen (37).

RESULTS

Descriptive Statistics of the Scales Used in This Study

Table 1 shows the means, standard deviations, skewness, and kurtosis of the items on the MEMS, the McDonald's omega, and the item-rest correlations.

TABLE 1 | Descriptive statistics and internal consistency of the scales used in this study in the non-clinical sample.

	MEMS	subscale					
	Comprehension	Purpose	Mattering	PIL-10	BSI	PANAS-P	PANAS-N
М	28.39	30.26	26.41	53.94	23.45	36.90	26.84
SD	5.60	5.09	7.12	10.60	17.57	7.13	8.42
Sk	-0.94	-1.35	-0.78	-0.78	0.41	-0.42	-0.04
Κ	0.83	2.01	-0.09	0.46	-1.15	0.07	-0.73
$\bar{\omega}$	0.91	0.92	0.86	0.94	0.96	0.92	0.88

N = 1,106. Sk = Skewness; K = Kurtosis. Skewness Standard Error was 0.07. Kurtosis Standard Error was 0.15.

Table 2 shows the descriptive statistics, skewness, and kurtosis of the MEMS items, as well as the corrected item-total correlations, all of which showed values >0.40, indicating very good discrimination (38).

The average inter-item correlations of the MEMS subscales were higher than 0.30 and lower than 0.80: 0.658 for the Comprehension subscale, 0.702 for the Purpose subscale, and 0.545 for the Mattering subscale. That is, the MEMS subscales did not show homogeneity and multicollinearity problems (39).

Structural Validity of the MEMS and Invariance Across Gender and Age Groups

The MEMS showed a good fit: $SB\chi^2_{(87)} = 262.953$, p < 0.001, CFI = 0.991, RMSEA = 0.043 [0.037, 0.049] (Figure 1). All parameters were significant, p < 0.05.

Configural invariance, metric invariance, scalar invariance, and strict invariance across gender groups, as well as configural invariance across age groups, were obtained (**Table 3**).

Construct Validity of the MEMS

Convergent validity. The AVE values were good, >0.50, for the MEMS subscales: Comprehension, AVE = 0.67; Purpose, AVE = 0.70; and Mattering-R, AVE = 0.64; indicating good convergent validity of these scales (33).

Discriminant validity. The squared correlations between the MEMS subscales were lower than the AVE values, indicating discriminant validity (40): Comprehension-Purpose, $r_s^2 = 0.65$; Comprehension-Mattering, $r_s^2 = 0.59$; and Purpose-Mattering, $r_s^2 = 0.43$.

Concurrent Validity of the MEMS Subscales

The MEMS subscales showed strong, positive correlations with both the PIL-10 and PANAS-P, and small to intermediate, negative correlations with both the BSI and PANAS-N (37) (**Table 4**).

Differences on the MEMS Between Gender and Age Groups

Because the Shapiro-Wilk test suggested a deviation from normality, the Mann-Whitney test for independent samples was used for the gender-related differences in the MEMS subscales. Women showed higher means than men on the three MEMS

TABLE 2 | Descriptive statistics of the MEMS items.

MEMS subscale	Item	Statement	М	SD	Skw	К	Corrected r _{item-total}
Comprehension	1	My life makes sense / Mi vida tiene sentido	6.05	1.193	-1.40	1.93	0.691
	7	I know what my life is about / Yo sé de qué trata mi vida	5.65	1.40	-1.11	1.00	0.804
	8	I can make sense of the things that happen in my life / Puedo construir un sentido de las cosas que pasan en mi vida	5.83	1.21	-1.09	1.11	0.798
	10	I understand my life / Comprendo mi vida	5.59	1.34	-0.95	0.60	0.840
	14	Looking at my life as a whole, things seem clear to me / Mirando mi vida como un todo, las cosas parecen evidentes	5.27	1.43	-0.65	-0.04	0.689
Purpose	3	I have aims in my life that are worth striving for / Tengo objetivos en mi vida por los que vale la pena luchar	6.30	1.05	-1.74	3.25	0.782
	5	I have certain life goals that guide me to keep going / Tengo ciertas metas en la vida que me obligan a seguir adelante	6.10	1.15	-1.50	2.44	0.792
	6	I have overarching goals that guide me in my life / Tengo objetivos globales que me guían en mi vida	5.99	1.21	-1.41	2.18	0.809
	9	I have goals goals in my life that are very important to me / Tengo metas y objetivos en mi vida muy importantes para mí	6.09	1.14	-1.40	2.02	0.855
	12	My direction in life in motivating to me / Mi sentido en la vida es motivador para mí	5.79	1.28	-1.20	1.37	0.744
Mattering	2	There is nothing special about my existence / No hay nada que haga especial mi existencia	5.93	1.72	-1.59	1.40	0.454
	4	Even a thousand year from now, it would still matter whether I existed of not / Incluso dentro de mil años, todavía importaría si yo existiera o no	4.71	2.06	-0.53	-0.95	0.701
	11	Whether my life ever existed matters even in the grand scheme of the universe / Si mi vida alguna vez existió, fue importante en el esquema general del universo	4.73	1.94	-0.55	-0.79	0.742
	13	I am certain that my life is of importance / Estoy seguro de que mi vida es importante	5.75	1.40	-1.25	1.28	0.714
	15	Even considering how big the universe is, I can say that my life matters / Incluso considerando lo grande que es el universo, puedo decir que mi vida importa	5.39	1.70	-1.09	0.45	0.762

N = 1,106. Sk = Skewness; K = Kurtosis. In parentheses, the standard error. Skewness Standard Error was 0.07; Kurtosis Standard Error was 0.15.

subscales. The difference was significant for the Purpose subscale (**Table 5**).

For the differences in the MEMS subscales between age groups, because the normality test was significant, the nonparametric Kruskal-Wallis test was used for comparisons. Likewise, because Levene's test for equality of variances was significant for the MEMS subscales (Comprehension: $F_{(2,1103)} =$ 8.360, p < 0.01; Purpose: $F_{(2,1103)} = 3.404$, p < 0.05; Mattering: $F_{(2,1103)} = 7.964$, p < 0.01), the Games-Howell *post-hoc* test was used (**Table 6**).

On both the Comprehension and Purpose subscales, the higher the age range, the higher the mean. On the Mattering subscale, the age group that showed the highest mean ranged from 25 to 41 years old, followed by the 42-year-old and up group and the 15–24-year-old group. Mean differences were significant for all the comparisons, except for those between the 15–24-year-old group and the 25–41-year-old group on the Purpose subscale, $p_{Tukey} = 0.743$, and between the 25–42-year-old group and the 42-year-old and up group on the Mattering subscale, $p_{Tukey} = 0.288$.

The Predictive Role of Each MiL Dimension in Psychopathology in Participants With Mental Disorders

Regarding psychopathology of participants with mental disorders comprehension was highly and negatively associated with

depression, and psychopathological distress. Purpose and mattering were highly and negatively associated with depression. Mattering was highly and negatively associated with depression, and psychopathological distress. Positive affect, was moderately and positively associated the three dimensions of MiL. The rest of the correlations can be seen in **Table 7**.

Depressive symptoms. The model composed of comprehension, purpose, and mattering was a significant predictor of depressive symptoms ($r^2 = 0.52$, $F_{(3,84)} = 30.32$, p < 0.001). The proposed model accounted for 52 % of the variance in depressive symptoms. When the individual contribution of each dimension of MiL was analyzed, mattering was the most strongly associated with depressive symptoms, followed by comprehension (**Table 8**).

Anxiety symptoms. The proposed model was a significant predictor of anxiety symptoms ($r^2 = 0.22$, $F_{(3,84)} = 8.052$, p < 0.001). The proposed model accounted for 22 % of the variance in anxiety symptoms. When the individual contribution of each dimension of MiL was analyzed, only mattering was a significant predictor of anxiety symptoms (**Table 8**).

Psychopathological distress. The proposed model was a significant predictor of general psychopathology (BSI-18 total scale) ($r^2 = 0.35$, $F_{(3,84)} = 14.88$, p < 0.001). The proposed model accounted for 35% of the variance in general psychopathology. When the individual contribution of each dimension of MiL was analyzed, only mattering was a significant predictor of anxiety symptoms (**Table 8**).



Positive affect. Finally, the proposed model was a significant predictor of positive affect ($r^2 = 0.24$, $F_{(3,84)} = 8.807$, p < 0.001). The proposed model accounted for 24% of the variance in positive affect. When the individual contribution of each dimension of MiL was analyzed, only purpose was a significant predictor of positive affect (**Table 8**).

DISCUSSION

The results obtained in the present study indicate that the three-factor model for the MEMS (comprehension, purpose, and mattering) showed an acceptable fit, similar to the original structure (22), in a sample of Spanish participants. The scale showed good internal consistency in the three factors, with acceptable indexes. The MEMS showed full invariance across gender groups, whereas only configural invariance across age groups was obtained. Moreover, our results showed good convergent validity and discriminant validity of the three MEMS subscales. Regarding concurrent validity, the MEMS subscales showed high, positive correlations with both the PIL-10 and PANAS-P, and low to medium, negative correlations with both the BSI-18 and PANAS-N.

Thus, our results support the original three-factor structure (22), and they coincide with Gerymski and Krok's study (23), which analyzed the factorial structure of the MEMS questionnaire in Poland. However, in the Polish validation, although the factorial structure with three factors was confirmed, the scale was reduced to nine items. In our study, in addition to confirming the original factorial structure, the same items were maintained in each factor as in the original. Thus, this is the first study to fully confirm the MEMS factorial structure in a sample of non-American participants.

Women showed higher means than men on the three MEMS subscales. The difference was significant for the purpose subscale. On the one hand, these results are consistent with those found in Spanish validation studies of one-dimensional MiL measures, such as the PIL, where women had higher scores than men (41). On the other hand, in studies of one-dimensional MiL measurements carried out in Anglo-Saxon samples, no differences were found in the MiL constructs depending on gender (1, 2). Thus, the differences in MiL scores between men and women could be due to sociocultural factors. Future studies should investigate the role of social, cultural, and religious factors in the elaboration of MiL, and analyze the properties of MEM in non-Western samples, such as African or Asian populations) (42).

On both the comprehension and purpose subscales, the higher age ranges showed higher scores. On the mattering subscale, the age group that showed the highest mean was the 25–41-year-old group, followed by the 42-and-up group and then the 15–24year-old group. These results are similar to other studies that found that MiL assessed with the MLQ (presence of meaning) was positively associated with age (2), confirming that MiL and its dimensions is positively associated with age.

After confirming the factorial structure of the MEMS in the Spanish population, the second objective of the present study was to analyze which dimension of the MiL was most associated with different types of psychopathology, distress, and positive affect in a sample of participants diagnosed with mental disorders who were undergoing psychological or pharmacological treatment. Our results indicate that the different MiL dimensions are differentially associated with different symptoms of psychopathology and positive affect. Depressive symptoms were more robustly associated with both the mattering and comprehension dimensions. Symptoms of anxiety were associated with the mattering dimension. Psychopathological distress (composed of symptoms of anxiety, depression, and somatization together) was predicted primarily by the mattering dimension. Thus, in our clinical sample, the mattering dimension had a higher association with psychopathology than comprehension or purpose. These results support previous studies that found that mattering was negatively associated with suicide ideation (43) and other studies that showed the positive influence of mattering on mental health (44, 45). However, these results differ from other studies in non-clinical populations where the comprehension dimension showed a stronger association with psychopathology than the purpose and mattering dimensions [e.g., (22)]. Mattering, consists of two dimensions: interpersonal mattering and societal

TABLE 3 Invariance model for	the MEMS across gende	er and age groups.
--------------------------------	-----------------------	--------------------

	Model	SBχ² (df)	р	CFI	RMSEA [90% CI]	$\Delta SB\chi^2$ (df)	∆CFI	∆RMSEA
Gender	Baseline men	113.960 (87)	0.028	0.992	0.035 [0.012, 0.052]			
	Baseline women	175.093 (87)	0.000	0.995	0.034 [0.027, 0.042]			
	Configural	289.053 (174)	0.000	0.994	0.035 [0.027, 0.042]			
	Metric	304.980 (186)	0.000	0.994	0.034 [0.027, 0.041]	15.927 (12)	0.000	0.001
	Scalar	315.038 (198)	0.000	0.994	0.033 [0.026, 0.039]	10.058 (12)	0.000	0.001
	Strict	324.494 (213)	0.000	0.994	0.031 [0.024, 0.037]	9.456 (15)	0.000	0.002
Age	Baseline 18-24	63.340 (87)	0.974	1.000	0.000 [0.000, 0.000]			
	Baseline 25–41	124.919 (87)	0.005	0.996	0.029 [0.017, 0.040]			
	Baseline 42-83	70.903 (87)	0.895	1.000	0.000 [0.000, 0.015]			
	Configural	259.162 (261)	0.521	1.000	0.000 [0.000, 0.020]			
	Metric	395.885 (285)	0.000	0.994	0.033 [0.024, 0.040]	136.723 (24)	0.006	0.033
	Scalar	495.337 (309)	0.000	0.990	0.040 [0.034, 0.047]	99.452 (24)	0.004	0.007
	Strict	557.750 (339)	0.000	0.988	0.042 [0.036, 0.048]	62.413 (30)	0.002	0.002

 $\ensuremath{\mathsf{TABLE 4}}\xspace$] Correlations between the MEMS subscales and the PIL-10, BIS, and PANAS scales.

	MEMS subcale							
	Comprehension	Purpose	Mattering					
PIL-10	0.745**	0.726**	0.647**					
BSI	-0.272**	-0.343**	-0.073*					
PANAS-P	0.618**	0.599**	0.500**					
PANAS-N	-0.229**	-0.282**	-0.070*					

Spearman's Rho was used.

*p < 0.05 (bilateral); **p < 0.01 (bilateral).

mattering (46). Interpersonal mattering refers to a person's perception that he or she matters to others and societal mattering is "the feeling of making a difference in the broader scheme of sociopolitical events—of feeling that one's thoughts and actions have an impact, create ripples, are felt" (46). In people with mental disorders, both dimensions of mattering could be impaired. Previous studies about mental health symptoms and socio-economic conditions found that people with mental disorders showed poor social support, high unemployment rate (61.4% in our sample), and have functional disability (47).

Finally, positive affect was predicted by the purpose dimension. The association between purpose and positive affect obtained in our clinical sample coincides with the results of previous studies with non-clinical populations (22).

Our results support previous studies that demonstrated that multidimensional questionnaires to evaluate MiL showed better psychometric properties and better results when related to well-being or psychopathology variables than one-dimensional models (2).

These results have important clinical implications. Although previous studies found a strong association between MiL and psychopathology (9, 10, 14, 15), these studies considered **TABLE 5** | Descriptive statistics for men and women in the MEMS subscales and

 Mann-Whitney test.

				scripti atistic		Mann-Whitney test			
MEMS subscale	Group	N	М	SD	SE	W	p	r _b	
Comprehension	Men	251	28.016	5.592	0.353	100846.000	0.152	-0.059	
	Women	854	28.500	5.603	0.192				
Purpose	Men	251	29.618	5.027	0.317	93865.500	0.002	-0.124	
	Women	854	30.451	5.096	0.174				
Mattering	Men	251	26.000	7.244	0.457	102443.500	0.285	-0.044	
	Women	854	26.542	7.088	0.243				

For the Mann-Whitney test, effect size is given by the rank biserial correlation, rb.

MiL as a one-dimensional construct, which made it difficult to know what the most important MiL components were and, thus, develop specific interventions focused on the most important MiL dimensions for each patient. On the one hand, our results suggest that when distress symptoms, especially anxiety and depressive symptoms, are present, it would be helpful to carry out psychological interventions that focus on the mattering dimension. On the other hand, to increase positive affect, our results suggest that it might be necessary to intervene in the purpose dimension. Review studies suggest that meaning-centered therapies strongly improve quality of life and reduce psychological distress, particularly in transitional moments in life, participants with chronic illnesses, and patients with low meaning in life (48).

Our study has several limitations. First, the sampling method employed snowball techniques to recruit participants through main social networks (Facebook, WhatsApp, Twitter, Linkedin, and Instagram). Therefore, the sample may not be representative TABLE 6 Descriptive statistics, Kruskal-Wallis test, and post-hoc test for the differences between groups in the MEMS subscales.

			Descrip	tive statistics	Krusl	cal-W	allis test	Games-H	lowell post-hoc co	mparis	ons age	groups	
MEMS subscale	Age group	N	М	SD	н	df	p	Comparison	Mean Difference	SE	t	df	p _{Tukey}
Comprehension	15–24	298	26.46	5.74	59.527	2	0.000	15-24/25-41 years	-2.275	0.417	-5.461	615.525	0.000
	25–41	513	28.73	5.68				15-24/42+ years	-3.283	0.433	-7.590	572.991	0.000
	42+	295	29.74	4.75				25-41/42+ years	-1.008	0.373	-2.700	703.386	0.019
Purpose	15–24	298	29.73	5.04	17.207	2	0.000	15-24/25-41 years	-0.276	0.376	-0.735	652.018	0.743
	25–41	513	30.01	5.36				15-24/42+ years	-1.516	0.393	-3.861	585.134	0.000
	42+	295	31.25	4.51				25-41/42+ years	-1.240	0.353	-3.508	699.909	0.001
Mattering	15–24	298	23.12	7.47	89.959	2	0.000	15-24/25-41 years	-4.773	0.524	-9.112	566.433	0.000
	25-41	513	27.89	6.69				15-24/42+ years	-4.055	0.572	-7.095	579.420	0.000
	42+	295	27.17	6.41				25-41/42+ years	0.718	0.476	1.508	633.980	0.288

TABLE 7 | Correlations between the variables studied in clinical participants.

	M (SD)	2	3	4	5	6	7
1 Comprehension (MEMS)	24.93 (7.06)	0.78*	0.78*	-0.67*	-0.42*	-0.55*	0.45*
2 Purpose (MEMS)	28.62 (6.32)		0.76*	-0.64*	-0.36*	-0.48*	0.46*
3 Mattering (MEMS)	21.65 (8.12)			-0.67*	-0.46*	-0.56*	0.36*
4 Depression (BSI)	10.62 (6.42)				0.71*	0.86*	-0.19*
5 Anxiety (BSI)	9.86 (6.32)					0.93*	-0.12
6 General Psychopathology (BSI)	29.02 (16.79)						-0.01
7 Positive Affect (PANAS)	31.92 (5.30)						

MEMS, Multidimensional Existencial Meaning Scale; BSI, Brief Simptoms Scale; PANAS, Positive Negative Affect Schedule.

*p < 0.01.

TABLE 8 Regression analyses predicting depression, anxiety, general
psychopathology, and positive affect in participants with mental disorders.

Dependent variable	Predictor variable	B standardized	SE	t
Depressive symptoms	Comprehension	-0.248	0.124	-2.001*
	Purpose	-0.187	0.134	-1.396
	Mattering	-0.256	0.104	-2.467*
Anxiety	Comprehension	-0.164	0.155	-1.056
	Purpose	0.065	0.168	0.385
	Mattering	-0.287	0.130	-2.204*
General psychopathology	comprehension	-0.676	0.377	-1.792
	Purpose	-0.003	0.408	-0.007
	Mattering	-0.700	0.316	-2.214*
Positive affect	Comprehension	0.213	0.129	1.652
	Purpose	0.269	0.139	1.931*
	Mattering	0.068	0.108	-0.626

*p < 0.01; **p < 0.001.

of the general Spanish population. Furthermore, although the Spanish version of the MEMS has shown adequate psychometric characteristics, an analysis of test-retest reliability could not be performed. Future studies should be longitudinal and confirm the test-retest reliability of the MEMS. To recruit the clinical sample, no diagnosis was made by psychologists specialized in clinical psychology or psychiatrists, and so the diagnoses were not confirmed. The results must be understood in terms of association, rather than prediction or causality, because the study was cross-sectional and not experimental.

Despite the aforementioned limitations, our study suggests that the MEMS is an adequate instrument to assess the three dimensions of MiL (comprehension, purpose, and mattering) in Spanish-speaking participants. Moreover, our results suggest that it is necessary to assess MiL from a multidimensional perspective. The present study tries to make a modest contribution to this line of research.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Valencian University Ethics Committee. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JM drafted the manuscript with important contributions from JG-A and VG. JM in collaboration with JG-A,

VG, RB, SR and MT-I, designed the study and participated in each of its phases. JG-A, VG, RB, SR and MT-I translated and adapted the MEMS. All authors participated in the review and revision of the manuscript and have approved the final manuscript to be published.

REFERENCES

- Crumbaugh JC, Maholick LT. An experimental study in existentialism: the psychometric approach to Frankl's concept of noogenic neurosis. J Clin Psychol. (1964) 20:200– 7. doi: 10.1002/1097-4679(196404)20:2<200::aid-jclp2270200203>3.0.co;2-u
- Steger MF, Frazier P, Oishi S, Kaler M. The meaning in life questionnaire: assessing the presence of and search for meaning in life. J Couns Psychol. (2006) 53:80–93. doi: 10.1037/0022-0167.53.1.80
- Schulenberg S, Melton AM. A confirmatory factor-analytic evaluation of the purpose in life test: preliminary psychometric support for a replicable two-factor model. J Happiness Stud. (2010) 11:95–111. doi: 10.1007/s10902-008-9124-3
- Martela F, Steger MF. The three meanings of meaning in life: distinguishing coherence, purpose, and significance. J Posit Psychol. (2016) 11:531– 45. doi: 10.1080/17439760.2015.1137623
- 5. Baumeister RF. Meanings of life. Guilford Press (1991).
- Reker GT, Wong PTP. Aging as an individual process: toward a theory of personal meaning. In; Birren JE, Bengston VL, editors. *Emergent Theories of Aging*, Springer (1988). p. 214–46.
- 7. Park CL. Making sense of the meaning literature: an integrative review of meaning making and its effects on adjustment to stressful life events. *Psychological Bulletin.* (2010) 136:257–301. doi: 10.1037/a0018301
- Currier JM, Holland JM, Malott J. Moral injury, meaning making, and mental health in returning veterans. J Clin Psychol. (2015) 71:229– 40. doi: 10.1002/jclp.22134
- Marco JH, Alonso S, Baños R. Meaning-making as a mediator of anxiety and depression reduction during cognitive behavioral therapy intervention in participants with adjustment disorders. *Clin Psychol Psychother*. (2021) 28:325–33. doi: 10.1002/cpp.2506
- Marco JH, Cañabate M, Pérez S, Guillén V, Botella C, Baños R. The meaning making model of eating disorders (MESTA): a preliminary analysis of the model. *Behav Psychol.* (2021) 29:5–8. doi: 10.51668/bp.8321101n
- Krok D. Religiousness, spirituality, and coping with stress among late adolescents: a meaning-making perspective. J Adolesc. (2015) 45:196– 203. doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2015.10.004
- George LS, Park CL. Meaning in life as comprehension, purpose, and mattering: toward integration and new research questions. *Rev Gen Psychol.* (2016) 20:205–20. doi: 10.1037/gpr0000077
- 13. Viktor Frankl VE. *Man's Search for Meaning: An Introduction to Logotherapy*. Washington, DC; Square Press (1963).
- Marco JH, Pérez S, García-Alandete J, Moliner R. Meaning in life in people with borderline personality disorder. *Clin Psychol Psychother*. (2017) 24:162– 70. doi: 10.1002/cpp.1991
- Marco JH, Cañabate M, Llorca G, Pérez S. Meaning in life moderates hopelessness, suicide ideation, and borderline psychopathology in participants with eating disorders: a longitudinal study. *Clin Psychol Psychother.* (2020) 27:146–58. doi: 10.1002/cpp.2414
- Hill PL, Turiano NA. Purpose in life as a predictor of mortality across adulthood. *Psychol Sci.* (2014) 25:1482–6. doi: 10.1177/0956797614531799
- George LS, Park CL. Existential mattering: bringing attention to a neglected but central aspect of meaning? In; Batthyany A, Russo-Netzer P, editors. *Meaning in Positive and Existential Psychology*. Springer (2014). p. 39–51.
- Costin V, Vignoles VL. Meaning is about mattering: evaluating coherence, purpose, and existential mattering as precursors of meaning in life judgments. *J Pers Soc Psychol.* (2020) 118:864–84. doi: 10.1037/pspp0000225
- Rayle AD. Adolescent gender differences in mattering and wellness. J Adolesc. (2005) 28:753–63. doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2004.10.009

FUNDING

This research received any specific grant from Consejeria de Innovación, Universidades, Ciencia y Sociedad Digital: Subvenciones para Grupos de Investigación Consolidables – AICO/2021 Ref: 20210862.

- Elliott CG, Cunningham SM, Colangelo M, Gelles RJ. Perceived mattering to the family and physical violence within the family by adolescents. *J Fam Issues*. (2011) 32:1007–29. doi: 10.1177/0192513X11398932
- Jung AK, Heppner MJ. Development and validation of a work mattering scale (WMS). J Career Assess. (2017) 25:467–83. doi: 10.1177/1069072715599412
- George LS, Park CL. The multidimensional existential meaning scale: a tripartite approach to measuring meaning in life. J Posit Psychol. (2017) 12:613–27. doi: 10.1080/17439760.2016.1209546
- Gerymski R, Krok D. A polish adaptation of the multidimensional existential meaning scale: internal structure, reliability, and validity. *Roczniki Psychologiczne*. (2020) 23:173–90. doi: 10.18290/rpsych20232-4
- Derogatis LR, Melisaratos N. The brief symptom inventory: an introductory report. Psychol Med. (1983) 13:595–605. doi: 10.1017/S0033291700048017
- Mezzich JE, Ruipérez MA, Pérez C, Yoon G, Liu J, Mahmud S. The Spanish version of the quality of life index: presentation and validation. *J Nerv Ment Dis.* (2000) 188:301–5. doi: 10.1097/00005053-200005000-00008
- Watson D, Clark LA, Tellegen A. Development and validation of brief measures of positive and negative affect: the PANAS scales. J Pers Soc Psychol. (1988) 54:1063–70. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.54.6.1063
- Sandín B, Chorot P, Lostao L, Joiner TE, Santed MA, Valiente RM. Escalas PANAS de afecto positivo y negativo: validación factorial y convergencia transcultural. *Psicothema*. (1999) 11:37–51.
- 28. García-Alandete J, Rosa E, Sellés P. Estructura factorial y consistencia interna de una versión española del purpose-in-life test [factorial structure and internal consistency of a Spanish version of the purpose-in-life test]. Universitas Psychologica. (2013) 12:517–30. doi: 10.11144/Javeriana.UPSY12-2.efci
- 29. Crumbaugh JC, Maholick LT. *Manual of Instructions for the Purpose in Life Test.* Abilene, TX: Viktor Frankl Institute of Logotherapy (1969).
- Vandenberg RJ, Lance CE. A review and synthesis of the measurement invariance literature Suggestions, practices, and recommendations for organizational research. Organ Res Methods. (2000) 3:4–70. doi: 10.1177/109442810031002
- Bentler PM. EQS 6. Structural Equations Program Manual. Multivariate Software Inc (2006). Available online at: http://www.econ.upf.edu/ \$\sim\$satorra/CourseSEMVienna2010/EQSManual.pdf (accessed July 15, 2021).
- Li CH. The performance of ML, DWLS, and ULS estimation with robust corrections in structural equation models with ordinal variables. *Psychol Methods*. (2016) 21:369–87. doi: 10.1037/met0000093
- Hair JF, Black WC, Babin BJ, Anderson RE. Multivariate Data Analysis (7th ed). Prentice-Hall (2010).
- Chen FF. Sensitivity of goodness of fit indexes to lack of measurement invariance. Struct Equ Model. (2007) 14:464– 504. doi: 10.1080/10705510701301834
- Cheung GW, Rensvold RB. Evaluating goodness-of-fit indexes for testing measurement invariance. *Struct Equ Model.* (2002) 9:233–55. doi: 10.1207/S15328007SEM0902_5
- JASP Team (2020). JASP (Version 0.14.1) [Computer software]. Available online at: https://jasp-stats.org/
- 37. Cohen J. Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences (2nd ed). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates (1988).
- 38. De Vaus D. Surveys In Social Sciences. Routledge (2013).
- 39. Tabachnik BG, Fidell LS. Using Multivariate Statistics. Harper Collins (1989).
- Henseler J, Ringle CM, Sarstedt M. A new criterion for assessing discriminant validity in variance-based structural equation modeling. J Acad Mark Sci. (2014) 43:115–35. doi: 10.1007/s11747-014-0403-8

- 41. García-Alandete J, Martínez ER, Soucase Lozano B, Gallego-Pérez JF. Diferencias asociadas al sexo en las puntuaciones total y factoriales del Purpose-In-Life Test en universitarios españoles [Sex-related differences in the total and factorial scores of the Purpose-In-Life Test among Spanish undergraduates]. Universitas Psychologica. (2011) 10:681–92. doi: 10.11144/Javeriana.upsy10-3.dasp
- Chao MM, Kesebir P. Culture: the grand web of meaning. In; Hicks JA, Routledge C. The Experience of Meaning in Life: Classical Perspectives, Emerging Themes, Controversies. Springer (2013) p. 317–31.
- Elliott GC, Colangelo M, Gelles RJ. Mattering and suicide ideation: establishing and elaborating a relationship. Soc Psychol Q. (2005) 68:223– 38. doi: 10.1177/019027250506800303
- 44. Dixon SK, Kurpius SER. Depression and college stress among university undergraduates: do mattering and self-esteem make a difference? *J Coll Stud Dev.* (2008) 49:412–24. doi: 10.1353/csd. 0.0024
- Tovar E, Simon MA, Lee HB. Development and validation of the college mattering inventory with diverse Urban college students. *Meas Eval Couns Dev.* (2009) 42:154–78. doi: 10.1177/0748175609 344091
- Rosenberg M. Self-concept and psychological well-being in adolescence. In; Leahy R. The Development of the Self. New York, NY: Academic Press (1985). p. 205–46.
- 47. Molarius A, Berglund K, Eriksson C, Eriksson HG, Lindén-Boström M, Nordström E, et al. Mental health symptoms in relation to socio-economic

conditions and lifestyle factors-a population-based study in Sweden. *BMC Public Health.* (2009) 9:1–9. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-9-302

 Vos J, Vitali D. The effects of psychological meaning-centered therapies on quality of life and psychological stress: a meta-analysis. *Palliat Supportive Care.* (2018) 16:608–32. doi: 10.1017/S1478951517 000931

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Marco, García-Alandete, Pérez Rodríguez, Guillén, Baños and Tormo-Irun. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Dissociative Model in Patients With Resistant Schizophrenia

Georgi Panov*

Psychiatric Clinic, University Hospital for Active Treatment "Prof. D-R Stoian Kirkovic", Trakia University, Stara Zagora, Bulgaria

Background: Schizophrenia is a severe mental illness in which, despite the growing number of antipsychotics from 30 to 50% of patients remain resistant to treatment. Many resistance factors have been identified. Dissociation as a clinical phenomenon is associated with a loss of integrity between memories and perceptions of reality. Dissociative symptoms have also been found in patients with schizophrenia of varying severity. The established dispersion of the degree of dissociation in patients with schizophrenia gave us reason to look for the connection between the degree of dissociation and resistance to therapy.

Methods: The type of study is correlation analysis. 106 patients with schizophrenia were evaluated. Of these, 45 with resistant schizophrenia and 60 with clinical remission. The Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale (PANSS) and Brief Psychiatric Rating Scale (BPRS) scales were used to assess clinical symptoms. The assessment of dissociative symptoms was made with the scale for dissociative experiences (DES). Statistical methods were used to analyze the differences in results between the two groups of patients.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Drozdstoy Stoyanov Stoyanov, Plovdiv Medical University, Bulgaria

Reviewed by:

Masaru Tanaka, University of Szeged, Hungary Petar Petrov, Medical University of Varna, Bulgaria

> *Correspondence: Georgi Panov gpanov@dir.bg

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychopathology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 29 December 2021 Accepted: 21 January 2022 Published: 15 February 2022

Citation:

Panov G (2022) Dissociative Model in Patients With Resistant Schizophrenia. Front. Psychiatry 13:845493. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.845493 **Results:** Patients with resistant schizophrenia have a higher level of dissociation than patients in remission. This difference is significant and demonstrative with more than twice the level of dissociation in patients with resistant schizophrenia.

The level of dissociation measured in patients with resistant schizophrenia is as high as the points on the DES in dissociative personality disorder.

Conclusion: Patients with resistant schizophrenia have a much higher level of dissociation than patients in clinical remission. The established difference between the two groups support to assume that resistance to the administered antipsychotics is associated with the presence of high dissociation in the group of resistant patients. These results give us explanation to think about therapeutic options outside the field of antipsychotic drugs as well as to consider different strategies earlier in the diagnostic process.

Keywords: resistance, schizophrenia, dissociation, resistant schizophrenia, treatment, diagnosis, antipsychotic drugs

BACKGROUND

Schizophrenia is a serious mental illness which is characterized by changes in information processing as a consequence of misinterpretation of stimuli from the external environment. As a result, the clinical picture is characterized by positive symptoms (delusions and hallucinations), negative (apathy, anhedonia, dull affect, and loss of social cohesion), and cognitive ones with

17

changes in attention and working memory. In addition to these clinically important symptoms for the diagnosis of schizophrenia, depressive, anxious, and cognitive symptoms are common if not always present (1). These psychiatric manifestations are associated with metabolic, lipid, and immune changes, often requiring additional therapeutic approaches (2, 3). Interesting observations on the level of serum lipids have been made in patients with schizophrenia and in persons using psychostimulants. Decreases in serum lipid levels were observed in both groups (3). Studies assessing self-perception and assessment of interpersonal space have been performed (4). There is evidence that as anxiety increases, interpersonal space increases (5). Such analyzes have also been performed in patients with schizophrenia who show that they have an increase in interpersonal space (6). Impaired cognitive assessment of reality and self-perception is associated with changes in behavior and the appearance of typical symptoms of schizophrenia associated with metabolic disorders as well as changes in neural connections between brain regions (7). This complex picture of changes in perception, behavior, metabolic characteristics, and functional connectivity makes schizophrenia a therapeutic challenge.

This is the reason despite the constant expansion of various therapeutic interventions, a significant percentage of patients remain resistant and pose a serious personal family and social problem. Some authors try to consider patients with resistant schizophrenia as a separate category. This raises the question of looking for different therapeutic approaches in them (2, 8, 9).

Janet presented the concept of dissociation for the first time at the end from 1,800, which is defined as a failure to integrate experiences that are usually related to each other in stream of consciousness (10). Dissociation is the partial or complete loss of normal integration between memories of the past, awareness of one's identity and immediate sensations, and control of bodily movements (11). Dissociation is a special form of consciousness in which events that would normally be related are separated from each other (12). Some authors (13) believe that dissociation is not only pathological, but may also play a role in some adaptive functions. It is also observed in healthy individuals in certain conditions (14).

Historically, dissociation as a clinical phenomenon has been associated with the presence of traumatic events leading to dissociative symptoms (15). A link has been found between dissociative symptoms and traumatic childhood events. Putnam (13) found that the most important traumas originate from childhood due to physical or sexual abuse with subsequent development of symptoms often after many years. According to the same author, dissociative symptoms also often occur in adults with severe traumatic event or a series of traumatic events. He found this in about half of the cases of dissociation. On the other hand, in direct clinical practice with adult patients, it is difficult to make a retrospective assessment of childhood experiences in order to give them the appropriate clinical weight. The authors found that 59.6% of 468 patients with a proven history of childhood sexual abuse were unable to recall episodes of past violence (16). Contradictory data are also available. The problem with the analysis of trauma in early childhood in the evaluation of adult patients is related to the fact that the manifestation of false memory experiences for the presence of trauma is often provoked (17).

It was found a traumagenic neurodevelopmental (TN) model of schizophrenia. Authors find the similarities between the effects of traumatic events on the developing brain and the biological abnormalities found in persons diagnosed with schizophrenia (12). The current diathesis-stress model of schizophrenia proposes that a genetic deficit creates a predisposing vulnerability in the form of oversenstivity to stress (15).

Corresponding changes in interpersonal space and self-esteem have been found in patients with dissociative disorders as well as in patients with schizophrenia (5, 18). Low levels of serum lipids have been reported (19) as well as impaired functional connectivity between brain regions (20).

The connection between dissociation and psychosis has been examined by Eugen Bleuler in patients with schizophrenia (21). In his Textbook of Psychiatry, he writes (21): "It is not only in hysteria that one finds an arrangement of different personalities who inherit from each other. Through such a mechanism, schizophrenia gives rise to different personalities existing side by side [(21), p. 138]. Bleuler has suggested that schizophrenia is a division of mental relationships similar to hysteria, but in a very extreme form. Psychotic decompensation of some individuals with psychotic symptoms, such as hallucinations, may occur. There are also a large number of observations showing a high level of dissociation in patients with schizophrenia (15, 22-27). The above data suggest a close link between schizophrenia and dissociative disorders. Several studies have found surprisingly high coincidences in the symptoms of these diagnoses (27-30). Even the symptoms described by Kurt Schneider as pathognomonic for schizophrenia have been proposed to be more characteristic of dissociative disorders (31, 32). Other studies suggest that there are similarities only in hallucinatory production as a characteristic of voices and their expression, but not in the presence of formal thought disorders, bizarre delusions, and negative symptoms (33). Studies indicate that up to 50% of patients with psychosis have severe dissociative symptoms (34, 35). This established overlap of symptoms in schizophrenia and dissociative disorder raises questions about therapy and expectations that a similar pattern of response will be observed. The data show results contrary to expectations. On the one hand, the treatment of schizophrenia is mainly with antipsychotic drugs, and on the other hand, the treatment of dissociative phenomena with antipsychotic drugs is generally ineffective (36). Examining the relationship between schizophrenia and dissociation, some authors raise the question of the existence of a subtype of schizophrenia, allowing for a new conceptualization of the relationship between them (37).

Resistance to drug therapy is registered in about 30-50% of patients with schizophrenia (38-44). The analysis of the relationship between dissociation in patients with schizophrenia and the course of the disease in them shows that those with a high degree of dissociation have a more severe course and more pronounced symptoms (45).

In the analysis of the literature available to us, we did not find a comparative study of the differences in dissociative symptoms in patients with resistant schizophrenia and those in clinical remission.

Working hypothesis: We suppose that the level of dissociation in patients with resistance to therapy will be higher than those in clinical remission.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

105 patients with schizophrenia were observed. Of these, 45 have resistant schizophrenia and the remaining 60 are in clinical remission.

Including criteria for patients with resistant schizophrenia are those who have met the resistance criteria of the published consensus on resistant schizophrenia (46). They are:

- 1. Assessment of symptoms with the Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale (PANSS) and Brief Psychiatric Rating Scale (BPRS) scale (47, 48).
- 2. Prospective monitoring for a period of at least 12 weeks.
- 3. Administration of at least two antipsychotic medication trials at a dose corresponding to or greater than 600 mg chlorpromazine equivalents.
- 4. Reduction of symptoms when assessed with the PANSS and BPRS scale by less than 20% for the observed period of time.
- 5. The assessment of social dysfunction using the SOFAS scale is below 60.

The exclusion criteria are:

- 1. Mental retardation
- 2. Presence of organic brain damage
- 3. Concomitant progressive neurological or severe somatic diseases.
- 4. Expressed personality change
- 5. Score of MMSI below 25 points.

The Dissociative Experiences Scale (DES) was used to assess dissociative symptoms (22).

The statistical software package SPSS, was used for statistical data processing.

Descriptive analyzes, correlation analysis, dispersion analysis, ANOVA, and a non-parametric statistical method were used [Mann Whitney U-test, (49)].

RESULTS

The mean age of patients in the group of resistant schizophrenia was 36.98 years. The minimum age is 21 years and the maximum is 60 years.

The mean age of patients in the group of schizophrenia in clinical remission was 37.25 years. The minimum is 23 years and the maximum is 63 years.

We do not find a difference in the mean age of the patients in the both groups at the time of the study.

The mean value of the dissociative symptoms scale found in all patients with schizophrenia was 29.1356, standard deviation was 22.3898, and the lowest and highest values were 0 and 97, respectively.

TABLE 1 Descriptive analysis, the mean values, the median value, the standard deviation, and the standard error in the sample.

Report Dissociation scale										
Effect of therapy	Mean	N	Std. deviation	Std. error of mean	Median					
Resistant	45.733	45	19.3313	2.8817	46.000					
Remission	17.073	60	15.7153	2.0288	11.750					
Total	29.356	105	22.3898	2.1850	22.500					



The mean value of the measured points with the Carlson and Putnam scale in patients with resistant schizophrenia is 42.578, and the standard deviation is 20.8977. Their average level of dissociation is commensurate with the level needed to diagnose dissociative personality disorder according to the interpretation

of the scale (requires values above 48 on the scale). For patients in clinical remission, the mean was 15.907 and the standard deviation was 14.530. Their mean level of dissociation is commensurate with the level required to diagnose schizophrenia according to the interpretation of the scale (requires values of 15.4).

Up to three times the incidence of dissociation values is observed in patients with resistance compared to those in remission. The analysis of the median value in the two groups showed an even greater difference—up to four times higher in the group with patients resistant to therapy (**Table 1**; **Figure 1**).

In the analysis of the intragroup distribution of level of dissociation in patients with resistant schizophrenia, it was found that the main grouping of results is in the range of 30–60 on the scale used. This result shows that the majority of patients have a very high level of dissociation.

From the analysis of the distribution of data in patients in clinical remission, we found that the main distribution of patients is grouped in the range from 0 to about 20. We observe a much lower level of dissociation in patients in remission.

The statistical analysis of the results of Mann-Whitney U test is shown in Table 2 (Ranks) and Table 3 (Statistics) (***p < 0.001).

A variance analysis of the relationship between the level of dissociation and resistance to treatment is presented in **Table 4**.

The difference in the degree of dissociation registered by us in the two groups of patients raised the question: Is there a correlation between the value of dissociation and the values of the PANSS and BPRS scales.

The performed correlation analysis showed the presence of correlation p < 0.05, **Table 5**.

Conducting a correlation analysis showed that there was a statistically significant correlation between the registered psychotic and dissociative symptoms (**Table 6**).

DISCUSSION

Our results show a high degree of dissociation in patients with resistant schizophrenia, which is up to three times higher than in patients in clinical remission. We also find a correlation between

TABLE 2 Mann-Whitney U test—description.									
Ranks									
	Effect of therapy	N	Mean rank	Sum of ranks					
Dissociation scale	Resistant	45	75.18	3383.00					
	Remission	60	36.37	2182.00					
	Total	105							

TABLE 3 | Mann-Whitney U test-statistics.

Test Statistics

	Dissociation scale
Mann-Whitney U test	352.000
Wilcoxon W	2182.000
Z	-6.465
Asymp. Sig. (two -tailed)	0.000
Exact Sig. (two-tailed)	0.000
Exact Sig. (one-tailed)	0.000
Point probability	0.000

TABLE 4 | The variance analysis of the results of the two groups of patients.

ANOVA Table							
			Sum of squares	df	Mean square	F	Sig.
Dissociation scale Effect of therapy	Between groups	(Combined)	21121.601	1	21121.601	70.146	0.000
	Within groups		31014.037	103	301.107		
	Total		52135.638	104			

 $^{***}p < 0.001.$

the high values of the symptoms measured with the PANSS and BPRS scales and the dissociative symptoms registered with the DES.

Our study of dissociative symptoms coincides with the analysis of other teams, which show the presence of dissociative symptoms in patients with schizophrenia in the range from 11.9 to 44.24 (50–52). Some authors, in addition to assessing the dissociation, also make an analysis in dynamics: in admission and in stabilizing the condition. They do not get much change in the points on the DES from 19.2 to 14.1 (53). We find a mean score on dissociation level in all patients of 29.1356. Our data occupy an intermediate position compared to those described in the literature. Our results confirm the views of pioneers in schizophrenology such as Eugen Bleuler that schizophrenia is a state of extreme degree of dissociation (21).

In the previous studies, patients with resistance and those in clinical remission were not considered separately. The results of the points on the scale for dissociative experiences (DES) in patients in remission observed by us coincide with the criteria of the scale for patients with schizophrenia--15.4. The results of other studies are mixed. We believe that this is because they have not considered patients separately-resistant and those in remission. Given that schizophrenia is a heterogeneous disease, it is also quite understandable the difference in the values of dissociative symptoms described in the individual studies. Over the years, there have been many analyzes of the overlap of symptoms of dissociative personality disorder and schizophrenia. Numerous studies have shown that up to 50% of patients with schizophrenia meet the diagnostic criteria for dissociative personality disorder (34, 35). These observations, as well as our data, do not show that in fact a probable reason for the lack of efficiency is the high degree of dissociation, which correlates positively with the high scores

TABLE 5 | The assessed mean values of the PANSS, BPRS, and DES scales.

	Mean	Std. deviation	N
PANSS positive	14.50	5.242	105
PANSS negative	16.95	6.316	105
PANSS disorganized	31.64	10.181	105
PANSS general	62.97	19.241	105
BPRS	45.12	13.266	105
DES	29.356	22.3892	105

TABLE 6 Dispersion analysis between the dissociation scale (DES) and the clinical scales PANSS and BPRS.

ANOVA Table								
			Sum of squares	df	Mean square	F	Sig.	
PANSS/Dissociation	Between groups	(Combined)	28544.064	58	492.139	2.274	0.002	
	Within groups		9956.850	46	216.453			
	Total		38500.914	104				
BPRS/Dissociation	Between groups	(Combined)	12428.015	58	214.276	1.678	0.035	
	Within groups		5875.375	46	127.726			
	Total		18303.390	104				

*p < 0.05.

made with the PANSS and BPRS scales. This high level of resistance that we observe and register challenge of discussing the term resistance to treatment with "antidopaminergic drugs." Dissociative disorders and symptoms have no effect from antipsychotic treatment (36).

In this sense, the question can be asked whether resistant schizophrenia is a form of dissociative disorder or mixture of the both entities. On the other hand, our results provide a basis for rethinking the diagnostic categories and research criteria used in the context of the relationship between the mind and the brain (54). The question remains whether high dissociation scales are the cause or consequence of the development of the neurodegenerative process in these patients (40, 55). Studies show that in some patients there is a progression of the disease, while in others there is a stationary condition that lasts for years. Magnetic resonance imaging data show that we can distinguish two groups of patients in comparative followup. Some have a neurodegenerative process and others do not (56).

The limitation of our study is related to the fact that we make a cross-section of the patient's condition in terms of dissociative symptoms. Longitudinal studies are needed to determine how the symptoms change over time. On the other hand, it is not clear whether the dissociative symptoms did not develop in parallel over time in patients with schizophrenia from the perspective of hospitalizations and in the process of treatment with various antipsychotic drugs. Some authors in a study found in the general population up to 1.7% of people at high risk of developing psychosis (57). No data have been established on the level of dissociative symptoms in them. Our study provides direction to consider assessment of dissociation early in the diagnostic process, especially in patients with the first psychotic episode, in order to discuss prognosis and associated therapy.

REFERENCES

- Tanaka M, Vécsei L. Editorial of Special Issue "Crosstalk between depression, anxiety, and dementia: comorbidity in behavioral neurology and neuropsychiatry." *Biomedicines.* (2021) 9:517. doi: 10.3390/biomedicines9050517
- Tanaka M, Tóth F, Polyák H, Szabó Á, Mándi Y, Vécsei L. Immune influencers in action: metabolites and enzymes of the tryptophan-kynurenine

CONCLUSION

We find a high degree of dissociation in patients with resistant schizophrenia. There is a high correlation between psychotic symptoms measured with the PANSS and BPRS scales and dissociative symptoms assessed with the DES. We found that the points on the scale for the level of dissociation in patients with resistant schizophrenia are as high as the requirement of the points on the scale for the assessment of dissociative personality disorder. The data we found for a high scale of dissociation in patients with resistance entitles us to seek therapeutic interventions outside the field of antipsychotic drugs. Therapeutic approaches in dissociative disorders may be considered (symptomatic and psychotherapeutic) as well as consideration of earlier use of electroconvulsive therapy (ECT) or transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS).

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethical committee of the University Hospital of Trakia University. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and has approved it for publication.

metabolic pathway. *Biomedicines*. (2021) 9:734. doi: 10.3390/biomedicines90 70734

- Correia BSB, Nani JV, Waladares Ricardo R, Stanisic D, Costa TBBC, et al. Effects of psychostimulants and antipsychotics on serum lipids in an animal model for schizophrenia. *Biomedicines*. (2021) 9:235. doi: 10.3390/biomedicines9030235
- Candini M, Battaglia S, Benassi M, di Pellegrino G, Frassinetti F. The physiological correlates of interpersonal

space. Sci Rep. (2021) 11:2611. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-8 2223-2

- Sambo CF, Iannetti GD. Better safe than sorry? The safety margin surrounding the body is increased by anxiety. J Neurosci. (2013) 33:14225– 30. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0706-13.2013
- Park SH, Ku J, Kim JJ, Jang HJ, Kim SY, Kim SH, et al. Increased personal space of patients with schizophrenia in a virtual social environment. *Psychiatry Res.* (2009) 169:197–202. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2008.06.039
- Nyatega CO, Qiang L, Adamu MJ, Younis A, Kawuwa HB. Altered dynamic functional connectivity of cuneus in schizophrenia patients: a resting-state fMRI study. *Appl Sci.* (2021) 11:11392. doi: 10.3390/app112311392
- Gillespie AL, Samanaite R, Mill J, Egerton A, MacCabe JH, et al. Is treatment-resistant schizophrenia categorically distinct from treatmentresponsive schizophrenia? A systematic review. *BMC Psychiatry*. (2017) 17:12. doi: 10.1186/s12888-016-1177-y
- Weber S, Johnsen E, Kroken RA, Løberg E-M, Kandilarova S, Stoyanov D, et al. Dynamic functional connectivity patterns in schizophrenia and the relationship with hallucinations. *Front Psychiatry*. (2020) 11:227. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00227
- 10. Janet P. L'automatisme Psychologique. Paris: Nouvelle Édition (1889).
- 11. ICD-10. Classification of Mental and Behavioral Disorders. Diagnostically Criteria for Research (1993).
- Li D, Spiegel D. A neural network model of dissociative disorders. *Psychiatr Ann.* (1992) 22:144–7. doi: 10.3928/0048-5713-19920301-11
- Putnam F. Diagnosis and Treatment of Multiple Personality Disorder. Foundations of Modern Psychiatry (1989).
- Van der Kloet D, Giesbrecht T, Lynn SJ, Merckelbach H, de Zutter A. Sleep normalization and decrease in dissociative experiences: evaluation in an inpatient sample. J Abnorm Psychol. (2012) 121:140–50. doi: 10.1037/a0024781
- Read J, Perry BD, Moskowitz A, Connolly J. The contribution of early traumatic events to schizophrenia in some patients: a traumagenic neurodevelopmental model. *Psychiatry.* (2001) 64:319–45. doi: 10.1521/psyc.64.4.319.18602
- 16. Briere J, Conte JR. Self-reported amnesia for abuse in adults molested as children. J Trauma Stress. (1993) 6:21–31. doi: 10.1002/jts.2490060104
- Patihis L, Pendergrast MH. Reports of recovered memories of abuse in therapy in a large age-representative U.S. National sample: therapy type and decade comparisons. *Clin Psychol Sci.* (2019) 7:3–21. doi: 10.1177/2167702618773315
- Price CJ, Thompson EA. Measuring dimensions of body connection: body awareness and bodily dissociation. J Altern Complement Med. (2007) 13:945– 53. doi: 10.1089/acm.2007.0537
- Agargun MY, Ozer OA, Kara H, Sekeroglu R, Selvi Y, Eryonucu B. Serum lipid levels in patients with dissociative disorder. *Am J Psychiatry*. (2004) 161:2121–3. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.161.11.2121
- Krause-Utz A, Frost R, Winter D, Elzinga BM. Dissociation and alterations in brain function and structure: implications for borderline personality disorder. *Curr Psychiatry Rep.* (2017) 19:6. doi: 10.1007/s11920-017-0757-y
- 21. Bleuler E. *Textbook of Psychiatry*, Transl by Brill AA. London: Allen and Unwin; originally published as Lehrbuch der Psychiatrie. 4th ed. (1924).
- Bernstein EM, Putnam FW. Development, reliability, and validity of a dissociation scale. J Nerv Ment Dis. (1986) 174:727– 35. doi: 10.1097/00005053-198612000-00004
- Rosenbaum M. The role of the term schizophrenia in the decline of diagnoses of multiple personality. Arch Gen Psychiatry. (1980) 37:1383– 5. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.1980.01780250069008
- Spitzer C, Haug J, Freyberger J. Dissociative symptoms in schizophrenic patients with positive and negative symptoms. *Psychopathology*. (1997) 30:67– 75. doi: 10.1159/000285031
- Vogel M, Spitzer C, Barnow S, Freyberger HJ, Grabe HJ. The role of trauma and PTSD-related symptoms for dissociation and psychopathological distress in inpatients with schizophrenia. *Psychopathology*. (2006) 39:236– 42. doi: 10.1159/000093924
- Vogel M, Schatz D, Spitzer C, Kuwert P, Moller B, Freyberger HJ, et al. A more proximal impact of dissociation than of trauma and posttraumatic stress disorder on schneiderian symptoms in patients diagnosed with schizophrenia. *Compr Psychiatry.* (2009) 50:128–34. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2008. 06.007

- Varese F, Barkus E, Bentall RP. Dissociation mediates the relationship between childhood trauma and hallucination-proneness. *Psychol Med.* (2012) 42:1025– 36. doi: 10.1017/S0033291711001826
- First MB. Mutually exclusive versus co-occurring diagnostic categories: the challenge of diagnostic comorbidity. *Psychopathology*. (2005) 38:206– 10. doi: 10.1159/000086093
- Kaplan B, Crawford S, Cantell M, Kooistra L, Dewey D. Comorbidity, cooccurrence, continuum: what's in a name? *Child Care Health Dev.* (2006) 32:723–31. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2214.2006.00689.x
- Perona-Garcelán S, Carrascoso-López F, García-Montes JM, et al. Dissociative experiences as mediators between childhood trauma and auditory hallucinations. J Trauma Stress. (2012) 25:323–9. doi: 10.1002/jts.21693
- Kluft RP. An update on multiple personality disorder. Hosp Commun Psychiatry. (1987) 38:363–73. doi: 10.1176/ps.38.4.363
- Moskowitz A, Corstens D. Auditory hallucinations: Psychotic symptom or dissociative experience? J Psychol Trauma. (2007) 6:35–63. doi: 10.1300/J513v06n02_04
- Tschoeke S, Steinert T, Flammer E, Uhlmann C. Similarities and differences in borderline personality disorder and schizophrenia with voice hearing. J Nerv Ment Dis. (2014) 202:544–9. doi: 10.1097/NMD.00000000000159
- Haugen MC, Castillo RJ. Unrecognized dissociation in psychotic outpatients and implications of ethnicity. J Nerv Ment Dis. (1999) 187:751–4. doi: 10.1097/00005053-199912000-00007
- Ross C, Keyes B. Dissociation and schizophrenia. J Trauma Dissoc. (2004) 5:69–83. doi: 10.1300/J229v05n03_05
- Ellason JW, Ross CA. Childhood trauma and psychiatric symptoms. *Psychol Rep.* (1997) 80:447–50. doi: 10.2466/pr0.1997.80.2.447
- Sar V, Taycan O, Bolat N, Ozmen M, Duran A, Oztürk E, et al. Childhood trauma and dissociation in schizophrenia. *Psychopathology*. (2010) 43:33– 40. doi: 10.1159/000255961
- Davis JM, Schaffer CB, Killian GA, Kinard C, Chan C. Important issues in the drug treatment of schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (1980) 6:70– 87. doi: 10.1093/schbul/6.1.70
- Lieberman J, Jody D, Geisler S, Alvir J, Loebel A, Szymanski S, et al. Time course and biologic correlates of treatment response in first-episode schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry. (1993) 50:369–76. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.1993.01820170047006
- 40. Lieberman JA. Pathophysiologic mechanisms in the pathogenesis and clinical course of schizophrenia. *J Clin Psychiatry*. (1999) 60(Suppl 12):9–12.
- Meltzer HY. Defining treatment refractoriness in schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull. (1990) 16:563–5. doi: 10.1093/schbul/16.4.563
- Vita A, Barlati S. Recovery from schizophrenia: is it possible? Curr Opin Psychiatry. (2018) 31:246–55. doi: 10.1097/YCO.000000000000407
- Potkin SG, Kane JM, Correll CU, Lindenmayer J-P, Agid O, Marder SR, et al. The neurobiology of treatment-resistant schizophrenia: paths to antipsychotic resistance and a roadmap for future research. *npj Schizophr*. (2020) 6:1. doi: 10.1038/s41537-019-0090-z
- Correll CU, Howes OD. Treatment-resistant schizophrenia: definition, predictors, and therapy options. J Clin Psychiatry. (2021):82:MY20096AH1C. doi: 10.4088/JCP.MY20096AH1C
- Justo A, Risso A, Moskowitz A, Gonzalez A. Schizophrenia and dissociation: its relation with severity, self-esteem and awareness of illness. *Schizophr Res.* (2018) 197:170–5. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2018.02.029
- 46. Howes OD, McCutcheon R, Agid O, de Bartolomeis A, van Beveren NJ, Birnbaum ML. Treatment-resistant schizophrenia: Treatment Response and Resistance in Psychosis (TRRIP) Working Group consensus guidelines on diagnosis and terminology. *Am J Psychiatry.* (2017) 174:216–29. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2016.16050503
- Overall JE, Gorham DR. The brief psychiatric rating scale. *Psychol Rep.* (1962) 10:799–812. doi: 10.2466/pr0.1962.10.3.799
- Kay SR, Fiszbein A, Opler LA. The positive and negative syndrome scale (PANSS) for schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (1987) 13:261–76. doi: 10.1093/schbul/13.2.261
- Mann HB, Whitney DR. On a test of whether one of two random variables is stochastically larger than the other. *Ann Math Stati.* (1947) 18:50– 60. doi: 10.1214/aoms/1177730491
- 50. Schäfer I, Harfst T, Aderhold V, Briken P, Lehmann M, Moritz S, et al. Childhood trauma and dissociation in female patients with schizophrenia

spectrum disorders: an exploratory study. J Nerv Ment Dis. (2006) 194:135-8. doi: 10.1097/01.nmd.0000198199.57512.84

- Goff DC, Brotman AW, Kindlon D, Waites M, Amico E. The delusion of possession in chronically psychotic patients. J Nerv Ment Dis. (1991) 179:567– 71. doi: 10.1097/00005053-199109000-00009
- Renard SB, Pijnenborg M, Lysaker PH. Dissociation and social cognition in schizophrenia spectrum disorder. *Schizophr Res.* (2012) 137:219– 23. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2012.02.001
- Schäfer I, Fisher HL, Aderhold V, Huber B, Hoffmann-Langer L, Golks D, et al. Dissociative symptoms in patients with schizophrenia: relationships with childhood trauma and psychotic symptoms. *Compr Psychiatry.* (2012) 53:364–71. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2011. 05.010
- Stoyanov D, Telles-Correia D, Cuthbert B. The research domain criteria (RDoC) and the historical roots of psychopathology: a viewpoint. *Eur Psychiatry.* (2019) 57:58–60. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2018.11.007
- Woods BT. Is schizophrenia a progressive neurodevelopmental disorder? Toward a unitary pathogenetic mechanism. *Am J Psychiatry*. (1998) 155:1661– 70. doi: 10.1176/ajp.155.12.1661
- Gur RE, Cowell P, Turetsky BI, Gallacher F, Cannon T, Bilker W, et al. A follow-up magnetic resonance imaging study of schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry. (1998) 55:145–52. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.55.2.145

57. Salazar de Pablo G, Woods SW, Drymonitou G, de Diego H, Fusar-Poli P. Prevalence of individuals at clinical high-risk of psychosis in the general population and clinical samples: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Brain Sci.* (2021) 11:1544. doi: 10.3390/brainsci11111544

Conflict of Interest: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Panov. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Can Cognitive Control and Attentional Biases Explain More of the Variance in Depressive Symptoms Than Behavioral Processes? A Path Analysis Approach

Audrey Krings¹*, Jessica Simon¹, Arnaud Carré² and Sylvie Blairy¹

¹Psychology and Neuroscience of Cognition Research Unit (PsyNCog), Université de Liège, Liège, Belgium, ²LIP/PC2S, Université Savoie Mont Blanc, Université de Grenoble Alpes, Chambéry, France

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Xavier Noel, Université libre de Bruxelles, Belgium

Reviewed by:

Rainer Leonhart, University of Freiburg, Germany Ashley Nicole Clausen, Kansas City VA Medical Center, United States

> *Correspondence: Audrey Krings audrey.krings@uliege.be

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychopathology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 04 November 2021 Accepted: 09 February 2022 Published: 23 March 2022

Citation:

Krings A, Simon J, Carré A and Blairy S (2022) Can Cognitive Control and Attentional Biases Explain More of the Variance in Depressive Symptoms Than Behavioral Processes? A Path Analysis Approach. Front. Psychol. 13:809387. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.809387 **Background:** This study explored the proportion of variance in depressive symptoms explained by processes targeted by BA (activation, behavioral avoidance, anticipatory pleasure, and brooding), and processes targeted by cognitive control training (cognitive control, attentional biases, and brooding).

Methods: Five hundred and twenty adults were recruited. They completed a spatial cueing task as a measure of attentional biases and a cognitive task as a measure of cognitive control and completed self-report measures of activation, behavioral avoidance, anticipatory pleasure, brooding, and depressive symptoms. With path analysis models, we explored the relationships between these predictors and depressive symptoms.

Results: BA processes were significant predictors of depressive symptoms, and activation partially predicted anticipatory pleasure, which in turn predicted depressive symptoms. However, cognitive control and attentional biases predicted neither brooding nor depressive symptoms. A comprehensive model including all processes fit the data but did not explain more of the variance in brooding or depressive symptoms than a model including only BA processes.

Limitations: The spatial cueing task was associated with low reliability and the use of a non-clinical sample limited the generalizability of the conclusions.

Conclusion: Activation, behavioral avoidance, brooding, and anticipatory pleasure are relevant processes to target in order to reduce depressive symptoms, while cognitive control and attentional biases are not.

Keywords: behavioral activation, cognitive control training, depression, brooding, cognitive control

INTRODUCTION

Depression is a very prevalent condition (World Health Organization, 2020) and one of the leading causes of disability worldwide (Kessler and Bromet, 2013). Although there are currently several evidence-based interventions for depression associated with a significant reduction of depressive mood, the rates of relapse and recurrence of depression remain high (Vittengl et al., 2007; Bockting et al., 2015). One possible explanation is that existing treatments do not sufficiently target vulnerability processes involved in the etiology and maintenance of depression. A combination of several existing treatments could be a promising way to improve depression care.

Inspired by behavioral models in psychology, behavioral activation (BA) aims to increase activation and reduce avoidance patterns in order to increase reinforcing experiences and consequently reduce depressive symptoms (Lejuez et al., 2001; Martell et al., 2001; Manos et al., 2010). Empirical data revealed that avoidance positively predicts depressive symptoms while activation negatively predicts them (Wagener et al., 2016). Moreover, brooding, perceived as frequent covert avoidance, positively predicts depressive symptoms (Nolen-Hoeksema et al., 2008; Watkins and Roberts, 2020). BA is a well-established empirical treatment that improves depressive symptomatology (Ekers et al., 2014; Cuijpers et al., 2020), wellbeing (Mazzucchelli et al., 2010), and quality of life (Orgeta et al., 2017) of clinically and subclinically depressed individuals. More specifically, empirical data show that BA improves activation (Dimidjian et al., 2017) and decreases avoidance (Krings et al., 2020) and brooding (McIndoo et al., 2016). In addition, preliminary research using fMRI found that depressed participants treated with BA showed decreased activation in the prefrontal neuronal structures involved in cognitive control (CC; Dichter et al., 2010), as well as improved functioning of appetitive rewardrelated neuronal structures involved in the anticipation of pleasure (Dichter et al., 2009).

Behavioral models suggest that BA increases positively reinforcing experiences from engagement in rewarding activities (Hopko et al., 2003). Some authors have recently emphasized the importance of further investigating the role of the appetitive reward system in BA models (Blairy et al., 2020; Forbes, 2020; Nagy et al., 2020). The appetitive reward system is associated with two distinct temporal orientations of pleasure. The first one involves savoring future positive events, also called anticipatory pleasure or wanting, while the second involves savoring present events, also called consummatory pleasure or liking (Berridge and Kringelbach, 2008; Admon and Pizzagalli, 2015). Both components have been reported to be disturbed in depression (Treadway and Zald, 2011; Wu et al., 2017). However, in a subclinically depressed sample, anticipatory pleasure was identified as a significant predictor of subsequent consummatory pleasure, suggesting that, in depression, the wanting component is more clinically relevant than the liking component (Li et al., 2019). Additionally, lack of anticipatory pleasure is predictive of a poorer course of depression (Morris et al., 2009) and suicidality (Winer et al., 2014). Regarding the interplay between anticipatory pleasure and activation, previous research suggests two hypotheses. First, anticipatory pleasure might affect depressed individuals' motivation to engage in potentially rewarding experiences. Empirical data support this hypothesis, as previous studies reported that anticipatory pleasure was a significant predictor of motivation to exert effort for rewards in non-depressed (Geaney et al., 2015) and depressed samples (Sherdell et al., 2012). Second, anticipatory pleasure might be influenced by engagement in rewarding experiences. Indeed, Beevers and Meyer (2002) reported that rewarding experiences predict positive expectations, which then significantly predict symptoms of depression. Furthermore, Bakker et al. (2017) reported that active behaviors influenced reward anticipation in a subclinically depressed sample. Given previous findings suggesting that activation, behavioral avoidance, anticipatory pleasure, and brooding predict depressive symptoms, the present study sought to examine the relationships between these processes and depressive symptoms, as well as between activation and anticipatory pleasure.

Even though BA is associated with medium to large effect sizes in the reduction of depressive symptomatology, its efficacy could still be enhanced (Cuijpers et al., 2020). A promising way to enhance the efficacy of BA is to combine it with another therapeutic intervention (Averill et al., 2019; Van den Bergh et al., 2020). Cognitive Control Training (CCT) is a recent empirically validated cognitive treatment of depression, which activates prefrontal neural networks with repeated cognitive exercises designed to engage those structures (Koster et al., 2017). CCT uses working memory tasks to strengthen prefrontal neural activation (Koster et al., 2017). It aims to increase CC abilities in order to reduce cognitive biases (i.e., attentional biases- AB_s) and non-adaptive cognitive regulation strategies (e.g., brooding) and consequently reduce depression (De Raedt and Koster, 2010; Koster et al., 2011). As the impaired disengagement hypothesis posits, low CC resources lead to generally impaired attentional disengagement (Koster et al., 2011). This impaired disengagement maintains AB_s (i.e., disengagement from sad cues and from happy cues) and brooding, which are two vulnerability factors for depression [for a review, see LeMoult and Gotlib, (2019)]. Indeed, empirical data suggest that CCT may reduce depressive symptoms and brooding in depressed patients treated with a CCT (Siegle et al., 2014; Vanderhasselt et al., 2015). In addition, previous studies have indicated that CC's influence on depressive symptoms might be at least partly mediated by brooding (Hsu et al., 2015; Hoorelbeke and Koster, 2017), as well as the impact of AB_s on depressive symptoms (Sanchez et al., 2019; Yaroslavsky et al., 2019). Given previous findings suggesting that CC and AB_s predict brooding and depressive symptoms, this study examined the relationships between these processes and depressive symptoms, as well as among the different processes.

In light previous results, the combination of BA and CCT could amplify the efficacy of BA because the two treatments act on different depressive vulnerability processes (activation, behavioral avoidance, and anticipatory pleasure for BA; CC and AB_s for CCT), as well as on a common process, namely brooding. Indeed, if cognitive resources influence brooding, it is possible that the combination of BA and CCT could strengthen

individual capacities to disengage from brooding in the long term. To date, one study has investigated the combination of a CCT and a BA treatment in a clinically depressed sample (Moshier and Otto, 2017). Both conditions (BA in adjunction to CCT and BA in adjunction to a sham procedure) were associated with a substantial reduction in depressive symptoms and brooding. However, repeated measures ANOVAs used to examine symptoms as functions of the interaction between time and treatment condition were non-significant and all effect sizes were small (all $\eta p^2 < 0.07$). The absence of the expected significance could be attributable to the small sample size (n=34), which also hindered the identification of potential mediators of treatment effects, including brooding.

Using path analysis models and a large sample of participants, we sought to investigate whether the adjunction of certain cognitive processes to BA processes could predict more depressive symptoms. If this is the case, adding cognitive training to BA could make the treatment more efficient (i.e., reduce depressive symptoms). This study investigates relationships between depressive symptoms and, on the one hand, the target processes of BA treatment (activation, behavioral avoidance, anticipatory pleasure and brooding), and on the other hand, the target processes of CCT (CC, AB_s, and brooding). Overall, four models were tested. First, we tested the relevance of two behavioral models with Activation, Behavioral Avoidance, Brooding and Anticipatory Pleasure as processes predicting depressive symptoms. Model 1 tested the hypothesis that Anticipatory Pleasure would partially predict Activation, which in turn would predict depressive symptoms. Model 2 tested the reverse hypothesis: that activation would partially predict Anticipatory Pleasure, which in turn would predict depressive symptoms. Second, we tested a cognitive model (Model 3) with CC, AB_s and Brooding as predictors of depressive symptoms. In Model 3, we also tested the hypothesis that CC would partially predict Brooding, which in turn would predict depressive symptoms, and that AB_s would partially predict Brooding, which in turn would predict depression symptoms. Third, a comprehensive model was tested (Model 4) with the hypothesis that the integration of behavioral and cognitive processes would explain more of the variance in brooding and depressive symptoms than each model separately. Schemas depicting the four models are presented in Figures 1 and 2. Finally, we identify the unique variance in depressive symptoms that is explained by behavioral and cognitive processes, independent of the other variables. This analysis helps to investigate the most promising therapeutic targets and isolate the most relevant therapeutic levers.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

The participants were 549 unselected French-speaking adults aged from 18 to 64 years. Advertisements, university intranets, and the waiting rooms of healthcare centers were used to recruit participants. Data analyses were based on 520 adults (338 females, 182 males) with a mean age of 30.99 years (SD=11.89; range: 18–64). Five participants were excluded

because of a history of psychotic mental disorders, two were excluded because of a history of substance abuse or dependence including alcohol (less than 3 years of abstinence—except nicotine or caffeine), 11 for a history of neurological disorder, and two for the use of anxiolytics or other drugs on the day of the assessment. In addition, two participants were excluded because of anti-psychotic medication, two because of recent changes in antidepressant medication (less than 4weeks). Participants had normal or corrected vision and no history of bipolar disorder. Five participants were also excluded from the analysis due to extensive missing data.

A Priori Power Analysis

For path analysis, a sample size of more than 500 participants is considered as very good to test confirmatory models (Comfrey and Lee, 1992). However, some authors suggest that these rules are problematic because they are not model-specific and may lead to grossly over-or underestimated sample size requirements (Wolf et al., 2013). Therefore, we have estimated the optimal sample considering the expected effect size (RMSEA <0.05), type of model (path analysis), degrees of freedom based on the number of parameters estimated by the model (df=12) to reach a statistical power of 0.80. The analysis revealed that the optimal sample size for the comprehensive model (Model 4) is 578 participants.

Materials

The cross-sectional study was conducted before the COVID-19 lockdown. The materials consisted of a computerized task and self-report questionnaires.

Demographic Questionnaire

A sociodemographic questionnaire addressed questions about age, gender, marital status, employment status, medication, quality of vision, neurological history, and past depressive episodes.

Depressive Symptomatology

The Beck Depression Inventory—Second Edition (BDI-II) is a 21-item scale that assesses the severity of depressive symptoms in the previous 2 weeks (Beck et al., 1996). Higher scores indicate greater severity. We used the validated French version of the scale (Centre de Psychologie appliquée, 1996). In the present sample, Cronbach's α for the whole scale was 0.86.

Activation and Behavioral Avoidance

The Behavioral Activation for Depression Scale—Short Form (BADS-SF) is a 9-item scale assessing behavioral activation (Manos et al., 2011). Two subscales are identified: Activation (four items) and Avoidance (three items). We removed one item from the Avoidance subscale (item 7), which refers to brooding, to avoid a conceptual overlap between behavioral avoidance and brooding. Higher scores indicate higher behavioral activation and behavioral avoidance levels, respectively. We used the validated French version of the



scale (Wagener et al., 2015). In our sample, Cronbach's α was 0.77 for the activation subscale and 0.68 for the behavioral avoidance subscale.

Anticipatory Pleasure

The Savoring Belief Inventory (SBI) is a 24-item scale assessing individuals' attitudes regarding savoring positive experiences (Bryant, 2003). Three subscales are identified, one related to pleasure in reminiscence of past events, one related to pleasure in relation to the present moment, and one related to pleasure in anticipation of future events, each represented by eight items. We used only the last subscale to measure anticipatory pleasure. The score is calculated by subtracting the sum score of the negatively phrased items from the sum score of positively phrased items. Higher scores indicate a higher level of savoring of pleasant events. We used the validated French version of the scale (Golay et al., 2018). In our sample, Cronbach's α was 0.77 for positive anticipation and 0.67 for negative anticipation.

Brooding

The Ruminative Response Scale (RRS) is a 22-item scale assessing rumination when respondents feel depressed, sad or discouraged (Treynor et al., 2003). Two subscales are identified, one related to brooding (five items) and one related to reflection. The reflection subscale was not reported because this aspect of rumination is more adaptive than brooding

and less related to depression. Higher scores on the brooding subscale indicate a higher level of brooding. We used the validated French version of the scale.¹ In this sample, Cronbach's α for the brooding subscale was 0.72.

Disengagement From Sad Cues and Attention to Happy Cues

The exogenous cueing task (ECT) is a reaction-time-based attention task, which was programmed using OpenSesame software and was run on a computer with a 60 Hz, 15-inch color monitor. The original exogenous cueing task asked participants to detect a visual target presented in the left or right peripheral location of the screen (Posner, 1980). In affective science, the paradigm has been modified by using emotional and neutral cues to allow a comparison of their attentional processing.

The task was created with faces (14 happy, 14 sad and 14 neutral) selected from the Karolinska Directed Emotional Face (KDEF) database (Lundqvist et al., 1998; Goeleven et al., 2008). Faces were sized 280 pixels high X 280 pixels wide with visual angles of $5.81^{\circ} \times 5.81^{\circ}$. Each trial started with the presentation of a fixation cross for 1,000 ms in the center of the screen. Then, the emotional cue was presented on the left or right side of the screen for 1,000 ms followed by

 $^{^{1}\}mathrm{To}$ have more information about this scale, please contact the first author of the manuscript.



a "mask" screen for 45 ms. Finally, the target ("*") was presented until a response was made. A black background intertrial was then presented for 300 ms before the next trial started. The sequence of events in a test trial is depicted in Figure 3. In the test trials, half of positive faces were valid (28 trials; left cue-left target and right cue-right target) and half were invalid (28 trials). The same proportions were used for sad and neutral faces, with half valid (28 trials) and half invalid (28 trials; left cue-right target and right cue-left target). Fifty-six of the remaining stimuli were no-cue and 10 were digital trials to enhance the probability that participants would maintain their gaze in the middle of the screen. The fixation cross was replaced by a digit for 450 ms, after which no cue or target followed and participants were instructed to report the digit aloud as quickly as possible. The stimuli were presented at random in the left or right hemifield with

an equal number of presentations for each stimulus (twice) and each emotional category (sad, happy, and neutral; 56 trials each).

For sad faces, an attentional disengagement score was calculated by subtracting the mean reaction times (RTs) of invalid neutral trials from the mean RTs of invalid emotional trials (Koster et al., 2005). For happy faces, we subtracted the mean RTs for valid trials from the mean RTs for invalid trials in order to compute a cue validity (CV) index. Although preliminary research data suggest that depressed participants engage more slowly with positive stimuli than non-depressed participants (Sanchez et al., 2017), the nature of the attentional components involved in bias related to positive cues remains poorly understood. Then, we computed CV scores to measure attentional bias to positive cues to include both attentional components. With longer stimulus-onset asynchronies, as were



used in this study, a positive cue validity effect suggests that attention is maintained on the cue.

The split-half reliability indices were computed separately for each task *via* Spearman-Brown correlations with the first and second half of trials in each experimental condition. Spearman-Brown correlations ranged from 0.43 (Happy valid) to 0.48 (Happy invalid). We ran the same analyses for CV scores for happy cues and disengagement scores from sad cues. The Spearman-Brown correlations computed were 0.006 for disengagement from sad cues and 0.048 for CV for happy cues.

Cognitive Control

A computerized version of the Paced Auditory Serial-Addition Task (PASAT) was used to measure participants' updating abilities and monitoring of representations within working memory, one aspect of CC (Gronwall, 1977; Tombaugh, 2006). In the task, 60 numbers (from 1 to 9) are presented successively. Subjects were asked to add each number to the one that immediately preceded it, which interferes with the updating of the last heard digits in working memory. The task is divided into four trials that differ in terms of the speed with which the numbers are presented (one number every 2.4, 2.0, 1.6, or 1.2 s). The outcome measures were the number of correct responses for each of the four experimental trials. The total accuracy score served as a

behavioral indicator of CC. The split-half reliability of this measure (Spearman-Brown corrected) computed with the first two series and the last two series of trials was 0.89.

Procedure

The evaluations were administered individually in a quiet room with dim light. Participants first completed the computerized tasks and then the self-report questionnaires. Participants started with the two computerized tasks, introduced in a counterbalanced order. The questionnaires were administered in the same order for all participants. To complete the spatial cueing tasks, participants were seated 60 cm from the computer screen. They were asked to detect, as quickly as possible, the location of the target ("*")left mouse button with left index finger; left side; right mouse button with right index finger, right side-without sacrificing accuracy. The instructions were presented on screen. Participants were informed that a cue would precede the presentation of the target and that the cue correctly predicted the location of the target in some but not all trials. Participants practiced the attentional task for 15 trials. The test phase consisted of one block with 234 trials. We presented the trials in a new random order for each participant. The total time for data acquisition was approximately 1h (i.e., preparation of the participant, familiarization with the tasks, breaks, and debriefing).

The local Ethics Committee approved the study.² All participants gave their written informed consent.

Data Preparation

First, we discarded trials with errors from the analyses (0.007% of all data). To take each participant's processing speed into account, we followed Ratcliff's (1993) guidelines for dealing with outliers. To do so, we decided to rely on an individual approach based on deviations below or above each participant's mean for each experimental condition. Participants' RTs more than three standard deviations from their individual mean RT for all indices (Invalid Sad, Valid Sad, Invalid Happy, Valid Happy, Invalid Neutral, and Valid Neutral) were considered as outliers. These outlying RTs were excluded on the basis that they indicated anticipatory responses (0.001% of all data) or delayed responses (0.01% of all data). None of the participants exhibited more than 10% of erroneous response or outliers. We conducted the analyses on the remaining 99.98% of the data.

Statistical Analysis

The Shapiro–Wilk test suggested that all variables were non-normally distributed (all $p_s < 0.002$). First, we computed non-parametric Spearman correlations between all variables to describe our group characteristics using JASP Version 0.13.1 (JASP Team, 2020).

Thereafter, path analysis with a maximum-likelihood estimation method was computed with the Lavaan package in R, version 0.6-8 (Rosseel, 2012). According to Rosseel, the parameters estimated by this method are consistent with non-normal data.3 The goodness of fit is indicated by a non-significant χ^2 . If the chi-square is significant, a χ^2 /degrees of freedom ratio of less than 2 indicates a good fit, while a result of less than 3 is acceptable (Cangur and Ercan, 2015). We also computed several other fit statistics, including the Root Mean Square Error of Approximation (RMSEA), the Standardized Root Mean square Residual (SRMR), the Tucker-Lewis Index (TLI), and the Comparative Fit Index (CFI; Bentler, 1990; Hu and Bentler, 1999; Cangur and Ercan, 2015). An RMSEA between 0.05 and 0.08, SRMR <0.10, TLI>0.95, and CFI>0.95 are generally interpreted as indicating an acceptable fit (Bentler, 1990; Schermelleh-Engel et al., 2003). To compare Models 1 and 2, we computed two additional indices: Akaike's Information Criterion (AIC) and Sample-size adjusted Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC). Lower AIC and BIC scores indicate a better model fit (Akaike, 1973). Standardized path coefficients are reported in each figure (Wright, 1934). To control for measurement error, we conducted an additional bootstrap on standard errors by randomly resampling the data 10,000 times.

In order to more directly test the influence of behavioral processes (Activation, Behavioral Avoidance, Anticipatory

Pleasure), cognitive processes (CC, AB_s) and the common process (Brooding) on depressive symptoms, seven hierarchical linear regression analyses were performed on depressive symptoms to measure the variance in depressive symptoms that is explained by each predictor separately after controlling for the effect of the others. Hierarchical regression model analyses were done with JASP Version 0.13.1 (JASP Team, 2020).

Following recommendations on research transparency and replicability, the OpenSesame version of the task, the stimuli, and the de-identified data can be freely downloaded *via* the following link: https://osf.io/hfj8a/.

RESULTS

Group Characteristics

The full sample had a mean BDI-II (Beck et al., 1996) score of 10.02 (SD=7.36, range 0–48). Their demographic characteristics appear in **Table 1** and the means and standard deviations of all measures are shown in **Table 2**. **Table 3** presents Spearman non-parametric correlations between all variables. Most correlations were statistically significant except the correlations including disengagement from sad cues and attentional bias to happy cues (ranging from r=0.00 to r=-0.07, all p_s >0.05). In addition, non-significant correlations were reported between CC and brooding (r=-0.06, p>0.05), and CC and behavioral avoidance (r=-0.05, p>0.05). The strongest correlations were found between brooding and depression (r=0.40, p<0.001), activation and depression (r=-0.41, p<0.001) and brooding and behavioral avoidance (r=0.32, p<0.001).

Path Analysis Models

We defined our path analysis models based on literature and theoretical frameworks. First, we tested a behavioral model in which activation, behavioral avoidance, brooding and anticipatory pleasure were defined as predictors of depressive symptoms and anticipatory pleasure was defined as an additional predictor of activation (Model 1). To explore an alternative relationship between anticipatory pleasure and activation, we tested Model 2, in which activation, behavioral avoidance, brooding and anticipatory pleasure were defined as predictors of depressive symptoms and activation was defined as an additional predictor of anticipatory pleasure. In Models 1 and 2, covariances were indicated between activation, behavioral avoidance and brooding. In the cognitive model (Model 3), we defined CC, the two kinds of AB_s and Brooding as predictors of depressive symptoms, CC as a predictor of the two AB_s and brooding, and the two AB_s as additional predictors of brooding. Finally, Model 4 tested a comprehensive model comprising a combination of the best behavioral model (Model 1 or Model 2) and Model 3.

The statistics for Model 1 did not suggest an adequate fit for the data ($\chi(2)^2 = 14.19 \ p < 0.001, \ \chi^2/df = 7.10$, RMSEA of 0.108, SRMR = 0.058, TLI = 0.862, CFI = 0.972, AIC = 15188.482, and BIC = 15202.517). However, all predictors of depressive symptoms were statistically significant (β = -0.36 for activation,

²The central ethics committee at University of Liège located at CHU Sart-Tilman, B35, 4,000 Liège approved this study in 2018 (Belgian number: B707201629390, reference number: 2016–215).

³All analyses were also conducted with diagonally weighted least squares method, as the choice of parametric or non-parametric statistical method may be controversial. Analyses revealed similar results and conclusions.

TABLE 1 | Group characteristics.

Measure	
N	520
Age	31 (11.89)
Gender (M/F)	182/338
Education level (number of years successfully completed)	14.12 (2.26)
Origin	
Caucasian	87.31%
African	12.31%
Asian	0.38%
Employment status	
Student	37.50%
Laborer	8.27%
Employee	35.96%
Executive	4.81%
Self-employed	6.15%
Homemaker	1.15%
Unemployed	5.38%
Retired	0.19%
Missing data	0.58%
Unable to work	1.54%
Marital status	
Single	69.23%
Married	17.88%
Legally cohabiting	5.77%
Widowed	0.39%
Divorced	6.73%
Other	0%
Live in a couple	60.96%
Have children	33.08%
Report at least one past depressive episode with medical	24.42%
treatment	
Current depressive episode	5%
Currently on psychotropic medication (antidepressant)	2.12%
SSRI	8/11
SNRI	3/11
Currently on psychotropic medication (anxiolytic)	0.77%

Standard deviations are shown in parentheses. SSRI, selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor. SNRI, selective norepinephrine reuptake inhibitor.

TABLE 2 | Means and standard deviations for all variables.

Measure	Range (min-max)	Mean (SD)	
Depressive symptoms (BDI-II)	0–63	10.02 (7.36)	
Activation (BADS-SF)	0–24	13.40 (4.76)	
Behavioral avoidance (BADS-SF)	0-12	4.23 (4.30)	
Anticipatory pleasure (SBI)	-24-24	12.15 (7.52)	
Brooding (RRS)	5–20	10.79 (3.30)	
Disengagement from sad cues	-	0.08 (27.02)	
CV for happy cues	-	-22.79 (42.55)	
Cognitive control (PASAT)	0–60	50.83 (9.02)	

SD, standard deviation; BDI-II, beck depression inventory-II; BADS-SF, behavioral activation for depression scale—short form; SBI, savoring belief inventory; RRS, ruminative response scale; CV, cue validity; PASAT, paced auditory serial-addition task.

 β =0.68 for behavioral avoidance, β =0.74 for brooding, and β =-0.14 for anticipatory pleasure, all p_s <0.001). Anticipatory pleasure was a significant predictor of activation (β =0.13, p<0.001) and each covariance was significant (all p_s <0.001). The model explained 42% of the variance in depressive symptoms and 4% of the variance in activation.

Model 2 was associated with high goodness-of-fit indices $(\chi(2)^2 = 4.41 \ p = 0.11$, RMSEA of 0.048, SRMR = 0.028, TLI = 0.973, CFI = 0.995, AIC = 15178.712, and BIC = 15192.747). In this model, activation, behavioral avoidance, brooding and anticipatory pleasure were significant predictors of depressive symptoms (β = -0.36 for activation, β = 0.68 for behavioral avoidance, β = 0.74 for brooding, and β = -0.14 for anticipatory pleasure, all $p_s < 0.001$). In addition, activation was a significant predictor of anticipatory pleasure (β = 0.39, p < 0.001). The model explained 43% of the variance in depressive symptoms, and 6% of the variance in anticipatory pleasure. In both models, all path coefficient signs corroborated the expectations. AIC and BIC indices were lower in Model 2 than in Model 1, suggesting that Model 2 fit the data well. Model 2 is represented in **Figure 4**.

High goodness-of-fit indices were associated with the cognitive model (Model 3; $\chi(1)^2 = 0.081$, p = 0.776, RMSEA <0.001, SRMR = 0.003, TLI = 1.00, CFI = 1.00). However, not all hypothesized predictors of depressive symptoms were statistically significant. As expected, brooding and CC were significant predictors of depressive symptoms ($\beta = 1.11$, p < 0.001 for brooding, $\beta = -0.80$, p < 0.05 for CC). However, non-significant regressions were reported between the two AB_s and depressive symptoms ($\beta = 0.19$ for happy cues and $\beta = 0.64$ for sad cues, $p_s > 0.05$) and between CC and brooding ($\beta = -0.03$, p > 0.05). The model explained 26% of the variance in depressive symptoms and less than 1% of the variance in Brooding ($R^2 = 0.004$) and AB_s ($R^2 = 0.00$ for happy cues, $R^2 = 0.001$ for sad cues). Model 3 is depicted in Figure 5.

A majority of path coefficient signs corroborated expectations except the signs between CC and disengagement from sad cues and between attention to happy cues and brooding. Furthermore, the path signs between disengagement from sad cues and brooding, as well as between disengagement from sad cues and depressive symptoms, were unexpected.

Finally, Model 4 tested a comprehensive model (incorporating Model 2 and Model 3). Model 4 produces high goodness-of-fit indices ($\chi(12)^2 = 18.98$, p = 0.09, RMSEA of 0.033, SRMR=0.040, TLI=0.963, CFI=0.984). In Model 4, activation, behavioral avoidance, brooding, and anticipatory pleasure were significant predictors of depressive symptoms $(\beta = -0.35$ for activation; $\beta = 0.68$ for behavioral avoidance; $\beta = 0.73$ for brooding, and $\beta = -0.14$, for anticipatory pleasure, all $p_s < 0.001$). However, the two AB_s and CC did not significantly predict depressive symptoms ($\beta = -0.002$ for happy cues, $\beta = -0.001$ for sad cues, and $\beta = -0.05$ for CC, all $p_s > 0.05$). In addition, CC did not significantly predict the AB_s ($\beta = 0.19$ for happy cues and 0.64 for sad cues, p > 0.05) or brooding ($\beta = -0.01$, p > 0.05), and the AB_s did not significantly predict brooding ($\beta = -0.000$ for happy cues, and $\beta = -0.001$ for sad cues, all $p_s > 0.05$). Finally, activation was a significant predictor of anticipatory pleasure ($\beta = 0.39$, p < 0.001). Model 4 explained 43% of the variance in depressive symptoms, 6% of the variance in anticipatory pleasure, and less than 1% of the variance in brooding and AB_s. Figure 6 presents Model 4.

TABLE 3 | Spearman's correlations between all variables.

Measures	Activation	Behav. avoidance	Ant. pleasure	Brooding	CV happy	Dis. sad	cc
Activation	_						
Behav. avoidance	-0.23***	-					
Ant. pleasure	0.26***	-0.13**	-				
Brooding	-0.27***	0.32***	-0.11*	-			
CV happy	-0.10*	0.11*	-0.06	0.10*	-		
Dis. sad	0.02	-0.01	-0.003	-0.07	0.00	-	
CC	0.12**	-0.05	0.07	-0.06	-0.04	0.02	-
Depressive sympt.	-0.41***	0.46***	-0.26***	0.50***	0.04	-0.03	-0.14**

***p<0.001; **p<0.01; *p<0.05.

Behav. avoidance, behavioral avoidance; Ant. pleasure, anticipatory pleasure; CV happy, cue validity for happy cues; Dis. sad, disengagement from sad cues; CC, cognitive control; Depressive sympt., depressive symptoms.



FIGURE 4 [Model 2 (behavioral model 2). Initial structural equation model. Rectangles represent observed measured variables. Values are path-standardized coefficients. R^2 represents the proportion of the variance for a dependent variable that is explained by an independent variable or variables in a regression model. ***indicates a significant path coefficient at p < 0.01. *indicates a significant path coefficient at p < 0.05; gray: p > 0.05).

Complementary Analyses

Bootstrap analysis conducted on standard errors generated similar standard errors and *Z* values than previous results and lead to the same conclusions. Four supplemental tables reporting the estimate, standard error, *Z* value with and without bootstraps, and path-standardized coefficients can be downloaded *via* the following link: https://osf.io/hfj8a/.

Because the comprehensive model shows a large number of statistically insignificant paths, making this model more complex than necessary, we computed additional analysis testing a comprehensive model where ABs were removed considering the high standard error for the ABs variances and insignificant paths between ABs and brooding, and ABs and depressive symptoms. The analyses generated similar results with similar conclusions with still non-significant paths between CC and depressive symptoms and CC and brooding. The simplified Model 4 tested produce acceptable fit indices ($\chi(5)^2 = 14.513$ $p=0.013, \chi^2/df=2.90$, RMSEA of 0.060, SRMR=0.046, TLI=0.937, CFI=0.979). In this simplified comprehensive model, activation, behavioral avoidance, brooding, and anticipatory pleasure were significant predictors of depressive symptoms (β =-0.35 for activation; β =0.68 for behavioral avoidance; β =0.73 for brooding, and β =-0.13 for anticipatory pleasure, all $p_s < 0.001$). However, CC did not significantly predict depressive symptoms (β =-0.05 p>0.05). In addition, CC did not significantly predict brooding (β =-0.01, p>0.05). Finally, activation was a significant predictor of anticipatory pleasure (β =0.38, p<0.001). This simplified model explained 43% of the variance in depressive symptoms, 6% of the variance in anticipatory pleasure, and less than 1% of the variance in brooding.

Hierarchical Regression Analyses

We computed hierarchical regression models to measure the unique variance in depressive symptoms that might be explained by each



FIGURE 5 | Model 3 (cognitive model). Initial structural equation model. Rectangles represent observed measured variables. Values are path-standardized coefficients. R^2 represents the proportion of the variance for a dependent variable that is explained by an independent variable or variables in a regression model. ***indicates a significant path coefficient at p < 0.01. *indicates a significant path-coefficient at p < 0.05. (black: p < 0.05; gray: p > 0.05).



FIGURE 6 | Model 4 (comprehensive model). Initial structural equation model. Rectangles represent observed measured variables. Values are path-standardized coefficients. R^2 represents the proportion of the variance for a dependent variable that is explained by an independent variable or variables in a regression model. ***indicates a significant path coefficient at p < 0.01. *indicates a significant path-coefficient at p < 0.05; gray: p > 0.05).

predictor after controlling for the effects of the other predictors. Step 1 provides simple linear regressions assessing the amount of variance that could be attributed to each predictor. In order to verify whether the contribution of one predictor might be reduced to a non-significant account after controlling for all other predictors, step 2 includes the six remaining processes as predictors. We also computed hierarchical regression models to measure the variance in brooding that might be explained by CC and AB_s after controlling for the effects of the others. We compared predictors for statistically significant changes in the explained variance R^2 by computing a partial *F*-statistic. The results are summarized in **Table 4**.

The Step 1 models revealed that activation, behavioral avoidance, anticipatory pleasure, brooding and CC explained a significant proportion of the variance in depressive symptoms (18.3% for activation, 21.4% for behavioral avoidance, 25.6% for brooding, 9.3% for anticipatory pleasure, and 1.7% for CC). AB_s were not significant predictors of the variance in depressive symptoms, with less than 1% of the variance in depressive symptoms explained by the two AB_s ($R^2 < 0.01$). The Step 2 models revealed that activation, behavioral avoidance, anticipatory pleasure, and brooding were still significant predictors of depressive symptoms after controlling for the influence of other predictors ($\Delta R^2 = 0.045$ for activation, $\Delta R^2 = 0.074$ for behavioral avoidance, $\Delta R^2 = 0.090$ for brooding, $\Delta R^2 = 0.017$ for anticipatory pleasure). However, the variance in depressive symptoms explained by CC became non-significant after controlling for the influence of other predictors ($\Delta(F1,512) = 3.029$, p = 0.08, $\Delta R^2 = 0.003$).

DISCUSSION

This study aimed to investigate whether the addition of certain cognitive processes to BA processes could predict a larger proportion of depressive symptoms and brooding. First, we explored the amount of variance in depressive symptoms that was explained by the target processes in BA treatment according to behavioral models (activation, behavioral avoidance, anticipatory pleasure, and brooding), by the target processes

TABLE 4 | Hierarchical linear regressions of depressive symptoms.

in CCT according to cognitive models (CC, AB_{s} , and brooding), and by all processes together. Then we measured the relationships among these processes with path analysis in order to gain a comprehensive view of the interplay between them especially between activation and anticipatory pleasure and between CC, AB_s and brooding. Finally, we tested the amount of variance in depressive symptoms that was explained by the target processes in BA and by the target processes in CCT after controlling for the effect of the other predictors.

First, the analyses of the behavioral models revealed that activation, behavioral avoidance, anticipatory pleasure, and brooding are significant predictors of depressive mood. This result suggests that each process is a relevant therapeutic target for BA interventions. All the behavioral processes together explained a substantial amount of the variance in depressive symptoms (43%). In contrast, the analyses of the cognitive model revealed that only CC and brooding are significant predictors of depressive mood. Moreover, CC is no longer a significant predictor of depressive mood when the influence of other predictors is controlled for, as the hierarchical regression analysis, showed. Furthermore, our results did not support any claim that CC predicts ABs or brooding, or that ABs predict brooding. All the cognitive processes together explained 27% of the variance in depressive symptoms, with 25.6% explained by brooding and less than 1 and 2% explained by the ABs and CC, respectively. Analysis of the comprehensive model revealed that the combination of behavioral and cognitive models fit the data well but did not explain more of the variance in depressive symptoms or brooding than the behavioral models. These findings may corroborate the empirical data reported by Moshier and Otto (2017), which showed that CCT did not enhance

step	Predictors	R ²	Adjusted R ²	ΔR^2	ΔF	Value of p
	Activation	0.185	0.183	0.183	117.46	< 0.001
	Behav. avoid. & Ant. pleas. & Brood. & CV H & Dis. sad & CC	0.402	0.395	0.402	57.36	< 0.001
	Activation	0.446	0.439	0.045	41.494	< 0.001
	Behavioral avoidance	0.216	0.214	0.216	142.49	< 0.001
	Act. & Ant. pleas. & Brood. & CV H & Dis. sad & CC	0.372	0.365	0.372	50.64	< 0.001
	Behavioral avoidance	0.446	0.439	0.074	68.81	< 0.001
	Brooding	0.258	0.256	0.258	179.80	< 0.001
	Act. & Behav. avoid. & Ant. pleas. & CV H & Dis. sad & CC	0.356	0.349	0.356	47.35	< 0.001
	Brooding	0.446	0.439	0.090	83.21	< 0.001
	Anticipatory pleasure	0.078	0.076	0.094	43.942	< 0.001
	Act. & Behav. avoid. & Brood. & CV H & Dis. sad & CC	0.429	0.422	0.429	64.28	< 0.001
	Anticipatory pleasure	0.446	0.439	0.017	15.94	< 0.001
	CV happy	0.000	-0.002	0.000	0.192	0.66
	Act. & Behav. avoid. & Ant. pleas. & Brood. & Dis. sad & CC	0.444	0.437	0.444	68.18	< 0.001
	CV happy	0.446	0.439	0.003	2.519	0.11
	Disengagement sad	0.002	-0.000	0.002	0.875	0.35
	Act. & Behav. avoid. & Ant. pleas. & Brood. & CV H & CC	0.446	0.440	0.446	68.91	< 0.001
	Disengagement sad	0.446	0.439	0.000	0.093	0.76
	CC	0.018	0.017	0.018	9.73	0.00
	Act. & Behav. avoid. & Ant. pleas. & Brood. & CV H & Dis. sad	0.443	0.437	0.443	68.03	< 0.001
	CC	0.446	0.439	0.003	3.029	0.08

Act., activation; Behav. avoid., behavioral avoidance; Ant. pleas., anticipatory pleasure; CV H, cue validity for happy cues; Dis. sad, disengagement from sad cues; CC, cognitive control.

the effect of a BA intervention on brooding and depression in a clinical sample. Of course, this should be weighed regarding cognitive functioning associated with clinical characteristics, including comorbidities of populations and must continue to be investigated.

Overall, given that none of the selected cognitive processes significantly predicts brooding, our findings do not corroborate the idea that brooding is partially due to deficits in working memory or AB_s, as suggested by recent reports (Watkins and Roberts, 2020). Although unexpected, the lack of relationship between the monitoring of representations within working memory and brooding is consistent with a recent meta-analysis that reported null findings regarding the association between these processes (except for discarding cognitive function) in a sample of participants with and without depression diagnosis (Zetsche et al., 2018). Furthermore, the lack of relations between AB_s and brooding and AB_s and depressive symptoms is consistent with a recent cross-sectional research conducted in a clinically depressed, subclinically depressed and never-depressed sample (Krings et al., 2020) and even prospective research on ABs and depressive symptoms in a sample of participants who were remitted from Major Depressive Disorder (Elgersma et al., 2019).

These null findings might be due to the inadequate reliability of the paradigm used. Indeed, the exogenous cueing task is associated with less than ideal level of psychometric properties, as suggested by the high standard error for the AB variances and the low split-half reliability of the AB indices. The use of eye tracking during the task to continuously monitor the focus of visual attention would be a more appropriate alternative to measure AB_s. Furthermore, CC was measured by an updating task. However, different CC functions such as inhibition, shifting, or even discarding formerly relevant information from working memory could also be used to assess CC abilities (Zetsche and Joormann, 2011; Zetsche et al., 2018). The lack of relationships between AB_s and CC and depressive symptoms might also be explained by the heterogeneity of depression. There are numerous depressive symptoms and they represent distinct entities (e.g., some are good predictors of psychosocial impairment and others are not, or some are well predicted by stress and others are not; Fried and Nesse, 2014; Fried et al., 2015). Furthermore, AB_s and CC might be related to specific depressive symptoms or part of a network of related symptoms (Kraft et al., 2019). In addition, AB_s and CC might be related to other disturbed psychological processes not included in this model (e.g., interpretive bias, memory bias). Future research may benefit from exploring the interplay between these processes and specific depressive symptoms, as well as other disturbed psychological processes.

The behavioral path analysis models support the relevance of the behavioral model, showing that activation partially predicts anticipatory pleasure, which in turn predicts depressive symptoms. This result is in line with previous studies reporting that activation can influence reward anticipation and reward motivation in a subclinical depressed

sample (Bakker et al., 2017) but also in an unselected sample of undergraduate students (Beevers and Meyer, 2002). In behavioral activation treatment, people are encouraged to become increasingly involved in goal-directed activities, which should increase the number of positive situations or events they experience, in order to improve their depression. Our findings suggest that this BA strategy may actually affects a significant proportion of depressive symptoms through its influence on anticipatory pleasure. This strategy acts partly as "reward exposure" and the repeated activation of reward networks normalizes the reward system. In addition to results reported by Bakker et al. (2017) and Beevers and Meyer (2002), other empirical data support this rationale, with findings suggesting that "Engage" therapy using exposure to meaningful activities helps to reduce depression in clinical samples (Alexopoulos et al., 2016, 2017). However, even if it is significant, it is important to note that activation explained only 6% of the variance in anticipatory pleasure. This result suggests that, to increase the efficacy of BA interventions, the treatment may include other therapeutic strategies that directly target anticipatory pleasure, in addition to activation. Recent empirical data suggest that enhancing the specificity and detail of episodic future thinking by increasing vividness and mental imagery represents a promising strategy to increase anticipatory pleasure in a clinically depressed sample (Hallford et al., 2020). Moreover, a recent study in healthy volunteers revealed that multisensory imagery of planned rewarding activities increased both anticipatory pleasure and engagement in these activities (Renner et al., 2019).

Some promising new treatments have recently emerged to enhance reward responsiveness in relation to anhedonia and depression. First, Positive Affect Treatment consists of an augmentation of a behavioral activation training module, a cognitive training module, and a compassion training module (Craske et al., 2016). This intervention is associated with an increase in positive affect, and depression for subjects suffering from anhedonia that lasted 6 months (Craske et al., 2019). Another treatment, Behavioral Activation Treatment of Anhedonia (BATA), includes several additional specific modules to BA (see Forbes, 2020; Nagy et al., 2020). BATA is associated with an improvement in reward processing for subjects suffering from anhedonia (Cernasov et al., 2021).

Finally, hierarchical regression analyses based on the magnitude of each predictor suggest that brooding was the best predictor of the variance in depressive symptoms, followed by behavioral avoidance, activation and then anticipatory pleasure. These findings support the relevance of BA processes as primary therapeutic targets. Because brooding is a good predictor of depressive symptoms, it is important to investigate empirically validated treatments that might target cognitive aspects of brooding and could serve as adjuncts to psychotherapy. One promising intervention targeting cognitive aspects related to brooding is memory specificity training, which targets autobiographical memory specificity (Martens et al., 2019). Concreteness training
designed to teach individuals to become more concrete and specific in their thinking is another promising intervention that can be added to BA (Watkins and Moberly, 2009; Spinhoven et al., 2018). The unique contribution of selected processes is weaker than expected. Past studies reported a higher contribution of brooding with 46% of the variance in depressive symptoms explained by brooding in an unselected adults sample (Krings et al., 2020) and 17% in a subclinical sample of bereaved adults (Eisma et al., 2020). Behavioral avoidance explained 41% of the variance in depressive symptoms and activation explained 22% in an unselected adults sample (Krings et al., 2020). Past studies reported inconsistent results for cognitive control (Zetsche and Joormann, 2011) and to our knowledge no study have reported results on AB_s or anticipatory pleasure contributions. However, most of these past studies did not control for the common variance between these processes that may be significantly correlated. The minimal effects reported in our study may be explained by the control of this common variance. Future studies should estimate the unique contribution of depressive symptoms predictors as little is known yet in the literature.

Limitations

Some limitations should be taken into account when interpreting these results. First, our findings use a cross-sectional design, making it impossible to examine causal relationships between variables or to be confident about the directionality of effects. The use of a non-clinical sample also limited the generalizability of our conclusions. Additionally, the data are associated with floor or ceiling effect of variables, including those of CC. Most participants did fairly well on the PASAT, which is not characteristic of psychiatric populations. As such, it would be difficult to detect relationships between the PASAT and outcome measures. However, the total sample of clinical participants was too small to reliably compare clinical and non-clinical depressed participants. Future studies should then explore the impact of these predictors on depressive symptoms in a clinical sample. Furthermore, path coefficients were examined in only one direction for the purpose of this study, but most factors may have reciprocal relationships and be mutually reinforcing (Roberts et al., 2017). In addition, the lack of results related to cognitive targets in our sample may mirror the heterogeneous symptoms characterizing depressive symptomatology but the total sample of participants was too small to reliably examine the interplay between the aforementioned processes and specific symptoms (e.g., fatigue, feeling guilty). Finally, the selected processes were theory-driven but were not exhaustive. The role of other relevant vulnerability processes in predicting depressive symptoms (e.g., consummatory pleasure, interpretive bias, memory bias, reappraisal) should be investigated in future studies.

CONCLUSION

Our results suggest that behavioral models including activation, behavioral avoidance, brooding and anticipatory pleasure

can explain much of the variance in depressive symptoms. Moreover, activation partially predicts anticipatory pleasure, which in turn predicts depressive symptoms. Our results also revealed that the cognitive model was relevant but CC and AB_s did not predict brooding or depressive symptoms. Consequently, they raise questions about the claim that AB_s and CC figure prominently in the maintenance of depressive symptoms and brooding. A comprehensive model including every process did not explain more of the variance in brooding or depressive symptoms than the behavioral models suggesting that cognitive training may not be a promising add-on treatment to behavioral activation in our participants with such clinical characteristics. Our findings cast some doubt on the robustness of earlier findings in the field, and future research should carefully investigate the cognitive models of depression. Findings also indicate further investigation of mechanisms of change in BA and CCT treatments in depressed patients is warranted/indicated at this time.

AUTHOR'S NOTE

AC is a member of the Federative Research Structure in Health, Prevention, Quality of Life of the Université Savoie Mont Blanc.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found at: https://osf.io/hfj8a/.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Central ethics committee at University of Liège. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AK and AC: data collection and article preparation. JS and SB: article preparation. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Thanks to Zofia Laubitz for her careful proofreading of this manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Admon, R., and Pizzagalli, D. A. (2015). Dysfunctional reward processing in depression. *Curr. Opin. Psychol.* 4, 114–118. doi: 10.1016/j. copsyc.2014.12.011
- Akaike, H. (1973). "Information theory and an extension of the maximum likelihood principle." in Proceedings of the 2nd international symposium on information theory. Second International Symposium on Information Theory.
- Alexopoulos, G. S., O'Neil, R., Banerjee, S., Raue, P. J., Victoria, L. W., Bress, J. N., et al. (2017). "Engage" therapy: prediction of change of late-life major depression. J. Affect. Disord. 221, 192–197. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.06.037
- Alexopoulos, G. S., Raue, P. J., Gunning, F., Kiosses, D. N., Kanellopoulos, D., Pollari, C., et al. (2016). Engage therapy: behavioral activation and improvement of late-life major depression. *Am. J. Geriatr. Psychiatr.* 24, 320–326. doi: 10.1016/j.jagp.2015.11.006
- Averill, I. R. E., Beaglehole, B., Douglas, K. M., Jordan, J., Crowe, M. T., Inder, M., et al. (2019). Activation therapy for the treatment of inpatients with depression - protocol for a randomised control trial compared to treatment as usual. *BMC Psychiatry* 19, 1–12. doi: 10.1186/s12888-019-2038-2
- Bakker, J. M., Goossens, L., Lange, I., Michielse, S., Schruers, K., Lieverse, R., et al. (2017). Real-life validation of reduced reward processing in emerging adults with depressive symptoms. J. Abnorm. Psychol. 126, 713–725. doi: 10.1037/abn0000294
- Beck, A. T., Steer, R. A., and Brown, G. (1996). Beck Depression Inventory. 2nd Edn. New York. The Psychological Corporation.
- Beevers, C. G., and Meyer, B. (2002). Lack of positive experiences and positive expectancies mediate the relationship between BAS responsiveness and depression. *Cognit. Emot.* 16, 549–564. doi: 10.1080/02699930143000365
- Bentler, P. M. (1990). Comparative fit indexes in structural models. *Psychol. Bull.* 107, 238–246. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.107.2.238
- Berridge, K. C., and Kringelbach, M. L. (2008). Affective neuroscience of pleasure: reward in humans and animals. *Psychopharmacology* 199, 457–480. doi: 10.1007/s00213-008-1099-6
- Blairy, S., Baeyens, C., and Wagener, A. (2020). Lactivation Comportementale: Traitements des Évitements Comportementaux et de la Rumination Mentale. Wavre: Mardaga.
- Bockting, C. L., Hollon, S. D., Jarrett, R. B., Kuyken, W., and Dobson, K. (2015). A lifetime approach to major depressive disorder: the contributions of psychological interventions in preventing relapse and recurrence. *Clin. Psychol. Rev.* 41, 16–26. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2015.02.003
- Bryant, F. B. (2003). Savoring beliefs inventory (SBI): a scale for measuring beliefs about savouring. J. Ment. Health 12, 175–196. doi: 10.1080/ 0963823031000103489
- Cangur, S., and Ercan, I. (2015). Comparison of model fit indices used in structural equation modeling under multivariate normality. J. Mod. Appl. Stat. Methods 14, 152–167. doi: 10.22237/jmasm/1430453580
- Centre de Psychologie appliquée (1996). Manuel du BDI-II. Editions du centre de psychologie appliquée.
- Cernasov, P., Walsh, E. C., Kinard, J. L., Kelley, L., Phillips, R., Pisoni, A., et al. (2021). Multilevel growth curve analyses of behavioral activation for anhedonia (BATA) and mindfulness-based cognitive therapy effects on anhedonia and resting-state functional connectivity: interim results of a randomized trial. *J. Affect. Disord.* 292, 161–171. doi: 10.1016/j. jad.2021.05.054
- Comfrey, A. L., and Lee, H. B. (1992). A First Course in Factor Analysis. Mahwah: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Craske, M. G., Meuret, A. E., Ritz, T., Treanor, M., and Dour, H. J. (2016). Treatment for Anhedonia: a neuroscience driven approach. *Depress. Anxiety* 33, 927–938. doi: 10.1002/da.22490
- Craske, M. G., Treanor, M., Dour, H., Meuret, A., and Ritz, T. (2019). Positive affect treatment for depression and anxiety: a randomized clinical trial for a core feature of Anhedonia. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 87, 457–471. doi: 10.1037/ccp0000396
- Cuijpers, P., Karyotaki, E., de Wit, L., and Ebert, D. D. (2020). The effects of fifteen evidence-supported therapies for adult depression: a meta-analytic review. *Psychother. Res.* 30, 279–293. doi: 10.1080/10503307.2019.1649732
- De Raedt, R., and Koster, E. H. W. (2010). Understanding vulnerability for depression from a cognitive neuroscience perspective: a reappraisal of

attentional factors and a new conceptual framework. Cogn. Affect. Behav. Neurosci. 10, 50–70. doi: 10.3758/CABN.10.1.50

- Dichter, G. S., Felder, J. N., Petty, C., Bizzell, J., Ernst, M., and Smoski, M. J. (2009). The effects of psychotherapy on neural responses to rewards in major depression. *Biol. Psychiatry* 66, 886–897. doi: 10.1016/j. biopsych.2009.06.021
- Dichter, G. S., Felder, J. N., and Smoski, M. J. (2010). The effects of brief behavioral activation therapy for depression on cognitive control in affective contexts: an fMRI investigation. J. Affect. Disord. 126, 236–244. doi: 10.1016/j. jad.2010.03.022
- Dimidjian, S., Goodman, S. H., Sherwood, N. E., Simon, G. E., Ludman, E., Gallop, R., et al. (2017). A pragmatic randomized clinical trial of behavioral activation for depressed pregnant women. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 85, 26–36. doi: 10.1037/ccp0000151
- Eisma, M. C., de Lang, T. A., and Boelen, P. A. (2020). How thinking hurts: Rumination, worry, and avoidance processes in adjustment to bereavement. *Clin. Psychol. Psychother.* 27, 548–558. doi: 10.1002/cpp.2440
- Ekers, D., Webster, L., Van Straten, A., Cuijpers, P., Richards, D., and Gilbody, S. (2014). Behavioural activation for depression; an update of meta-analysis of effectiveness and sub group analysis. *PLoS One* 9:e100100. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0100100
- Elgersma, H. J., Koster, E. H. W., Vugteveen, J., Hoekzema, A., Penninx, B. W. J. H., Bockting, C. L. H., et al. (2019). Predictive value of attentional bias for the recurrence of depression: a 4-year prospective study in remitted depressed individuals. *Behav. Res. Ther.* 114, 25–34. doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2019.01.001
- Forbes, C. N. (2020). New directions in behavioral activation: using findings from basic science and translational neuroscience to inform the exploration of potential mechanisms of change. *Clin. Psychol. Rev.* 79:101860. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2020.101860
- Fried, E. I., and Nesse, R. M. (2014). The impact of individual depressive symptoms on impairment of psychosocial functioning. *PLoS One* 9:e90311. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0090311
- Fried, E. I., Nesse, R. M., Guille, C., and Sen, S. (2015). The differential influence of life stress on individual symptoms of depression. Acta Psychiatr. Scand. 131, 465–471. doi: 10.1111/acps.12395
- Geaney, J. T., Treadway, M. T., and Smillie, L. D. (2015). Trait anticipatory pleasure predicts effort expenditure for reward. *PLoS One* 10:e0131357. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0131357
- Goeleven, E., De Raedt, R., Leyman, L., and Verschuere, B. (2008). The Karolinska directed emotional faces: a validation study. *Cognit. Emot.* 22, 1094–1118. doi: 10.1080/02699930701626582
- Golay, P., Thonon, B., Nguyen, A., Fankhauser, C., and Favrod, J. (2018). Confirmatory factor analysis of the French version of the savoring beliefs inventory. *Front. Psychol.* 9:181. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00181
- Gronwall, D. M. A. (1977). Paced auditory serial-addition task: a measure of recovery from concussion. Percept. Mot. Skills 44, 367–373. doi: 10.2466/pms.1977.44.2.367
- Hallford, D. J., Sharma, M. K., and Austin, D. W. (2020). Increasing anticipatory pleasure in major depression through enhancing episodic future thinking: a randomized single-case series trial. *J. Psychopathol. Behav. Assess.* 42, 751–764. doi: 10.1007/s10862-020-09820-9
- Hoorelbeke, K., and Koster, E. H. W. (2017). Internet-delivered cognitive control training as a preventive intervention for remitted depressed patients: evidence From a double-blind randomized controlled trial study. J. Consult. Clin. Psychol. 85, 135–146. doi: 10.1037/ccp0000128
- Hopko, D. R., Lejuez, C. W., Ruggiero, K. J., and Eifert, G. H. (2003). Contemporary behavioral activation treatments for depression: procedures, principles, and progress. *Clin. Psychol. Rev.* 23, 699–717. doi: 10.1016/ S0272-7358(03)00070-9
- Hsu, K. J., Beard, C., Rifkin, L., Dillon, D. G., Pizzagalli, D. A., and Björgvinsson, T. (2015). Transdiagnostic mechanisms in depression and anxiety: the role of rumination and attentional control. J. Affect. Disord. 188, 22–27. doi: 10.1016/j. jad.2015.08.008
- Hu, L. T., and Bentler, P. M. (1999). Cutoff criteria for fit indexes in covariance structure analysis: conventional criteria versus new alternatives. *Struct. Equ. Model.* 6, 1–55. doi: 10.1080/10705519909540118
- JASP Team. (2020). JASP (version 0.13.1) [computer software].
- Kessler, R. C., and Bromet, E. J. (2013). The epidemiology of depression Across cultures. Annu. Rev. Public Health 34, 119–138. doi: 10.1146/annurevpublhealth-031912-114409

- Koster, E. H. W., De Lissnyder, E., Derakshan, N., and De Raedt, R. (2011). Understanding depressive rumination from a cognitive science perspective: the impaired disengagement hypothesis. *Clin. Psychol. Rev.* 31, 138–145. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2010.08.005
- Koster, E. H. W., De Raedt, R., Goeleven, E., Franck, E., and Crombez, G. (2005). Mood-congruent Attentional bias in Dysphoria: maintained attention to and impaired disengagement From negative information. *Emotion* 5, 446–455. doi: 10.1037/1528-3542.5.4.446
- Koster, E. H. W., Hoorelbeke, K., Onraedt, T., Owens, M., and Derakshan, N. (2017). Cognitive control interventions for depression: a systematic review of findings from training studies. *Clin. Psychol. Rev.* 53, 79–92. doi: 10.1016/j. cpr.2017.02.002
- Kraft, B., Jonassen, R., Heeren, A., Harmer, C., Stiles, T., and Landrø, N. I. (2019). Attention bias modification in remitted depression is associated With increased interest and leads to reduced adverse impact of anxiety symptoms and negative cognition. *Clin. Psychol. Sci.* 7, 530–544. doi: 10.1177/ 2167702618822480
- Krings, A., Heeren, A., Fontaine, P., and Blairy, S. (2020). Attentional biases in depression: relation to disorder severity, rumination, and anhedonia. *Compr. Psychiatry* 100:152173. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2020.152173
- Lejuez, C. W., Hopko, D. R., and Hopko, S. D. (2001). A brief behavioral activation treatment for depression: treatment manual. *Behav. Modif.* 25, 255–286. doi: 10.1177/0145445501252005
- LeMoult, J., and Gotlib, I. H. (2019). Depression: a cognitive perspective. Clin. Psychol. Rev. 69, 51–66. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2018.06.008
- Li, X., Zhang, Y. T., Huang, Z. J., Chen, X. L., Yuan, F. H., and Sun, X. J. (2019). Diminished anticipatory and consummatory pleasure in Dysphoria: evidence from an experience sampling study. *Front. Psychol.* 10:2124. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02124
- Lundqvist, D., Flykt, A., and Öhman, A. (1998). The Karolinska Directed Emotional Faces—KDEF. Stockholm: Department of Neurosciences Karolinska Hospital.
- Manos, R. C., Kanter, J. W., and Busch, A. M. (2010). A critical review of assessment strategies to measure the behavioral activation model of depression. *Clin. Psychol. Rev.* 30, 547–561. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2010.03.008
- Manos, R. C., Kanter, J. W., and Luo, W. (2011). The behavioral activation for depression scale-short form: development and validation. *Behav. Ther.* 42, 726–739. doi: 10.1016/j.beth.2011.04.004
- Martell, C. R., Addis, M. E., and Jacobson, N. S. (2001). Depression in Context: Strategies for Guided Action. New York: Norton.
- Martens, K., Barry, T. J., Takano, K., Onghena, P., and Raes, F. (2019). Efficacy of online memory specificity training in adults with a history of depression, using a multiple baseline across participants design. *Internet Interv.* 18:100259. doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2019.100259
- Mazzucchelli, T. G., Kane, R. T., and Rees, C. S. (2010). Behavioral activation interventions for well-being: a meta-analysis. J. Posit. Psychol. 5, 105–121. doi: 10.1080/17439760903569154
- McIndoo, C. C., File, A. A., Preddy, T., Clark, C. G., and Hopko, D. R. (2016). Mindfulness-based therapy and behavioral activation: a randomized controlled trial with depressed college students. *Behav. Res. Ther.* 77, 118–128. doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2015.12.012
- Morris, B. H., Bylsma, L. M., and Rottenberg, J. (2009). Does emotion predict the course of major depressive disorder? A review of prospective studies. *Br. J. Clin. Psychol.* 48, 255–273. doi: 10.1348/014466508X396549
- Moshier, S. J., and Otto, M. W. (2017). Behavioral activation treatment for major depression: a randomized trial of the efficacy of augmentation with cognitive control training. *J. Affect. Disord.* 210, 265–268. doi: 10.1016/j. jad.2017.01.003
- Nagy, G. A., Cernasov, P., Pisoni, A., Walsh, E., Dichter, G. S., and Smoski, M. J. (2020). Reward network modulation as a mechanism of change in behavioral activation. *Behav. Modif.* 44, 186–213. doi: 10.1177/0145445518805682
- Nolen-Hoeksema, S., Wisco, B. E., and Lyubomirsky, S. (2008). Rethinking rumination. *Perspect. Psychol. Sci.* 3, 400–424. doi: 10.1111/j.1745-6924. 2008.00088.x
- Orgeta, V., Brede, J., and Livingston, G. (2017). Behavioural activation for depression in older people: systematic review and meta-analysis. Br. J. Psychiatry 211, 274–279. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.117.205021
- Posner, M. (1980). Orientation of attention. Q. J. Exp. Psychol. 32, 3–25. doi: 10.1080/00335558008248231

- Ratcliff, R. (1993). Methods for dealing with reaction time outliers. *Psychol. Bull.* 114, 510–532. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.114.3.510
- Renner, F., Murphy, F. C., Ji, J. L., Manly, T., and Holmes, E. A. (2019). Mental imagery as a "motivational amplifier" to promote activities. *Behav. Res. Ther.* 114, 51–59. doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2019.02.002
- Roberts, H., Watkins, E. R., and Wills, A. J. (2017). Does rumination cause "inhibitory" deficits? *Psychopathol. Rev.* a4, 341-376. doi: 10.5127/pr.036914
- Rosseel, Y. (2012). Lavaan: an R package for structural equation modeling. J. Stat. Softw. 48, 1–36. doi: 10.18637/jss.v048.i02
- Sanchez, A., Koster, E. H. W., Van Put, J., and De Raedt, R. (2019). Attentional disengagement from emotional information predicts future depression via changes in ruminative brooding: a five-month longitudinal eye-tracking study. *Behav. Res. Ther.* 118, 30–42. doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2019.03.013
- Sanchez, A., Romero, N., and De Raedt, R. (2017). Depression-related difficulties disengaging from negative faces are associated with sustained attention to negative feedback during social evaluation and predict stress recovery. *PLoS One* 12:e0175040. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0175040
- Schermelleh-Engel, K., Moosbrugger, H., and Müller, H. (2003). Evaluating the fit of structural equation models: tests of significance and descriptive goodnessof-fit measures. *Methods Psychol. Res. Online* 8, 23–74.
- Sherdell, L., Waugh, C. E., and Gotlib, I. H. (2012). Anticipatory pleasure predicts motivation for reward in major depression. J. Abnorm. Psychol. 121, 51–60. doi: 10.1037/a0024945
- Siegle, G. J., Price, R. B., Jones, N. P., Ghinassi, F., Painter, T., and Thase, M. E. (2014). You gotta work at it: pupillary indices of task focus are prognostic for response to a neurocognitive intervention for rumination in depression. *Clin. Psychol. Sci.* 2, 455–471. doi: 10.1177/2167702614536160
- Spinhoven, P., Klein, N., Kennis, M., Cramer, A. O. J., Siegle, G., Cuijpers, P., et al. (2018). The effects of cognitive-behavior therapy for depression on repetitive negative thinking: a meta-analysis. *Behav. Res. Ther.* 106, 71–85. doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2018.04.002
- Tombaugh, T. N. (2006). A comprehensive review of the paced auditory serial addition test (PASAT). Arch. Clin. Neuropsychol. 21, 53–76. doi: 10.1016/j. acn.2005.07.006
- Treadway, M. T., and Zald, D. H. (2011). Reconsidering anhedonia in depression: lessons from translational neuroscience. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 35, 537–555. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2010.06.006
- Treynor, W., Gonzalez, R., and Nolen-Hoeksema, S. (2003). Rumination reconsidered: a psychometric analysis. *Cogn. Ther. Res.* 27, 247–259. doi: 10.1023/A:1023910315561
- Van den Bergh, N., Vermeersch, S., Hoorelbeke, K., Vervaeke, J., De Raedt, R., and Koster, E. H. W. (2020). Cognitive control training as an augmentation strategy to CBT in the treatment of fear of failure in undergraduates. *Cogn. Ther. Res.* 44, 1199–1212. doi: 10.1007/s10608-020-10129-w
- Vanderhasselt, M. A., De Raedt, R., Namur, V., Lotufo, P. A., Bensenor, I. M., Boggio, P. S., et al. (2015). Transcranial electric stimulation and neurocognitive training in clinically depressed patients: a pilot study of the effects on rumination. *Prog. Neuro-Psychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry* 57, 93–99. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2014.09.015
- Vittengl, J. R., Clark, L. A., Dunn, T. W., and Jarrett, R. B. (2007). Reducing relapse and recurrence in unipolar depression: a comparative meta-analysis of cognitive-behavioral therapy's effects. *J. Consult. Clin. Psychol.* 75, 475–488. doi: 10.1037/0022-006X.75.3.475
- Wagener, A., Baeyens, C., and Blairy, S. (2016). Depressive symptomatology and the influence of the behavioral avoidance and activation: a gender-specific investigation. J. Affect. Disord. 193, 123–129. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2015.12.040
- Wagener, A., Van Der Linden, M., and Blairy, S. (2015). Psychometric properties of the French translation of the behavioral activation for depression scaleshort form (BADS-SF) in non-clinical adults. *Compr. Psychiatry* 56, 252–257. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2014.10.008
- Watkins, E. R., and Moberly, N. J. (2009). Concreteness training reduces dysphoria: a pilot proof-of-principle study. *Behav. Res. Ther.* 47, 48–53. doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2008.10.014
- Watkins, E. R., and Roberts, H. (2020). Reflecting on rumination: consequences, causes, mechanisms and treatment of rumination. *Behav. Res. Ther.* 127:103573. doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2020.103573
- Winer, E. S., Nadorff, M. R., Ellis, T. E., Allen, J. G., Herrera, S., and Salem, T. (2014). Anhedonia predicts suicidal ideation in a large psychiatric inpatient

sample. Psychiatry Res. 218, 124–128. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2014. 04.016

- Wolf, E. J., Harrington, K. M., Clark, S. L., and Miller, M. W. (2013). Sample size requirements for structural equation models: an evaluation of power, bias, and solution propriety. *Educ. Psychol. Meas.* 76, 913–934. doi: 10.1177/0013164413495237
- World Health Organization (2020). Depression. Available at: https://www.who. int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/depression (Accessed November 20, 2020).

Wright, S. (1934). The method of path coefficients. Ann. Math. Stat. 5, 161–215. doi: 10.1214/aoms/1177732676

- Wu, H., Mata, J., Furman, D. J., Whitmer, A. J., Gotlib, I. H., and Thompson, R. J. (2017). Anticipatory and consummatory pleasure and displeasure in major depressive disorder: an experience sampling study. J. Abnorm. Psychol. 126, 149–159. doi: 10.1037/abn0000244
- Yaroslavsky, I., Allard, E. S., and Sanchez-Lopez, A. (2019). Can't look away: attention control deficits predict rumination, depression symptoms and depressive affect in daily life. J. Affect. Disord. 245, 1061–1069. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2018.11.036
- Zetsche, U., Bürkner, P. C., and Schulze, L. (2018). Shedding light on the association between repetitive negative thinking and deficits in cognitive control – a meta-analysis. *Clin. Psychol. Rev.* 63, 56–65. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2018. 06.001

Zetsche, U., and Joormann, J. (2011). Components of interference control predict depressive symptoms and rumination cross-sectionally and at six months follow-up. J. Behav. Ther. Exp. Psychiatry 42, 65–73. doi: 10.1016/j.jbtep.2010.06.001

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Krings, Simon, Carré and Blairy. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Comparative Analysis of Lateral Preferences in Patients With Resistant Schizophrenia

Georgi Panov*

Psychiatric Clinic, University Hospital for Active Treatment "Prof. Dr. Stoian Kirkovic", Trakia University, Stara Zagora, Bulgaria

Background: Schizophrenia is a chronic brain disorder of diverse etiology and clinical presentation. Despite the expansion of treatment methods, between 30 and 50% of cases remain resistant to treatment. In patients with schizophrenia, specifics in the dominant lateralization in the brain function have been discovered. This gave a reason to seek the relation between functional lateralization and the effect of treatment.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Drozdstoy Stoyanov Stoyanov, Plovdiv Medical University, Bulgaria

Reviewed by:

Licínia Ganança, University of Lisbon, Portugal Plamen Bozhinov, Medical University Pleven, Bulgaria

> *Correspondence: Georgi Panov gpanov@dir.bg

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychopathology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 02 February 2022 Accepted: 22 February 2022 Published: 05 April 2022

Citation:

Panov G (2022) Comparative Analysis of Lateral Preferences in Patients With Resistant Schizophrenia. Front. Psychiatry 13:868285. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.868285 **Methods:** Of the 105 people observed with schizophrenia, 45 (42.9%) were treatment resistant, and 60 (57.1%) were considered responders. We compared functional lateralization (hand, foot, and eye) between the two groups. Handedness was ascertained by using the Edinburgh Handedness Inventory. The assessment was made at 12 weeks of treatment.

Results: Of all patients with schizophrenia, 41.89% have mixed lateralization, 53.34% are right winged, and 4.76% of the patients are left winged. Resistance of the symptoms shows that 26 (57.78%) are cross-dominated, 18 (40%) are right winged, and 1 (2.22%) is left winged. In patients with clinical remission, 18 (30%) are of mixed dominance, 38 (63.33%) are right winged, and 4 (6.66%) are left winged. From the results for the separate lateralization of the hand, foot, and eye, we found a significant difference only in terms of the dominance of the eye. In 44 (41.9%) of the patients, we found dominance of the left eye. In patients with resistance, the percentage established by us is higher—at 26 (57.8%). These results indicate that the increased percentage of mixed dominance in patients with schizophrenia is mainly due to left-sided lateralization of the eye, especially in those with resistance to treatment.

Conclusion: We find an increased number of patients with cross-dominance II left eye dominance in patients with schizophrenia. Cross-dominance and left eye dominance are associated with a higher probability of symptom resistance than other forms of lateralization (left-handed or right-handed). The high percentage of cross-dominance is due to the high percentage of left-sided dominance of the eye.

Keywords: schizophrenia, resistance, cross-domination, left-handed, right-handed, mixed lateralization, eye dominance, functional lateralization

BACKGROUND

Schizophrenia is a chronic mental illness with a heterogeneous etiology and a polymorphic clinical picture. The symptoms of schizophrenia are classified into positive, negative, and cognitive. In addition to these main symptoms, frequently anxious and affective symptoms have been identified (1). Studies that assess functional connectivity in patients with schizophrenia have shown disturbances in information transfer between brain centers, particularly between the frontal lobe and cuneus and other neuronal regions (2–4).

The grouping of the clinical manifestations is a reflection of the changes in the neuronal organization as well as the changes in the different levels of loss of connectivity (5). Studies show that the left and right hemispheres are asymmetric in their morphological structure and in the cognitive functions they mediate (6). This asymmetry seems to underlie the development of basic cognitive processes, such as language acquisition (7), and it is suggested that variations in the development of this asymmetry also contribute to the pathogenesis of schizophrenia (7, 8). T. J. Crow suggests that the genetic variation associated with the evolution of homo sapiens and the hemispheric dominance of language development is also associated with an increased likelihood of developing psychotic symptoms (7). Other authors also suggest that the loss of left hemispheric dominance is a central neurological feature of this disease (3, 4, 9-11).

One method of assessing lateralization is to establish the dominant hand of the subject. Hand dominance has also been shown to correlate with cerebral lateralization of language expression (12), visual processing (13), declarative memory (14, 15), and emotional processing (16). An analysis of more than 40 studies has concluded that the left hand is more common in mental illness (17). When comparing the prevalence of lefthandedness among 107 patients with psychotic disorders and in patients with affective disorders and anxiety, a significant difference was observed (18). In patients with psychotic disorders, some authors find a high percentage (including schizoaffective and schizophrenia) of up to 40% left-handedness (18). Other studies have found almost two times less left handers in patients with schizophrenia (between 15 and 20%) (17). There are also reverse studies. An assessment of several hundred patients showed no difference in lateralization in patients with schizophrenia, their relatives, and the control group (19).

Schizophrenia is a disease of various etiologies, and this could be the reason for the observed deviation in dominance in different studies due to the fact that different clinical subgroups have been studied. Several analyses point to such possible differences. Left-handed and those with cross-dominance with psychotic disorders report more severe impairment in social functioning and have poorer results in psychological studies (20, 21). These results may suggest that dominance may be considered a marker for a particular subtype of psychosis.

Although dominance is a constant feature (there is continuity over time) (22), a definite approach to dominance is not established in current research practice in psychiatry. A threemodal classification is most commonly used, in which subjects are classified into categories with left, right, and mixed dominance, although there are several authors who continue to view dominance as a simple dichotomy (23, 24). The mixed group includes individuals without a clear dominance or consistent preference of the hands, i.e., no pronounced lateralization. Mixed dominance is thought to reflect left hemispheric dysfunction, which may be the result of early (prenatal or perinatal) brain damage (25, 26) or other causes of neurodevelopment (27-29). Mixed dominance, which is more common in patients with schizophrenia than in normal subjects, is even considered characteristic of schizophrenia (28). An analysis of 93 patients with schizophrenia and 105 controls revealed cross-dominance in 20% of patients with psychosis compared with 3.8% in the control group (29). Another study with almost the same number of patients with schizophrenia (30) compared with controls found that the number of patients with pure left dominance was not different from that in the rest of the control group. The authors registered an increased frequency of those with mixed dominance in patients with psychosis (three times more often than the control group). They find that mixed dominance is more pronounced in chronic cases. The results of another research study suggest that some researchers consider schizophrenia as a disorder of lateralization of cerebral function. They analyze the eye/hand relationship for dominance. A meta-analysis found that 35% of right-handers and 57% of left-handers had a dominant left eye (31). Another study assessed the dominant eye in 68 patients with schizophrenia and 118 controls. The patients were aged 17-60 years, with a predominance of males -60 people, and females, 28 people, respectively. The authors found an increased incidence of cross-dominance in patients with schizophrenia. Interestingly, male patients with schizophrenia have an increased incidence of left eye dominance, and such a relationship is not found in females, given the fact that they are the smaller group in the study (32).

An increased incidence of cross-dominance has also been reported in patients with the first psychotic episode, but also associated with more pronounced mild neurological symptoms. The mixed dominance reported by them was associated with poorer school performance as well as poorer social adaptation in the premorbid period (20).

The definition of a mixed dominance category depends on the choice of a questionnaire that divides the continuum of the coefficients for considering dominance as mixed or as more pronounced on the left or right. With a few exceptions (33, 34), most existing hand questionnaires do not have valid criteria for separating dominance. In contrast, measures based on another widely used instrument in the Edinburgh Classification (EHI) (35) have repeatedly been the subject of arbitrary division of classes according to the degree of dominance.

The analysis gives us reason to draw the following conclusions: There are many studies with conflicting results on the topic. We did not find a study to analyze the differences in lateralization in patients with resistance to treatment and in patients in remission.

Working hypothesis: Based on the different results of the studies conducted in patients with schizophrenia, it can be assumed that they were conducted in different subgroups of patients. We hypothesize that we will find differences in functional lateralization in patients with resistance to treatment and in those in remission.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patients (105) with schizophrenia and consecutive psychotic episode were observed in a psychiatric clinic in a hospital setting. Of these, 45 have resistant schizophrenia, and the remaining 60 are in clinical remission.

The gender breakdown showed that 66 were women and 39 were men.

Inclusion criteria for patients with resistant schizophrenia are those who have met the resistance criteria of the published consensus on resistant schizophrenia (36). They are as follows:

- 1. Assessment of symptoms with the PANSS and BPRS scale (37, 38).
- 2. Prospective monitoring for a period of at least 12 weeks.
- 3. Administration of at least two antipsychotic medication trials at a dose corresponding to or greater than 600 mg of chlorpromazine equivalents.
- 4. Reduction of symptoms when assessed with the PANSS and BPRS scale by less than 20% for the observed period of time.
- 5. The assessment of social dysfunction using the SOFAS scale is below 60.

The exclusion criteria are as follows:

- 1. Intellectual disability.
- 2. Organic brain damage.
- 3. Progressive neurological or severe somatic diseases.
- 4. Advanced personality change.
- 5. Score of MMSI below 25 points.

Measurement of Lateralization

Lateralization of brain functions was assessed for dominance of the hand, foot, and eye.

Given the specifics of the present study, the comparative analysis of patients with chronic schizophrenia (especially those with persistent and resistant psychotic production) revealed some difficulties in making a detailed assessment of some results.

Handedness

Participants respond to this scale (35) by indicating whether they use their right, left, or either hand for 10 common actions.

Footedness

Chapman foot preference inventory (39) requires participants to respond by indicating whether they use their right, left, or either foot for common actions.

Eye Dominance

In determining the dominant eye, a method, such as looking through a hole [e.g., (32)], was used. To ensure that we have selected the correct dominant eye, we trained the participants.

Procedure

Participants completed the Edinburgh Inventory Scale, Chapman foot preference. Eye preference is determined by three (or more) times attempting to look through a hole.

Given the fact that in some of the patients with pronounced psychotic symptoms it was difficult to assess the intermediate forms of dominance, we decided to group the patients into two groups in terms of hand use, leg, and eye.

Statistical Methods

The statistical software package SPSS, was used for statistical data processing. Because we use categorical variables, and limit group numbers, chi-square test in non-parametric tests was chosen in comparing the groups.

RESULTS

The mean age of patients in the group of resistant schizophrenia was 36.98 years. The minimum age is 21 years, and the maximum is 60 years.

The mean age of patients in the group of schizophrenia in clinical remission was 37.25 years. The minimum is 23 years, and the maximum is 63 years.

We do not find a difference in the mean age of the patients in the both groups at the time of the study.

Hand Lateralization Data Showed the Following Results

Of all the 105 patients we observed, we found that the right-handed were 98 (93.3%) and the left-handed were 7 (6.7%).

From the group of patients with resistance to treatment (45), it was found that 3 (6.7%) are left-handed, and the remaining 42 (93.7%) are right-handed.

In the group of patients with clinical remission, the same process was observed, which we consider to be a coincidence in terms of the percentage distribution: 4 (6.7%) left-handed and 56 (93.3%) right-handed.

From the distribution of patients in terms of lateralization of the dominant hand, we do not find differences between the two groups of patients (f) (**Table 1**).

Foot Lateralization Data Showed the Following Results

The assessment of the lateralization of the foot in all patients (105) showed that 93 (88.6%) are right footed and 12 (11.4%) are left footed. In general, we observed a higher percentage of left-handed dominance than left-handed dominance.

In the group of patients with resistance, it was found that 41 (91.1%) have a dominance of the right foot, and 4 (8.9%) have a dominant left foot.

In the group of patients in clinical remission, we found dominance of the right foot in 52 (86.7%) and dominance of the left foot in 8 (13.3%).

No statistically significant difference was found during the statistical processing. What impressed us, and was contrary to our expectations, is that we find a higher rate of left foot **TABLE 1** | Relationship between functional lateralization of the hand and the effectiveness of therapy.

			Effect of therapy		Total
			Resistant	Remission	
Lateralization hand	Left	Count	3	4	7
		%	6.7%	6.7%	6.7%
	Right	Count	42	56	98
		%	93.3%	93.3%	93.3%
Total		Count	45	60	105
		%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%

TABLE 2 | Relationship between functional dominance of the foot and the effectiveness of therapy.

			Effect of therapy		Total	
			Resistant	Remission		
Lateralization foot	Left	Count	4	8	12	
		%	8.9%	13.3%	11.4%	
	Right	Count	41	52	93	
		%	91.1%	86.7%	88.6%	
Total		Count	45	60	105	
		%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	

dominance in patients in clinical remission compared with those with resistance, despite the lack of statistical difference (**Table 2**).

Eye Lateralization Data Showed the Following Results

The assessment of the dominance of the eye in all observed patients (105) showed the following distribution: dominant right eye was found in 61 (58.1%) and dominant left in 44 (41.9%).

In patients with resistance, we registered a dominant right eye in 19 (42.2%) and a dominant left eye in 26 (57.8%).

In patients in clinical remission, we found dominance of the right eye in in 42 (70%) and dominance of the left eye in 18 (30%).

The obtained results show that we find approximately twice as often dominance of the left eye in the resistance group compared with patients in remission.

Statistical analysis showed the presence of statistical dependence with Chi square 8.150, p < 0.05 (**) (**Table 3**).

The Data in Terms of Functional Lateralization (Arm, Leg, Eye), Considered as Pure Left, Right, and Cross Dominance Showed the Following Results

Of the 105 patients studied, 44 (41.89%) have mixed lateralization, 56 (53.34%) are right-handed, and 5 (4.76%) of the patients are left-handed.

The distribution of the dominance of the lateralization in patients with resistance to treatment shows that 26 (57.78%) are

TABLE 3 | Relationship between functional lateralization of the eye and the effectiveness of therapy.

			Effect of therapy		Total	
			Resistant	Remission		
Lateralization eye	Left	Count	26	18	44	
		%	57.8%	30.0%	41.9%	
	Right	Count	19	42	61	
		%	42.2%	70.0%	58.1%	
Total		Count	45	60	105	
		%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	

TABLE 4 | Relationship between pure dominance (hand,foot,eye) and cross-dominance with treatment efficacy.

			Lateralization		Total	
			Right	Left	Mixed	
Effect of therapy	Resistant	Count	18	1	26	45
		%	32.1%	20.0%	59.1%	42.9%
	Remission	Count	38	4	18	60
		%	67.9%	80.0%	40.9%	57.1%
Total		Count	56	5	44	105
		%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%

cross-dominant, 18 (40%) are right-handed (hand, foot, eye), and 1 (2.22%) is left-handed (hand, foot, eye).

We found that more than half of the patients with resistant schizophrenia have mixed (cross-dominance) and an insignificant percentage are pure left-handed.

The distribution of the dominance of the lateralization in patients in clinical remission shows that 18 (30%) of the patients have mixed dominance, 38 (63.33%) are right-handed, and 4 (6.66%) are left-handed (**Table 4**).

The results show that cross-dominance is more common in patients with resistant schizophrenia than in those in remission. We find twice as many patients with cross-dominance in the group of patients with resistance to treatment as those in remission.

We find a statistically significant difference between the two groups of patients shown in **Figure 1** and **Table 5** (p < 0.05, *).

Gender-Related Differences in Functional Lateralization Showed the Following Results

In 66 female patients, 28 (42.4%) are cross-dominant, 35 (53%) are right-handed, and 3 (4.5%) are left-handed.

In 39 male patients, 16 (41.0%) have mixed dominance, 21 (53.8%) are right-handed, and 2 (5.1%) are left-handed.

Our results do not show significant gender differences in the lateralization of brain processes.

Gender-associated differences in terms of only the lateralization of the dominance of the eye showed that in



in 26 (39.4%) females, there is a dominance of the left eye and in 40 (59.6%), there is dominance of the right eye. In males, it was found that 18 (46.2%) has dominance of the left eye, and 21 (53.8%) has dominance of the right eye.

We find little higher а percentage of with dominance patients left eve in males than in females.

The conclusions from the analysis of our results regarding the lateralization of brain processes in patients with schizophrenia show that there is an increased percentage of patients with cross-dominance in the general group of patients with schizophrenia. We registered an increased percentage of patients with a dominant left eye in the patients with schizophrenia we observed. We found a statistically significant difference in the dominance of the left eye with a pronounced predominance in patients with resistance to treatment. The increased percentage of patients with crossdominance is due to patients with left-sided dominance of the eye.

We did not find an increased percentage of patients with a dominant left arm. We register a higher percentage of patients with dominance of the left leg compared with dominance of the left arm.

DISCUSSION

The use of a trimodal classification model to assess the lateralization of brain processes showed that our study did not reveal gender-related differences, unlike some studies that show one (40). We do not find gender-related differences in the

 TABLE 5 | Statistical significance of the differences between patients in the two groups.

	Value	df	Asymptotic significance (two sided)
Pearson Chi-square	8.427	2	0.015
Likelihood ratio	8.543	2	0.014
Linear-by-linear association	8.045	1	0.005
No of valid cases	105		

lateralization of cerebral hemisphere dominance. Literature data show that there is a general prevalence of left-handed among males. A study conducted in Greece found that it was observed in 8.26% of men and 6.41% of females (40). In our sample, the difference between left-handed male and female left-handed patients is insignificant. This can be interpreted in the context of the observation of other authors that these gender differences are not universal (41).

Our results do not support the data of other authors on the predominance of left-handedness in patients with schizophrenia (17, 18). We find a high percentage of patients with mixed lateralization (i.e., cross use of hand, foot, or eye). Most likely, some studies did not look at cross-lateralization, but only left-handed or right-handed dominance, and did not use a trimodal classification, but a bimodal one. If we have to use the bimodal classification and look at the lateralization in terms of hand dominance, we found that seven of the patients have a dominant left hand. This makes 6.7% of all patients included in our study. The range of reported results of left-handedness in patients with

schizophrenia varies from 7 to 31%. Our result is in the lower range of reported cases, and we do not confirm the data of other authors for high rates of dominance of the left hand in patients with schizophrenia-up to 40% (18). Other analyses show that differences in lateralization are not universal, and there are many divergent results (41). The results of other analyses indicate that left-handed people have a predominance in patients with schizophrenia. Using a bimodal classification, our study did not support these studies (17, 18). We find a low percentage of patients with a dominant left arm that is comparable with those in the general population. These results support the data of other researchers on the lack of differences in left-handed dominance in patients with schizophrenia and the general population (30). Our results show that when using a trimodal classification in patients with resistant symptoms, those with cross-dominance (mixed lateralization) predominate. We support the researchers' view that mixed dominance is typical of patients with schizophrenia, as we find that more than 40% of all patients have cross-dominance (28). The results of other studies also indicate that mixed or cross-dominance is three times more common in patients with schizophrenia than in the general population (30, 42). The data obtained by us (twice as many), in patients with mixed lateralization with resistance in comparison with those in remission, support the assessment of other authors for the more severe course of the disease in those with cross-dominance (20, 21, 30).

On the other hand, neurophysiological studies to assess the lateralization of background activity in the EEG also do not show the presence of dominant hemisphere in patients with schizophrenia with and without therapy, which also indirectly supports the idea of mixed dominance in patients with schizophrenia (43). Our study shows that the high frequency of cross-dominance we found is due to the left lateralization of eye dominance. Analyses by other authors also found leftsided dominance of the eye in patients with schizophrenia, which is more pronounced in male patients (32). Our study showed a slightly higher percentage of men with left eye dominance than women.

One of the limitations of our study is that due to the presence of psychotic production—delusions and hallucinations (we analyze patients with resistance), it was not possible to assess in detail the continuity of dominance with analysis of mixed forms and their weight in the assessment of refractoriness. On the other hand, an additional problem is the formation of social dysfunction with concomitant change in behavior in many patients, which also leads to a reduction in daily functioning and

REFERENCES

- Tanaka M, Vécsei L. Editorial of special issue "crosstalk between depression, anxiety, and dementia: comorbidity in behavioral neurology and neuropsychiatry". *Biomedicines.* (2021) 9:517. doi: 10.3390/biomedicines9050517
- Nyatega CO, Qiang L, Adamu MJ, Younis A, Kawuwa HB. Altered dynamic functional connectivity of cuneus in schizophrenia patients: a resting-state fMRI study. *Appl Sci.* (2021) 11:11392. doi: 10.3390/app112311392

activity in the use of hands and eyes. A third important factor is the presence of additional comorbidity due to the fact that these patients do not conduct systematic treatment of their health problems, including the care of the visual analyzer, which would call into question attempts for accurate and detailed assessment.

Our study provides guidance for future studies related to resistance and disconnection syndrome in association with the fact that the very presence of cross-dominance raises the question of easier disruption of information flows in the crossover of the neural network associated with them.

CONCLUSION

We found an association between the presence of crossdominance and the treatment resistance in patients with schizophrenia. We reported that cross-dominance was found in more than half of the patients with resistant schizophrenia. This increased frequency of mixed dominance in them is due to left-sided dominance of the eye. These observations of ours can also be of practical use. The assessment of the dominant eye as well as a more in-depth analysis of the overall lateralization of dominance would provide guidance for early assessment of future development of resistance during treatment. Opportunities for early assessment provide a basis for seeking complex methods of treatment earlier in the course of the development of the schizophrenic process in order to prevent psychosocial complications associated with resistance.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Commission of the University Hospital for Active Treatment, Stara Zagora. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and has approved it for publication.

- Stoyanov D, Kandilarova S, Borgwardt S, Stieglitz RD, Hugdahl K, Kostianev S. Psychopathology assessment methods revisited: on translational crossvalidation of clinical self-evaluation scale and fMRI. *Front Psychiatry.* (2018) 9:21. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00021
- 4. Stoyanov D, Aryutova K, Kandilarova S, Paunova R, Arabadzhiev Z, Todeva-Radneva A, et al. Diagnostic task specific activations in functional MRI and aberrant connectivity of insula with middle frontal gyrus can inform the differential diagnosis of psychosis. *Diagnostics (Basel)*. (2021) 11:95. doi: 10.3390/diagnostics11010095

- Friston KJ, Frith CD. Schizophrenia: a disconnection syndrome? Clin Neurosci. (1995) 3:89–97.
- Samara A, Tsangaris GT. Brain asymmetry: both sides of the story. *Expert Rev* Proteomics. (2011) 8:693–703. doi: 10.1586/epr.11.62
- Crow TJ. Is schizophrenia the price that Homo sapiens pays for language? Schizophr Res. (1997) 28:127–41. doi: 10.1016/S0920-9964(97)00110-2
- Crow TJ. The "big bang" theory of the origin of psycho-sis and the faculty of language. *Schizophr Res.* (2008) 102:31–52. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2008.03.010
- Angrilli A, Spironelli C, Elbert T, Crow TJ, Marano G, Stegagno L. Schizophrenia as failure of left hemi-spheric dominance for the phonological component of language. *PLoS ONE.* (2009) 4:e4507. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0004507
- Li X, Alapati V, Jackson C, Xia S, Bertisch HC, Branch CA, et al. Structural abnormalities in lan-guage circuits in genetic highrisk subjects and schizophrenia patients. *Psychiatry Res.* (2012) 201:182–9. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2011.07.017
- Oertel-Knöchel V, Linden DE. Cerebral asymmetry in schizophrenia. Neuroscientist. (2011) 7:456–67. doi: 10.1177/1073858410386493
- Knecht S, Dräger B, Deppe M, Bobe L, Lohmann H, Flöel A, Henningsen H. Handedness and hemispheric language dominance in healthy humans. *Brain J Neurol.* (2000) 123:2512–8. doi: 10.1093/brain/123.12.2512
- Willems RM, Peelen MV, Hagoort P. Cerebral lateralization of face-selective and body-selective visual areas depends on handedness. *Cerebral Cortex*. (2010) 20:1719–25. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhp234
- Cuzzocreo JL, Yassa MA, Verduzco G, Honeycutt NA, Scott DJ, Bassett SS. Effect of handedness on fMRI activation in the medial temporal lobe during an auditory verbal memory task. *Hum Brain Mapp.* (2009) 30:1271– 8. doi: 10.1002/hbm.20596
- Lyle KB, Chapman LK, Hatton JM. Is handedness related to anxiety? New answers to an old question. *Laterality*. (2013) 18:520–35. doi: 10.1080/1357650X.2012.720259
- Propper RE, Brunyé TT, Christman SD, Bologna J. Negative emotional valence is associated with non-right-handedness and increased imbalance of hemispheric activation as measured by tympanic membrane temperature. J Nerv Mental Dis. (2010) 198:691–4. doi: 10.1097/NMD.0b013e3181ef1f35
- Dragovic M, Hammond G. Handedness in schizophrenia: a quantitative review of evidence. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2005) 111:410–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.2005.00519.x
- Webb JR, Schroeder MI, Chee C, Dial D, Hana R, Jefee H, et al. Left-handedness among a community sample of psychiatric outpatients suffering from mood and psychotic disorders. SAGE Open. (2013) 3:2158244013503166. doi: 10.1177/2158244013503166
- Deep-Soboslay A, Hyde TM, Callicott JP, Lener MS, Verchinski BA, Apud JA, et al. Handedness, heritability, neurocognition and brain asym-metry in schizophrenia. *Brain J Neurol.* (2010) 133:3113–22. doi: 10.1093/brain/ awq160
- Browne S, Clarke M, Gervin M, Lane A, Waddington JL, Larkin C, et al. Determinants of neurological dysfunction in first episode schizophrenia. *Psychol Med.* (2000) 30:1433–41. doi: 10.1017/S003329179900286X
- Hayden JL, Kern RS, Burdick NL, Green MF. Neurocognitive impairments associated with ambiguous handedness in the chronically mentally ill. *Psychiatry Res.* (1997) 72:9–16. doi: 10.1016/S0165-1781(97)00088-7
- 22. Annett M. Left, Right, Hand and Brain: The Right Shift Theory. London: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates (1985).
- McManus IC. Right- and left-hand skill: failure of the right shift model. Br J Psychol. (1985) 76:1–16. doi: 10.1111/j.2044-8295.1985.tb01926.x
- 24. McManus IC. Right Hand, Left Hand: The Origins of Asymmetry in Brains, Bodies, Atoms and Cultures. London, UK / Cambridge, MA: Weidenfeld and Nicolson/Harvard University Press. (2002).
- Bakan P. Non right-handedness and the continuum of reproductive casualty. In: Coren S, editor. *Advances in Psychology, Vol. 67*. North-Holland (1990). p. 33–74. doi: 10.1016/S0166-4115(08)61243-1
- Schwartz M. Left-handedness and prenatal complications. In: CORENS, ed. Left-handedness: behaviouralimplications and anomalies. North-Holland: ElsevierScience Publishers BV. (1990). p. 75–97. doi: 10.1016/S0166-4115(08)61244-3
- 27. Geshwind N, Behan OP. Laterality, hormones, and immunity. In: GESCHWINDN, GALABURDAMA, eds Cerebral Dominance: The

Biological Foundations Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press. (1984). p. 211-24.

- Satz P, Green MF. Atypical handedness in schizophrenia: some methodological and theoretical issues. Schizophr Bull. (1999) 25:63–78. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.schbul.a033367
- Green MF, Satz P, Smith C, Nelson L. Is there atypical handedness in schizophrenia? J Abnorm Psychol. (1989) 98:57–61. doi: 10.1037/0021-843X.98.1.57
- Cannon M, Byrne M, Cassidy B, Larkin C, Horgan R, Sheppard NP, et al. Prevalence and correlates of mixed-handedness in schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res.* (1995) 59:119–25. doi: 10.1016/0165-1781(95)02730-0
- Bourassa DC, McManus IC, Bryden MP. Handedness and eyedominance: a meta-analysis of their relationship. *Laterality*. (1996). 1:5–34. doi: 10.1080/135765096397847
- 32. Dane S, Yildirim S, Ozan E, Aydin N, Oral E, Ustaoglu N, et al. Handedness, eyedness, and hand-eye crossed dominance in patients with schizophrenia: sex-related lateralisation abnormalities. *Laterality*. (2009) 14:55-65. doi: 10.1080/13576500802061883
- Annett M. A classification of hand preference byassociation analysis. Br J Psychol. (1970) 61:303–21. doi: 10.1111/j.2044-8295.1970.tb01248.x
- Peters M, Murphy K. Cluster analysis reveals at leastthree, and possibly five distinct handedness groups. *Neuropsychol.* (1992) 30:373–380. doi: 10.1016/0028-3932(92)90110-8
- Oldfield RC. The assessment and analysis of handedness: the edinburgh inventory. *Neuropsychologia*. (1971) 9:97– 113. doi: 10.1016/0028-3932(71)90067-4
- 36. Howes OD, McCutcheon R, Agid O, De Bartolomeis A, Van Beveren NJ, Birnbaum ML, et al. Treatment-resistant schizophrenia: treatment response and resistance in psychosis (TRRIP) working group consensus guidelines on diagnosis and terminology. Am J Psychiatry. (2017) 174:216–29. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2016.16050503
- Overall JE, Gorham Do R. The brief psychiatric rating scale. *Psychol Rep.* (1962) 10:799–812. doi: 10.2466/pr0.1962.10.3.799
- Kay SR, Fiszbein A, Opfer LA. The positive and negative syndrome scale (PANSS) for schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (1987) 13:261. doi: 10.1093/schbul/13.2.261
- Chapman L, Chapman J. The measurement of handedness. Brain Cogn. (1987) 6:175–83. doi: 10.1016/0278-2626(87)90118-7
- Polemikos N. Left-handedness: Frequency of and reaction to left-handed children by teachers and parents. *Pediatrica Chronica*. (1991) 18:95–104.
- Papadatou-Pastou M, Martin M, Munafo MR, Jones GV. Sex differences in left-handedness: a meta-analysis of 144 studies. *Psychol Bull.* (2008) 134:677– 99. doi: 10.1037/a0012814
- Oertel-Knöchel V, Knöchel C, Matura S, Prvulovic D, Linden DE, van de Ven V. Reduced functional connectivity and asymmetry of the planum temporale in patients with schizophrenia and first-degree relatives. *Schizophr Res.* (2013) 147:331–8. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2013.04.024
- Merrin EL, Floyd TC. Average reference EEG lateralization in schizophrenic patients. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci Summer. (1991) 3:307–14. doi: 10.1176/jnp.3.3.307

Conflict of Interest: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Panov. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Ofir Turel, California State University, Fullerton, United States

REVIEWED BY Amina Wagner, Technical University of Darmstadt, Germany

*CORRESPONDENCE Yannick Vander Zwalmen y.vander.zwalmen@ugent.be

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Psychopathology,

a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

RECEIVED 24 March 2022 ACCEPTED 04 July 2022 PUBLISHED 22 July 2022

CITATION

Vander Zwalmen Y, Hoorelbeke K, Liebaert E, Nève de Mévergnies C and Koster EHW (2022) Cognitive remediation for depression vulnerability: Current challenges and new directions. *Front. Psychol.* 13:903446. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.903446

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Vander Zwalmen, Hoorelbeke, Liebaert, Nève de Mévergnies and Koster. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License

(CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Cognitive remediation for depression vulnerability: Current challenges and new directions

Yannick Vander Zwalmen (1)^{1*}, Kristof Hoorelbeke (1)¹, Eveline Liebaert (2)², Constance Nève de Mévergnies (2)¹ and Ernst H. W. Koster (2)

¹Department of Experimental Clinical and Health Psychology, Ghent University, Ghent, Belgium, ²Department of Head and Skin, Ghent University Hospital, Ghent, Belgium

It is increasingly acknowledged that cognitive impairment can play an important role in depression vulnerability. Therefore, cognitive remediation strategies, and cognitive control training (CCT) procedures have gained attention in recent years as possible interventions for depression. Recent studies suggest a small to medium effect on indicators of depression vulnerability. Despite initial evidence for the efficacy and effectiveness of CCT, several central questions remain. In this paper we consider the key challenges for the clinical implementation of CCT, including exploration of (1) potential working mechanisms and related to this, moderators of training effects, (2) necessary conditions under which CCT could be optimally administered, such as dose requirements and training schedules, and (3) how CCT could interact with or augment existing treatments of depression. Revisiting the CCT literature, we also reflect upon the possibilities to evolve toward a stratified medicine approach, in which individual differences could be taken into account and used to optimize prevention of depression.

KEYWORDS

cognitive control training, depression, working memory training, cognitive remediation, prevention of depression

Depression is a highly prevalent psychiatric disorder, affecting millions of people worldwide (World Health Organization [WHO], 2021). One of the core aspects of depression is impaired cognitive control (i.e., the ability to flexibly adapt thoughts and behavior in order to achieve one's goals; Cohen, 2017), which is known to persist even after recovery (Semkovska et al., 2019). Cognitive control impairments are typically not directly targeted by antidepressant treatments (Shilyansky et al., 2016). Importantly, there is increasing evidence suggesting that cognitive control impairments play a key role in risk for (re)occurrence of depression (Buckman et al., 2018). For instance, Vanderhasselt and de Raedt (2009) found that deficits in cognitive control increase with each depressive episode and persist after symptom remission. In addition, Demeyer et al. (2012) found that impaired cognitive control at baseline was predictive of depressive symptomatology at 1 year follow-up in a remitted depressed sample

(RMD). Furthermore, cognitive impairments are an important source of disability in daily life following remission from depression (Knight et al., 2018). Therefore, recent years have seen increased interest in the use of novel approaches to remediate these neurocognitive impairments. One such intervention, previously employed for other psychiatric disorders, is cognitive control training (CCT), in which working memory and executive functioning are trained. CCT has been operationalized in different ways, often using adaptive versions of working memory paradigms, such as the Eriksen Flanker task (Eriksen and Eriksen, 1974), the n-back (Kirchner, 1958) or the Paced Auditory Serial Addition Task (PASAT; Gronwall, 1977). Recent studies examining the influence of motivation on CCT found that by adding elements of gamification, training motivation and treatment adherence could be increased, without lowering its effectiveness (e.g., n-back: Mohammed et al., 2017; PASAT: Vervaeke et al., 2020).

In this paper we discuss the current state-of-the-art of CCT as an intervention to reduce depression vulnerability. Initial findings have suggested that this could be a useful intervention to reduce depression vulnerability (Siegle et al., 2007, 2014; Calkins et al., 2015) but challenges in several domains remain to further develop CCT into a successful clinical intervention. Based on the current state of the literature, the key challenges that we discuss are (i) identifying working mechanisms and potential moderators of CCT; (ii) establishing conditions for effectively applying CCT; (iii) evaluating possible combinations of CCT with other antidepressant interventions.

Working mechanisms

The working mechanisms of CCT are currently not completely understood. One possible theory highlights the importance of impaired attentional disengagement in depression (Koster et al., 2011). When experiencing stress, negative self-referent thoughts and feelings can arise. Although most people are able to manage negative thoughts, sometimes people get stuck in this process, and fail to disconnect from their negative thinking, resulting in a loop of negative selfreferential thinking. Repetitive negative thinking (RNT) and rumination have been frequently associated with, and are a core part of, depression (Nolen-Hoeksema et al., 2008). CCT is believed to beneficially impact attentional disengagement from self-referential negative thoughts and feelings, allowing one to break free from RNT and its possible effects on depressed mood (Koster et al., 2011). Another model illustrating the relationship between depressive rumination and cognitive control, the H-EX-A-GO-N model from Watkins and Roberts (2020), describes the influence of habitual interactions with other factors in the development of rumination. Here, executive functioning impairments weaken one's ability to disengage from habitual ruminative responses, thereby increasing the likelihood of employing ruminative behavior as a habitual response to negative mood. The formation of ruminative habits, paired with executive functioning impairments, could help explain why people experience trouble interrupting ruminative processes, even when they are aware of its unhelpfulness. Indeed, habits can be resistant and difficult to change, even when they are conflicting with one's goals or intentions. Both the attentional disengagement (Koster et al., 2011) and the hexagon model (Watkins and Roberts, 2020) highlight the importance of cognitive control for RNT. By improving cognitive control, cognitive and behavioral decoupling from depressive rumination could be a possible working mechanism through which CCT could influence depression vulnerability.

Another perspective, the capacity-efficiency framework, focuses on the role of transfer effects of CCT (for a review, please see von Bastian et al., 2022). In this framework, cognitive training can expand cognitive capacity, or it can increase the efficiency of the already present cognitive abilities. These two possible working mechanisms are not mutually exclusive: it is possible that both cognitive capacity increases *and* efficiency increases simultaneously. In the context of CCT interventions targeting depression vulnerability, it is unclear to what extent existing training procedures target capacity, efficiency, or both. This is likely to be impacted by the nature of the training task and the adaptive mechanism underlying the training procedure. Increased cognitive processing efficiency may be reflected in increased performance on tasks which more strongly load on working memory capacity (e.g., working memory span tasks).

Essential in this framework is that potential cognitive gains do not stem from learning specific strategies or general task familiarity. Instead, by training cognitive control the effects transfer to other domains of cognitive or emotional functioning. These transfer effects are thus assumed not to be task-dependent and reflect real cognitive gains. Evidence for near transfer (i.e., transfer to tasks relying on the same underlying cognitive construct, such as working memory) and far transfer (i.e., transfer to different cognitive abilities) has been found in CCT studies, but prior research has yielded inconsistent results, with near transfer more frequently being observed than far transfer (Sala et al., 2019). It has been suggested for future CCT studies to include non-adaptive tasks, so that both near and far transfer can be examined (Koster et al., 2017). In this context, investigating how training progress and cognitive transfer relate to patterns of emotional transfer may shed light on the mechanisms underlying effects of CCT. For instance, Hoorelbeke and Koster (2017) observed task-specific cognitive transfer following CCT to be predictive of change in residual depressive symptomatology in remitted depressed individuals. This effect was partially mediated by immediate effects of CCT on RNT, suggesting that one potential mechanism through which CCT may impact risk for depression may indeed be increased disengagement from negative selfreferential thoughts.

In addition to studies investigating effects of CCT on cognitive task performance and measures of emotional transfer, numerous studies have explored neuropsychological effects of CCT. Research has indicated that CCT activates the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC; Siegle et al., 2007). The DLPFC is known to be implicated in executive functioning and plays a central role in maintaining, discarding, and manipulating information in working memory (Barbey et al., 2013). The prefrontal and limbic regions are often activated together and play an important role in the relationship between cognition and emotion. It is hypothesized that the DLPFC is involved in regulating emotions and by improving cognitive control, one might strengthen emotion regulation capabilities. Some studies found that, even after recovery from depression, RMD individuals still show lower levels of DLPFC activation (Hooley et al., 2009). In times of distress, when amygdala activation is high, prefrontal cortical control is required to regulate limbic activity. Indeed, impaired cognitive control and decreased prefrontal activity in (remitted) depressed individuals might in part explain the high recurrence rates. In this context, initial studies suggest CCT to beneficially impact patterns of dysfunctional activation in frontal and limbic regions in patients undergoing treatment for major depressive disorder (MDD; Siegle et al., 2007). Similarly, in a convenience sample, Cohen et al. (2016) found CCT to increase connectivity between the amygdala and prefrontal regions. Such findings allow to link observed patterns of cognitive and emotional transfer, where further investigation into the underlying pathways of training effects is likely to yield possible targets for increasing the efficacy of CCT.

Treatment efficacy and its moderators

In terms of effectiveness, recent meta-analyses examining CCT for depressive symptomatology have found small to medium effect sizes, indicating that CCT could be a useful intervention in the context of depression (Motter et al., 2016; Launder et al., 2021). Interestingly, these effect sizes are very similar to those of other antidepressant treatments, such as pharmacological interventions (Khan and Brown, 2015) and psychological therapies (Cuijpers et al., 2013), highlighting both the clinical need for new treatment options, as well as warranting the use of CCT in clinical practice. In order to increase its efficacy, more insight into moderators of training effects is required. Previous studies have reported effects of CCT on depression vulnerability in different populations, such as patients diagnosed with MDD (Siegle et al., 2014), RMD individuals (Hoorelbeke and Koster, 2017), at-risk (Hoorelbeke et al., 2015; Beloe and Derakshan, 2019) and healthy individuals (Vervaeke et al., 2020). It has been posited that, in order to train cognitive control, interindividual differences might be more

indicative of treatment response than categorical population type differences, and that individuals with different baseline levels of cognitive functioning might respond differently to cognitive training (Jaeggi et al., 2013; Borella et al., 2017; Traut et al., 2021). Indeed, some studies suggest that people scoring poorly on cognitive tasks could benefit the most (Karbach et al., 2014, 2017). At the same time, it might be the case that a certain level of cognitive control or executive functioning is required to profit from CCT procedures, meaning that the people showing the most cognitive impairment (regardless of their MDD or RMD status) might first need to reinforce their current cognitive capacity before CCT could improve them substantially (Traut et al., 2021). If this is the case, then cognitive training gains may not necessarily be a linear process: people with low cognitive control might first require an increase in cognitive control before training could further improve cognitive control.

Individual differences in baseline (cognitive) functioning may also reflect differential training needs in terms of training dosage. The utilization of baseline differences to differentiate a potential CCT treatment is currently not in widespread use but could potentially be a way in which CCT could be personalized and tailored to the individual. In this context, several studies have explored the association between specific factors, among which baseline level of cognitive functioning (e.g., Moshier and Otto, 2017), training task progress (e.g., Vanderhasselt et al., 2015), training related cognitive gains (e.g., Peckham and Johnson, 2018), level of RNT (e.g., Daches et al., 2015), and CCT efficacy. This has yielded inconsistent findings and leads us to believe that, similar to other anti-depressant interventions, there might not be a "one-size-fits-all" solution in terms of training operationalization for depression.

In this context, it has been suggested that a more integrative approach may be required in order to better capture profiles of functioning (Hoorelbeke et al., 2022). For instance, in a study examining subgroups based on baseline patient characteristics, interesting profiles emerged for the treatment and prevention of depression (Saunders et al., 2021). Patients with long durations of depression and anxiety, moderate to severe symptoms and past antidepressant use appeared to benefit more from psychotherapy, than antidepressant medication or treatment as usual (TAU). Moreover, profiles with greater risk of poor outcomes appeared to benefit more from more intensive treatment and frequent monitoring. Similar results were found in a study in which latent profile analysis was conducted to identify user profiles based on broad indicators of functioning, among which baseline level of cognitive functioning, use of (mal)adaptive emotion regulation strategies, level of internalizing symptomatology, training progress, user experience, and personality factors (Hoorelbeke et al., 2022). In particular, this study identified three user profiles, reflecting low-, moderate- and high-risk for internalizing psychopathology. These profiles moderated taskspecific cognitive transfer effects, as well as change in anxietyand stress symptoms following CCT. CCT seemed to be more effective for the moderate- and high-risk groups. Moreover, it was suggested that the high-risk group could potentially benefit from an increased training dosage, as shown by relatively short-lived emotional transfer effects compared to the moderate training group, and less extensive cognitive training gains. Employing a stratified medicine approach by administrating CCT specifically for patients whom would benefit from such training is another possible way through which CCT could evolve into a personalized treatment for depression.

Treatment combinations

Although CCT has shown promise in reducing depression vulnerability, among which level of depressive symptomatology (e.g., Siegle et al., 2007; Hoorelbeke and Koster, 2017), CCT is unlikely to be a sufficiently effective stand-alone treatment for clinical populations. Hence, it is important to consider its combination with other interventions for depression (see also Van den Bergh et al., 2018). Meta-analyses show that combining psychotherapy with anti-depressant medication can result in improved treatment effects compared to monotherapy. However, research examining the antidepressant effects of combining CCT with other interventions is still scarce. One study examined the combination of CCT with the antidepressant vortioxetine (Lenze et al., 2020) and found that combined treatment led to a greater increase in global cognitive performance compared to only CCT (i.e., without antidepressant medication) in a sample of older adults who reported cognitive dysfunctions. The authors concluded that the combined treatment could be beneficial to counteract agerelated cognitive decline.

Other studies have evaluated additive effects of CCT when combined with psychotherapeutic interventions. For instance, one study investigated the added value of CCT to a treatment consisting of behavior activation (Moshier and Otto, 2017), whereas another study explored additive effects of CCT using a group-based cognitive behavior therapeutic fear of failure program (Van den Bergh et al., 2020). Both studies failed to find evidence for treatment augmentation when combining CCT with a psychotherapeutic intervention. In contrast, Course-Choi et al. (2017) reported beneficial effects of a combined CCT and mindfulness approach to target RNT.

Another interesting avenue is the combination of CCT with neuromodulation strategies such as transcranial Direct-Current Stimulation (tDCS). It is assumed that tDCS in combination with CCT aims to increase CCT effectiveness, rather than induce effects by itself (Weller et al., 2020). In a study using healthy young adults, anodal tDCS to the left PFC improved performance in an n-back working memory training, compared to a sham group (Ke et al., 2019). The study also reported near-transfer effects to a similar, untrained 3-back version of

the task. Similarly, Weller et al. (2020) found that, compared to sham stimulation, anodal tDCS with a 1 mA stimulation intensity applied to the left PFC improved CCT performance gains. Another recent study by Sommer and Plewnia (2021) examined the required tDCS dosage but reported that the addition of tDCS only resulted in a small increase in CCT effectiveness, concluding that any tDCS effects were potentially overshadowed by a larger CCT effect. Segrave et al. (2014) found no immediate effects of tDCS after CCT, but did report decreased depressive symptomatology at 3 week follow-up. It is possible that the effects of CCT might be more pronounced long-term as opposed to immediately after training. In line with this, Hoorelbeke and Koster (2017) reported effects of CCT to be more strongly pronounced at 3 months follow-up than at posttraining, suggesting that emotional transfer effects following CCT may gradually develop over time. Indeed, several studies have shown long-term effects of CCT, among which one study reporting reduced need for clinical care at 1 year follow-up in MDD patients (Siegle et al., 2014). Furthermore, Hoorelbeke et al. (2021) observed task-specific cognitive transfer following CCT at 1 year follow-up in RMD patients, in addition to reduced risk for recurrence of depression and lower expressed need for psychotherapeutic interventions during the follow-up period.

Cost-effectiveness

In spite of the challenges mentioned above, CCT is an intervention that lends itself well to online dissemination and could be scalable to meet the needs of the large population vulnerable to depression. Despite previous research reporting cost-effectiveness of internet- and mobile-based interventions (IMIs) for both treatment and prevention of depression (Paganini et al., 2018), studies examining the cost-effectiveness of CCT specifically are largely missing. A study in a sample of post-stroke patients compared the combination of cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT) and occupational and movement therapy to a computerized cognitive training program as a control intervention and found no convincing cost-effective differences (van Eeden et al., 2015). Similarly, economic evaluations on IMIs have found that they were likely to be costeffective when compared to TAU (Conejo-Cerón et al., 2021). With increasing research and clinical interest in CCT in the context of depression, more research in its cost-effectiveness is required, both as a stand-alone intervention, as well as a combination with other anti-depressant interventions.

Furthermore, cost-effectiveness could potentially be improved by employing a stratified care approach (i.e., identifying patients who benefit most from a specific intervention and providing them access to this treatment) instead of a stepped care approach (i.e., most patients first access only low-intensity treatments and patients who remain symptomatic later access more intensive interventions).

50

Delgadillo et al. (2021) found that stratified care was efficacious and cost-effective when compared to stepped care for psychological treatment of depressive symptomatology. However, similar studies for CCT specifically have not yet been conducted, even though CCT shows high potential to be integrated within such a treatment approach. As such, further research into the cost-effectiveness of CCT provides an important opportunity to build toward implementation of CCT in clinical practice.

Future directions

Currently, the use of CCT has not been widely employed as an intervention in the context of depression, and more research is required to justify and facilitate the introduction of CCT in clinical practice. In addition to the need for future research into the working mechanisms underlying effects of CCT, moderators of training effects, treatment augmentation, and cost-effectiveness, one important aspect that has currently not received much attention, is the optimal training dosage and method of administration. That is, as to date, the dose (i.e., the number of sessions) required for cognitive and emotional transfer effects to occur, as well as how this relates to the long-term sustainability of those effects remains to be tested. A recent meta-analysis by Launder et al. (2021) found a moderating effect of dose on overall cognition, with larger CCT doses being associated with greater effect size estimates, but the same effect was not statistically significant for depressive symptomatology. The authors refer to higher heterogeneity and imprecision within dose subgroups as possible explanations. Indeed, the absence of a dose-response relationship for CCT results in the use of variable doses in current research, potentially contributing to the heterogeneity in reported effects. The investigation of an optimal dose-response holds several key factors: the length of one training session, the number of sessions employed, and how frequently they are delivered. These three factors have seen a wide variability in scientific literature examining the effects of CCT on depressive symptomatology and often also depend on the training by which the CCT is operationalized. For example, recent adaptive PASAT studies have mostly used ten sessions of 15 min each with a maximum of one session a day (Van den Bergh et al., 2020; Vervaeke et al., 2020; Hoorelbeke et al., 2022). Recent studies using the n-back have generally used slightly longer training sessions of 20-30 min and a higher dose, around 20 sessions (e.g., Beloe and Derakshan, 2019; Zhang et al., 2019). The location where the training sessions take place is variable as well, with some studies inviting participants to a research or clinical facility, whereas others handle CCT as a training a participant can conduct at home, unsupervised. More research into these areas and how they relate to training progress and effectiveness is required for a broader picture of the effects of training dose and training administration on depressive symptomatology. Ideally, a dose-response relationship would be established using preregistered randomized controlled trials (RCT), where individuals randomized over groups receive a different amount of CCT sessions, examining emotional and cognitive transfer effects. Here, it also is conceivable that optimal dosage differs pending individual characteristics and the type of training task used.

Given the finding that for some at-risk groups emotional transfer effects may be short-lived (e.g., Hoorelbeke et al., 2022), another interesting area, closely linked to the effect of training dose, is the examination of the use of booster sessions in CCT. Similar to boosters in other clinical interventions, additional booster sessions may be beneficial in maintaining or increasing long-term effects of CCT. The effectiveness of booster sessions has been examined for psychotherapy and general cognitive training, with reported beneficial effects such as preventing loss of cognitive functioning (Aramaki and Yassuda, 2011; Felix et al., 2021) or maintained effectiveness of psychological treatment (Gearing et al., 2013; Wesner et al., 2015). However, it is currently unclear whether booster sessions increase the effectiveness of CCT in the context of depression. Equally unknown is when these booster sessions could prove beneficial, either at a fixed interval (e.g., after a fixed amount of time after completion of the last training session) or at an individualized, variable interval (e.g., when people are experiencing an increase in depressive symptomatology or related risk factors). One possible way to examine the effect of booster sessions would be via Experience Sampling Methodology (ESM), which allows to regularly assess functioning of individuals over time. Upon displaying increased depressive symptomatology or other early warning signs for recurrence of depression (e.g., Wichers and Groot, 2016), additional booster sessions could be administered. This type of design would allow to examine if the addition of booster sessions at crucial moments could result in more durable treatment effects.

(Remitted) depressed patients do not uniformly portrait cognitive impairments: whilst some people might have more trouble remembering information, others might complain about attentional deficits. Currently, CCT provides the same type of training for everyone, regardless of their individual cognitive impairments and needs. Future research should focus on examining specific types of cognitive impairments and could investigate if providing a personalized treatment might lead to more beneficial outcomes in both cognitive recovery, as well as decreased risk of recurrence.

Conclusion

CCT has been gaining traction as a psychological intervention in the context of depression. Due to the

advantages and wide-spread availability of modern technologies, individualized CCT could provide rapid and low-cost help. However, several key factors of how CCT can be effectively implemented are still unclear. Future research should focus on open questions, such as investigating a dose-response relationship, examining the efficacy and the optimal timing of booster sessions, as well as exploring the effectiveness of a combination of CCT with other frequently used interventions in the context of depression. Interindividual differences in (cognitive) needs could be considered when planning the use of CCT for ameliorating cognitive impairments and depressive symptomatology. Finally, the efficacy of a stratified medicine approach for CCT should be investigated, focusing on the previously mentioned key points, as well as taking baseline cognitive abilities into account, in order to provide a personalized treatment for depression, tailored to individual needs.

Author contributions

YVZ, KH, and EK developed the framework of the review. All authors provided critical contributions and revisions.

References

Aramaki, F. O., and Yassuda, M. S. (2011). Cognitive training based on metamemory and mental images: follow-up evaluation and booster training effects. *Dement. Neuropsychol.* 5, 48–53. doi: 10.1590/s1980-57642011dn05010009

Barbey, A. K., Koenigs, M., and Grafman, J. (2013). Dorsolateral prefrontal contributions to human working memory. *Cortex* 49, 1195–1205. doi: 10.1016/j. cortex.2012.05.022

Beloe, P., and Derakshan, N. (2019). Adaptive working memory training can reduce anxiety and depression vulnerability in adolescents. *Dev. Sci.* 23:e12831. doi: 10.1111/desc.12831

Borella, E., Carbone, E., Pastore, M., de Beni, R., and Carretti, B. (2017). Working memory training for healthy older adults: the role of individual characteristics in explaining short- and long-term gains. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 11:99. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2017.00099

Buckman, J., Underwood, A., Clarke, K., Saunders, R., Hollon, S., Fearon, P., et al. (2018). Risk factors for relapse and recurrence of depression in adults and how they operate: a four-phase systematic review and meta-synthesis. *Clin. Psychol. Rev.* 64, 13–38. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2018.07.005

Calkins, A. W., McMorran, K. E., Siegle, G. J., and Otto, M. W. (2015). The effects of computerized cognitive control training on community adults with depressed mood. *Behav. Cogn. Psychother.* 43, 578–589. doi: 10.1017/ s1352465814000046

Cohen, J. (2017). "Cognitive control: core constructs and current considerations," in *The Wiley Handbook of Cognitive Control*, ed. T. Egner (Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley).

Cohen, N., Margulies, D., Ashkenazi, S., Schaefer, A., Taubert, M., Henik, A., et al. (2016). Using executive control training to suppress amygdala reactivity to aversive information. *Neuroimage* 125, 1022–1031. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage. 2015.10.069

Conejo-Cerón, S., Lokkerbol, J., Moreno-Peral, P., Wijnen, B., Fernández, A., Mendive, J. M., et al. (2021). Health-economic evaluation of psychological interventions for depression prevention: systematic review. *Clin. Psychol. Rev.* 88:102064. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2021.102064

Course-Choi, J., Saville, H., and Derakshan, N. (2017). The effects of adaptive working memory training and mindfulness meditation training on processing efficiency and worry in high worriers. *Behav. Res. Ther.* 89, 1–13. doi: 10.1016/j. brat.2016.11.002

Funding

This research was supported by the Applied Biomedical (TBM) grant of the Research Foundation—Flanders (FWO), awarded to the PrevenD project 2.0, T000720N. KH was funded by the FWO (12J9722N).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Cuijpers, P., Turner, E. H., Mohr, D. C., Hofmann, S. G., Andersson, G., Berking, M., et al. (2013). Comparison of psychotherapies for adult depression to pill placebo control groups: a meta-analysis. *Psychol. Med.* 44, 685–695. doi: 10.1017/s0033291713000457

Daches, S., Mor, N., and Hertel, P. (2015). Rumination: cognitive consequences of training to inhibit the negative. *J. Behav. Ther. Exp. Psychiatry* 49, 76–83. doi: 10.1016/j.jbtep.2015.01.010

Delgadillo, J., Ali, S., Fleck, K., Agnew, C., Southgate, A., Parkhouse, L., et al. (2021). Stratified care vs stepped care for depression. *JAMA Psychiatry* 79, 1–9. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2021.3539

Demeyer, I., de Lissnyder, E., Koster, E. H., and de Raedt, R. (2012). Rumination mediates the relationship between impaired cognitive control for emotional information and depressive symptoms: a prospective study in remitted depressed adults. *Behav. Res. Ther.* 50, 292–297. doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2012.02.012

Eriksen, B. A., and Eriksen, C. W. (1974). Effects of noise letters upon the identification of a target letter in a nonsearch task. *Percept. Psychophys.* 16, 143–149. doi: 10.3758/bf03203267

Felix, L. M., Mansur-Alves, M., Teles, M., Jamison, L., and Golino, H. (2021). Longitudinal impact and effects of booster sessions in a cognitive training program for healthy older adults. *Arch. Gerontol. Geriatr.* 94:104337. doi: 10.1016/j.archger. 2021.104337

Gearing, R. E., Schwalbe, C. S. J., Lee, R., and Hoagwood, K. E. (2013). The effectiveness of booster sessions in CBT treatment for child and adolescent mood and anxiety disorders. *Depress. Anxiety* 30, 800–808. doi: 10.1002/da.22118

Gronwall, D. M. A. (1977). Paced auditory serial-addition task: a measure of recovery from concussion. *Percept. Mot. Skills* 44, 367–373. doi: 10.2466/pms.1977. 44.2.367

Hooley, J. M., Gruber, S. A., Parker, H. A., Guillaumot, J., Rogowska, J., and Yurgelun-Todd, D. A. (2009). Cortico-limbic response to personally challenging emotional stimuli after complete recovery from depression. *Psychiatry Res. Neuroimaging* 172, 83–91. doi: 10.1016/j.pscychresns.2009. 02.001

Hoorelbeke, K., Koster, E. H., Vanderhasselt, M. A., Callewaert, S., and Demeyer, I. (2015). The influence of cognitive control training on stress reactivity and rumination in response to a lab stressor and naturalistic stress. *Behav. Res. Ther.* 69, 1–10. doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2015.03.010

Hoorelbeke, K., and Koster, E. H. W. (2017). Internet-delivered cognitive control training as a preventive intervention for remitted depressed patients: evidence from a double-blind randomized controlled trial study. *J. Consult. Clin. Psychol.* 85, 135–146. doi: 10.1037/ccp0000128

Hoorelbeke, K., Van den Bergh, N., De Raedt, R., Wichers, M., and Koster, E. H. W. (2021). Preventing recurrence of depression: long-term effects of a randomized controlled trial on cognitive control training for remitted depressed patients. *Clin. Psychol. Sci.* 9, 615–633. doi: 10.1177/2167702620979775

Hoorelbeke, K., Vervaeke, J., Siegle, G. J., Baeken, C., and Koster, E. H. (2022). Individual differences associated with treatment adherence and transfer effects following gamified web-based cognitive control training for repetitive negative thinking. *Internet Interv.* 27:100507. doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2022.100507

Jaeggi, S. M., Buschkuehl, M., Shah, P., and Jonides, J. (2013). The role of individual differences in cognitive training and transfer. *Mem. Cognit.* 42, 464–480. doi: 10.3758/s13421-013-0364-z

Karbach, J., Könen, T., and Spengler, M. (2017). Who benefits the most? Individual differences in the transfer of executive control training across the lifespan. J. Cogn. Enhanc. 1, 394–405. doi: 10.1007/s41465-017-0054-z

Karbach, J., Strobach, T., and Schubert, T. (2014). Adaptive working-memory training benefits reading, but not mathematics in middle childhood. *Child Neuropsychol.* 21, 285–301. doi: 10.1080/09297049.2014.899336

Ke, Y., Wang, N., Du, J., Kong, L., Liu, S., Xu, M., et al. (2019). The effects of transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) on working memory training in healthy young adults. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 13:19. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2019. 00019

Khan, A., and Brown, W. A. (2015). Antidepressants versus placebo in major depression: an overview. *World Psychiatry* 14, 294–300. doi: 10.1002/wps.20241

Kirchner, W. K. (1958). Age differences in short-term retention of rapidly changing information. J. Exp. Psychol. 55, 352–358. doi: 10.1037/h0043688

Knight, M. J., Air, T., and Baune, B. T. (2018). The role of cognitive impairment in psychosocial functioning in remitted depression. *J. Affect. Disord.* 235, 129–134. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2018.04.051

Koster, E. H., de Lissnyder, E., Derakshan, N., and de Raedt, R. (2011). Understanding depressive rumination from a cognitive science perspective: the impaired disengagement hypothesis. *Clin. Psychol. Rev.* 31, 138–145. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2010.08.005

Koster, E. H., Hoorelbeke, K., Onraedt, T., Owens, M., and Derakshan, N. (2017). Cognitive control interventions for depression: a systematic review of findings from training studies. *Clin. Psychol. Rev.* 53, 79–92. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr. 2017.02.002

Launder, N. H., Minkov, R., Davey, C. G., Finke, C., Gavelin, H. M., and Lampit, A. (2021). Computerized cognitive training in people with depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. *medRxiv* [Preprint]. doi: 10.1101/2021.03.23.21254003

Lenze, E. J., Stevens, A., Waring, J. D., Pham, V. T., Haddad, R., Shimony, J., et al. (2020). Augmenting computerized cognitive training with vortioxetine for age-related cognitive decline: a randomized controlled trial. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 177, 548–555. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2019.19050561

Mohammed, S., Flores, L., Deveau, J., Cohen Hoffing, R., Phung, C., Parlett, C. M., et al. (2017). The benefits and challenges of implementing motivational features to boost cognitive training outcome. *J. Cogn. Enhanc.* 1, 491–507. doi: 10.1007/s41465-017-0047-y

Moshier, S. J., and Otto, M. W. (2017). Behavioral activation treatment for major depression: a randomized trial of the efficacy of augmentation with cognitive control training. *J. Affect. Disord.* 210, 265–268. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.01.003

Motter, J. N., Pimontel, M. A., Rindskopf, D., Devanand, D. P., Doraiswamy, P. M., and Sneed, J. R. (2016). Computerized cognitive training and functional recovery in major depressive disorder: a meta-analysis. *J. Affect. Disord.* 189, 184–191. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2015.09.022

Nolen-Hoeksema, S., Wisco, B. E., and Lyubomirsky, S. (2008). Rethinking rumination. *Perspect. Psychol. Sci.* 3, 400–424. doi: 10.1111/j.1745-6924.2008. 00088.x

Paganini, S., Teigelkötter, W., Buntrock, C., and Baumeister, H. (2018). Economic evaluations of internet- and mobile-based interventions for the treatment and prevention of depression: a systematic review. *J. Affect. Disord.* 225, 733–755. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.07.018

Peckham, A. D., and Johnson, S. L. (2018). Cognitive control training for emotion-related impulsivity. *Behav. Res. Ther.* 105, 17–26. doi: 10.1016/j.brat. 2018.03.009

Sala, G., Aksayli, N. D., Tatlidil, K. S., Tatsumi, T., Gondo, Y., and Gobet, F. (2019). Near and far transfer in cognitive training: a second-order meta-analysis. *Collabra Psychol.* 5:18. doi: 10.1525/collabra.203

Saunders, R., Cohen, Z. D., Ambler, G., DeRubeis, R. J., Wiles, N., Kessler, D., et al. (2021). A patient stratification approach to identifying the likelihood

of continued chronic depression and relapse following treatment for depression. J. Pers. Med. 11:1295. doi: 10.3390/jpm11121295

Segrave, R., Arnold, S., Hoy, K., and Fitzgerald, P. (2014). Concurrent cognitive control training augments the antidepressant efficacy of tDCS: a pilot study. *Brain Stimul.* 7, 325–331. doi: 10.1016/j.brs.2013.12.008

Semkovska, M., Quinlivan, L., O'Grady, T., Johnson, R., Collins, A., O'Connor, J., et al. (2019). Cognitive function following a major depressive episode: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Psychiatry* 6, 851–861. doi: 10.1016/s2215-0366(19)30291-3

Shilyansky, C., Williams, L. M., Gyurak, A., Harris, A., Usherwood, T., and Etkin, A. (2016). Effect of antidepressant treatment on cognitive impairments associated with depression: a randomised longitudinal study. *Lancet Psychiatry* 3, 425–435. doi: 10.1016/s2215-0366(16)00012-2

Siegle, G. J., Ghinassi, F., and Thase, M. E. (2007). Neurobehavioral therapies in the 21st century: summary of an emerging field and an extended example of cognitive control training for depression. *Cogn. Ther. Res.* 31, 235–262. doi: 10.1007/s10608-006-9118-6

Siegle, G. J., Price, R. B., Jones, N. P., Ghinassi, F., Painter, T., and Thase, M. E. (2014). You gotta work at it. *Clin. Psychol. Sci.* 2, 455–471. doi: 10.1177/2167702614536160

Sommer, A., and Plewnia, C. (2021). Depression treatment by tDCS-enhanced cognitive control training: a test of two stimulation intensities. *Brain Stimul.* 14, 987–989. doi: 10.1016/j.brs.2021.06.004

Traut, H. J., Guild, R. M., and Munakata, Y. (2021). Why does cognitive training yield inconsistent benefits? A meta-analysis of individual differences in baseline cognitive abilities and training outcomes. *Front. Psychol.* 12:662139. doi: 10.3389/ fpsyg.2021.662139

Van den Bergh, N., Hoorelbeke, K., De Raedt, R., and Koster, E. H. (2018). Remediation of depression-related cognitive impairment: cognitive control training as treatment augmentation. *Expert Rev. Neurother.* 18, 907–913. doi: 10.1080/14737175.2018.1537783

Van den Bergh, N., Vermeersch, S., Hoorelbeke, K., Vervaeke, J., De Raedt, R., and Koster, E. H. W. (2020). Cognitive control training as an augmentation strategy to CBT in the treatment of fear of failure in undergraduates. *Cogn. Ther. Res.* 44, 1199–1212. doi: 10.1007/s10608-020-10129-w

van Eeden, M., Kootker, J. A., Evers, S. M. A. A., Van Heugten, C. M., Geurts, A. C. H., and Van Mastrigt, G. A. P. G. (2015). An economic evaluation of an augmented cognitive behavioural intervention vs. computerized cognitive training for post-stroke depressive symptoms. *BMC Neurol.* 15:266. doi: 10.1186/s12883-015-0522-y

Vanderhasselt, M., and de Raedt, R. (2009). Impairments in cognitive control persist during remission from depression and are related to the number of past episodes: an event related potentials study. *Biol. Psychol.* 81, 169–176. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsycho.2009.03.009

Vanderhasselt, M. A., de Raedt, R., Namur, V., Lotufo, P. A., Bensenor, I. M., Boggio, P. S., et al. (2015). Transcranial electric stimulation and neurocognitive training in clinically depressed patients: a pilot study of the effects on rumination. *Prog. Neuro Psychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry* 57, 93–99. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp. 2014.09.015

Vervaeke, J., Hoorelbeke, K., Baeken, C., van Looy, J., and Koster, E. H. W. (2020). Transfer and motivation after cognitive control training for remitted depression in healthy sample. *J. Cogn. Enhanc.* 4, 49–61. doi: 10.1007/s41465-019-00135-6

von Bastian, C. C., Belleville, S., Udale, R. C., Reinhartz, A., Essounni, M., and Strobach, T. (2022). Mechanisms underlying training-induced cognitive change. *Nat. Rev. Psychol.* 1, 30–41. doi: 10.1038/s44159-021-00001-3

Watkins, E. R., and Roberts, H. (2020). Reflecting on rumination: consequences, causes, mechanisms and treatment of rumination. *Behav. Res. Ther.* 127:103573. doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2020.103573

Weller, S., Nitsche, M. A., and Plewnia, C. (2020). Enhancing cognitive control training with transcranial direct current stimulation: a systematic parameter study. *Brain Stimul.* 13, 1358–1369. doi: 10.1016/j.brs.2020.07.006

Wesner, A. C., Gomes, J. B., Detzel, T., Guimarães, L. S. P., and Heldt, E. (2015). Booster sessions after cognitive-behavioural group therapy for panic disorder: impact on resilience, coping, and quality of life. *Behav. Cogn. Psychother.* 43, 513–525. doi: 10.1017/s1352465814000289

Wichers, M., and Groot, P. C. (2016). Critical slowing down as a personalized early warning signal for depression. *Psychother. Psychosom.* 85, 114–116. doi: 10.1159/000441458

World Health Organization [WHO] (2021). Depression: World Health Organization Fact Sheet. Available online at: https://www.who.int/news-room/ fact-sheets/detail/depression (accessed November 24, 2021).

Zhang, Y., Wang, H., Yan, C., Wang, L., Cheung, E. F. C., and Chan, R. C. (2019). Working memory training can improve anhedonia in college students with subsyndromal depressive symptoms. *PsyCh J.* 8, 401–410. doi: 10.1002/pchj.271

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Drozdstoy Stoyanov Stoyanov, Plovdiv Medical University, Bulgaria

REVIEWED BY Petar Petrov, Medical University of Varna, Bulgaria Plamen Bozhinov, Medical University Pleven, Bulgaria

*CORRESPONDENCE Georgi Panov gpanov@dir.bg

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Psychopathology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

RECEIVED 15 July 2022 ACCEPTED 25 July 2022 PUBLISHED 10 August 2022

CITATION

Panov G (2022) Gender-associated role in patients with schizophrenia. Is there a connection with the resistance? *Front. Psychiatry* 13:995455. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.995455

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Panov. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Gender-associated role in patients with schizophrenia. Is there a connection with the resistance?

Georgi Panov*

Psychiatric Clinic, Trakia University, Stara Zagora, Bulgaria

Schizophrenia is a chronic mental illness observed with equal prevalence in different cultures and ethnic groups. The clinical picture relates to behavior and social adaptation. A significant percentage of patients, despite the implementation of various therapeutic interventions, remain resistant to the ongoing treatment. Occupying a certain gender role depends both on biological belonging and on the way of self-perception characteristic of the given person. Self-perception reflects gender identification, which in social aspect is determined by the choice of social activities performed. Changes in behavior and social adaptation in patients with schizophrenia led us to conduct a study to analyze the perceived gender role in patients with schizophrenia, looking for differences between patients with treatment resistance and those in clinical remission.

Materials and methods: A total of 105 patients with schizophrenia were analyzed. Of them, 45 were with resistant symptoms and 60 in clinical remission. The clinical analysis of the patients was carried out using the PANSS and BPRS scales. The evaluation of the choice of social activity related to a particular gender was done with the Bem Sex-Role Inventory (BSRI).

Results: Out of all 105 patients with schizophrenia, in 80/76.19%/we found a higher identification with the female role, 17/16.19%/made an association with the male role and in 8/7.61%/patients we found the same results, i.e., with both the male and female roles. Among the patients with treatment resistant schizophrenia (TRS)-45, 34/75.56%/identified more with the female gender role, 6/13.33/perceived the male gender role as active, and in 5/11.11%/the identification was equal both with the male and with the female roles. Among the patients in clinical remission (CR)-60, 46/76.67%/accepted the female role as active, 11/18.33/identified with the male one, and three/5%/accepted both roles equally. When assessing the relationship between biological sex and perceived gender role, it was found that among men/a total of 39/half identified with the female gender role and half with the male gender role. Among women/a total of 66/, 90% perceived the female gender role, 7%-the male and 3% equally the male and the female gender role. No relationship was found between the choice of a certain gender role and the onset of psychosis and its duration in the observed patients.

Conclusion: We found a higher percentage of schizophrenic patients who showed higher identification with the female gender role. Approximately half of the males identified with the female gender role. Resistance had no influence on the choice of sex-associated social activity. Factors related to the course of the schizophrenia process such as age of onset of psychosis and duration of psychosis was not associated with an influence on identification with sex-associated social activity. Our research suggests that identification with a particular sex associative social activity is most likely established earlier in the prodromal period.

KEYWORDS

resistant schizophrenia, clinical remission, gender identity, sex, gender, social activity, sex role

Introduction

Schizophrenia is a severe chronic mental illness characterized by specific symptoms divided into three large groups: positive, negative and cognitive symptoms (1). Research in recent years has shown that schizophrenia is not just a mental disorder in the narrow sense of the word. It has multiple disturbances in metabolism, opioid system and immunity, which often require further evaluation and therapeutic approach (2-4). In patients with schizophrenia and associative connections as well as loss of connectivity between individual brains regions were found (5-7). The established changes in the connecting systems between the different brain regions give grounds for some authors to consider schizophrenia as a disconnection syndrome (8). On the other hand, it should be noted that gender differences in brain size have been found, as well as not very convincing differences in the associative connections between individual neuronal centers and functional lateralization in men and women (9). Other authors have looked at morphological differences in different brain regions in males and females, concluding that sex-associated biological differences were observed (10).

The course of the schizophrenic process in men and in women is characterized by certain differences related to both the time of appearance and the prevalence of certain symptoms to the higher rate of resistance found in men (11, 12) Numerous studies have been conducted regarding the gender characteristics of patients with schizophrenia, and the gender differences considered were based on the established dichotomy of "male" and "female" gender (13). Authors define gender role as "all those things that one says or does to reveal oneself as having the status of boy or man, girl, or woman." (14).

In general, communities based on the biological differences between men and women create a set of social expectations that define the behavior that is "appropriate" for men and women (15). Many cultures have different requirements and norms based on gender differences and there is no established universal standard for a male or female role (16, 17) is a cognitive theory that attempts to explain how individuals define their gender in society and how the associated characteristics are maintained and transmitted to other members of the culture (17). The greatest Contribution To The Field of certain social behavior was the attempt to quantify it through the Bem Sex-Role scale. Originally developed as a tool to identify sex-typed individuals, many researchers use it to assess other components of gender, including type of social activity as a measure of masculinity/femininity (18).

Deaux (19) suggests that gender comparison is based on culturally accepted norms regarding the nature of femininity and masculinity. Lewine (20) found it appropriate to use this terminology also in the study of schizophrenic patients. Furthermore, it does not consider how psychological gender, which is primarily a matter of self-perception, may influence illness in men and women with schizophrenia and how this may impact treatment and the recovery process (21). Cultural expectations for men and women with schizophrenia differ according to research. Research has shown that males with schizophrenia have more difficulty performing expected normative role activities than females (21). An analysis of the literature on gender identity and schizophrenia shows that men and women with schizophrenia have disordered gender role identification and this is more characteristic of males, and this fact should be taken into account in the therapeutic approach to patients (22).

An analysis of the literature on gender identity and schizophrenia shows that men and women with schizophrenia have disordered gender role identification and this is more characteristic of males, and this fact should be taken into account in the therapeutic approach to patients (22).

Seeman (23) noted that, based on the major differences between men and women with schizophrenia: from the different age of onset to the different symptomatology, dose, and affective fluctuations, the two sexes cannot be burdened with the same demands in the presence of a schizophrenic process. Authors have found that patients more easily perceive and identify with the female role than with the male role (24). Many psychotic symptoms are found in patients with identity disorder, and in patients with schizophrenia there is a large percentage of patients with identity disorder (25).

Other authors consider identity disorder and schizophrenia as mutually exclusive, raising the question of exaggerating the relationship between schizophrenia and identity disorder (26). Research has shown fluidity in the timing of gender identity expression, which may fluctuate over time and be associated with thought process disorder (27).

Analysis of the effect of treatment in patients with schizophrenia shows that up to 40% are resistant to treatment (28). Schizophrenia is a complex disorder that can be likened to a "symphonic" orchestration, but as other authors have also found, gender is also a consequence of a complex "symphonic" orchestration (29). Naturally, the question arises whether there are differences in gender identification in patients with resistance to treatment and those who have achieved clinical remission.

Materials and methods

Subjects

A total of 105 patients with schizophrenia with consecutive psychotic episodes have been observed. Of these, 45 have resistant schizophrenia and the remaining 60 are in clinical remission.

The patients were observed in a psychiatric clinic at the University Hospital in Stara Zagora.

Including criteria to all patients:

- 1. Diagnosis of schizophrenia according to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition [DSM-V, 2013];
- 2. Between 18 and 60 years of age;
- 3. At least primary education;

Including criteria for patients with resistant schizophrenia are those who have met the resistance criteria of the published consensus on resistant schizophrenia (28). These are:

- 1. Assessment of symptoms with the PANSS and BPRS scale (30, 31).
- 2. Prospective monitoring for a period of at least 12° weeks.
- 3. Administration of at least two antipsychotic medication trials at a dose corresponding to or greater than 600 mg chlorpromazine equivalents.
- 4. Reduction of symptoms when assessed with the PANSS and BPRS scale by less than 20% for the observed period of time.

5. The assessment of social dysfunction using the SOFAS (Social and Occupational Functioning Assessment Scale) scale is below 60.

The exclusion criteria are:

- 1. Intellectual disability.
- 2. Psychoactive substance abuse.
- 2. Presence of organic brain damage.
- 3. Concomitant progressive neurological or severe somatic diseases.
- 4. Expressed personality change.
- 5. Score of MMSE (Mini-Mental State Exam) below 25 points.
- 6. Pregnancy and breastfeeding.

Methods

Sandra Bem's scale (BSRI) was used to assess the perceived gender role (17).

We used the SPSS (version 26) statistical package. Correlation analysis was used to investigate the relationship between the sex-associated role and the resistance to therapy, age of onset of schizophrenia and duration of the disorder in patients with schizophrenia. A non-parametric statistical method was also used (32).

Age, body mass index (BMI), level of education is controlled as covariables.

All research procedures were carried out in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

All patients signed an informed consent before admission to the clinical settings and performing diagnostic tests and therapy.

Results

The mean age of patients in the group of resistant schizophrenia was 36.98 years. The minimum age is 21 years and the maximum is 60 years.

The mean age of patients in the group of schizophrenia in clinical remission was 37.25 years. The minimum is 23 years and the maximum is 63 years.

We did not find a difference in the mean age of the patients in both groups at the time of the study.

No statistical differences were found between the two groups of patients in terms of height, weight, and BMI.

An analysis of patients with resistant psychosis and those in remission using the Bem Sex-Role Inventory (BSRI) found the following results:

Of all patients with schizophrenia, 80/76.19%/showed a higher scale when measuring identification with the female





TABLE 1 Connection between effect of therapy and accepted gender role in patients with schizophrenia.

			Total		
		female	male	both equally	
Effect of therapy	resistant	34	6	5	45
	remission	46	11	3	60
Total		80	17	8	105

role, 17/16.19%/made an association with the male role, and 8/7.61%/patients had the same results in identifying with gender roles, i.e., with both the male and female roles.

When conducting a comparative study to compare the real sex of the examined patients with the results of using the Sandra Bem scale, the following data were observed: Among the 65 female persons, it was found that 60/92.31%/identified with the female gender role, 2/3.07%/with the male gender role, and 3/4.62%/perceived both gender roles equally.

Among the 40 males, it was found that 20/50%/identified more with the female gender role, 15/37.5%/identified with the male gender role, and 5/12.5%/perceived both roles equally **Figure 1**.

These data show that the recorded predominance of female gender role identification is at the expense of males, with half of them identifying with the female gender role.

The analysis of the relationship between perceived gender role and treatment effectiveness showed the following results:

Among the patients with treatment resistant schizophrenia (TRS)–45, 34/75.56%/identified more with the female gender role, 6/13.33/perceived the male gender role as active, and in 5/11.11%/the identification was equal both with the male and the female roles.

Among the patients in clinical remission (CR)– 60, 46/76.67%/accepted the female role as active, 11/18.33/identified with the male one, and three/5%/accepted both roles equally **Figure 2** and **Table 1**.

With this observation of ours in schizophrenic patients, we found that easy identification and acceptance of the female gender role was observed.

In view of the described and assumed factors related to the change in the gender role, we made the following analyses of the relationship with the perceived specific gender role. We analyzed the relationship between the accepted gender role and the age; the age of onset of the schizophrenia process as well as the duration of the schizophrenia process.

TABLE 2	Relationship between features of psychosis and
perceive	d gender role.

	Female	Male	Both equally	Sign.
Age	37.44	32	44	<i>p</i> > 0.05
Age of onset	26.23	23.94	21.88	p > 0.05
Duration of Sch	11.5	9.18	22.5	<i>p</i> > 0.05

When analyzing the relationship between the perceived gender role as male, female, and equally both female and male with the age of the patients, we found the following:

The average age of patients who adopted the female gender role was 37.44 years.

The average age of patients who identified with the male gender role was 32 years.

The average age of those who had the same results in both male and male attitudes was 44 years.

The conducted statistical analyses showed no statistically significant relationship: p < 0.05.

Assessment of the relationship between the onset of schizophrenia and perceived gender role showed the following results:

Among those with a perceived female role, the onset of schizophrenia was at 26.23 years. For those identified with the male gender role–23.94 years and for those with identification equally with both roles–21.88 years. Statistical analysis showed no significant relationship p < 0.05.

The analysis of the relationship between the accepted gender role and the duration of the schizophrenia process showed the following distribution:

In patients who accepted the female gender role, the duration was 11.25 years. For those with a male perception, it was 9.18 years, and for those who identified with both gender roles–22.5 years. Despite the differences in the length of years, the sample of patients with the same points regarding the evaluation of male and female gender roles was small–eight patients Table 2.

The conducted statistical analysis showed no statistically significant difference with p < 0.05.

Discussion

The results of the study conducted to assess the identity with a certain role in patients with showed that two thirds of the

observed patients identified with the female role. Among the male subjects, half of the patients identified more with the female role. Just under a fifth identified as masculine and just under a tenth scored equally on masculine and feminine gender roles. Our observation showed that it was done by easy identification and acceptance of the female role. These data confirm the observations of other authors that there is a change in gender identification in patients with schizophrenia (21, 22, 24, 25).

There were almost identical results regarding the discrepancy between biological sex and the points indicating dominant gender roles in both resistant and remitted schizophrenic patients. These results showed that this registered change was more deeply affecting the identity of the individual and is not only related to the loss of the patients' social role and autonomy.

The view of some authors (29) that mental illness itself can be considered as silencing other factors of identity is difficult to accept due to the fact that in patients in remission a relatively preserved or largely recovered level of functional activity is observed, despite changing their gender identification. On the other hand, we should not forget the fact that gender places higher demands on men in relation to the need for professional and social connections. These factors, on the other hand, are also a noted problem in schizophrenics in general (33). Seen in this way, some explanation can be given to this "escape" from the male role. We did not find confirmation of the hypothesis that most likely the early onset of the disease and its duration make it difficult to construct sexassociated patterns (33). Our data showed no association between the onset of psychosis, its duration, and gender role identification. We believe that most likely the choice of the female role and identification with it is related to being placed in a subordinate, "protected" position in patients with schizophrenia, on the one hand, and on the other hand, these data can be interpreted through the prism of "burden of normality" (34).

In these cases, a bridge can definitely be drawn between the choice of gender role and the phenomenon of "learned helplessness", which includes cognitive, motivational and emotional disorders appearing as a consequence of the impact of uncontrollable negative life events (35) and places patients in a more "subordinate position". These results of ours indirectly support the idea of a relationship between identity disorder and schizophrenia, not supporting those who believe that such a relationship is absent (26).

The result of the lack of relationship between symptom resistance and perceived gender role is interesting. As a possible explanation, we found that with the onset of psychosis a defensive position within the female gender role was adopted, which, despite recovery from psychosis, was more convenient for patients to abandon. On the other hand, patients with schizophrenia often have prodromal symptoms, sometimes

10.3389/fpsyt.2022.995455

years before the development of the disease, which enable the adoption of social strategies within the female gender role, as a more protected social position. We believe that the development of this "escape" from the male gender role began even before the onset of psychotic experiences.

One of the main unanswered questions is whether the accepted gender role will remain stable over time or whether there will be dynamics and change in social patterns of behavior. If we proceed from the concept of the fluidity of gender identity, such a process should also be assumed (27, 36). For this, it is necessary to conduct additional longitudinal studies in patients with schizophrenia in order to track the presence of possible dynamics over time.

At this stage, we cannot give an answer to the question whether in the course of social recovery in patients in clinical remission, a gradient shift of the gender role will not be observed in parallel with the re-adaptation processes.

Conclusion

We found a change in gender role choice that is characteristic of male individuals. We did not find a relationship between the choice of gender role and resistance to therapy, nor with the features of the schizophrenic process. These data of ours indicate that the change in the dominant gender role most likely occurred even before the onset of schizophrenia, most likely in the prodromal period.

Our observations are a good direction for work in the process of rehabilitation and recovery for patients with schizophrenia. In the course of this process, we consider it important to pay attention to the assessment of the dominant gender role in order to provide more correct strategies for social rehabilitation.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethical Committee of University Hospital "Stoyan Kirkovich". The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki, and approved by the Ethical Committee of University Hospital "Stoyan Kirkovich" Stara Zagora, protocol code TR3-02-242/30 December 2021.

Author contributions

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and has approved it for publication.

Acknowledgments

The author would like to express our gratitude to all those who helped us during the writing of this manuscript. Thanks to all the peer reviewers for their opinions and suggestions.

Conflict of interest

The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Jablensky A. The diagnostic concept of schizophrenia: Its history, evolution, and future prospects. *Dialogues Clin Neurosci.* (2010) 12:271–87. doi: 10.31887/DCNS.2010.12.3/ajablensky

2. Tanaka M, Tóth F, Polyák H, Szabó Á, Mándi Y, Vécsei L. Immune influencers in action: Metabolites and enzymes of the tryptophan-kynurenine metabolic pathway. *Biomedicines.* (2021) 9:734. doi: 10.3390/biomedicines9070734

3. Correia BSB, Nani JV, Waladares Ricardo R, Stanisic D, Costa TBBC, Hayashi MAF, et al. Effects of psychostimulants and antipsychotics on serum lipids in

an animal model for schizophrenia. *Biomedicines.* (2021) 9:235. doi: 10.3390/biomedicines9030235

4. Khandaker GM, Cousins L, Deakin J, Lennox BR, Yolken R, Jones PB. Inflammation and immunity in schizophrenia: Implications for pathophysiology and treatment. *Lancet Psychiatry.* (2015) 2:258–70. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(14) 00122-9

5. Stoyanov D, Kandilarova S, Borgwardt S, Stieglitz RD, Hugdahl K, Kostianev S. Psychopathology assessment methods revisited: On translational cross-validation

of clinical self-evaluation scale and fMRI. Front Psychiatry. (2018) 9:21. doi: 10. 3389/fpsyt.2018.00021

6. Stoyanov D, Aryutova K, Kandilarova S, Paunova R, Arabadzhiev Z, Todeva-Radneva A, et al. Diagnostic task specific activations in functional MRI and aberrant connectivity of insula with middle frontal gyrus can inform the differential diagnosis of psychosis. *Diagnostics*. (2021) 11:95. doi: 10.3390/diagnostics11010095

7. Nyatega CO, Qiang L, Adamu MJ, Younis A, Kawuwa HB. Altered dynamic functional connectivity of cuneus in schizophrenia patients: A resting-state fMRI study. *Appl Sci.* (2021) 23:11392. doi: 10.3390/app112311392

8. Friston K, Brown HR, Siemerkus J, Stephan KE. The dysconnection hypothesis. *Schizophr Res.* (2016) 176:83–94. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2016.07.014

9. Eliot L, Ahmed A, Khan H, Patel J. Dump the "dimorphism": Comprehensive synthesis of human brain studies reveals few male-female differences beyond size. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2021) 125:667–97. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2021.02.026

10. Xin J, Zhang Y, Tang Y, Yang Y. Brain differences between men and women: Evidence from deep learning. *Front Neurosci.* (2019) 13:185. doi: 10.3389/fnins. 2019.00185

11. Falkenburg J, Tracy DK. Sex and schizophrenia: A review of gender differences. *Psychosis*. (2014) 6:61–9. doi: 10.1080/17522439.2012.733405

12. Panov G, Djulgerova S, Panova P. The effect of education level and sex differences on resistance to treatment in patients with schizophrenia. *Bulg Med.* (2022) 1:12.

13. Kulkarni J. Women and schizophrenia: A review. Aust NZJ Psychiatry. (1997) 31:46–56. doi: 10.3109/00048679709073798

14. Money J, Hampson JG, Hampson JL. An examination of some basic sexual concepts: The evidence of human hermaphroditism. *Bull Johns Hopkins Hosp.* (1955) 97:301–19.

15. Galdas PM, Johnson JL, Percy ME, Ratner PA. Help seeking for cardiac symptoms: Beyond the masculine–feminine binary. *Soc Sci Med.* (2010) 71:18–24. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2010.03.006

16. Spade J, Valentine C. The kaleidoscope of gender: Prisms, patterns, and possibilities. 3rd ed. Thousand Oaks, CA: Pine Forge Press (2011).

17. Bem SL. The measurement of psychological androgyny. *Consult Clin Psychol.* (1974) 42:155–62.

18. Hoffman RM, Borders LD. Twenty-five years after the Bem sex -role inventory: A reassessment and new issues regarding classification variability. *Meas Eval Couns Dev.* (2001) 34:39–55.

19. Deaux K. Sorry, wrong number a reply to gentile's call. *Psychol Sci.* (1993) 4:125–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9280.1993.tb00474.x

20. Lewine RR. Sex: An imperfect marker of gender. Schizophr Bull. (1994) 20:777–9. doi: 10.1093/schbul/20.4.777

21. Nasser EH, Walders N, Jenkins JH. The experience of schizophrenia: What's gender got to do with it? A critical review of the current status of research

on schizophrenia. Schizophr Bull. (2002) 28:351–62. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals. schbul.a006944

22. Strkalj Iveziæ S, John N. Gender and schizophrenia. *Psychiatr Danub*. (2009) 21:106–10.

23. Seeman MV. Schizophrenic men and women require different treatment programs. J Psychiatr Treat Eval. (1983) 5:143-8.

24. Sajatovic M, Jenkins JH, Strauss ME, Butt ZA, Carpenter E. Gender identity and implications for recovery among men and women with schizophrenia. *Psychiatr Serv.* (2005) 56:96–8. doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.56.1.96

25. Rajkumar RP. Gender identity disorder and schizophrenia: Neurodevelopmental disorders with common causal mechanisms? *Schizophr Res Treatment*. (2014) 2014:463757. doi: 10.1155/2014/463757

26. Hoshiai M, Matsumoto Y, Sato T, Ohnishi M, Okabe N, Kishimoto Y, et al. Psychiatric comorbidity among patients with gender identity disorder. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2010) 64:514–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1819.2010.02118.x

27. Gerken AT, McGahee S, Keuroghlian AS, Freudenreich O. Consideration of clozapine and gender-affirming medical care for an HIV-positive person with schizophrenia and fluctuating gender identity. *Harv Rev Psychiatry.* (2016) 24:406–15. doi: 10.1097/HRP.00000000000120

28. Howes OD, McCutcheon R, Agid O, de Bartolomeis A, van Beveren NJ, Birnbaum ML, et al. Treatment-resistant schizophrenia: Treatment response and resistance in psychosis (TRRIP) working group consensus guidelines on diagnosis and terminology. *Am J Psychiatry*. (2017) 174:216–29. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2016. 16050503

29. LaTorre RA. The psychological assessment of gender identity and gender role in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull*. (1976) 2:266–85. doi: 10.1093/schbul/2.2.266

30. Overall JE, Gorham DR. The brief psychiatric rating scale. *Psychol Rep.* (1962) 10:799–812. doi: 10.2466/pr0.1962.10.3.799

31. Kay SR, Fiszbein A, Opler LA. The positive and negative syndrome scale (PANSS) for schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (1987) 13:261–76. doi: 10.1093/schbul/ 13.2.261

32. Mann HB, Whitney DR. On a test of whether one of two random variables is stochastically larger than the other. *Ann Math Stat.* (1947) 18:50–60. doi: 10.1214/aoms/1177730491

33. Notman MT, Nadelson CC. *Women and men*. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Press (1991).

34. Gilbert F. The burden of normality: From 'chronically ill' to 'symptom free'. New ethical challenges for deep brain stimulation postoperative treatment. *J Med Ethics*. (2012) 38:408–12. doi: 10.1136/medethics-2011-100044

35. Seligman MEP. Helplessness: On depression, development, and death. New York, NY: W H Freeman/Times Books/ Henry Holt & Co (1975).

36. Katz-Wise SL. Sexual fluidity in young adult women and men: Associations with sexual orientation and sexual identity development. *Psychol Sex.* (2015) 6:189–208. doi: 10.1080/19419899.2013.876445

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Ofir Turel, California State University, Fullerton, United States

REVIEWED BY Amina Wagner, Technical University of Darmstadt, Germany Amber Heck, Texas Christian University, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Michelle B. Moore mbacon@lsuhsc.edu David Yang david.yang@yale.edu Amanda M. Raines arain1@lsuhsc.edu Rahn Kennedy Bailey rahnkbaileymd@comcast.net Waania Beg wbeg@lsuhsc.edu

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Psychopathology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

RECEIVED 26 April 2022 ACCEPTED 01 August 2022 PUBLISHED 02 September 2022

CITATION

Moore MB, Yang D, Raines AM, Bailey RK and Beg W (2022) Intersection of anxiety and negative coping among Asian American medical students. *Front. Psychol.* 13:929227. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.929227

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Moore, Yang, Raines, Bailey and Beg. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Intersection of anxiety and negative coping among Asian American medical students

Michelle B. Moore^{1*}, David Yang^{2*}, Amanda M. Raines^{3*}, Rahn Kennedy Bailey^{1*} and Waania Beg^{1*}

¹LSU Health Sciences Center New Orleans, Louisiana State University, New Orleans, LA, United States, ²Department of Emergency Medicine, Yale University, New Haven, CT, United States, ³Southeast Louisiana Veterans Health Care System, Veterans Health Administration, United States Department of Veterans Affairs, New Orleans, LA, United States

Purpose: Asian Americans comprise 21% of matriculating medical students in the United States but little is known about their mental health. With the growing focus on addressing the mental health of medical students, this systematic, nationwide survey assesses the relationship between anxiety and depression symptoms and coping skills among Asian American medical students.

Materials and methods: A survey tool comprised of Patient Health Questionnaire-9, General Anxiety Disorder-7, and questions related to coping were emailed to members of the Asian Pacific American Medical Students Association enrolled in a United States medical school during the 2016–2017 academic year. We evaluated associations between anxiety and coping as well as depression and coping.

Results: A total of 511 Asian American medical students completed the survey. Anxiety symptoms were positively correlated with an increase in negative coping skills. Depressive symptoms were not correlated with an increase in negative coping skills.

Conclusion: Professionals and medical schools that aim to improve the mental health of medical students should be aware of the needs of specific populations. Asian American students who experience anxiety were more likely to utilize avoidant or negative coping strategies. In addition, Asian American students who experience depressive symptoms were not more likely to utilize these negative coping strategies. Further research must be done to evaluate the factors that influence the use of negative coping strategies to better address anxiety within the Asian American medical student population.

KEYWORDS

anxiety, negative coping, Asian American, medical students, intersection of anxiety

Introduction

Individuals who identify as Asian American comprise 21% of matriculating medical students in the United States, but there is limited research focusing on the mental health of these students throughout their medical school experience (Dyrbye et al., 2007; Association of American Medical Colleges, 2021). While there are several studies that have looked at stress, depression, and burnout among minority medical students in general (Pyskoty et al., 1990; Camp et al., 1994; Henning et al., 1998; Tjia et al., 2005; Dyrbye et al., 2006a, 2007; Yang et al., 2021), there are fewer studies also examining anxiety among this population and, in particular, a paucity of data on medical students who identify as Asian American (Quek et al., 2019). Existing literature examining the prevalence of anxiety and depression among medical students found that medical students had higher rates of anxiety and depression relative to the general population (Dyrbye et al., 2006b). Anxiety and depressive disorders can negatively impact medical students' health, professionalism, academic performance, and quality of patient care (Burr and Beck Dallaghan, 2019; Quek et al., 2019). Given that Asian American medical students comprise almost a quarter of the students attending medical school, understanding what cultural considerations need to be made to address this population of students is important to consider prior to their completion of training when they are entering the workforce as physicians. Cultural considerations, which take into consideration how stigma related to seeking mental health services and acknowledging symptoms that could lead to emotional stress and burnout, could positively impact interventions and conversations with Asian American medical students regarding their mental health needs while in medical school. Therefore, it is imperative for medical school administrators to understand the consequences of both anxiety and depression on Asian American medical students.

The general population of medical students use a variety of coping skills to manage anxiety and depression (Stern et al., 1993). Coping skills refer to the behavioral and cognitive efforts individuals employ in response to stressors in an effort to minimize the negative implications associated with a stressor (Merrill and Thomas, 2013). A distinction is often made between positive and negative coping skills (de La Rosa-Rojas et al., 2015). Positive or adaptive coping are defined as an active approach that aims to mitigate or change the stressor itself through a means that is beneficial to the overall wellbeing of that individual (Folkman et al., 1986). For instance, contacting a therapist or counselor, exercising, and seeking support from spiritual advisors are typically identified as positive coping skills (Litman, 2006). In contrast, negative or avoidant coping is a passive approach centered on escaping from stressful situations and subsequently often harmful to the individuals wellbeing (Merrill and Thomas, 2013). Engaging in self-harm, over or under-eating, and consuming alcohol are commonly identified as negative coping skills (Litman, 2006). Positive coping skills have been linked to better health outcomes than negative coping, such as lower levels of stress symptoms, decreased depression, and decreased suicidal behavior (Penley et al., 2002; Li and Zhang, 2012; Merrill and Thomas, 2013; Shatkin et al., 2016; Thompson et al., 2016; Nie et al., 2020). Conversely, negative coping skills have been associated with greater alcohol consumption, lower quality of life, burnout, fatigue, and increased risk of mental health problems (Merrill and Thomas, 2013; Ding et al., 2015; Paek et al., 2016; Hou et al., 2020; Smida et al., 2021).

Previous studies in medical students have shown an association between coping skills and depression and anxiety symptoms (Mosley et al., 1994; Steiner-Hofbauer and Holzinger, 2020). Shao et al. (2020) reported that anxiety was negatively correlated to positive coping and positively correlated to negative coping in Chinese medical students. A German study found that students with high scores on anxiety and depression clinical scales also showed high levels of dysfunctional coping (Prinz et al., 2012). Thompson et al. (2016) also reported that greater use of positive or approach-oriented coping strategies, which aim to find cognitive strategies to find a solution to a problem, was inversely correlated with depression. To our knowledge, data on anxiety, depression, and coping strategies of Asian American medical students in the United States are lacking. The intersection of these areas is important for medical schools to understand in order to build culturally sensitive interventions that can lead to a healthy and sustainable workforce after medical school. As previous studies have shown, individuals who identify as minority students often experience unique challenges in how they utilize coping skills to manage mental health symptoms. In addition, Asian American students are often considered the "model minority," which possesses additional stressors on individuals to perform and achieve high standards. This model minority myth, which creates an assumption that one minority group is perceived as higher achieving over other individuals due to their ethnicity, creates misperceptions regarding one's true mental health needs by creating false assumptions regarding the Asian American population (Cheng et al., 2017; Yip et al., 2021). Thus, the aim of this study was to explore the relationship between anxiety and depression symptoms and coping skills among Asian American medical students attending medical schools in the United States.

Materials and methods

Participants and procedures

The sample included 511 Asian American (AA) medical students enrolled at a medical school in the United States during the 2016–2017 academic year. Students were recruited through the Asian Pacific American Medical Student Association,

a national organization that supports AA students and represents 90 medical schools and colleges in the United States. Specifically, students were emailed information regarding the study and invited to complete a brief, online battery of selfreport questionnaires. The survey was comprised of questions regarding coping behaviors, the Generalized Anxiety Disorder-7 self-report questionnaire, the Patient Health Questionanire-9 self-report measure, questions related to stigma, mental health history and demographic questions. All questions were included to further understand mental health symptoms, behaviors and attitudes for the respective sample population. All responses were completely anonymous and collected using the professional and encrypted version of Survey Monkey Pro. The study was approved by the institutions' Institutional Review Board.

Students' who completed the survey identified as primarily male (62%) and between the ages of 21–25 (68%). In terms of relationship status, most students reported being single (49%) followed by married or in a committed relationship (51%). Most students were enrolled in their first year of medical school (40%) followed by second (31%), third (19%), and fourth year (10%).

Measures

Coping

Participants were provided with a list of behaviors and asked to select all methods that are used to cope when feeling anxious or depressed. Negative coping behaviors, included the following strategies which were engaging in self-harm, overeating, undereating, smoking cigarettes, using recreational drugs, and consuming alcohol. The negative coping strategies were coded as 1. The score for each individual was summed to create a total score (ranging from 0 to 6) with higher scores indicating poorer coping.

Generalized anxiety

The Generalized Anxiety Disorder-7 (GAD-7) is a 7-item self-report questionnaire designed to assess generalized anxiety symptoms (Spitzer et al., 2006). Participants were asked to read a list of symptoms and indicate how often they have been bothered by each within the past 2 weeks. Items are rated using a fourpoint Likert-type scale ranging from 0 (*Not at all*) to 3 (*Nearly every day*). Total scores can range from 0 to 21 with higher scores indicating increased symptom severity. The GAD-7 has strong psychometric properties and demonstrated good internal consistently in the current study (Cronbach $\alpha = 0.88$).

Depression

The Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9) is a 9item self-report questionnaire designed to assess depression symptoms. Participants were asked to read a list of symptoms and indicate how often they have been bothered by each within the past 2 weeks (Kroenke et al., 2001). Items are rated using a four-point Likert-type scale ranging from 0 (*Not at all*) to 3 (*Nearly every day*). Total scores can range from 0 to 27 with higher scores indicating increased symptom severity. The PHQ-9 has strong psychometric properties and demonstrated good internal consistently in the current study (Cronbach $\alpha = 0.87$).

Drop out

Participants were also asked if they had considered dropping out of medical school over the past month using a dichotomous response choices of *Yes* or *No*.

Data analytic plan

All analyses were conducted using IBM SPSS Statistics version 26.0. First data screening was performed. This included calculating descriptive statistics to inspect for data entry errors, missing data, outliers, and normality. Normality, linearity, and homoscedasticity were assessed according to the guidelines sets forth by Tabachnick and Fidell by inspecting the normal probability plot of the regression standardized residual and the scatterplot as well as tolerance and variance inflation factor values (Tabachnick and Fidell, 2006). Second, descriptive statistics including means, standard deviations, and distributions were examined. Variables were considered abnormally distributed if the skewness and/or kurtosis statistic divided by the respective standard error resulted in a value ± 2 . In such cases a Log10 transformation was utilized. Third, zeroorder correlations among all variables were examined. Fourth, two hierarchical linear regression analyses were conducted to examine the relationship between anxiety, depression, and poor coping. Gender was entered in the first step of each model followed by either anxiety or depression symptom severity.

Results

Preliminary analyses

At the item level, less than 6% of all values were missing. As such, missing data was handled *via* pairwise deletion. Preliminary analyses indicated no threats or violations of normality, multicollinearity, or homoscedasticity. PHQ-9 scores

TABLE 1 Descriptive statistics.

	Mean	Std. deviation	N
Gender	0.62	0.485	511
PHQ9_total	6.1255	5.26395	470
GAD7_total	5.3805	4.77567	481
CopingNeg	0.9843	0.92659	511

were significantly skewed (skewness = 11.08) and kurtotic (kurtosis = 6.72). Additionally, GAD-7 scores were significantly skewed (skewness = 9.15). As a result, Log10 transformations were utilized to more closely approximate a normal distribution. The transformed variables were used in all analyses. However, for ease of interpretation, the non-transformed variable was used in **Tables 1**, 2, when presenting descriptive statistics and zero-order correlations among study variables. In terms of dropout, 12% of students reported that they had considered dropping out of medical school in the past month, which the authors found to be significant as categorical data.

Primary analyses

The first hierarchical linear regression was designed to examine the relationship between depression and coping. The first step of the model, which included participant gender, accounted for 0% of the variance in negative coping, F(1,468) = 0.14, p = 0.705. In the second step of the model, PHQ-9 scores were added accounting for no additional variance in coping, F change = 0.53, p = 0.466. PHQ-9 scores were not significantly associated with increased negative coping (B = -0.03, t = -0.73, p = 0.466, $sr^2 = 0.00$). Therefore, no relationship was found between reported symptoms of depression and the use of negative coping skills among the sample.

The second hierarchical linear regression was designed to examine the relationship between anxiety and coping. The first step of the model, which included participant gender, accounted for 0% of the variance in negative coping, F(1,479) = 0.15, p = 0.702. In the second step of the model, GAD-7 scores were added accounting for an additional 4% of variance in coping, F change = 19.76, p < 0.001. GAD-7 scores were significantly associated with increased negative coping (B = 0.20, t = 4.45, p < 0.001, sr² = 0.04). Therefore, a significant relationship was found between individuals reported symptoms of anxiety

which were associated with an increase in negative coping skills used. While there were no differences between gender, there was a significant association when examining the sample as a whole.

Discussion

Results of the current study revealed that students' depressive symptoms were not associated with an increase in negative coping skills. Although somewhat unexpected, previous findings for depression among Asian Americans have been mixed with some studies showing that sociocultural factors can play important protective roles against negative mood states (Sue et al., 2012; Leong et al., 2013). However, anxiety symptoms were positively associated with an increase in negative coping skills. That is, students who were experiencing anxiety symptoms were more likely to utilize avoidant or negative coping strategies to mitigate the impact of their emotional state. This includes strategies such as engaging in self-harm, over or undereating, smoking cigarettes, using recreational drugs, and consuming alcohol. The utilization of negative coping has been linked to a decrease in academic performance which is concerning given the majority of individuals studied are enrolled in their first and second year of medical school when the curriculum is heavily focused on retention of course materials. In addition, 12% of students who completed the survey had considered dropping out of medical school which is an important prevalence rate for medical school administration to investigate. In order to promote the wellbeing of Asian American medical students during their medical training, it is important to understand how mental health concerns, specifically anxiety, can negatively impact their experience and possibly their professional trajectory. Further, it is important to ensure that Asian American medical students have access to culturally competent providers and culturally

TABLE 2 Means, standard deviations, and zero-order correlations between all variables.

		Gender	PHQ9_total	GAD7_total	CopingNeg
Gender	Pearson correlation	1	0.082	-0.021	-0.017
	Sig. (2-tailed)		0.076	0.640	0.693
	Ν	511	470	481	511
PHQ9_total	Pearson correlation	0.082	1	0.072	-0.025
	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.076		0.132	0.591
	Ν	470	470	442	470
GAD7_total	Pearson correlation	-0.021	0.072	1	0.194**
	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.640	0.132		< 0.001
	Ν	481	442	481	481
CopingNeg	Pearson correlation	-0.017	-0.025	0.194**	1
	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.693	0.591	< 0.001*	
	Ν	511	470	481	511

**Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

Gender coded 0 = Female and 1 = Male; PHQ-9, Patient Health Questionnaire-9; GAD-7, Generalized Anxiety Disorder-7; *p < 0.001.

sensitive interventions in the academic setting. Interventions to help identify students desire to change, awareness of the problem, and ability to decrease current negative coping skills could be beneficial to the Asian American student population.

In regard to potential limitations of this study, the survey was voluntary and completed on-line by students and may not be representative of the entire population of Asian American medical students currently enrolled. Given the significance of the findings, there may be a greater need in the community then what this particular study captured. The majority of respondents comprised first and second year students which could skew the results. Gaining a balanced sample size across all years of medical school could strengthen the results of this study. The study also assessed student's intention to consider dropping out of medical school which relates to a potential future behavior. An interesting area of further research would be to assess studies current thoughts about studying less, not attending classes and changes in current behaviors which could affect future performance in medical school. Another potential limitation of the current research was the primary focus on the utilization of negative coping skills rather than assessing if students are using positive coping strategies to mitigate mental health symptoms, which would be helpful to understand in order to build wellness models that align with student's preferred method for coping with negative emotions. Lastly, students also completed this survey between 2016 and 2017. With the unfortunate increase in discrimination toward Asian American individuals during the last 2 years of the COVID-19 pandemic, the mental health needs of the population surveyed may appear different now with additional societal pressures and social injustice present. Therefore, a survey to examine the current mental health state of this particular group of medical students could be beneficial. In closing, medical schools could strengthen their approach to retain students who are struggling with their mental health, provide supportive interventions when concerns are identified, and demonstrate an understanding and attention to the unique needs of students who identify as Asian American.

References

Association of American Medical Colleges (2021). Matriculants to U.S. MDgranting medical schools by race, selected combinations of race/ethnicity and sex, 2018–2019 through 2021–2022 [Data File]. Available online at: https://www.aamc. org/media/6031/download?attachment

Burr, J., and Beck Dallaghan, G. L. (2019). The relationship of emotions and burnout to Medical students' academic performance. *Teach. Learn. Med.* 31, 479–486. doi: 10.1080/10401334.2019.1613237

Camp, D. L., Hollingsworth, M. A., Zaccaro, D. J., Cariaga-Lo, L. D., and Richards, B. F. (1994). Does a problem-based learning curriculum affect depression in medical students? *Acad. Med.* 69:S25–S27. doi: 10.1097/00001888-199410000-00031

Cheng, A. W., Chang, J., O'Brien, J., Budgazad, M. S., and Tsai, J. (2017). Model Minority Stereotype: Influence on Perceived Mental Health Needs of Asian Americans. J. Immigr. Minor. Health 19, 572–581. doi: 10.1007/s10903-016-0440-0

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by LSU Health Sciences Center IRB. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

de La Rosa-Rojas, G., Chang-Grozo, S., Delgado-Flores, L., Oliveros-Lijap, L., Murillo-Pérez, D., Ortiz-Lozada, R., et al. (2015). Afrontamiento en estudiantes de Medicina en comparación con estudiantes de otras escuelas [Level of stress and coping strategy in medical students compared with students of other careers]. *Gac. Med. Mex.*, 151, 443–449.

Ding, Y., Yang, Y., Yang, X., Zhang, T., Qiu, X., He, X., et al. (2015). The mediating role of coping style in the relationship between psychological capital and burnout among Chinese nurses. *PLoS One* 10:e0122128. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0122128

Dyrbye, L. N., Thomas, M. R., Eacker, A., Harper, W., Massie, F. S. Jr., Power, D. V., et al. (2007). Race, ethnicity, and medical Student well-being in the United States. *Arch. Intern. Med.* 167, 2103–2109. doi: 10.1001/archinte.167.19. 2103

Dyrbye, L. N., Thomas, M. R., Huschka, M. M., Lawson, K. L., Novotny, P. J., Sloan, J. A., et al. (2006a). A multicenter study of burnout, depression, and quality

of life in minority and nonminority us medical students. *Mayo Clin. Proc.* 81, 1435–1442. doi: 10.4065/81.11.1435

Dyrbye, L. N., Thomas, M. R., and Shanafelt, T. D. (2006b). Systematic review of depression, anxiety, and other indicators of psychological distress Among U.S. and Canadian medical students. *Acad. Med.* 81, 354–373. doi: 10.1097/00001888-200604000-00009

Folkman, S., Lazarus, R. S., Dunkel-Schetter, C., DeLongis, A., and Gruen, R. J. (1986). Dynamics of a stressful encounter: Cognitive appraisal, coping, and encounter outcomes. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 50, 992–1003. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514. 50.5.992

Henning, K., Ey, S., and Shaw, D. (1998). Perfectionism, the impostor phenomenon and psychological adjustment in medical, dental, nursing and pharmacy students. *Med. Educ.* 32, 456–464. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2923.1998.00234. x

Hou, T., Zhang, R., Song, X., Zhang, F., Cai, W., Liu, Y., et al. (2020). Self-efficacy and fatigue among non-frontline health care workers during Covid-19 outbreak: A moderated mediation model of posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms and negative coping. *PLoS One* 15:e0243884. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0243884

Kroenke, K., Spitzer, R. L., and Williams, J. B. (2001). The PHQ-9: Validity of a brief depression severity measure. J. Gen. Intern. Med. 16, 606–613. doi: 10.1046/j.1525-1497.2001.016009606.x

Leong, F., Park, Y. S., and Kalibatseva, Z. (2013). Disentangling immigrant status in mental health: Psychological protective and risk factors among Latino and Asian American immigrants. *Am. J. Orthopsychiatry* 83, 361–371. doi: 10.1111/ ajop.12020

Li, Z., and Zhang, J. (2012). Coping skills, mental disorders, and suicide among Rural youths in China. *J. Nerv. Ment. Dis.* 200, 885–890. doi: 10.1097/nmd. 0b013e31826b6ecc

Litman, J. A. (2006). The cope inventory: Dimensionality and relationships with approach- and avoidance-motives and positive and negative traits. *Pers. Individ. Differ.* 41, 273–284. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2005.11.032

Merrill, J. E., and Thomas, S. E. (2013). Interactions between adaptive coping and drinking to cope in predicting naturalistic drinking and drinking following a lab-based psychosocial stressor. *Addict. Behav.* 38, 1672–1678. doi: 10.1016/j. addbeh.2012.10.003

Mosley, T. H., Perrin, S. G., Neral, S. M., Dubbert, P. M., Grothues, C. A., and Pinto, B. M. (1994). Stress, coping, and well-being among third-year medical students. *Acad. Med.* 69, 765–767. doi: 10.1097/00001888-199409000-00024

Nie, A., Su, X., Zhang, S., Guan, W., and Li, J. (2020). Psychological impact Of COVID-19 outbreak on frontline nurses: A cross-sectional survey study. *J. Clin. Nurs.* 29, 4217–4226. doi: 10.1111/jocn.15454

Paek, M.-S., Ip, E. H., Levine, B., and Avis, N. E. (2016). Longitudinal reciprocal relationships between quality of life and coping strategies among women with breast cancer. *Ann. Behav. Med.* 50, 775–783. doi: 10.1007/s12160-016-9803-y

Penley, J. A., Tomaka, J., and Wiebe, J. S. (2002). The association of coping to physical and psychological health outcomes: A meta-analytic review. *J. Behav. Med.* 25, 551–603. doi: 10.1023/a:1020641400589

Prinz, P., Hertrich, K., Hirschfelder, U., and de Zwaan, M. (2012). Burnout, depression and depersonalisation-psychological factors and coping strategies in

dental and medical students. GMS Z. Med. Ausbild. 29:Doc10. doi: 10.3205/zma000780

Pyskoty, C. E., Richman, J. A., and Flaherty, J. A. (1990). Psychosocial assets and mental health of minority medical students. *Acad. Med.* 65, 581–585. doi: 10.1097/00001888-199009000-00008

Quek, T. T., Tam, W. W., Tran, B. X., Zhang, M., Zhang, Z., Ho, C. S., et al. (2019). The Global Prevalence of Anxiety Among Medical Students: A Meta-Analysis. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 16:2735. doi: 10.3390/ijerph16152735

Shao, R., He, P., Ling, B., Tan, L., Xu, L., Hou, Y., et al. (2020). Prevalence of depression and anxiety and correlations between depression, anxiety, family functioning, social support and coping styles among Chinese medical students. *BMC Psychol.* 8:38. doi: 10.1186/s40359-020-00402-8

Shatkin, J. P., Diamond, U., Zhao, Y., DiMeglio, J., Chodaczek, M., and Bruzzese, J.-M. (2016). Effects of a risk and resilience course on Stress, coping skills, and cognitive strategies in college students. *Teach. Psychol.* 43, 204–210. doi: 10.1177/0098628316649457

Smida, M., Khoodoruth, M. A., Al-Nuaimi, S. K., Al-Salihy, Z., Ghaffar, A., Khoodoruth, W. N. C., et al. (2021). Coping strategies, optimism, and resilience factors associated with mental health outcomes among medical residents exposed to Coronavirus disease 2019 in Qatar. *Brain Behav.* 11:e2320. doi: 10.1002/brb3. 2320

Spitzer, R. L., Kroenke, K., Williams, J. B. W., and Löwe, B. A. (2006). Brief Measure for Assessing Generalized Anxiety Disorder: The GAD-7. Arch. Intern. Med. 166, 1092–1097. doi: 10.1001/archinte.166.10. 1092

Steiner-Hofbauer, V., and Holzinger, A. (2020). How to Cope with the Challenges of Medical Education? Stress, Depression, and Coping in Undergraduate Medical Students. *Acad. Psychiatry* 44, 380–387. doi: 10.1007/s40596-020-01193-1

Stern, M., Norman, S., and Komm, C. (1993). Medical students' Differential use of coping strategies as a function of Stressor Type, year of training, and gender. *Behav. Med.* 18, 173–180. doi: 10.1080/08964289.1993.9939112

Sue, S., Cheng, J. K. Y., Saad, C. S., and Chu, J. P. (2012). Asian American mental health: A call to action. *Am. Psychol.* 67:532. doi: 10.1037/a0028900

Tabachnick, B. G., and Fidell, L. S. (2006). Using Multivariate Statistics, 5th Edn. London: Pearson.

Thompson, G., McBride, R. B., Hosford, C. C., and Halaas, G. (2016). Resilience among medical students: The role of coping style and social support. *Teach. Learn. Med.* 28, 174–182. doi: 10.1080/10401334.2016.1146611

Tjia, J., Givens, J. L., and Shea, J. A. (2005). Factors associated with undertreatment of medical student depression. *J. Am. Coll. Health* 53, 219–224. doi: 10.3200/jach.53.5.219-224

Yang, D., Oral, E., Kim, J., Craft, T., and Moore, M. B. (2021). Depression and perceived social support in Asian American medical students. *J. Racial Ethn. Health Disparities* [Epub ahead of print]. doi: 10.1007/s40615-021-01043-2

Yip, T., Cheah, C. S. L., Kiang, L., and Hall, G. C. N. (2021). Rendered invisible: Are Asian Americans a model or a marginalized minority? *Am. Psychol.* 76, 575–581. doi: 10.1037/amp0000857 Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Drozdstoy Stoyanov Stoyanov, Plovdiv Medical University, Bulgaria

REVIEWED BY Vanya Loukova Matanova, Sofia University, Bulgaria Josh Hope-Bell, University of the West of England, United Kingdom

*CORRESPONDENCE Darren J. Edwards d.j.edwards@swansea.ac.uk

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Psychopathology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

RECEIVED 13 July 2022 ACCEPTED 05 August 2022 PUBLISHED 06 September 2022

CITATION

Edwards DJ (2022) Going beyond the DSM in predicting, diagnosing, and treating autism spectrum disorder with covarying alexithymia and OCD: A structural equation model and process-based predictive coding account. *Front. Psychol.* 13:993381. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.993381

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Edwards. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms. Going beyond the DSM in predicting, diagnosing, and treating autism spectrum disorder with covarying alexithymia and OCD: A structural equation model and process-based predictive coding account

Darren J. Edwards*

Department of Public Health, Swansea University, Swansea, United Kingdom

Background: There is much overlap among the symptomology of autistic spectrum disorders (ASDs), obsessive compulsive disorders (OCDs), and alexithymia, which all typically involve impaired social interactions, repetitive impulsive behaviors, problems with communication, and mental health.

Aim: This study aimed to identify direct and indirect associations among alexithymia, OCD, cardiac interoception, psychological inflexibility, and self-as-context, with the DV ASD and depression, while controlling for vagal related aging.

Methodology: The data involved electrocardiogram (ECG) heart rate variability (HRV) and questionnaire data. In total, 1,089 participant's data of ECG recordings of healthy resting state HRV were recorded and grouped into age categories. In addition to this, another 224 participants completed an online survey that included the following questionnaires: Yale-Brown Obsessive Compulsive Scale (Y-BOCS); Toronto Alexithymia Scale 20 (TAS-20); Acceptance and Action Questionnaire (AAQII); Depression, Anxiety, and Stress Scale 21 (DAS21); Multi-dimensional Assessment of Interoceptive Awareness Scale (MAIA); and the Self-as-Context Scale (SAC).

Results: Heart rate variability was shown to decrease with age when controlling for BMI and gender. In the two SEMs produced, it was found that OCD and alexithymia were causally associated with autism and depression indirectly through psychological inflexibility, SAC, and ISen interoception.

Conclusion: The results are discussed in relation to the limitations of the DSM with its categorical focus of protocols for syndromes and provide support for more flexible ideographic approaches in diagnosing and treating mental health

and autism within the Extended Evolutionary Meta-Model (EEMM). Graph theory approaches are discussed in their capacity to depict the processes of change potentially even at the level of the relational frame.

KEYWORDS

autism (ASD), alexithymia, obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD), structural equation model (SEM), graph theory, psychological flexibility

Introduction

The Diagnostic and Statistical Manuel 5th Edition (DSM-5) (American Psychiatric Association, 2013a) describes autistic spectrum disorders (ASDs) as involving impaired social interactions, repetitive behaviors, and problems with communication. Additional features can include poor eye contact (Esposito and Venuti, 2008), sensory modulatory dysfunction (Baranek et al., 2005), motor dysfunction (Ozonoff et al., 2008), and cognitive developmental problems (Esposito et al., 2009; Edwards et al., 2012).

There have been several potential advantages of the DSM classification suggested for disorders, such as ASD, as it attempts to standardize diagnosis and treatment across different treatment providers, provides a quick guide, and should eliminate guesswork (Möller, 2014). This should, in principle, provide a useful guide for both clinicians and researchers; however, the DSM classification approach also presents many disadvantages. One such disadvantage is that there may be issues with such a rigid classification taxonomy as the DSM adopts a latent disease model that is suggested by the American Psychiatric Association (2013a,b) and assumes a medical illness model. This approach assumes that symptoms should reflect some specific sets of underlying and latent disease entities; however, latent categories are often not distinct. This can be found in the evidence which has found a high degree of comorbidity between these latent categories, indicating that these categorical clusters of symptoms advocated by the DSM are not linked to discrete functions as they were intended to do (Kupfer et al., 2008). Despite many attempts to overcome the problem of comorbidity, the DSM still does not provide clinicians and researchers with any treatmentspecific indications for those cases presenting with psychiatric comorbidity (Dell'Osso and Pini, 2012). These type of problems have led to growing disinterest in the most recent version, the DSM-5 (Hayes et al., 2019).

Such growing disagreement with this rigid classification protocol approach for some times has led to calls for a move toward a process-based approach in the diagnostics and treatment of mental health disorders (Forgeard et al., 2011). This has been most recently formalized in a process-based therapy (PBT) approach, which advocates that diagnostic and therapeutic efforts should focus more on the causal processes

that underlie the efforts to produce change and not through rigid categories advocated by the DSM (Hayes and Hofmann, 2017, 2018; Hofmann and Hayes, 2019; Hofmann et al., 2021). PBT research emphasizes the Extended Evolutionary Meta Model (EEMM), which highlights the processes of change as multi-level and multi-dimensional rather than singularly focused through protocols of syndrome as suggested by the DSM. EEMM specifies six dimensions at the individual level where processes of change can occur; affective (positive and negative affects), cognitive (problem-solving skills, reappraisal, etc.), attentional (mindfulness, noticing in the present moment, awareness of feelings), self (self-esteem, self-efficacy, selfcompassion, and self-as-context), motivation (individual goals and values), and overt behavior (striving and commitment to goals). There are two additional levels in this model, that being the physiological level (such as autonomic functioning, predictive coding, interoception of the insular cortex), and social level (such as group motivations and values).

This problem of comorbidity when attempting to strictly classify disorders can be seen clearly in many clinical cases. For example, there are several autistic symptoms that have similarities and overlap with the symptoms in other clinically diagnosable conditions, such as schizophrenia, such that both conditions involve problems with emotional functioning and information processing (Lewis and Levitt, 2002; Volkmar et al., 2004). Indeed, evidence suggests that ASD and schizophrenia may share some commonalities in phenomenology (Couture et al., 2010), in biological pathway pathophysiology (Pinkham et al., 2008; Guilmatre et al., 2009; Sugranyes et al., 2011), and in treatment (McCracken et al., 2002). However, these two conditions have been clearly delineated for their unique aspects for many years (Kanner, 1965).

Such delineation has been more difficult when comparing conditions such as ASD and alexithymia (Kinnaird et al., 2019). Alexithymia, which is regarded as a personality trait and relates to the difficulties in emotional processing, such as recognizing emotions, has also been reported in ASD (Silani et al., 2008; Guastella et al., 2010). More specifically, it has been suggested that problems with emotional processing observed in ASD stem from co-occurring alexithymia (Bird and Cook, 2013; Cook and Shah, 2013; Brewer et al., 2015). Alexithymia was first recognized in the 1970s and has been described as a condition involving difficulties in recognizing and distinguishing different emotions, a lack of imagination, and thoughts centered on the external world rather than internal world (Sifneos, 1973). Though not always identified in individuals who have a diagnosis of ASD, alexithymia has been found to be more extreme in ASD individuals compared to the general population (Hill et al., 2004; Berthoz and Hill, 2005; Fitzgerald and Bellgrove, 2006). Indeed, there is a growing body of research, which suggests that the problems associated with emotional processing in ASD individuals are driven by alexithymia. Evidence supporting this comes from studies that have shown, for instance, that when controlling for alexithymia and autism, it is the levels of alexithymia and not autism which predict problems with facial, vocal, and music emotional recognition (Heaton et al., 2012; Allen et al., 2013; Cook and Shah, 2013). A meta-analysis (Kinnaird et al., 2019) identified 15 studies where alexithymia was found to be higher in an ASD population when compared to a neurotypical population (49.93 compared to 4.89%). They concluded that alexithymia represents a specific subgroup in ASD, and that further research was needed to understand the nature and implications of co-occurring comorbid alexithymia in ASD. This comorbidity is clearly a problem for the DSM, which favors distinct categories.

Another connection that is difficult to delineate is the connection between ASD (including with alexithymia) and obsessive compulsive disorder (OCD) symptoms. For example, ASD traits (such as ritualistic behavior, attachment to objects, and in some cases low levels of sociability) have been identified in individuals with OCD (Ivarsson and Melin, 2008). There are also substantial similarities and overlap in the pathophysiology between OCD and ASD (Meier et al., 2015), though less is known about the clinical etiological cohesion between these disorders. Furthermore, it has been found that individuals with OCD had significantly higher levels of alexithymia than those who did not (Grabe et al., 2006), which echoes the comorbidity problem that ASD has.

Less work has linked ASD with alexithymia and OCD concretely. Some of the work in ASD have speculated; for instance, that deficits in localized areas of basal ganglia and cerebellum abnormalities (Nayate et al., 2005; Rinehart et al., 2006; Qiu et al., 2010) are responsible for gait function, movement problems, and also social and communication issues, which may also be applicable to explain alexithymia and OCD symptoms in some cases, but not all. However, one particularly interesting and promising psychophysiological pathway that may prove to be a crucial link to explain the comorbidity among alexithymia, ASD, and OCD is the interoceptive pathway.

Interoception is the representation of the internal system at any given moment. It is formed in the brain (primarily the insular cortex) by interpreting signals received from the bodily organs *via* general visceral afferent neurons (found in cranial nerves VII, IX, and X) of the autonomic nervous system (ANS) (Cameron, 2001; Craig, 2002). The interoceptive pathway consists of unmyelinated C and myelinated Aδ afferent

fibers which transmit a signal from the laminae I vertebra of the spine to the posterior gray column of the spinal column and then to the hypothalamus, anterior insular, and cingulate cortices (Pollatos et al., 2007; Craig, 2008). These brain areas receive information signals from viscera, thermoregulatory, nociceptive, and endocrine systems (Pollatos et al., 2007). Once the brain has received these signals, it then integrates this information in terms of their varying motivational immediacy, such as determining whether to respond to sensations, such as prickly burning pain, warmth-coldness, hunger, need to urinate, and sensual touch (Strigo and Craig, 2016). The signals are then further processed for motivational and emotional relevant behaviors, through organizing it within primary emotional and motivational brain regions of the limbic system, the anterior insular, and cingulate cortices of the homeostatic sensorimotor cortex (Murphy et al., 2003; Craig, 2014). It has been suggested that at this stage, a meta-representation of "self" emerges allows for very specific regulatory responses to the signals to emerge.

Interoception is typically measured through an index of interoceptive accuracy (IAc) or interoceptive sensitivity (IS) (these measures are the same), which are recorded through the heartbeat perception task (Schandry, 1981; Pollatos et al., 2009; Mallorquí-Bagué et al., 2014), which asks participants to count their perceived heartbeats, and then, the following formula is applied:

$$1 - \frac{\mid n \ beats_{actual} - n \ beats_{perceived} \mid}{(n \ beats_{actual} + n \ beats_{perceived})/2} \tag{1}$$

Another approach is to use the multi-dimensional interoceptive awareness questionnaire (MAIA-2) (Mehling et al., 2018), which assesses a more conscious self-report measure (than the heartbeat perception task) of interoception. There is a distinction between the ability to detect interoceptive information (such as heartbeat detection) in the form of IAc and an individual's conscious beliefs about their interoceptive abilities, called interoceptive sensibility (ISen). The MAIA-2 assessment is a self-report questionnaire measure of ISen (Mehling et al., 2018; Smith et al., 2021), whereas another measure of ISen is a simple confidence measure of how accurate the participants felt they were at the heart beat counting task (Mehling, 2016).

Altered interoception is associated with an increase in psychopathological disorders, such as an increase in chronic pain, anxiety, depression, and eating disorders (Paulus and Stein, 2010; Klabunde et al., 2013; Di Lernia et al., 2016; Duschek et al., 2017), but is not predicative of a specific emotional regulation strategy (Pinna and Edwards, 2020). Typically, lower IAc/IS scores lead to greater pathology, and it is suggested that inefficient or an impaired relay of interoceptive information, transmitting a greater number of interoceptive errors than usual from peripheral structures to higher cortical centers, leads to dysfunctional "body mapping"(Craig, 2008; Harshaw, 2015).

Increased IAw has been shown to have both positive and negative outcomes. For example, increased focus on physical sensations IAw has been associated with anxiety, hypochondriasis, somatization, and hypervigilance (Paulus and Stein, 2006). It has been suggested that what determines whether increased IAw/ISen leads to maladaptive or healthy outcomes depends on the interoceptive style (Mehling et al., 2018). Mehling et al. suggest that the maladaptive form of IAw/ISen that is associated with the maladaptive outcomes (e.g., of hypervigilance) is anxiety-driven interoception. They suggest that with the emerging field of mindful bodily awareness, maybe a more adaptive form of IAw/ISen can be promoted, rather than that driven by anxiety, which are more likely to lead to more positive mental health outcomes. Some evidence confirm this suggestion, as mindful IAw in the form of a body scan technique (Ussher et al., 2014) has been shown to reduce painrelated distress and the degree to which pain interferes with social relations. Mindful IAw has also shown to reduce stress states in post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) and associated depressive symptoms (Colgan et al., 2016).

In autism specifically, interoception appears to be atypical, but the degree and directionality is unclear due to the heterogeneous nature of the condition (DuBois et al., 2016). There have been some controversies as to whether abnormalities in the interoceptive system actually cause autism, with some researchers saying that it does (Quattrocki and Friston, 2014) and others suggesting that it does not (Nicholson et al., 2018). It is perhaps important to note that interoception is not just central to the processing of bodily signals for the requirement of homeostasis and allostasis but also the perception of these bodily signals (Cameron, 2001; Craig, 2002; Critchley et al., 2004). As such, interoception is also central in a range of cognitive and emotional processing which includes memory, decision-making, emotional processing, social interactions, body ownership, a sense of self, and even consciousness (Critchley et al., 2001; Dunn et al., 2010; Shah et al., 2017; Critchley and Garfinkel, 2018; Tsakiris and De Preester, 2018). With such a central system, it is likely that interoception plays a key role in autism and other related conditions.

One of these related conditions is alexithymia, and it has indeed been suggested that alexithymia is the result of impaired interceptive pathway (Herbert et al., 2011; Brewer et al., 2016). For instance, some suggestions are that the interoceptive pathway is thought to relate to developmental dysfunction of the connectivity among the limbic structures, the anterior insular (AntIn), and the anterior cingulate context (ACC) (Lane et al., 1997; Craig, 2002; Singer et al., 2009). This could also mean that alexithymia is the result of dysfunction with the homeostasis mapping of regulatory responses and the generation of a meta representation of "self" that is thought to be an important as part of the interoceptive pathway (Damasio and Carvalho, 2013).

Interoception in the form of IAc has been found to be attenuated in individuals with OCD (Schultchen et al., 2019; Demartini et al., 2021) and did not change over time with standardized cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT). There have been mixed results in relation to whether individuals with OCD have increased or lowered IAc, whereby one study has reported that IAc was higher in OCD than healthy controls (Yoris et al., 2017) and another has indicated that it was lower (Schultchen et al., 2019). In addition to this, an functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) study has shown that sensory phenomena (SP) that are aversive uncomfortable sensations that accompany repetitive behaviors in OCD result in the hyperactivation of the insular (a primary area of interoceptive processing) (Brown et al., 2019). These mixed results may provide further evidence that the type of interoception (e.g., mindfully or anxiety-based) is more important than whether there is a direct increase or decrease in overall interoception. One study specifically focusing on ISen showed that the MAIA subscales were differentially associated with the different OCD symptom dimensions.

Central to interoception is the vagus nerve, which is the main cranial nerve in the human body known to primarily relay visceral (interoceptive) signals to the brain (Critchley and Harrison, 2013; Yoris et al., 2018; Quadt et al., 2019). The vagus nerve is the 10th cranial nerve (labeled CN X) and has a central role in transmitting interoceptive information to the brain, as well as being main anatomical component of the parasympathetic nervous system (PNS) (Walker, 1990). It has been largely acknowledged for its afferent neuron functions that make up 80% of the nerves which relay sensory information from viscero-somatic structures (Porges, 2007; Bonaz et al., 2017). It is assumed that the vagus nerve not only includes visceral homeostatic function, but also is involved in social, cognitive, and affective components (Membrilla et al., 2020). A recent systematic review of the literature showed that both indices of interoception along with more direct vagal activity were shown to be central to emotional regulation (Pinna and Edwards, 2020). For example, the study found that individuals with higher parasympathetic activity and interoception were associated with higher levels of emotional regulation. This, therefore, shows the important role of vagal function and interoception in emotional regulation and mental health.

Vagal tone can be measured in a variety of different ways, all of which involve an electrocardiograph (ECG). A commonly used measure is heart rate variability (HRV), which measures the variability between each consecutive heartbeat, and is described more formally as measuring sequential R-R peaks in the QRS complex of an ECG measure Task Force of the European Society of Cardiology the North American Society of Pacing Electrophysiology (1996). HRV has been found to be a reliable indicator of psychosomatic functions that include emotional and

70

10.3389/fpsyg.2022.993381

behavioral regulations (Laborde et al., 2018; Pinna and Edwards, 2020). The heart receives dual innervation from the ANS in the form of the sympathetic nervous system (SNS) and PNS. One of the common measures of this HRV construct is the frequency domain index, whereby the high frequency (HF) has been shown to provide a reliable index of vagal function (Thayer, 2009). In addition to the HF index, HRV can be measured using a time domain index called the root mean square successive difference (RMSSDD), as well as the respiratory sinus arrhythmia (RSA) index, which provides a value of HRV in synchrony with the respiratory cycle. A high HRV measure indicates increased parasympathetic activity whereas lower HRV indicates lower parasympathetic and greater sympathetic activity.

One important observation is that HRV has been found to positively correlate with ISen in healthy individuals (Owens et al., 2018). Interestingly, alexithymia has been found to negatively correlate with ISen but not IAc (Zamariola et al., 2018). This link has been supported by another study, which showed that alexithymia was significantly negatively correlated with the dimensions of ISen as recorded by MAIA-2 (noticing, not-distracting, attention regulation, emotional awareness, selfregulation, body listening, and trusting body) (Edwards and Lowe, 2021). Lower HF-HRV has also been found to be associated with higher alexithymia (Lischke et al., 2018), which is consistent with the ISen data, and indicates that these two indices are closely related (both abstracted from the vagal nerve).

In relation to autism, a recent meta-analysis showed that HRV in autism is lower at rest than healthy controls (Cheng et al., 2020); however, ISen (when using the Porges Body Perception Questionnaire) was found to be higher in those with higher autism. For OCD, the results are more mixed. One study has found that OCD showed no difference in HRV when comparing with healthy controls (Slaap et al., 2004); however, another study showed a decrease in HRV for patients with OCD compared to healthy controls (Pittig et al., 2013).

Some researchers have suggested that interoception is a complex and multi-faceted construct which requires continual refinement in conceptualization and operationalizing to fully understand how it can be used to explore psychopathology (Trevisan et al., 2021). Instead of simply concluding that higher or lower interoception is better or worse for mental health, rather a better distinction may be whether the interoceptive bodily awareness is adaptive or maladaptive (Mehling et al., 2018; Trevisan et al., 2021). To conceptually link interoception and vagal functioning (e.g., HRV) in a broader model which is inclusive of ASD, alexithymia, and OCD, existing models can be considered.

Several models exist that explain the biological and brain functions and pathways, such as neurovisceral integration model (NIM) (Thayer and Lane, 2009) and polyvagal theory (Porges, 2018, 2022). However, one very interesting model of cardiac interoception is called the predictive coding model (or active inference), which suggests that the brain makes sense of multiple interacting streams of physiological interoceptive information by predicting their causes and generating prediction errors (Seth, 2013; Barrett and Simmons, 2015; Barrett et al., 2016; Seth and Friston, 2016; Stephan et al., 2016; Owens et al., 2018). This idea of psychopathology as a result of interoceptive error has been further developed by predictive coding frameworks. For example, it has been used to explain major depressive disorder (MDD) (Kube et al., 2020), anxious hypervigilance (Cornwell et al., 2017), but also autism (van Laarhoven et al., 2019) and altered conscious states, such as explaining a placebo induced analgesia (Büchel et al., 2014).

In the case of MDD (Kube et al., 2020), predictive coding assumes that an individual does not perceive the world as it actually is but through a lens which corresponds to the brains best guess of it (Ongaro and Kaptchuk, 2019). The brain handles uncertainty (entropy) of new events and environments by integrating information and making rational use of it, through applying prior knowledge in the interpretation of new observations (O'Reilly et al., 2012). In this case, their perception of the world corresponds to a negative perception which is consistent with their predictive (predictive coding) beliefs relating to their prior knowledge about the world (Rief and Joormann, 2019). This can include reinforced and derived failures that they have experienced in the world, and corresponding derived feelings of failure that they have made about themselves (their own concept of themselves). So, this skewed pattern of predictions may explain why people with MDD perceive the world in a predominantly negative way, thus creating a self-reinforcing negative feedback loop (Kube et al., 2020).

Specifically, in relation to ASD, Pellicano and Burr's (2012) general Bayesian account suggests that attenuated Bayesian priors (called hypo-priors) may be responsible for the unique perceptual experience of individuals with ASD. It is assumed that as perceptual experience is shaped by the integration of stimulus information both incoming interoceptive and other sensory information and prior background information about the world, the ASD individuals' perception is modulated to perceive the world more biased through sensory information (i.e., in a more real way) and largely ignores prior information. This modulation of perception through sensory experience favors local (real world) perception over global (knowledge-based) perception. This view is consistent with the theories of over selectivity, which assume that autism results from an overly strong perceptual focus on certain local features and which ignore contextual and other global characteristics (Edwards et al., 2012).

In predictive coding higher brain areas, attempt to predict and explain lower brain areas and project these predictions down to lower levels where the predicted information is subtracted (discounted) from the input (environmental or bodily) sensory information. This feedback of predictions to lower brain levels represents the empirically driven prior contextual background knowledge (Feldman and Friston, 2010).
Conditions such as alexithymia could be related to high predictive errors, which could affect the shaping of a sense of embodied self (Seth and Friston, 2016), which may explain why individuals with alexithymia struggle to feel embodied emotions relating to themselves.

In relation to OCD, one review (Levy, 2018) suggested that in OCD, predictive coding errors were more weighted in a way (in the brain) that meant they were more costly for them than for healthy individuals. It is assumed that this added cost results in an upregulation of attention, which in turn leads to an overestimation of possible threats in the environment. Such an increase in perceived threat has been directly observed (Hezel and McNally, 2016).

Concepts such as selfhood are also important in therapeutic models, such as acceptance and commitment therapy (ACT) (Hayes et al., 2011; Hayes, 2019), a third wave behavioral therapy, which attempts to build psychological flexibility through six key processes: (1) present moment awareness; (2) openness and acceptance of painful feelings, thoughts, and memories; (3) cognitive defusion, the act of recognizing that thoughts are just thoughts and not to buy into them; (4) values orientation through identifying what is meaningful in your life; (5) commitment to values; (6) self-as-context (SAC), which is the awareness of thoughts and feelings but being an observer to these experience, i.e., the complete detachment of "self" from the literal meaning of thoughts.

Perhaps, the most relevant of these in relation to interception and selfhood is SAC (Zettle et al., 2018). In the ACT model, SAC relates to a "self" that once psychologically flexible is assumed not be a fixed state and instead a flexible and context dependent, as an observer to experience (i.e., the perspective-taking self) (McHugh and Stewart, 2012; McHugh et al., 2019). Some recent works have been conducted in the area of alexithymia, for instance through exploring the link between alexithymia and ISen, and within the context of mental health, psychological flexibility, and level of SAC (Edwards and Lowe, 2021). This found that SAC mediated the association between some of the ISen subconstructs and mental health, so clearly it is linked. This also means that it is potentially linked to the predictive coding account, whereby lower SAC, and perspective-taking skills likely means greater predictive errors.

Given the following problems: (1) the lack of clarity from the DSM which assumes latent syndromes should form discrete categories and cannot explain why there is comorbidity between alexithymia, OCD, and autism; and (2) given that there seems to be a set of complex interactions between alexithymia, OCD, and autism in combination with SAC, psychological flexibility, and mental health, this study will seek to explore these in more detail. This study will therefore explore the complex causal sequences among ISen (interoception), mental health, psychological inflexibility, SAC, and how these relate to the conditions of OCD, alexithymia, and ASD. This will be done through constructing a conceptual model which will explore direct and indirect sequential causality through a structural equation modeling (SEM). Previous studies have largely explored associations with the use of standard regression modeling and related statistical approaches (such as analysis of variance, ANOVA). However, regression analysis is not well-suited for describing causal sequences where there are potentially complex interactions between the variables. Many variables can be added in a multiple regression model, which can make it more comprehensive, but it still does not show causal sequences. Path models such as SEM allow the chains of conditional relations to be explore; therefore, it is ideal for representing causal models and it allows for both confirmatory and exploratory modeling.

However, before a conceptual model is constructed, it needs to be developed in stages. Questions that must be asked are (1) what potential confounds should be controlled for? (2) What should the structure of the conceptual model look like? (3) Which of the variables should mediate, if any? To answer these, standard statistical approaches (ANCOVA, regression, and simple mediation will be used) given that the literature provides less clues as to what the overall structure of such a conceptual model which captures such complex causal sequences should look like. For this approach, there will be four main stages in informing the development of a conceptual model and SEM of direct and indirect causality between these variables, and these include the following:

(1) Exploring potential confounds to a conceptual model through exploring how age effects vagal functioning when controlling for body mass index (BMI), gender, and comparing HRV at different age groups. Though there is evidence that age does affect vagal functioning is affected by age (Zhang, 2007), this phase will explore this while controlling for gender and BMI. This will lay the foundation for demonstrating how vagal function (which ISen interoception is based on) may deteriorate as a result of natural aging (it is hypothesized that participants in the older groups will have lower HRV than the younger groups). This will, therefore, provide useful knowledge about whether this should be controlled for in the SEM.

(2) Backwards stepwise regression models will explore which variables are most predictive of alexithymia, OCD, and autism to inform stage 3. It is hypothesized that all subconstructs and total values of ISen, alexithymia, OCD, alexithymia, and age would predict autism; all subconstructs and total values of mental health, ISen, alexithymia, autism, psychological flexibility, and age would predict OCD; and all subconstructs and total of values mental health, ISen, autism, and OCD would predict alexithymia. SAC is not hypothesized to directly predict these outcomes as will more likely act as an indirect effect.

(3) Five independent simple mediation analyses will be conducted, whereby some of the outcomes in the final regression models (of stage two) will inform the mediation analyses to be made. The mediation analyses will provide the conceptual

TABLE 1	Index of	measurement	score	meaning.
---------	----------	-------------	-------	----------

Outcome measure/ variable	Meaning
AQ-10	Higher score indicates higher autism. Scoring sheet suggest referring yourself for a specialist diagnostic if the individual scores are >6 out of 10.
TAS-20	Higher score indicates higher alexithymia for the total. $\geq 61 =$ high alexithymia; $\leq 51 =$ low alexithymia (no alexithymia)
Y-BOCS-10	Higher score indicates higher OCD. Total score; 8–15 = Mild OCD; 16–23 = Moderate OCD; 24–31= Severe OCD; 32–40 = Extreme OCD
DAS-21	Higher scores indicates higher depression, anxiety, stress for the (three) relevant respective subsections.
AAQ-2	Higher score indicates higher inflexibility
SAC	Higher score indicates greater self-as-context
MAIA-2	Higher score indicates higher interoceptive awareness for the (eight) relevant respective subsections.

model with the details of what structure the conceptual model and SEM should take through both direct and indirect effects. It is hypothesized that ISen self-regulation will mediate the association between OCD and autism, as well as alexithymia and depression. SAC will mediate the association between autism and alexithymia. Psychological inflexibility will mediate the association between ISen self-regulation and SAC, as well as SAC and ISen trusting.

(4) Finally, exploratory factor analysis and confirmatory factor analysis will demonstrate which item variables are the best fit for each loading of a latent variable in the SEM. This will be followed by the direct model fit test of the SEM to confirm the conceptual model. Tentative hypotheses for the SEM include the following: there will be a positive association between alexithymia and psychological inflexibility, a negative association between psychological inflexibility and SAC as well as ISen self-regulation, but a positive association with depression. There will be a negative association between ISen self-regulation and autism. There will be no direct effects between alexithymia and autism or depression, or OCD autism or depression, but there will be indirect effects of these *via* psychological inflexibility and SAC.

Methods

Participants

For the questionnaire, the inclusion criteria for participation were listed as follows: (1) participants needed to be at least 18 years of age; (2) have good ability to read English; (3) have normal to corrected to normal vision; (4) have internet access; and (5) and needed to report that they had received a diagnosis of autism from a healthcare professional. Participants were excluded if they did not meet these inclusion criteria requirements. For the ECG data, participants must have been 18 years, otherwise healthy with no specific diagnosis (refer to PhysioNet database for full details¹.

In the first part of the study, 1,121 healthy participants were involved in ECG recordings, which measured healthy resting-state HRV and BMI. However, once missing data were removed (such as age), then 1,089 remained. In total, 242 participants took part in following survey and 18 withdrew without completing it, leaving 224 complete surveys recorded.

Materials

The ECG data² (Schumann and Bär, 2022) held on a publicly accessible database (PhysioNet) (Goldberger et al., 2000) were used for the baseline restful age-related cardiac change in HRV. Recordings were made through an ECG (lead II) at 1,000 Hz either by an MP150 (ECG100C, BIOPAC system inc., Golata, CA, USA) or Task Force Monitor system (CNSystems Medizintechnik GmbH, Graz AUT). These used pre-gelled Ag/AgCl electrodes (BlueSensor VL, Ambu BmbH, Bad Nauheim, GER) were attached according to an Einthoven triangle.

The survey section of data collection was conducted through Qualtrics³, which was distributed on various autism support groups on Facebook. Table 1 shows a scoring index for the questionnaires used (i.e., what a high or low score indicates). The survey included demographic questions about age, gender, and the following seven questionnaires:

Autism spectrum quotient (AQ-10)

This is a 10 item scale and is a brief "red flag" assessment tool to help health professionals make a decision as to whether to make a referral for a full diagnostic assessment (Allison et al., 2012). The National Institute for Health Care Excellence (NICE, 2014) does not recommend any specific screening tool for adults and children with suspected moderate to severe autism; however, the AQ-10 is recommended in cases where there is not moderate to serve intellectual disabilities. This scale has four options to choose from "definitely agree" to "definitely disagree." As a threshold of score of 6 for adults, sensitivity was 0.88, specificity was 0.91, and positive predictive value (PPV) was

¹ Full details can be found at: https://physionet.org/content/ autonomic-aging-cardiovascular/1.0.0/.

² Full details can be found at: https://physionet.org/content/ autonomic-aging-cardiovascular/1.0.0/.

³ See here for Qualtrics: www.qualtrics.com.

0.85. Cronbach's alpha is also high on all measures (age groups) (>0.85) (Allison et al., 2012).

Yale-Brown obsessive compulsive scale (Y-BOCS)

This is a 10 item scale of OCD severity (Goodman et al., 1989) and is considered the gold standard for this measure and symptom severity (Storch et al., 2010). Participants can choose between five options, from 0 to 4 with varying answers, and include question such as "how much of your time is occupied by obsessive thoughts?" and "how much distress do your obsessive thoughts cause you?" It has five overall dimensions which questions are focused on: (1) time spent; (2) interference with functioning or relationships; (3) degree of distress; (4) resistance; and (5) control. Internal consistency of this measure is high, with a Cronbach's alpha of 0.89 and an interclass correlation >0.85 (Goodman et al., 1989).

Toronto alexithymia scale (TAS-20)

This is a 20 item scale of alexithymia, which specifically measures three constructs in addition to a total alexithymia score: (1) difficulty identifying feelings (DIF); (2) difficulty describing feelings (DDF); and (3) externally orientated thinking (EOT) (Bagby et al., 1994). Participants respond based on a five-point Likert scale, ranging from 1 = strongly disagree to 5 = strongly agree. The three subscales can also be combined to give a total alexithymia score, whereby scores of >61 indicate the presence of alexithymia, 52 to 60 indicate possible alexithymia, \leq 51 indicate the absence of alexithymia. Construct validity of the scale (Pinaquy et al., 2003; Larsen et al., 2006; Pike, 2013) has been found to be high for DIF (Cronbach's alpha = 0.83) and DDF (Cronbach's alpha = 0.80), but not as high for EOT (Cronbach's alpha = 0.55).

Multi-dimensional assessment of interoceptive awareness (second version, MAIA-2)

This is a 32 item scale, with eight constructs (Mehling et al., 2018) of ISen (and not IAc). These constructs include the following: (1) noticing (noticing uncomfortable sensations in your body); (2) non-distracting (not ignoring painful bodily sensations); (3) not worrying (not worrying about bodily discomfort); (4) attention regulation (despite distractions, having the ability to place attention to one's body); (5) emotional awareness (noticing changes in one's body when your emotions change); (6) self-regulation (when one is feeling overwhelmed, being able to find a place of clam); (7) body listening (listening to one's body for emotional states); and (8) trusting (feeling at home in your body). These construct scales are rated from 0 to 5, whereby 0 = never and 5 = always.

Higher scores indicate higher ISen for a particular subscale. Cronbach's alpha for all eight constructs ranged between 0.64 and 0.83. Only "noticing" (0.64) and "not worrying" (0.67) fell below the standard criterion of 0.7, indicating good overall construct validity.

The depression anxiety stress scales-21 (DAS-21, short-form)

This is a short version, which measures general ongoing (over the past week) psychological distress on three mental health subscales (anxiety, depression, and stress). The participant must enter a value between 0 and 3, which answers the degree to which a particular statement applied to them (0 = "did not apply to me at all" and 3 = "applied to me very much or most of the time"). Higher scores indicate higher levels of stress, anxiety, and depression. The measure has good construct validity, with a confirmatory factor analysis of 0.94. The measure also has good internal reliability as measured through Cronbach's alpha coefficients, which are 0.88 for depression, 0.82 for anxiety, 0.90 for stress, and 0.93 for the total scale (Henry and Crawford, 2005).

Acceptance and action questionnaire (second version; AAQ-2)

This is a seven item scale, which measures general psychological inflexibility (Bond et al., 2011). The questions ask the participant how they accept and open up to difficult thoughts and feelings, as well as how they engage in valued behavior when difficult thoughts and feelings are present. The participant must enter a value between 1 and 7, whereby 1 = never true and 7 = always true. Higher scores indicate higher psychological inflexibility. The measure has good construct validity with a Cronbach's alpha of 0.83 (Frewen et al., 2008).

Self-as-context (SAC) scale

This is an 11 item self-report scale, where participants must respond on a seven point Likert scale with responses ranging from 1= strongly agree to 7 = strongly disagree, where higher scores indicate higher self-as-context (Gird, 2013). The item statements include, for example, "I have a perspective on life that allows me to deal with life's disappointments without getting overwhelmed by them." and "Even though there have been many changes in my life, I'm aware of a part of me that has witnessed it all." The scale has good construct validity with a Cronbach's alpha of 0.82.

Procedure

For the ECG data, refer to their website⁴ for full details, but the key points are summarized here. Participants were instructed to lie down on an examination tilt table in a temperaturecontrolled room of 22° C. During the recordings, it was quiet and fully shaded. For resting-state recordings, participants were instructed to avoid movement and the instructor waited a few minutes for the participants to relax while checking the quality of the signals (electrodes were repositioned if the signal was noisy). The length of the recordings averaged 19 min and was supervised at all times by the instructor.

For the questionnaire, an advertisement was placed on autism support groups on Facebook, which explained the study in some details and provided an email that interested individuals could respond to. Once participants responded to the advertisement, they were then given a Qualtrics link that contained full information about the study, ethical implications, and a consent form. On consent, participants were then provided with seven questionnaires (refer to Materials section) in addition to demographic questions *via* Qualtrics.

Ethical statement

Ethics were approved through Swansea University's Department of Psychology Research Ethics Council (REC). This was in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and included obtaining written informed consent from all participants, right to withdraw, and a full debriefing at the end of the study.

Data analysis

For the first phase of the study, ECG data⁵ (Schumann and Bär, 2022) held on a publicly accessible database (PhysioNet) were analyzed using the Matlab PhysioNet tool, cardiovascular analysis toolbox to produce the HRV analysis, which included artifact removal of the data. IBM's SPSS, version 28.0. was used to conduct a general linear model, analysis of covariance (ANCOVA). Here, the data age groups were collapsed into three groups as follows: group one included ages 18 to 29, group two included ages 30 to 44, and group three included ages 45 and over. Gender and BMI were included as covariates in this model.

For the second phase of the study questionnaires, there were no missing data as the participants were required to complete all questions. For this, a rule was set in Qualtrics, which prevented participants from progression through the questionnaire without first completing the questions on each page (i.e., a reminder appeared if they missed a question), as in previous studies (Edwards, 2019; Edwards and Lowe, 2021).

Descriptive and inferential statistics (regression and correlations) were carried out using IBM's SPSS, version 28.0. As the associations among alexithymia, autism, and OCD are largely uncertain, assumptions about a predefined hierarchy as required for hierarchical regression models could not be achieved. So, instead, stepwise backwards regressions were chosen over a hierarchical regression as the hypothesis assumptions are much more tentative. This included 19 predictors: age, the two sub measures Y-BOCS (OCD), the three sub measures TAS-20 (alexithymia), the three sub measures of DAS-21 (mental health); AAQII (psychological inflexibility), SAC, the eight sub measures of MAIA-2 (IAw), and the dependent measure of autism (AQ10).

For the stepwise backwards regressions, the selection criteria determine which of the variables are retained at each step. This selection criteria only retains variables in each step if they improve the overall goodness of model fit as indexed by R^2 , and minimize the complexity of the model as indexed by the Akaike information criterion (AIC) which is based on information theory) (Akaike, 1974).

A power calculation utilizing G^*Power^6 version 3.1.9.7 (Faul et al., 2007) was conducted that determined whether there was sufficient power to input the 19 predictors into the stepwise backwards regression. For 19 predictors, with power set to 0.8, and a medium effect size specified by Cohen's criteria of 0.15 f^2 (Cohen, 1988) an a priori assumption of 153 participants was calculated. A larger sample size of 224 participants (who completed the survey), was obtained, whereby a *post hoc* analysis, assuming a medium effect size, calculated power of 0.96. Given this power, there is only 3% chance of making a type two error (failing to reject the null hypothesis when it should have been) (Cohen, 1988).

In addition to the regression analyses, as part of phase three of the study, further mediation analyses were conducted using the SPSS PROCESS macro (model 7) by Andrew Hayes (Hayes, 2013). Mediation (or indirect effects) is the effect of independent variable X_1 on dependent variable Y goes through a mediator X_2 . This is commonly defined as the reduction of the regression coefficient of X_1 on Y, when X_2 is controlled for (Judd and Kenny, 1981; Baron and Kenny, 1986). Baron and Kenny (Baron and Kenny, 1986) proposed a four step approach for simple mediation, whereby all of these steps need to be significant. The first step is to conduct a simple regression with X predicting Y to test the coefficient of path c, expressed as, $Y = B_{0+} B_1 X + e$. The second step is to conduct a simple regression with X predicting M (the mediator), called path a, and expressed as $M = B_{0+} B_1 X$ + e. The third step is to conduct a regression with M predicting

⁴ See here for full procedural details: https://physionet.org/content/ autonomic-aging-cardiovascular/1.0.0/.

⁵ See here for full details: https://physionet.org/content/autonomic-aging-cardiovascular/1.0.0/.

⁶ See here for G*Power software: https://stats.idre.ucla.edu/other/ gpower/.

TABLE 2	Descriptive	statistics.
---------	-------------	-------------

Variable	Mean (SD)				
Age group 1 (18 to 29)	50.84 (25.05)				
Age group 2 (30 to 44)	39.72 (28.65)				
Age group 3 (45 +)	30.99 (33.57)				

Y, called the *b* path and expressed as $Y = B_{0+} B_1 M + e$. The final step is to conduct a regression whereby *X* and *M* predict *Y* (*X* controlled for, or mediated by *M*) and expressed as $Y = B_{0+} B_1 X + B_2 M + e$. Once mediated, if *X* no longer predicts *Y*, this is a full mediation (i.e., path *c*'), and if not, then this is instead considered a partial mediation (as long as the difference is significant between *c* and *c*', i.e., confidence intervals do not cross zero).

The regression outcomes, along with the literature, helped to inform the development of a conceptual model, which could be tested through an SEM. Regression analysis is not well-suited for describing causal sequences. Path models such as SEM allow the chains of conditional relations to be explored, and this includes mediation hypotheses, so helps with evaluating causal hypotheses. For the SEM of part of the study, IBM's AMOS version 28.0. was used.

Results

Baseline aging effects of the vagus nerve HRV functioning in healthy controls

Aging of the vagal nerve that modulates the sympathetic and parasympathetic functioning of the ANS was explored. Table 2 shows the descriptive statistics, whereby HRV is higher for the youngest age group (M = 50.84, SD = 25.05), followed by the second youngest age group (M = 39.72, SD = 28.65), and lowest for the oldest age group (M = 30.99, SD = 33.57). One-way analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) was utilized to explore the HRV differences across the four age groups (the data were compressed into four groups) whereas gender and BMI were included as control covariates. A Shapiro-Wilk test revealed the data to be non-normal; however, when sample size is >40, the violation to this assumption does not cause a problem (Pallant, 2020). Furthermore, in cases where there are hundreds of participants (as is the case with this sample), the distributions of data can be ignored (Altman and Bland, 1995) and the parametric test can be used (Elliott and Woodward, 2007). HRV differed according to BMI [$F_{(1,1087)} = 5.56, p <$ 0.05, $\eta_p^2 = 0.005$] and age $[F_{(2,1087)} = 11.89, p < 0.001, \eta_p^2 =$ 0.021], but not gender $[F_{(1,1087)} = 1.23, p = 0.27, \eta_p^2 = 0.001].$ Most importantly, age when controlling for gender and BMI was still highly significant $[F_{(2,1090)} = 26.41, p < 0.001, \eta_p^2 =$

TABLE 3 Descriptive statistics and normality scores of the variables.

Variable	Mean (SD)	Minimum- maximum		Kurtosis
Age	31.61 (10.16)	18-73	1.14	1.34
ASQ-10	6.87 (2.37)	1-10	-0.58	-0.56
Y-BOCS	16.71 (6.91)	0-38	0.16	0.17
Y-BOCS Obsession	8.85 (3.61)	0-19	0.42	0.17
Y-BOCS Compulsion	7.85 (3.90)	0-19	0.43	-0.04
AAQ-2	33.56 (8.43)	7-49	-0.41	0.30
SAC	46.71 (12.06)	17-77	-0.20	-0.14
DAS-21 Stress	27.06 (10.87)	0-48	-0.28	-0.40
DAS-21 Anxiety	19.64 (10.09)	0-42	0.06	-0.70
DAS-21 Depression	23.43 (11.15)	0-42	-0.15	-0.92
TAS-20 Total	63.34 (11.04)	30-89	-0.34	-0.13
TAS-20 DIF	23.96 (5.98)	7-35	-0.51	-0.39
TAS-20 DDF	18.15 (4.17)	5-25	-0.78	0.37
TAS-20 EOT	21.23 (4.27)	11-33	-0.07	-0.19
MAIA-2 Not-noticing	2.89 (1.07)	0-5	-0.02	-0.39
MAIA-2 Not-distracting	2.12 (1.01)	0-4	0.02	-0.07
MAIA-2 Not worrying	2.04 (0.99)	0-5	-0.03	-0.43
MAIA-2 Attention	1.97 (0.97)	0-5	0.40	0.04
regulation				
MAIA-2 Emotional	2.79 (1.09)	0-5	0.01	-0.31
awareness				
MAIA-2 Self-regulation	1.83 (1.14)	0-5	0.46	-0.29
MAIA-2 Body listening	1.80 (1.18)	0-5	0.47	-0.19
MAIA-2 Trusting	2.10 (1.39)	0-5	0.39	-0.65

0.046]. *Post hoc* Bonferroni adjusted tests indicated that HRV differences between all age groups were significant (p < 0.001).

Questionnaire data of clinical sample

Table 3 shows the descriptive statistics, where mean ASQ-10 score was 6.87 (SD = 2.37) and this was within the range for suspected autism whereby the questionnaire criteria suggest that a referral to a specialist should be made. Y-BOCS-10 mean score for OCD was 16.71 (SD = 6.91) and this was within the range for moderate OCD. TAS-20 mean score was 63.34 (SD = 11.04), and this was in the range for high alexithymia. The skewness and kurtosis were all within a value of plus or minus two, indicating a normal distribution for each variable (George and Mallery, 1999). On inspection of the heteroskedasticity visual plot of the residuals, these were observed to be homoscedastic. Before regression analysis was conducted, preliminary analyses were conducted to ensure that there were no violations to the assumptions of multi-collinearity, normality, linearity, and homoscedasticity. The correlations showed that the predictors

TABLE 4 Correlations between variables.

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21
2	0.27**																				
3	0.08	0.24**																			
4	0.10	0.21**	0.92**																		
5	0.05	0.24**	0.93**	0.69**																	
6	-0.04	0.26**	0.47**	0.52**	0.36**																
7	0.07	-0.26**	-0.25**	-0.29**	-0.17^{**}	51**															
8	0.04	0.29**	0.50**	-0.48^{**}	-0.45^{**}	0.61**	-0.34^{**}														
9	-0.15^{*}	0.13	0.56**	0.53**	0.51**	0.51**	-0.28^{**}	0.70**													
10	-0.07	0.23**	0.41**	0.42**	0.34**	0.68**	-0.46^{**}	0.72**	0.54**												
11	0.09	0.40**	0.29**	0.29**	0.25**	0.41**	-0.38**	0.44**	0.34**	0.36**											
12	0.06	0.39**	0.37**	0.39**	0.29**	0.50**	-0.37^{**}	0.54**	0.46**	0.43**	0.86**										
13	0.08	0.35**	0.19**	0.18**	0.17*	0.29**	-0.14^{*}	0.33**	0.24**	0.19**	0.81**	0.62**									
14	0.09	0.16*	0.05	0.01	0.08	0.07	-0.33**	0.07	0.01	0.13	0.59**	0.20**	0.26**								
15	-0.23**	-0.24^{**}	0.19**	0.15*	0.19**	0.02	0.17*	0.09	0.29**	0.06	-0.13^{*}	-0.06	-0.09	-0.16^{*}							
16	0.46	-0.01	-0.04	-0.87	0.01	-0.14^{*}	-0.01	-0.13	-0.17^{*}	-0.17^{*}	-0.26**	-0.22**	-0.24^{**}	-0.12	0.02						
17	0.11	-0.07	-0.24^{**}	-0.23**	-0.21^{**}	-0.27^{**}	-0.21^{**}	-0.38**	-0.33**	-0.25^{**}	-0.21^{**}	-0.31**	-0.17^{*}	0.06	-0.13^{*}	-0.05^{*}					
18	-0.22^{*}	-0.45^{**}	-0.19^{**}	-0.22^{**}	-0.15^{*}	-0.29**	0.46**	-0.28**	-0.09	-0.25**	-0.44^{**}	-0.42^{*}	-0.36**	-0.19^{*}	0.44**	-0.06	0.19**				
19	-0.16^{**}	-0.21^{**}	0.11	0.12	0.07	-0.01	0.27**	0.05	0.19**	-0.05	-0.08	0.02	-0.06	-0.18^{**}	0.62**	-0.03	-0.24^{**}	0.42**			
20	-0.19**	-0.38**	-0.22**	-0.22**	-0.19^{**}	-0.29**	0.41**	-0.26**	-0.03	-0.26**	-0.27^{**}	-0.25**	-0.14^{**}	-0.21^{**}	0.36**	-0.09	0.07	0.60**	0.50**		
21	-0.11	-0.33**	-0.07	-0.08	-0.04	-0.17^{**}	0.37**	-0.09	0.01	-0.23**	-0.25**	-0.16^{*}	-0.21**	-0.22**	0.39**	0.05	-0.06	0.54**	0.58**	0.61**	
22	-0.15^{*}	-0.37^{**}	-0.20^{**}	-0.25**	-0.12	-0.46^{**}	0.62**	-0.34**	-0.20^{**}	-0.44^{**}	-0.50^{**}	-0.49**	-0.36**	-0.25^{**}	0.35**	0.11	0.18**	0.60**	0.43**	0.57**	0.53**

1. Age; 2. AQ10; 3. Y-BOCS Total; 4. Y-BOCS Obsession; 5. Y-BOCS Compulsion; 6. AAQII; 7. SAC; 8. DAS-21 Stress; 9. DAS-21 Anxiety; 10. DAS-21 Depression; 11. TAS-20 total; 12. TAS-20 DDF; 14. TAS-20 EOT; 15. MAIA-2 Not-noticing; 16. MAIA-2 Not-distracting; 17. MAIA-2 Not worrying; 18. MAIA-2 Attention regulation; 19. MAIA-2 Emotional awareness; 20. MAIA-2 Self-regulation; 21. MAIA-2 Body listening; 22. MAIA-2 Trusting. Sig, 2 tailed; *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01.

TABLE 5 Regression model summary where autism is the DV.

Variable	Standardized β	S.E.	<i>t</i> -value	P-value
Age	0.18	0.01	3.18	< 0.01
Gender	0.13	0.21	2.29	< 0.05
OCD Compulsion	0.14	0.04	2.48	< 0.05
Alexithymia DDF	0.19	0.03	3.28	< 0.01
ISen attention regulation	-0.21	0.18	-2.75	< 0.01
ISen self-regulation	-0.17	0.15	-2.36	< 0.05

were below 0.8 (refer to Table 4), with the VIF scores of the coefficients below 10, indicating that these were free from multi-collinearity.

Table 4 shows the correlations between the variables. There was a positive correlation between age and autism, but a negative correlation between age and anxiety. Autism was positively correlated with stress and depression. Age was also negatively correlated with several of the ISen indices but did not correlate with either the alexithymia scale or OCD, suggesting that it is related specifically to autism (i.e., the older individuals were more likely to be autistic in this sample). SAC was negatively correlated with OCD, autism, and alexithymia scales. There was also a positive correlation among psychological inflexibility and OCD, autism, and alexithymia scales. Autism, OCD, and alexithymia all were negatively correlated with several of the ISen subscales, suggesting that their interceptive sensibility was low for these conditions. Autism, OCD, and alexithymia all positively correlated with several mental health (DAS-21) dimensions, suggesting that mental health issues were high in these conditions.

Tables 5–7 show the outcomes of the three stepwise backwards regression models. Table 5 specifically shows all of the variables (subscales were chosen instead of total scores where they were available) entered as predictors and regressed against autism as the DV. Here, the adjusted $R^2 = 0.31$, and the model was significant [$F_{(6,217)} = 17.51$, p < 0.001]. In the final step of the model, age (standardized beta coefficients expressed here, $\beta = 0.18$), gender ($\beta = 0.13$), OCD compulsion ($\beta = 0.14$), alexithymia DFF ($\beta = 0.19$), ISen attention regulation ($\beta =$ -0.21), and ISen self-regulation ($\beta = -0.17$) were all selected.

For the second regression model (refer to Table 6), all of the variables (subscales were chosen instead of total scores where they were available) were entered into the regression model except for the two OCD subscales (obsession and compulsion), which were excluded as total OCD was the DV. Here, the adjusted $R^2 = 0.43$, and the model was significant [$F_{(7,216)} = 24.61$, p < 0.001]. In the final step of this model, age ($\beta = 0.12$), gender ($\beta = -0.15$), autism ($\beta = 0.12$), psychological inflexibility ($\beta = 0.19$), anxiety ($\beta = 0.42$), ISen not noticing ($\beta = 0.18$), and ISen self-regulation ($\beta = -0.46$) were all selected.

TABLE 6 Regression model summary where OCD is the DV.

Variable	Standardized β	S.E.	<i>t</i> -value	P-value
Age	0.12	0.04	2.10	< 0.05
Gender	-0.15	0.57	-2.94	< 0.01
Autism	0.12	0.17	1.96	=0.05
Psychological inflexibility	0.19	0.05	2.97	< 0.01
Anxiety	0.42	0.04	6.69	< 0.001
ISen self-regulation	-0.46	0.38	3.05	< 0.01
ISen not noticing	0.18	0.36	-2.44	< 0.05

TABLE 7 Regression model summary where alexithymia is the DV.

Variable	Standardized β	S.E.	<i>t</i> -value	P-value
Autism	0.17	0.27	2.89	< 0.01
Stress	0.21	0.06	3.54	< 0.01
ISen not distracting	-0.20	0.57	-3.87	< 0.01
ISen attention regulation	-0.20	0.79	-2.86	< 0.01
ISen emotion awareness	0.15	0.61	2.44	< 0.05
ISen trusting	-0.29	0.55	-4.13	< 0.01

For the third regression model (refer to Table 7), all of the variables (subscales were chosen instead of total scores where they were available) were entered into the regression model except for the three alexithymia subscales; DIF, DDF, and EOT which were excluded, whereby the DV was this time specified as total alexithymia. Here, the adjusted $R^2 = 0.42$, and the model was significant [$F_{(6,217)} = 27.49$, p < 0.001]. In the final step of this model, autism ($\beta = 0.17$), stress ($\beta = 0.21$), ISen not distracting ($\beta = -0.20$), ISen attention regulation ($\beta = -0.20$), ISen emotion awareness ($\beta = 0.15$), and ISen trusting ($\beta = -0.29$) were selected.

Mediation models

A number of five separate mediation models were conducted, and these are displayed in Figure 1 and stacked in a conceptual hierarchy. The structure of the mediation models was informed by both the literature and also the regression models performed previously. In the first, OCD (*X*) was explored as a predictor for autism (*Y*), and ISen self-regulation was chosen as a mediator (*M*). The direct association between OCD (*X*) and autism (*Y*) was significant [$c = t_{(221)} = 2.66$, p < 0.01, $\beta = 0.17$]. The direct association between OCD (*X*) and the mediator (*M*) ISen self-regulation was also significant [$a = t_{(222)} = -3.35$, p < 0.01, $\beta = -0.22$]. The direct association between the mediator (*M*) ISen self-regulation and autism (*Y*) was significant [b = 0.22].



 $t_{(221)} = -5.46$, p < 0.001, $\beta = -0.34$]. To indicate a mediation effect, the indirect association of *X* to *Y via M* was significant as confidence intervals at 95% did not cross zero [CI = 0.01, 0.05]. However, as the variance of the direct path of *X* to *Y* did not reduce to zero after the mediator was added (i.e., the *c*' path), this indicated a partial mediating effect.

In the second mediation analysis, autism (X) was explored as a predictor for alexithymia (Y) and SAC was chosen as a mediator (M). The direct association between autism (X) and alexithymia (Y) was significant [$c = t_{(221)} = 5.36$, p < 0.001, $\beta = 0.32$]. The *a* path association between autism (X) and the mediator (M) SAC was also significant [$t_{(222)} = -3.97$, p <0.001, $\beta = -0.26$)]. The *b* path association between the mediator (M) SAC and alexithymia (Y) was significant [$b = t_{(221)} =$ -4.89, p < 0.001, $\beta = -0.29$]. To indicate a mediation effect, the indirect path of X to Y via M was significant as confidence intervals at 95% did not cross zero [CI = 0.14, 0.59]. However, as the variance of the direct path of X to Y did not reduce to zero after the mediator was added (i.e., the *c*' path), this indicated a partial mediating effect.

In the third mediation analysis, alexithymia (X) was explored as a predictor for depression (Y) and ISen trusting was chosen as a mediator (M). The direct association between alexithymia (X) and depression (Y) was significant [$c = t_{(221)} = -5.15$, p < 0.05, $\beta = 0.18$]. The *a* path association between alexithymia (X) and the mediator (M) ISen trusting was also significant [$t_{(222)} = -8.67$, p < 0.001, $\beta = -0.50$]. The *b* path association between the mediator (M) ISen trusting and depression (Y) was significant [$t_{(221)} = -5.15$, p < 0.001, $\beta = -0.35$]. To indicate a mediation effect, the indirect path of X to Y via M was significant as confidence intervals at 95% did not cross zero [CI = 0.09 to 0.28]. However, this was a partial mediation as the variance of the direct path of X to Y did not reduce to zero after the mediator was added (i.e., the *c*' path).

In the fourth mediation analysis, ISen self-regulation (X) was explored as a predictor for SAC (Y) and psychological

inflexibility was chosen as a mediator (*M*). The direct association between ISen self-regulation (*X*) and SAC (*Y*) was significant $[c = t_{(221)} = 4.94, p < 0.001, \beta = 0.28]$. The *a* path association between ISen self-regulation (*X*) and the mediator (*M*) psychological inflexibility was also significant $[t_{(222)} =$ $-7.53, p < 0.001, \beta = -0.43]$. The *b* path association between the mediator (*M*) psychological inflexibility and SAC (*Y*) was significant $[b = t_{(221)} = -4.56, p < 0.001, \beta = -0.29]$. To indicate a mediation effect, the indirect path of *X* to *Y via M* was significant as confidence intervals at 95% did not cross zero [CI = 0.69 to 2.13]. However, this was a partial mediation as the variance of the direct path of *X* to *Y* did not reduce to zero after the mediator was added (i.e., the *c*' path).

In the fifth mediation analysis, SAC (X) was explored as a predictor for ISen trusting (Y) and psychological inflexibility was chosen as a mediator (M). The direct association between SAC (X) and ISen trusting (Y) was significant [$c = t_{(221)} = 8.65$, p < 0.001, $\beta = 0.52$]. The *a* path association between SAC (X) and the mediator (M) psychological inflexibility was also significant [$a = t_{(222)} = -8.92$, p < 0.001, $\beta = -0.51$]. The *b* path association between the mediator (M) psychological inflexibility and ISen trusting (Y) was significant [$b = t_{(221)} = -3.28$, p < 0.01, $\beta = -0.19$]. To indicate a mediation effect, the indirect path of X to Y via M was significant as confidence intervals at 95% did not cross zero [CI = 0.004 to 0.02]. However, this was a partial mediation as the variance of the direct path of X to Y did not reduce to zero after the mediator was added (i.e., the *c*' path).

SEM analysis

The first SEM was conducted to explore autism and mental health as two separate DVs. The first step in the process was to identify applicable latent variables. This was done first through exploratory factor analysis (EFA), whereby the

TABLE 8	Pattern r	matrix of f	four g	roups a	as identified	through EFA.
---------	-----------	-------------	--------	---------	---------------	--------------

Variable	Factor	Factor	Factor	Factor
	1	2	3	4
Obsession			0.77	
Compulsion			0.93	
DAS21-Stress		0.87		
DAS21-Anxiety		0.62		
DAS21-Depression		0.91		
DIF				0.80
DDF				0.78
ISen Not noticing	0.64			
ISen Attention regulation	0.65			
ISen Emotion awareness	0.81			
ISen Self-regulation	0.76			
ISen Bodily listening	0.77			
ISen Trusting	0.61			

Kaiser–Mayer–Olkin (KMO) measure of sampling adequacy (KMO = 0.81) exceeded the desired cutoff score of 0.70 (Kaiser, 1974), indicating the data represented high sampling adequacy. Bartlett's test of sphericity $[\chi^2_{(120)} = 1677.08, p < 0.001]$ was significant, indicating that the matrix was not an identity matrix, which means the variables are sufficiently related to one another, therefore, indicating that it is acceptable to use EFA. The communalities table which utilized maximum likelihood as the extraction method revealed that three items were smaller than 0.3, and these were EOT = 0.11, ISen not distracting = 0.09, and ISen not worrying = 0.19. Total variance loaded onto four factors, whereby the cumulative value of four factors equaled 54.79% of the variance, and goodness of fit was at an acceptable level and significant $[\chi^2_{(62)} = 158.01, p < 0.001]$.

The pattern matrix demonstrated that EOT, ISen not distracting, and ISen not worrying were removed from the factor loading (as their communality extraction values were below 0.3 and therefore deemed too low). There were no cross-loadings, and the pattern matrix is illustrated in Table 8. The factor correlation matrix indicated that no factor loadings were >0.7 and were, therefore, within an acceptable range.

Following the EFA, a confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) was conducted whereby the four variables groups created by EFA were converted into latent variables called mental health, alexithymia, OCD, and ISen. Covariance was then added between all latent variables and combinations (threshold for modification indices was set to 10 and the number of bootstrap samples was set to 1000). However, the initial CFA did not indicate a good model fit, root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA) was >0.1, and comparative fit index (CFI) and Tucker–Lewis index (TLI) were lower than 0.9. As a result of this, modification indices were checked and was the

standardized residual covariance matrix table. Several ISen items were above a standardized residual covariance value of two and were removed with RMSEA, CFI, and TLI retested for fitness of model. Once high values were removed, only the item ISen self-regulation was maintained from the ISen latent variable and kept as a standalone direct measure of itself. "Anxiety" and "stress" were removed from the latent variable "mental health," leaving depression as standalone direct measure of itself. All other items within the latent variables "alexithymia" and "OCD" were maintained. The final model fit indicated RMSEA = 0.30, CFI= 0.99, and TLI = 0.99 indicating an excellent fit. CFI and TLI values \geq 0.95 and RMSEA values \leq 0.08 indicate the data which are well fitting (Hu and Bentler, 1998, 1999). The acceptable range for the standardized root mean squared residual (SRMR) index is between 0 and 0.08 (Hu and Bentler, 1999).

The remaining conceptual model was tested within a SEM (refer to Figure 2) (with 1000 bootstrap samples). SEM fits (through RMSEA, CFI, TLI, and SRMR) were explored. This model produced a model fit: $[X^2(df = 13) = 15.19, p = 0.29],$ whereby this X^2 test indicates the extent to which the model covariance matrix deviates from the sample covariance matrix and tests that deviation against a null hypothesis of zero (i.e., it is not significantly different) (Peugh and Feldon, 2020). So, a non-significant finding here indicates that the proposed model is a good fit of the data (it is not significantly different from the representation of the data). In addition to this, RMSEA = 0.03, comparative fit index (CFI) = 0.99; Tucker-Lewis index (TLI) = 0.99, GFI = 0.99, SRMR = 0.03. Alexithymia covaried with OCD (correlation values given, r = 0.39), with age (r = 0.06), with gender (r = 0.17); OCD covaried with age (r = 0.10), with gender (r = -0.09); and age covaried with gender (r = -0.11).

For direct effects, alexithymia was significantly positively associated with psychological inflexibility (reporting standardized beta coefficients) ($\beta = 0.36$, CI = [0.21, 0.52], p <0.001); alexithymia was also significantly positively associated with autism ($\beta = 0.27$, CI = [0.10, 0.49], p < 0.001); alexithymia was not significantly associated with ISen self-regulation ($\beta =$ -0.13, CI = [-0.31, 0.05], p = 0.11); OCD was significantly positively associated with psychological inflexibility ($\beta = 0.39$, CI = [0.24, 0.53], p < 0.001); psychological inflexibility was significantly negatively associated with ISen self-regulation (β = -0.24, CI = [-0.41, -0.07], p < 0.01). ISen self-regulation was significantly negatively associated with autism ($\beta = -0.26$, CI = [-0.39, -0.11], p < 0.001). For control measures, age was significantly negatively associated with ISen self-regulation $(\beta = -0.19, \text{ CI} = [-0.29, -0.07], p < 0.01].$ Age was also significantly associated with autism ($\beta = 0.22$, CI = [0.12, 0.32], p < 0.001). However, age was not significantly associated with psychological inflexibility ($\beta = -0.10$, CI = [-0.19, -0.00], p = 0.06. Gender was not significantly associated with neither ISen self-regulation ($\beta = 0.03$, CI = [-0.02, 0.03], p = 0.89), autism ($\beta = 0.11$, CI = [0.00, 0.21], p = 0.05), nor psychological inflexibility ($\beta = -0.01$, CI = [-0.11, 0.09], p = 0.89).



In terms of mediating indirect effects, age was indirectly associated with ISen self-regulation *via* psychological inflexibility ($\beta = 0.02$, CI = [0.00, 0.06], p < 0.05); alexithymia was indirectly associated with ISen self-regulation *via* psychological inflexibility ($\beta = -0.09$, CI = [-0.19, -0.03], p < 0.01). OCD was indirectly associated with ISen self-regulation *via* psychological inflexibility ($\beta = -0.09$, CI = [-0.18, -0.03], p < 0.01). Psychological inflexibility was indirectly associated with autism *via* ISen self-regulation ($\beta = 0.06$, CI = [0.02, 0.15], p < 0.01).

In the second SEM (refer to Figure 3), depression was added as a second DV in addition to autism, which also included adding SAC into the model to account for this. This model produced again a good model fit: $[X^2(df = 24) = 34.75, p =$ 0.07], RMSEA = 0.04, CFI = 0.99; TLI = 0.97. GFI = 0.97, SRMR = 0.03. Some of the beta coefficients change as a result of the new variables added while others remained the same. Alexithymia covaried with OCD (correlational values given, r = 0.39), with age (r = 0.06), with gender (r = 0.17); OCD covaried with age (r = 0.10), with gender (r = -0.09); and age covaried with gender (r = -0.11).

The standardized beta coefficients can be seen in Figure 4 in the graph model, sharing many of the same associations as the first SEM but with the addition of the SAC and depression scales (note that the addition of new variables resulted in different associations than the first SEM in some cases with different corresponding coefficients and confidence intervals). As such, for direct effects, alexithymia was significantly positively associated with psychological inflexibility (reporting standardized beta coefficients) ($\beta = 0.36$, CI = [0.21, 0.52], p< 0.001); alexithymia was also significantly positively associated with autism ($\beta = 0.27$, CI = [0.10, 0.51], p < 0.001); alexithymia was not significantly associated with ISen self-regulation ($\beta =$ -0.08, CI = [-0.26, 0.11], p = 0.29). OCD was significantly positively associated with psychological inflexibility ($\beta = 0.39$, CI = [0.24, 0.53], p < 0.001). Psychological inflexibility was



no longer significantly negatively associated with ISen selfregulation ($\beta = -0.08$, CI = [-0.27, 0.08], p = 0.32) (this has been significantly associated in the first SEM, indicating indirect mediation effect of SAC). ISen self-regulation was significantly negatively associated with autism ($\beta = -0.26$, CI = [-0.39, -0.11], p < 0.001). Novel to this SEM was the introduction of an association between psychological inflexibility and SAC which was significant ($\beta = -0.51$, CI = [-0.61, -0.39], p < 0.001). Also, there was an association between psychological inflexibility and depression which was also significant ($\beta = 0.60$, CI = [0.51, 0.70], p < 0.001); a significant association between SAC and depression ($\beta = -0.14$, CI = [-0.26, -0.01], p < 0.05); and a significant association between SAC and ISen self-regulation $(\beta = 0.36, CI = [0.21, 0.49], p < 0.001)$. For control measures (age and gender), age was significantly negatively associated with ISen self-regulation ($\beta = -0.21$, CI = [-0.31, -0.09], p < 0.001)

and autism ($\beta = 0.22$, CI = [0.12, 0.32], p < 0.001). However, age was not significantly associated with neither psychological inflexibility ($\beta = -0.10$, CI = [-0.19, -0.00], p = 0.06) nor SAC ($\beta = 0.04$, CI = [-0.07, 0.13], p = 0.52), nor depression ($\beta = -0.03$, CI = [-0.13, 0.07], p = 0.51). Gender was not significantly associated with neither ISen self-regulation ($\beta =$ 0.06, CI = [-0.04, 0.17], p = 0.32), nor autism ($\beta = 0.11$, CI = [0.00, 0.21], p = 0.05), nor psychological inflexibility ($\beta =$ -0.01, CI = [-0.11, 0.09], p = 0.88), SAC ($\beta = -0.10$, CI = [-0.23, 0.01], p = 0.08, nor depression ($\beta = 0.05$, CI = [-0.06, 0.12], p = 0.36).

In terms of mediating indirect effects, age was not indirectly associated with ISen self-regulation ($\beta = 0.04$, CI = [-0.01, 0.09], p = 0.09) (this had been a significant indirect effect in the first SEM). However, age was significantly indirectly associated with SAC *via* psychological inflexibility ($\beta = 0.05$, CI = [0.00,



0.10], p < 0.05) and depression via psychological inflexibility and SAC ($\beta = -0.07$, CI = [-0.14, -0.01], p < 0.05). There were significant indirect effects between alexithymia and SAC *via* psychological inflexibility ($\beta = -0.19$, CI = [-0.28, -0.10], p < 0.01), alexithymia and ISen self-regulation *via* psychological inflexibility ($\beta = -0.10$, CI = [-0.21, -0.03], p < 0.01), and alexithymia and depression via psychological inflexibility and SAC ($\beta = 0.14$, CI = [0.14, 0.36], p < 0.01). There were also indirect effects between OCD and SAC via psychological inflexibility ($\beta = -0.19$, CI = [-0.29, -0.12], p < 0.01), OCD and ISen self-regulation via psychological inflexibility (β = -0.10, CI = [-0.19, -0.04], p < 0.01), and OCD and depression *via* psychological inflexibility and SAC ($\beta = 0.26$, CI = [0.15, 0.37], p < 0.01). There were also indirect effects between psychological inflexibility and ISen self-regulation via SAC ($\beta =$ -0.19, CI = [-0.28, -0.10], p < 0.01), psychological inflexibility and depression via SAC (β = 0.07, CI = [0.01, 0.14], p < 0.05), and psychological inflexibility and autism via ISen selfregulation ($\beta = 0.07$, CI = [0.02, 0.16], p < 0.01. Additionally, there were indirect effects between SAC and autism *via* ISen self-regulation ($\beta = -0.09$, CI = [-0.17, -0.14], p < 0.01).

Visualizing SEM in graph theory networks

A graph of nodes and edges utilizing graph theory can represent an SEM and can be modeled through available R packages, such as SEMgraph (Palluzzi and Grassi, 2021). Within a graph theory approach, an exogenous parent variable is a source node with incoming connectivity equal to 0. They are also two types of endogenous variables called "connectors" with nonzero outgoing connectivity, and another called "sinks" which have no outgoing connections. There are three types of path diagrams in graph theory: (1) directed acrylic graphs (DAG) which use beta coefficients β_{jk} , to give a magnitude to directed edges $(k \rightarrow j)$ within the graph., but all covariances are assumed null ($\psi_{jk} = 0$); (2) covariance models in which only covariances have non-zero values and coefficients can only equal to zero

10.3389/fpsyg.2022.993381

 $(\beta_{jk} = 0)$; (3) bow-free acrylic graphs (BAPs), which have acrylic directed edges $(k \rightarrow j)$, and bidirectional covariance relations $(k \leftrightarrow j)$ only when the *k*-th and *j*-th variable do not share a directed edge, therefore, if $\beta_{jk} \neq 0$ then $\psi_{jk} = 0$. Through this graph approach, latent variables are marginalized out and instead are represented as correlations among unobserved latent confounders (Pearl, 1998).

Structural equation modeling is based on a system of structural (typically linear) regression equations that defines a path diagram that can be represented as a graph G = (V, E), whereby V is a set of nodes (the variables) and E is a set of edges that can be both directional $(k \rightarrow j)$ if $k \in pa_{(j)}$ or bidirectional edges $(k \leftrightarrow j)$ if $k \in sib_{(j)}$, where the parent set $pa_{(j)}$ and the sibling set $sib_{(j)}$ determine the linear equations in the following way:

$$Y_j = \sum_{k \in pa_{(j)}} \beta_{jk} Y_k + U_j \quad j \in V$$
 (2)

$$Cov(U_j; U_k) = \begin{cases} \psi_{jk} & \text{if } j = k \text{ or } k \in sib_{(j)} \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(3)

Where Y_j and U_j are, respectively, an unobserved variable and unobserved error term. β_{jk} represents a regression coefficient, and ψ_{jk} denotes a covariance (*Cov*) which indicates the errors are dependent when there is a latent unobserved confounder between *k* and *j*.

This is a simple graph, which has at most one edge between a pair of nodes, which are identifiable whereby parameters β and ψ can be estimated from a population covariance matrix of the observed variables (Pearl, 1998; Brito and Pearl, 2002). For the graph implementation of the second SEM with DVs of autism and depression, refer to Figure 4⁷.

Cluster networks of SEM in graph theory to expand functional contextual properties

It is also possible to define topological communities through network clustering, and this can be done through existing R packages, such as igraph (Csardi and Nepusz, 2006). For example, there is the walktrap community detection algorithm based on random walks (Pons and Latapy, 2005), which generates as many clusters as is needed to cover the whole network. There is also the edge betweenness clustering (Newman and Girvan, 2004) that produces one large network and several other subnetworks. In addition, there is also tree agglomerative hierarchical clustering (Yu et al., 2015) for complex networks that include hierarchical properties. These algorithms are useful particularly when scaling up the network, to include additional dimensions and levels defined in the EEMM. For example, tree agglomerative hierarchical may be useful when dealing with complex multi-level networks, such as incorporating individual factors plus societal factors.

Several measures in this study were ACT consistent, such as psychological inflexibility and SAC. However, at more basic behavioral functional analytic level, relational frame theory (RFT) underpins these processes of change (Hayes et al., 2001; Blackledge, 2003; Barnes-Holmes et al., 2015). This is a post-Skinnerian behavioral model for higher cognition, related to symbolic reasoning, and based on functional contextualism. It assumes that language can be thought of as patterns of generalized contextually controlled derived relational responding. It focuses on the role of context via contextual cues in facilitating the emergence of patterns of relating in which functions of stimuli become connected to these patterns (Hayes et al., 2001). It assumes that relational responding can either be arbitrary or non-arbitrary. Non-arbitrary responding relates to basing responding on physical and actual features of the environment, whereas arbitrary applicable responding relates to responding being controlled by historical contextual cues. There are several patterns of arbitrary applicable responding, which include the following: coordination (e.g., stimuli x is equivalent to stimulus y), causation (IF, THEN), comparison (A is bigger than B), opposition (e.g., up is the opposite of down), distinction (e.g., C is not the same as D), hierarchy (e.g., a Labrador is a type of dog), and perspective-taking (deictic) involving the interpersonal (I vs. YOU), spatial (HERE vs. THERE) and temporal relations (NOW vs. THEN).

In total, three essential properties are important for relational frames to develop and to organize a network (Torneke, 2010): (1) mutual entailment (ME), relating one stimulus entails relating to a second stimulus; (2) combinatorial entailment (CE), relating a first stimulus to a second, and the second to a third, facilitates entailment between the first stimulus and the third; (3) the last one is the transfer (or transformation) of stimulus function (ToF) whereby the functions (e.g., fear) of any stimulus that participates within a relational frame may be transferred or transformed in line with the relations that the stimulus shares with other stimuli also participating in that frame. The individual frames can network, forming complex networks of relational frames, and can even be relationally framed with other relationally framed networks (relating relational networks) (Barnes-Holmes et al., 2017) becoming infinitely complex. Idiographic approaches of PBT such as when collecting EMA data, longitudinally, are ideal for capturing such complexity of these relational networks and how they transform (ToF) over time.

This functional analytic level of RFT applied at an ideographic level in line with EEMM and PBT could further expand the graphs (depicted in Figure 5) utilizing community cluster networks. This could allow for basic level relational frame process of change properties, such as ToF to be mapped onto a

⁷ Graph developed with software found at: https://graphonline.ru/.



PBT graph. Some works (Smith and Hayes, 2022) have already explored this level of analysis with graphs, such as through implementing a graph model specific to RFT properties, such as ME bidirectionality. Such an approach could also allow for complex community networks (relations of relational frames) to be explored along with the traditional middle level ACT constructs of psychological flexibility and SAC. This may allow for an implementation of RFT community graphs as discussed in recent work (Edwards et al., 2022) and conceptually illustrated in Figure 5. Each node represented as a set, and therefore giving graphs the ability to represent and update in real time ME or ToF from one community set to the next, could be possible and beneficial. For example, ToF can be represented as a combination of two sets as follows:

$$C_{\text{func}}[C_{\text{rel}}\{AR_{x}B \text{ and } BR_{y}C\{B_{\text{Rp}}^{f1} \text{ and } C_{\text{Rq}}^{f2}B|||A^{f3}\}\}]$$
(4)

Here \rightarrow is used to show the direction of the ToF from one stimulus to another.

Where C_{func} is a context that controls the ToF, C_{rel} is a contextual relation, and ^f is a function, in this case "fear." Here, "A" is a neutral socializing event and is related to (R_x) you ("B") as you try to decide will attend the socializing event, and you ("B") are also related to (R_y) your own verbalself ("C," a community network in itself which relationally frames many thoughts and feelings about yourself, and its dominated by fear, thoughts about failure, and low selfesteem). THEN you (B) become fearful $\binom{f1}{Rp}$ of the social event (A) as the function of A (A^{f3}) transforms from neutral to fear $\binom{f2}{Rq}$ (C \rightarrow A ToF) as your feelings of failure about yourself, and fear, become mutually entailed (|||) with the social event, (as you think about failing in socializing at this event, and how scared you will be) which now shares the fear function A^{f3} of your verbal self (C^{f2}). This leads the individual to decide to avoid the social situation (A), to prevent further pain of fear and failure thus causing the individual to isolate further.

These community networks of verbal self and the resultant avoidance behaviors (and their associated relational frames) not only act to transfer a fear function, but they act to reinforce one another. Low self-esteem and fear of the verbal self lead to a greater probability of avoidance (isolation from others due to ToF), and the resultant avoidance then further reinforces low self-esteem and fear of the verbal self (as you may tell yourself that you have again failed), which then increases the chances of further avoiding social events (and communicating more generally) in the future. This is called a negative feedback loop (or a self-reinforcing loop of maladaptation) in PBT (Hayes and Hofmann, 2020; Hofmann et al., 2021). It is suggested that these should be identified and targeted with the correct interventions (ACT or CBT) (as seen in Figure 5 for an example) to undermine this negative feedback loop.

Such modeling at the level of the relational frame could ultimately give the PBT therapist very strong influence over the entire network, thus making them more able to influence processes of change at a basic functional contextual level, in a dynamic way which is consistent with EEMM. This approach is more relevant at the ideographic level as individuals each form their own unique relational networks through their unique learning histories. It could also be extended even further with an RFT implemented reinforcement machine learning interpretation through discrete time series Markov chains (Edwards, 2021) to analyze reinforced behavior (and any other EMA data) through time in a complex distributed system (i.e., the real-world environment, and outside of the laboratory) (Dabrowski and Hunt, 2011).

General discussion

This study aimed to identify and confirm two conceptual models through two corresponding SEMs, which maps the causal pathways between alexithymia and OCD (as exogenous IVs) with autism and autistic-related depression (as endogenous DVs) *via* the variables bodily interoception, psychological inflexibility, and SAC (with age and gender as controls).

To do this, the first part of this study explored through ANCOVA whether age had an effect on autonomic nervous functioning in healthy controls. The measure for this was HRV (HRV is closely correlated with the ISen interoceptive measures used in the questionnaires), and BMI and gender were added as covariates. There was a significant decrease in HRV given age, and this finding highlighted the importance of controlling the SEM for age, as it would likely be a significant control in the SEMs and having a direct effect on autonomic functioning (ISen interoception) within the network regardless of the autistic condition. Within the SEM, age was found to significantly affect both ISen self-regulation interoception and autism directly as expected, though the indirect effect between age and autism *via* ISen self-regulation interoception was non-significant.

The second part of the study's goal was to develop a conceptual SEM. However, the literature gave limited clues as to what the structure of the SEM should consist of (other than demonstrating there was much covariation between OCD, alexithymia, and autism). Recent work (Edwards and Lowe, 2021) had given some clues in how alexithymia relates to psychological inflexibility and SAC, but not in the cases of covarying OCD and autism. So, to explore this further, three linear (backward) regressions were explored, to first (in the first regression model) determine whether the measures of mental health, OCD, interoception (ISen), alexithymia, psychological inflexibility, and self-as-context predicted ASD as an outcome. The second regression model was used to determine

whether the measures of mental health, OCD, interoception (ISen), autism, psychological inflexibility, and self-as-context predicted alexithymia. The third regression model was used to determine whether the measures of mental health, alexithymia, interoception, autism, psychological inflexibility, and self-as-context predicted OCD. The outcomes in the final regression step models informed the third part of the study in terms of which variables were most likely to directly predict each of the three variables (OCD, alexithymia, and autism).

One problem with the regression models is that they only show direct associations and give no clues how the variables may indirectly associate with one another. In the third part of the study, five independent simple mediation analyses were conducted to give some clues about how these variables indirectly relate to one another. Here, some of the outcomes in the final regression models (of part two) informed the mediation analyses to be made. The first mediation analysis showed that ISen attention regulation partially mediated the relation between OCD and autism. The second mediation analysis showed that SAC partially mediated the relation between autism and alexithymia. The third showed that ISen trusting partially mediated the relation between alexithymia and depression. The fourth showed that psychological inflexibility partially mediated the relation between ISen attention regulation and SAC. The fifth showed that psychological inflexibility partially mediated the relation between SAC and ISen trusting. What is interesting about these mediation analyses is that at a hierarchical level (as depicted in Figure 1), psychological inflexibility seems to at least partially mediate all of the different relations at the highest hierarchical level. This provided some insights into a conceptual model, indicating that psychological inflexibility should be a key indirect pathway between the IVs (OCD and alexithymia) and DVs (autism and autistic-related depression).

In the fourth part of the study, the conceptual models for causal pathways were developed concretely, whereby IVs were identified as OCD and covarying alexithymia, while the DVs were autism (in model one) and autistic-related depression (in model two, with autism as a DV). These were tested through two SEMs, but before this could happen, the first steps were to utilize EFA and CFA to assign (explore then confirm) item variables to latent constructs where possible. However, when utilizing these factor analysis approaches items within the same questionnaire constructs did not always load well together. Items variables were removed from the latent variables when the standardized residual covariances were significantly different from the data to improve the overall SEM fit. This meant that items such as the many subsections of the ISen questionnaire did not fit well together in the context of the data and conceptual model and were removed when they did not. Once these were removed, the final first SEM that included autism only as a DV showed that alexithymia was directly significantly positively associated with autism and psychological inflexibility, but it (alexithymia) was not directly significantly

associated with ISen self-regulation. Alexithymia was instead indirectly associated with ISen self-regulation *via* psychological inflexibility. OCD was not directly or indirectly associated with autism, but it was indirectly associated with ISen selfregulation mediated by psychological inflexibility. Psychological inflexibility was not directly associated with autism, but it was indirectly associated with it *via* ISen self-regulation. Gender was not a significant control, but age was a strong controlling variable (as expected given the data from the ANCOVAs). Age was directly associated (a direct control) to autism and was significantly negatively associated with ISen self-regulation directly and indirectly *via* psychological flexibility. Age was marginally outside of significance in its association (control) with psychological inflexibility directly.

In the second SEM, these findings were extended further, by including a second DV in the form of depression. Psychological inflexibility was directly associated with depression and indirectly associated with it via SAC, while SAC was directly associated with depression. Neither age nor gender has any direct associations with SAC or depression. Age was significantly indirectly associated with SAC via psychological inflexibility and depression via psychological inflexibility and SAC. There were also indirect effects between alexithymia and SAC via psychological inflexibility, alexithymia and ISen self-regulation via psychological inflexibility, and alexithymia and depression via psychological inflexibility and SAC. There was an indirect effect between OCD and SAC via psychological inflexibility, OCD and ISen self-regulation via psychological inflexibility, and OCD and depression via psychological inflexibility. There were indirect effects between psychological inflexibility and ISen selfregulation via SAC, psychological inflexibility, and depression via SAC, and between SAC and autism via ISen self-regulation.

Perhaps, the most important findings in this study are that the SEMs show the clear indirect causal association relation between alexithymia and OCD with autism. Though alexithymia and OCD shared a strong correlation with autism, the model confirmed that the best fit of the data were through an indirect causal association with autism, indirectly through psychological inflexibility and SAC and then indirectly through ISen self-regulation interoception. This indicates that there exists a complex relation between psychological flexibility and vagal nerve related interoception, and this is supported by an increasing number of evidence (Pinna and Edwards, 2020; Edwards and Lowe, 2021; O'Brien et al., 2021). This could even include connections with embodied knowledge of psychological flexibility (Falletta-Cowden et al., 2022) as the ISen interoceptive measure used relates to confidence in embodied interoceptive signals. The findings also suggest that these complex associations are causally related to autism, and this is not captured in the current diagnostic DSM protocol. The SEMs show causally how alexithymia and OCD are comorbidly showing up with autism.

The findings also show that autistic-related depression is caused indirectly through psychological inflexibility and

SAC, and there was no direct causal path between depression and autism (despite there being a strong correlation between depression and autism). Much of the causal pathway traffic in the associations between alexithymia and autism and its associated depression was via psychological inflexibility. The causal diagram shows psychological inflexibility to be a central gateway to the link between alexithymia and OCD with autism (which was predicted from the results of the mediational analysis, in the third part of the study given its hierarchical position), whereby ISen self-regulation bodily interoception is a secondary gateway for the link between alexithymia and OCD with autism severity specifically. SAC association with psychological inflexibility and autistic-related depression also seems a key secondary causal path gateway for the depression specifically. As SAC relates to perspective-taking skills, it seems likely that the onset of depression is linked to the lack of ability of ASD individuals to connect and communicate with others (for which perspective-taking skills is crucial). Building such perspective-taking skills may be a key and useful intervention in reducing depression in autism, given this nomothetic model.

This SEM path analysis helps to delineate the associations between alexithymia, OCD, and ASD more concretely. This highlights why these conditions cannot be taken as singular discrete categorical syndromes with an independent set of symptoms and underlying etiology which is treatable through a static protocol for treatment as specified by the DSM (American Psychiatric Association, 2013a). Instead, this study results support the claim that there is great comorbidity between these conditions (Kupfer et al., 2008) whether direct or indirectly. They also support the claim that any specified singular treatment protocol (such as what is specified by the DSM) would lack treatment specificity (Kupfer et al., 2008; Insel et al., 2010). Given such comorbidity, as seen in the casual diagram, any individual changes, or differences at any of the intersecting indirect pathways, could lead to quite different outcomes and have cascading effects. Therefore, a more dynamic and ideographic (individual level) process-based approach is likely to be more effective to access and initiate processes of change within then complexity, rather than a strict and rigid DSM protocol from treatment in treating individuals with autism.

This work supports the conclusions made by PBT and EEMM research advocates that suggest dynamic, longitudinal, and multi-level (e.g., biological and psychological) approaches are required to identify important change processes rather than singular protocols for syndromes (Hayes and Hofmann, 2017, 2018; Hofmann and Hayes, 2019; Hofmann et al., 2021). The SEM presented here (though nomothetic data) fits well with the EEMM as it emphasizes that autism is a multi-level condition. For example, it identifies that interoception (ISen self-regulation) fits well with both the individual level dimension of "attention" as it relates to noticing bodily

feelings and the level of "physiology" as the vagal nerve carries bodily information to the brain and is processed in the insular cortex. SAC fits with the "self" dimension and psychological flexibility with the "cognitive" dimension at the individual level.

In relation to the theories of interoception more generally, interoception defined as a predicting coding error (Seth, 2013; Barrett and Simmons, 2015; Barrett et al., 2016; Seth and Friston, 2016; Stephan et al., 2016; Owens et al., 2018) overcomes some of the issues with directional predictions typically associated with interoception. Higher ISen selfregulation interoception represents high confidence in the interoceptive signals, and therefore, this is consistent with the predictive coding theory, as low confidence should mean high prediction errors. This interpretation of interoception suggests that autism is a condition whereby there are high bodily prediction errors. To lower these predictive errors using the PBT EEMM approach, the "attentional" dimension may be an important domain (as illustrated in intervention point 4 of Figure 5), whereby engaging in exercises which promote mindfulness, noticing in the present moment, and awareness of feelings may lower interoceptive predictive errors and thus improve the autistic condition. Again, this would be most accurately done through ideographic assessments, such as EMA longitudinally overt time giving precise everchanging interoceptive predictive coding data within the complex network.

In relation to ASD, the predictive coding model explains why autistic individuals tend to focus on local information (ignoring contextual prior background knowledge) as it suggests that the predictive priors of contextual background information are weaker in ASD individuals when compared to healthy individuals, as observed in previous studies (Happé and Frith, 2006; Mottron et al., 2006). As such when developing a longitudinal EMA PBT study, we would expect to see contextual relational frame community clusters (as conceptually illustrated in Figure 5) more heavily weighed to recent events. This would mean, for example, something recently learned, i.e., whereby a function in the network transfers from one stimuli of a cluster to the next (through ToF), then the impact would be greater for more local recent events than something learned further back in time. This would perhaps mean targeting the verbal self with a cognitive defusion intervention to undermine the negative feedback loop of avoidance (as illustrated in intervention point 1 of Figure 5) resultant from destructive verbal self-language (e.g., "I will fail"), thus preventing such negative transformations of functions. It could also mean targeting SAC with perspective-taking building skills to help the individual communicate and see others perspective (as illustrated in intervention point 2 of Figure 5). Crucially, it should mean targeting the key gateway

of the network, psychological inflexibility such as through values orientation, mindfulness, openness to pain exercises, and cognitive defusion (as illustrated in intervention point 3 of Figure 5).

The advantage of the longitudinal approach advocated by the PBT developers (Hayes and Hofmann, 2017, 2018; Hofmann and Hayes, 2019; Hofmann et al., 2021) is that this longitudinal and ideographic approach would allow therapists and researchers enough detail (data) to model these types of transformations of functions in real time and ideographically for each individual. Existing graph approach such as group iterative multiple model estimation (GIMME) approach (Gates and Molenaar, 2012; Beltz and Gates, 2017; Weigard et al., 2021), which combines the elements of graph theory with SEM, is useful for modeling ideographic longitudinal EMA type data and is advocated by PBT researchers (Hayes et al., 2019). However, these may be further developed in line with an ideographic version of what is proposed in Figure 5, which would help to account for dynamic and ongoing relational frame processes, such as ToF. This may be further helpful for clinicians and researchers alike and would allow for interventions to target and undermine these negative functions directly and affect the overall network at the level of the relational frame.

All studies include limitations. Questionnaire data in this study required participants to answer all questions, so this may have impacted attrition rates as some may have dropped out of the study due to frustration. Another limitation was that the data used here were solely cross-sectional nomothetic (population-based). However, PBT approaches are optimized when exploring longitudinal ideographic data, such as through EMA, therefore, it would be useful to explore this SEM in a longitudinal and ideographic way to see whether the model is still supported by the data. Finally, ideally, a physiological measure such as HRV would have supplemented the interoceptive measure greatly, though these are related.

In conclusion, this study demonstrated that autism is a complex and dynamic condition, which is not easily definable and is in part caused by alexithymia and OCD indirectly through psychological inflexibility, SAC, and interoception (ISen self-regulation). Though some of these associations are quite predictable such as covarying OCD with alexithymia, the novelty of this study was to capture the complex processes (psychological inflexibility, SAC, and interoception) that indirectly related to OCD, alexithymia, and autism. Further studies exploring the ideographic level and longitudinally may be able to generate more complex graphs that can model specific relational frame processes, such as ToF and dynamically in real time, which may greatly benefit both researchers interested in PBT and therapists utilizing this approach to support autistic individuals.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Swansea University Psychology Ethics. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

DE completed all aspects of this manuscript.

References

Akaike, H. (1974). A new look at the statistical model identification. *IEEE Trans. Automat. Contr.* 19, 716–723. doi: 10.1109/TAC.1974.1100705

Allen, R., Davis, R., and Hill, E. (2013). The effects of autism and alexithymia on physiological and verbal responsiveness to music. J. Autism Dev. Disord. 43, 432-444. doi: 10.1007/s10803-012-1587-8

Allison, C., Auyeung, B., and Baron-Cohen, S. (2012). Toward brief "red flags" for autism screening: the short autism spectrum quotient and the short quantitative checklist in 1,000 cases and 3,000 controls. *J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry.* 51, 202–212. e207. doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2011.11.003

Altman, D. G., and Bland, J. M. (1995). Statistics notes: the normal distribution. BMJ 310, 298. doi: 10.1136/bmj.310.6975.298

American Psychiatric Association (2013a). *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders: DSM-5*, Vol. 5. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association.

American Psychiatric Association (2013b). *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*, 5th Edn. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association.

Bagby, R. M., Parker, J. D., and Taylor, G. J. (1994). The twenty-item Toronto Alexithymia Scale—I. Item selection and cross-validation of the factor structure. *J. Psychosom. Res.* 38, 23–32. doi: 10.1016/0022-3999(94)90005-1

Baranek, G. T., Parham, L. D., and Bodfish, J. W. (2005). "Sensory and motor features in autism: Assessment and intervention," in *Handbook of Autism and Pervasive Developmental Disorders: Assessment, Interventions, and Policy*, eds F. R. Volkmar, R. Paul, A. Klin, and D. Cohen (John Wiley and Sons), 831–857. doi: 10.1002/9780470939352.ch6

Barnes-Holmes, D., Barnes-Holmes, Y., Luciano, C., and McEnteggart, C. (2017). From the IRAP and REC model to a multi-dimensional multi-level framework for analyzing the dynamics of arbitrarily applicable relational responding. *J. Context. Behav. Sci.* 6, 434–445. doi: 10.1016/j.jcbs.2017.08.001

Barnes-Holmes, Y., Barnes-Holmes, Y., and Cullinan, V. (2015). "Relational frame theory," in *The Wiley Handbook of Contextual Behavioral Science*, Eds R. D. Zettle, S. C. Hayes, P. M. D. Barnes-Holmes, and A. Biglan (West-Sussex: Wiley-Blackwell), 227–253.

Baron, R. M., and Kenny, D. A. (1986). The moderator-mediator variable distinction in social psychological research: Conceptual, strategic, and statistical considerations. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 51, 1173. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.51.6.1173

Barrett, L. F., Quigley, K. S., and Hamilton, P. (2016). An active inference theory of allostasis and interoception in depression. *Philos. Transac. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 371, 20160011. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2016.0011

Barrett, L. F., and Simmons, W. K. (2015). Interoceptive predictions in the brain. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 16, 419–429. doi: 10.1038/nrn3950

Beltz, A. M., and Gates, K. M. (2017). Network mapping with GIMME. *Multivar. Behav. Res.* 52, 789–804. doi: 10.1080/00273171.2017.1373014

Conflict of interest

The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Berthoz, S., and Hill, E. L. (2005). Reliability of the Bermond-Vorst Alexithymia Questionnaire: data from adults with autism spectrum disorder, their relatives and normal controls. *Eur. Psychiatry* 20, 291–298. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2004.06.013

Bird, G., and Cook, R. (2013). Mixed emotions: the contribution of alexithymia to the emotional symptoms of autism. *Transl. Psychiatry* 3, e285. doi: 10.1038/tp.2013.61

Blackledge, J. T. (2003). An introduction to relational frame theory: Basics and applications. *Behav. Anal. Today* 3, 421. doi: 10.1037/h0099997

Bonaz, B., Sinniger, V., and Pellissier, S. (2017). The vagus nerve in the neuroimmune axis: implications in the pathology of the gastrointestinal tract. *Front. Immunol.* 8, 1452. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01452

Bond, F. W., Hayes, S. C., Baer, R. A., Carpenter, K. M., Guenole, N., Orcutt, H. K., et al. (2011). Preliminary psychometric properties of the Acceptance and Action Questionnaire–II: a revised measure of psychological inflexibility and experiential avoidance. *Behav. Ther.* 42, 676–688. doi: 10.1016/j.beth.2011.03.007

Brewer, R., Cook, R., and Bird, G. (2016). Alexithymia: a general deficit of interoception. R. Soc. Open Sci. 3, 150664. doi: 10.1098/rsos.150664

Brewer, R., Happé, F., Cook, R., and Bird, G. (2015). Commentary on "Autism, oxytocin and interoception": alexithymia, not autism spectrum disorders, is the consequence of interoceptive failure. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 56, 348–353. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2015.07.006

Brito, C., and Pearl, J. (2002). A new identification condition for recursive models with correlated errors. *Struct. Equ. Model.* 9, 459–474. doi: 10.1207/S15328007SEM0904_1

Brown, C., Shahab, R., Collins, K., Fleysher, L., Goodman, W. K., Burdick, K. E., et al. (2019). Functional neural mechanisms of sensory phenomena in obsessive-compulsive disorder. *J. Psychiatr. Res.* 109, 68–75. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2018.11.018

Büchel, C., Geuter, S., Sprenger, C., and Eippert, F. (2014). Placebo analgesia: a predictive coding perspective. *Neuron* 81, 1223–1239. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2014.02.042

Cameron, O. G. (2001). Interoception: the inside story—a model for psychosomatic processes. *Psychosom. Med.* 63, 697–710. doi: 10.1097/00006842-200109000-00001

Cheng, Y.-C., Huang, Y.-C., and Huang, W.-L. (2020). Heart rate variability in individuals with autism spectrum disorders: a meta-analysis. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 118, 463–471. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2020.08.007

Cohen, J. (1988). Statistical power. Anal. Behav. Sci. 2, 273-406.

Colgan, D. D., Christopher, M., Michael, P., and Wahbeh, H. (2016). The body scan and mindful breathing among veterans with PTSD: type of intervention moderates the relationship between changes in mindfulness and post-treatment depression. *Mindfulness* 7, 372–383. doi: 10.1007/s12671-015-0453-0

Cook, B., and Shah, B. (2013). Alexithymia, not autism, predicts poor recognition of emotional facial expressions. *Psychol. Sci.* 24, 723–732. doi: 10.1177/0956797612463582

Cornwell, B. R., Garrido, M. I., Overstreet, C., Pine, D. S., and Grillon, C. (2017). The unpredictive brain under threat: a neurocomputational account of anxious hypervigilance. *Biol. Psychiatry* 82, 447–454. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2017.06.031

Couture, S., Penn, D., Losh, M., Adolphs, R., Hurley, R., and Piven, J. (2010). Comparison of social cognitive functioning in schizophrenia and high functioning autism: more convergence than divergence. *Psychol. Med.* 40, 569–579. doi: 10.1017/S003329170999078X

Craig, A. D. (2002). How do you feel? Interoception: the sense of the physiological condition of the body. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 3, 655–666. doi: 10.1038/nrn894

Craig, A. D. (2008). "Interoception and emotion," in *Handbook of Emotions*, eds J. M. Haviland-Jones, L. F. Barrett, and M. Lewis (New York, NY: Guildford Publications), 272–288

Craig, A. D. (2014). How Do You Feel? Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.

Critchley, H. D., and Garfinkel, S. N. (2018). The influence of physiological signals on cognition. *Curr. Opin. Behav. Sci.* 19, 13-18. doi: 10.1016/j.cobeha.2017.08.014

Critchley, H. D., and Harrison, N. A. (2013). Visceral influences on brain and behavior. *Neuron* 77, 624–638. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2013.02.008

Critchley, H. D., Mathias, C. J., and Dolan, R. J. (2001). Neuroanatomical basis for first-and second-order representations of bodily states. *Nat. Neurosci.* 4, 207–212. doi: 10.1038/84048

Critchley, H. D., Wiens, S., Rotshtein, P., Öhman, A., and Dolan, R. J. (2004). Neural systems supporting interoceptive awareness. *Nat. Neurosci.* 7, 189–195. doi: 10.1038/nn1176

Csardi, G., and Nepusz, T. (2006). The igraph software package for complex network research. *Interj. Complex Syst.* 1695, 1–9.

Dabrowski, C., and Hunt, F. (2011). "Using Markov chain and graph theory concepts to analyze behavior in complex distributed systems," in *Paper Presented at the The 23rd European Modeling and Simulation Symposium* (Rome).

Damasio, A., and Carvalho, G. B. (2013). The nature of feelings: evolutionary and neurobiological origins. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 14, 143–152. doi: 10.1038/nrn3403

Dell'Osso, L., and Pini, S. (2012). What did we learn from research on comorbidity in psychiatry? Advantages and limitations in the forthcoming DSM-V era. *Clin. Pract. Epidemiol. Mental Health* 8, 180. doi: 10.2174/1745017901208010180

Demartini, B., Nisticò, V., Ranieri, R., Scattolini, C., Fior, G., Priori, A., et al. (2021). Reduced interoceptive accuracy in patients with obsessive-compulsive disorder: a case-control study. *J. Clin. Neurosci.* 90, 152–154. doi: 10.1016/j.jocn.2021.05.067

Di Lernia, D., Serino, S., and Riva, G. (2016). Pain in the body. Altered interoception in chronic pain conditions: a systematic review. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 71, 328–341. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.09.015

DuBois, D., Ameis, S. H., Lai, M.-C., Casanova, M. F., and Desarkar, P. (2016). Interoception in autism spectrum disorder: a review. *Int. J. Dev. Neurosci.* 52, 104–111. doi: 10.1016/j.ijdevneu.2016.05.001

Dunn, B. D., Galton, H. C., Morgan, R., Evans, D., Oliver, C., Meyer, M., et al. (2010). Listening to your heart: how interoception shapes emotion experience and intuitive decision making. *Psychol. Sci.* 21, 1835–1844. doi: 10.1177/0956797610389191

Duschek, S., Montoro, C. I., and Reyes del Paso, G. A. (2017). Diminished interoceptive awareness in fibromyalgia syndrome. *Behav. Med.* 43, 100–107. doi: 10.1080/08964289.2015.1094442

Edwards, D. J. (2019). Age, pain intensity, values-discrepancy, and mindfulness as predictors for mental health and cognitive fusion: hierarchical regressions with mediation analysis. *Front. Psychol.* 10, 517. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019. 00517

Edwards, D. J. (2021). Ensuring effective public health communication: Insights and modeling efforts from theories of behavioral economics, heuristics, and behavioral analysis for decision making under risk. *Front. Psychol.* 12, 715159. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.715159

Edwards, D. J., and Lowe, R. (2021). Associations between mental health, interoception, psychological flexibility, and self-as-context, as predictors for alexithymia: a deep artificial neural network approach. *Front. Psychol.* 12, 932. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.637802

Edwards, D. J., McEntaggart, C., and Barnes-Holmes, Y. (2022). A functional contextual account of background knowledge in categorization. *Front. Psychol.* 751, 745306. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.745306

Edwards, D. J., Perlman, A., and Reed, P. (2012). Unsupervised categorization in a sample of children with autism spectrum disorders. *Res Dev Disabil.* 33, 1264–1269. doi: 10.1016/j.ridd.2012.02.021

Elliott, A. C., and Woodward, W. A. (2007). Statistical Analysis Quick Reference Guidebook: With SPSS Examples. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.

Esposito, G., and Venuti, P. (2008). Analysis of toddlers' gait after six months of independent walking to identify autism: a preliminary study. *Percept. Motor Skills* 106, 259–269. doi: 10.2466/pms.106.1.259-269

Esposito, G., Venuti, P., Maestro, S., and Muratori, F. (2009). An exploration of symmetry in early autism spectrum disorders: analysis of lying. *Brain Dev.* 31, 131–138. doi: 10.1016/j.braindev.2008.04.005

Falletta-Cowden, N., Smith, P., Hayes, S. C., Georgescu, S., and Kolahdouzan, S. A. (2022). What the body reveals about lay knowledge of psychological flexibility. *J. Clin. Med.* 11, 2848. doi: 10.3390/jcm11102848

Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A.-G., and Buchner, A. (2007). G* Power 3: a flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behav. Res. Methods* 39, 175–191. doi: 10.3758/BF03193146

Feldman, H., and Friston, K. (2010). Attention, uncertainty, and free-energy. Front. Hum. Neurosci. 4, 215. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2010.00215

Fitzgerald, M., and Bellgrove, M. A. (2006). The overlap between alexithymia and Asperger's syndrome. J. Autism Dev. Disord. 36, 573–576. doi: 10.1007/s10803-006-0096-z

Forgeard, M. J., Haigh, E. A., Beck, A. T., Davidson, R. J., Henn, F. A., Maier, S. F., et al. (2011). Beyond depression: Toward a process-based approach to research, diagnosis, and treatment. *Clin. Psychol. Sci. Pract.* 18, 275–299. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-2850.2011.01259.x

Frewen, P. A., Evans, E. M., Maraj, N., Dozois, D. J., and Partridge, K. (2008). Letting go: mindfulness and negative automatic thinking. *Cognit. Ther. Res.* 32, 758–774. doi: 10.1007/s10608-007-9142-1

Gates, K. M., and Molenaar, P. C. (2012). Group search algorithm recovers effective connectivity maps for individuals in homogeneous and heterogeneous samples. *Neuroimage* 63, 310–319. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012.06.026

George, D., and Mallery, P. (1999). SPSS for windows step by step: a simple guide and reference. *Contemp. Psychol.* 44, 100–100.

Gird, S. R. (2013). "Developing a quantitative measure of self-as-context," in *Proceedings: 9th Annual Symposium: Graduate Research and Scholarly Projects* (Wichita, KS: Wichita State University), 47-48

Goldberger, A. L., Amaral, L. A., Glass, L., Hausdorff, J. M., Ivanov, P. C., Mark, R. G., et al. (2000). PhysioBank, PhysioToolkit, and PhysioNet: components of a new research resource for complex physiologic signals. *Circulation* 101, e215–e220. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.101.23.e215

Goodman, W. K., Price, L. H., Rasmussen, S. A., Mazure, C., Fleischmann, R. L., Hill, C. L., et al. (1989). The Yale-Brown obsessive compulsive scale: I. Development, use, and reliability. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 46, 1006–1011. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.1989.01810110048007

Grabe, H. J., Ruhrmann, S., Ettelt, S., Müller, A., Buhtz, F., Hochrein, A., et al. (2006). Alexithymia in obsessive-compulsive disorder–results from a family study. *Psychother. Psychosom.* 75, 312–318. doi: 10.1159/000093954

Guastella, A. J., Einfeld, S. L., Gray, K. M., Rinehart, N. J., Tonge, B. J., Lambert, T. J., et al. (2010). Intranasal oxytocin improves emotion recognition for youth with autism spectrum disorders. *Biol. Psychiatry* 67, 692–694. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2009.09.020

Guilmatre, A., Dubourg, C., Mosca, A.-L., Legallic, S., Goldenberg, A., Drouin-Garraud, V., et al. (2009). Recurrent rearrangements in synaptic and neurodevelopmental genes and shared biologic pathways in schizophrenia, autism, and mental retardation. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 66, 947–956. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2009.80

Happé, F., and Frith, U. (2006). The weak coherence account: detail-focused cognitive style in autism spectrum disorders. J. Autism Dev. Disord. 36, 5-25. doi: 10.1007/s10803-005-0039-0

Harshaw, C. (2015). Interoceptive dysfunction: toward an integrated framework for understanding somatic and affective disturbance in depression. *Psychol. Bull.* 141, 311. doi: 10.1037/a0038101

Hayes, A. F. (2013). Introduction to Mediation, Moderation, and Conditional Process Analysis: A Regression-Based Approach. New York, NY: The Guilford Press.

Hayes, S. C. (2019). A Liberated Mind: The Essential Guide to ACT. New York, NY: Random House.

Hayes, S. C., Barnes-Holmes, D., and Roche, B. (2001). *Relational Frame Theory: A PostSkinnerian Account of Human Language and Cognition*. New York, NY: Plenum Press. Hayes, S. C., and Hofmann, S. G. (2017). The third wave of cognitive behavioral therapy and the rise of process-based care. *World Psychiatry* 16, 245. doi: 10.1002/wps.20442

Hayes, S. C., and Hofmann, S. G. (2018). Process-Based CBT: The Science and Core Clinical Competencies of Cognitive Behavioral Therapy. Oakland, CA: New Harbinger Publications.

Hayes, S. C., and Hofmann, S. G. (2020). Beyond the DSM: Toward a Process-Based Alternative for Diagnosis and Mental Health Treatment. Oakland, CA: New Harbinger Publications.

Hayes, S. C., Hofmann, S. G., Stanton, C. E., Carpenter, J. K., Sanford, B. T., Curtiss, J. E., et al. (2019). The role of the individual in the coming era of process-based therapy. *Behav. Res. Ther.* 117, 40–53. doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2018. 10.005

Hayes, S. C., Strosahl, K. D., and Wilson, K. G. (2011). Acceptance and Commitment Therapy: The Process and Practice of Mindful Change. New York, NY: Guilford press.

Heaton, P., Reichenbacher, L., Sauter, D., Allen, R., Scott, S., and Hill, E. (2012). Measuring the effects of alexithymia on perception of emotional vocalizations in autistic spectrum disorder and typical development. *Psychol. Med.* 42, 2453–2459. doi: 10.1017/S0033291712000621

Henry, J. D., and Crawford, J. R. (2005). The short-form version of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales (DASS-21): Construct validity and normative data in a large non-clinical sample. *Br. J. Clin. Psychol.* 44, 227–239. doi:10.1348/014466505X29657

Herbert, B. M., Herbert, C., and Pollatos, O. (2011). On the relationship between interoceptive awareness and alexithymia: is interoceptive awareness related to emotional awareness? *J. Pers.* 79, 1149–1175. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-6494.2011.00717.x

Hezel, D. M., and McNally, R. J. (2016). A theoretical review of cognitive biases and deficits in obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Biol. Psychol.* 121, 221–232. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsycho.2015.10.012

Hill, E., Berthoz, S., and Frith, U. (2004). Brief report: cognitive processing of own emotions in individuals with autistic spectrum disorder and in their relatives. *J. Autism Dev. Disord.* 34, 229–235. doi: 10.1023/B:JADD.0000022613.41 399.14

Hofmann, S. G., and Hayes, S. C. (2019). The future of intervention science: process-based therapy. Clin. Psychol. Sci. 7, 37–50. doi: 10.1177/2167702618772296

Hofmann, S. G., Hayes, S. C., and Lorscheid, D. N. (2021). Learning Process-Based Therapy: A Skills Training Manual for Targeting the Core Processes of Psychological Change in Clinical Practice. Oakland, CA: New Harbinger Publications.

Hu, L. T., and Bentler, P. M. (1998). Fit indices in covariance structure modeling: sensitivity to underparameterized model misspecification. *Psychol. Methods* 3:424. doi: 10.1037/1082-989X.3.4.424

Hu, L. T., and Bentler, P. M. (1999). Cutoff criteria for fit indexes in covariance structure analysis: Conventional criteria versus new alternatives. *Struct. Equat. Model. Multidisc. J.* 6, 1–55. doi: 10.1080/10705519909540118

Insel, T., Cuthbert, B., Garvey, M., Heinssen, R., Pine, D. S., Quinn, K., et al. (2010). Research domain criteria (RDoC): toward a new classification framework for research on mental disorders. *Am. Psychiatr. Assoc.* 167, 748–751. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2010.09091379

Ivarsson, T., and Melin, K. (2008). Autism spectrum traits in children and adolescents with obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD). J. Anxiety Disord. 22, 969–978. doi: 10.1016/j.janxdis.2007.10.003

Judd, C. M., and Kenny, D. A. (1981). Process analysis: estimating mediation in treatment evaluations. *Eval. Rev.* 5, 602–619. doi: 10.1177/0193841X8100500502

Kaiser, H. F. (1974). An index of factorial simplicity. *Psychometrika* 39, 31-36. doi: 10.1007/BF02291575

Kanner, L. (1965). Infantile autism and the schizophrenias. Behav. Sci. 10, 412-420. doi: 10.1002/bs.3830100404

Kinnaird, E., Stewart, C., and Tchanturia, K. (2019). Investigating alexithymia in autism: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur. Psychiatry* 55, 80–89. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2018.09.004

Klabunde, M., Acheson, D. T., Boutelle, K. N., Matthews, S. C., and Kaye, W. H. (2013). Interoceptive sensitivity deficits in women recovered from bulimia nervosa. *Eat. Behav.* 14, 488–492. doi: 10.1016/j.eatbeh.2013.08.002

Kube, T., Schwarting, R., Rozenkrantz, L., Glombiewski, J. A., and Rief, W. (2020). Distorted cognitive processes in major depression: a predictive processing perspective. *Biol. Psychiatry.* 87, 388–398. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2019.07.017

Kupfer, D. J., First, M. B., and Regier, D. A. (2008). Research Agenda for DSM-V. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Press.

Laborde, S., Mosley, E., and Mertgen, A. (2018). Vagal tank theory: the three rs of cardiac vagal control functioning–resting, reactivity, and recovery. *Front. Neurosci.* 12, 458. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2018.00458

Lane, R. D., Ahern, G. L., Schwartz, G. E., and Kaszniak, A. W. (1997). Is alexithymia the emotional equivalent of blindsight? *Biol. Psychiatry* 42, 834–844. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(97)00050-4

Larsen, J. K., van Strien, T., Eisinga, R., and Engels, R. C. (2006). Gender differences in the association between alexithymia and emotional eating in obese individuals. *J. Psychosom. Res.* 60, 237–243. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2005.07.006

Levy, N. (2018). Obsessive-compulsive disorder as a disorder of attention. *Mind Lang.* 33, 3–16. doi: 10.1111/mila.12172

Lewis, D. A., and Levitt, P. (2002). Schizophrenia as a disorder of neurodevelopment. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.* 25, 409–432. doi: 10.1146/annurev.neuro.25.112701.142754

Lischke, A., Pahnke, R., Mau-Moeller, A., Behrens, M., Grabe, H. J., Freyberger, H. J., et al. (2018). Inter-individual differences in heart rate variability are associated with inter-individual differences in empathy and alexithymia. *Front. Psychol.* 9, 229. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00229

Mallorquí-Bagué, N., Garfinkel, S. N., Engels, M., Eccles, J. A., Pailhez, G., Bulbena, A., et al. (2014). Neuroimaging and psychophysiological investigation of the link between anxiety, enhanced affective reactivity and interoception in people with joint hypermobility. *Front. Psychol.* 5, 1162. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2014.01162

McCracken, J. T., McGough, J., Shah, B., Cronin, P., Hong, D., Aman, M. G., et al. (2002). Risperidone in children with autism and serious behavioral problems. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 347, 314–321. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa013171

McHugh, L., and Stewart, I. (2012). The Self and Perspective Taking: Contributions and Applications From Modern Behavioral Science. Oakland, CA: New Harbinger Publications.

McHugh, L., Stewart, I., and Almada, P. (2019). A Contextual Behavioral Guide to the Self: Theory and Practice. Oakland, CA: New Harbinger Publications.

Mehling, W. E. (2016). Differentiating attention styles and regulatory aspects of self-reported interoceptive sensibility. *Philos. Transac. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 371, 20160013. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2016.0013

Mehling, W. E., Acree, M., Stewart, A., Silas, J., and Jones, A. (2018). The multidimensional assessment of interoceptive awareness, version 2 (MAIA-2). *PLoS ONE* 13, e0208034. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0208034

Meier, S. M., Petersen, L., Schendel, D. E., Mattheisen, M., Mortensen, P. B., and Mors, O. (2015). Obsessive-compulsive disorder and autism spectrum disorders: longitudinal and offspring risk. *PLoS ONE* 10, e0141703. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0141703

Membrilla, J. A., De Lorenzo, Í., Sastre, M., and Diaz de Teran, J. (2020). Headache as a cardinal symptom of coronavirus disease 2019: A cross-sectional study. *Headache J. Head Face Pain* 60, 2176–2191. doi: 10.1111/head.13967

Möller, H.-J. (2014). The consequences of DSM-5 for psychiatric diagnosis and psychopharmacotherapy. Int. J. Psychiatry Clin. Pract. 18, 78-85. doi: 10.3109/13651501.2014.890228

Mottron, L., Dawson, M., Soulières, I., Hubert, B., and Burack, J. (2006). Enhanced perceptual functioning in autism: an update, and eight principles of autistic perception. *J. Autism Dev. Disord.* 36, 27–43. doi: 10.1007/s10803-005-0040-7

Murphy, F. C., Nimmo-Smith, I., and Lawrence, A. D. (2003). Functional neuroanatomy of emotions: a meta-analysis. *Cogn. Affect. Behav. Neurosci.* 3, 207–233. doi: 10.3758/CABN.3.3.207

Nayate, A., Bradshaw, J. L., and Rinehart, N. J. (2005). Autism and Asperger's disorder: are they movement disorders involving the cerebellum and/or basal ganglia? *Brain Res. Bull.* 67, 327–334. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresbull.2005.07.011

Newman, M. E., and Girvan, M. (2004). Finding and evaluating community structure in networks. *Phys. Rev. E* 69, 026113. doi: 10.1103/PhysRevE.69.026113

NICE (2014). Autism: The NICE Guideline on Recognition, Referral, Diagnosis and Management of Adults on the Autism Spectrum. Retrieved from: https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/qs51 (accessed June 27, 2022).

Nicholson, T. M., Williams, D. M., Grainger, C., Christensen, J. F., Calvo-Merino, B., and Gaigg, S. B. (2018). Interoceptive impairments do not lie at the heart of autism or alexithymia. *J. Abnorm. Psychol.* 127, 612. doi: 10.1037/abn00 00370

O'Brien, W. H., Goetz, P., O'Brien, A. T., McCarren, H., and Delaney, E. (2021). Respiratory sinus arrhythmia predicts perceived therapy process of a group-based acceptance and commitment therapy intervention. *Bull. Menninger Clin.* 85, 9–22. doi: 10.1521/bumc.2021.85.1.9

Ongaro, G., and Kaptchuk, T. J. (2019). Symptom perception, placebo effects, and the Bayesian brain. *Pain* 160, 1. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.00000000001367

O'Reilly, J. X., Jbabdi, S., and Behrens, T. E. (2012). How can a Bayesian approach inform neuroscience? *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 35, 1169–1179. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2012.08010.x

Owens, A. P., Friston, K. J., Low, D. A., Mathias, C. J., and Critchley, H. D. (2018). Investigating the relationship between cardiac interoception and autonomic cardiac control using a predictive coding framework. *Auton. Neurosci.* 210, 65–71. doi: 10.1016/j.autneu.2018.01.001

Ozonoff, S., Young, G. S., Goldring, S., Greiss-Hess, L., Herrera, A. M., Steele, J., et al. (2008). Gross motor development, movement abnormalities, and early identification of autism. *J. Autism Dev. Disord.* 38, 644–656. doi: 10.1007/s10803-007-0430-0

Pallant, J. (2020). SPSS Survival Manual: A Step by Step Guide to Data Analysis Using IBM SPSS. Milton Park, QC: Routledge.

Palluzzi, F., and Grassi, M. (2021). SEMgraph: an R package for causal network analysis of high-throughput data with structural equation models. *arXiv* preprint arXiv, 2103.08332. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.2103.08332

Paulus, M. P., and Stein, M. B. (2006). An insular view of anxiety. *Biol. Psychiatry* 60, 383–387. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2006.03.042

Paulus, M. P., and Stein, M. B. (2010). Interoception in anxiety and depression. Brain Struct. Funct. 214, 451-463. doi: 10.1007/s00429-010-0258-9

Pearl, J. (1998). Graphs, causality, and structural equation models. Sociol. Methods Res. 27, 226–284. doi: 10.1177/0049124198027002004

Pellicano, E., and Burr, D. (2012). When the world becomes 'too real': a Bayesian explanation of autistic perception. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 16, 504–510. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2012.08.009

Peugh, J., and Feldon, D. F. (2020). "How well does your structural equation model fit your data?": Is marcoulides and Yuan's equivalence test the answer? *CBE Life Sci. Educ.* 19, es5. doi: 10.1187/cbe.20-01-0016

Pike, C. (2013). The association between alexithymia, impulsivity and negative affect in emotional and external eating (Unpublished doctoral thesis). University of Canterbury, Christchurch, New Zealand.

Pinaquy, S., Chabrol, H., Simon, C., Louvet, J. P., and Barbe, P. (2003). Emotional eating, alexithymia, and binge-eating disorder in obese women. *Obes. Res.* 11, 195–201. doi: 10.1038/oby.2003.31

Pinkham, A. E., Hopfinger, J. B., Pelphrey, K. A., Piven, J., and Penn, D. L. (2008). Neural bases for impaired social cognition in schizophrenia and autism spectrum disorders. *Schizophr. Res.* 99, 164–175. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2007.10.024

Pinna, T., and Edwards, D. J. (2020). A systematic review of associations between interoception, vagal tone, and emotional regulation: Potential applications for mental health, wellbeing, psychological flexibility, and chronic conditions. *Front. Psychol.* 11:1792. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.01792

Pittig, A., Arch, J. J., Lam, C. W., and Craske, M. G. (2013). Heart rate and heart rate variability in panic, social anxiety, obsessive-compulsive, and generalized anxiety disorders at baseline and in response to relaxation and hyperventilation. *Int. J. Psychophysiol.* 87, 19–27. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2012.10.012

Pollatos, O., Gramann, K., and Schandry, R. (2007). Neural systems connecting interoceptive awareness and feelings. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 28, 9–18. doi: 10.1002/hbm.20258

Pollatos, O., Traut-Mattausch, E., and Schandry, R. (2009). Differential effects of anxiety and depression on interoceptive accuracy. *Depress. Anxiety* 26, 167–173. doi: 10.1002/da.20504

Pons, P., and Latapy, M. (2005). Computing communities in large networks using random walks. *Paper Presented at the International Symposium on Computer and Information Sciences* (Berlin).

Porges, S. W. (2007). A phylogenetic journey through the vague and ambiguous Xth cranial nerve: a commentary on contemporary heart rate variability research. *Biol. Psychol.* 74, 301–307. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsycho.2006.08.007

Porges, S. W. (2018). "Polyvagal theory: a primer," in *Clinical Applications of the Polyvagal Theory: The Emergence of Polyvagal-Informed Therapies*, eds S. W. Porges and D. Dana (New York, NY: WW Norton), 69.

Porges, S. W. (2022). Polyvagal theory: a science of safety. *Front. Integr. Neurosci.* 16:871227. doi: 10.3389/fnint.2022.871227

Qiu, A., Adler, M., Crocetti, D., Miller, M. I., and Mostofsky, S. H. (2010). Basal ganglia shapes predict social, communication, and motor dysfunctions in boys with autism spectrum disorder. *J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry* 49, 539–551. e534. doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2010.02.012

Quadt, L., Critchley, H., Garfinkel, S., Tsakiris, M., and De Preester, H. (2019). "Interoception and emotion: Shared mechanisms and clinical implications," in *The Interoceptive Mind: From Homeostasis to Awareness*, eds M. Tsakiris and H. De Preester (Oxford: Oxford University Press), 123–143. Quattrocki, E., and Friston, K. (2014). Autism, oxytocin and interoception. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 47, 410-430. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2014.09.012

Rief, W., and Joormann, J. (2019). Revisiting the cognitive model of depression: the role of expectations. *Clin. Psychol. Europe* 1, 1–19. doi: 10.32872/cpe.v1i1.32605

Rinehart, N. J., Tonge, B. J., Bradshaw, J. L., Iansek, R., Enticott, P. G., and McGinley, J. (2006). Gait function in high-functioning autism and Asperger's disorder. *Eur. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry* 15, 256–264. doi: 10.1007/s00787-006-0530-y

Schandry, R. (1981). Heart beat perception and emotional experience. Psychophysiology 18, 483-488. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8986.1981.tb02486.x

Schultchen, D., Zaudig, M., Krauseneck, T., Berberich, G., and Pollatos, O. (2019). Interoceptive deficits in patients with obsessive-compulsive disorder in the time course of cognitive-behavioral therapy. *PLoS ONE* 14, e0217237. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0217237

Schumann, A., and Bär, K.-J. (2022). Autonomic aging–A dataset to quantify changes of cardiovascular autonomic function during healthy aging. *Sci. Data* 9, 1–5. doi: 10.1038/s41597-022-01202-y

Seth, A. K. (2013). Interoceptive inference, emotion, and the embodied self. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 17, 565–573. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2013.09.007

Seth, A. K., and Friston, K. J. (2016). Active interoceptive inference and the emotional brain. *Philos. Transac. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 371, 20160007. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2016.0007

Shah, P., Catmur, C., and Bird, G. (2017). From heart to mind: Linking interoception, emotion, and theory of mind. *Cortex* 93, 220. doi: 10.1016/j.cortex.2017.02.010

Sifneos, P. E. (1973). The prevalence of 'alexithymic'characteristics in psychosomatic patients. *Psychother. Psychosom.* 22, 255–262. doi: 10.1159/000286529

Silani, G., Bird, G., Brindley, R., Singer, T., Frith, C., and Frith, U. (2008). Levels of emotional awareness and autism: an fMRI study. *Soc. Neurosci.* 3, 97–112. doi: 10.1080/17470910701577020

Singer, T., Critchley, H. D., and Preuschoff, K. (2009). A common role of insula in feelings, empathy and uncertainty. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 13, 334–340. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2009.05.001

Slaap, B., Nielen, M., Boshuisen, M., Van Roon, A., and Den Boer, J. (2004). Five-minute recordings of heart rate variability in obsessive-compulsive disorder, panic disorder and healthy volunteers. *J. Affect. Disord.* 78, 141–148. doi: 10.1016/S0165-0327(02)00240-9

Smith, P., and Hayes, S. C. (2022). An open-source relational network derivation script in R for modeling and visualizing complex behavior for scientists and practitioners. *Front. Psychol.* 13, 914485. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022. 914485

Smith, S. D., Nadeau, C., Sorokopud-Jones, M., and Kornelsen, J. (2021). The relationship between functional connectivity and interoceptive sensibility. *Brain Connect.* 12, 417–431. doi: 10.1089/brain.2020.0777

Stephan, K. E., Manjaly, Z. M., Mathys, C. D., Weber, L. A., Paliwal, S., Gard, T., et al. (2016). Allostatic self-efficacy: a metacognitive theory of dyshomeostasis-induced fatigue and depression. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 10, 550. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2016.00550

Storch, E. A., Rasmussen, S. A., Price, L. H., Larson, M. J., Murphy, T. K., and Goodman, W. K. (2010). Development and psychometric evaluation of the Yale–Brown Obsessive-Compulsive Scale—Second Edition. *Psychol. Assess.* 22, 223. doi: 10.1037/a0018492

Strigo, I. A., and Craig, A. D. (2016). Interoception, homeostatic emotions and sympathovagal balance. *Philos. Transac. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 371, 20160010. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2016.0010

Sugranyes, G., Kyriakopoulos, M., Corrigall, R., Taylor, E., and Frangou, S. (2011). Autism spectrum disorders and schizophrenia: meta-analysis of the neural correlates of social cognition. *PLoS ONE* 6, e25322. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0025322

Task Force of the European Society of Cardiology the North American Society of Pacing Electrophysiology (1996). Heart rate variability: standards of measurement, physiological interpretation, and clinical use. *Circulation* 93, 1043–1065. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.93.5.1043

Thayer, J. (2009). "Heart rate variability: a neurovisceral integration model," in *Encyclopedia of Neuroscience*, ed L. R. Squire (Oxford: Academic Press), 1041–1047.

Thayer, J., and Lane, R. D. (2009). Claude Bernard and the heart-brain connection: Further elaboration of a model of neurovisceral integration. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 33, 81–88. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2008.08.004

Torneke, N. (2010). Learning RFT: An Introduction to Relational Frame Theory and its Clinical Application. New York, NY: New Harbinger Publications.

Trevisan, D. A., Mehling, W. E., and McPartland, J. C. (2021). Adaptive and maladaptive bodily awareness: distinguishing interoceptive sensibility and interoceptive attention from anxiety-induced somatization in autism and alexithymia. *Autism Res.* 14, 240–247. doi: 10.1002/aur.2458

Tsakiris, M., and De Preester, H. (2018). *The Interoceptive Mind: From Homeostasis to Awareness*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Ussher, M., Spatz, A., Copland, C., Nicolaou, A., Cargill, A., Amini-Tabrizi, N., et al. (2014). Immediate effects of a brief mindfulness-based body scan on patients with chronic pain. *J. Behav. Med.* **37**, 127–134. doi: 10.1007/s10865-012-9466-5

van Laarhoven, T., Stekelenburg, J. J., Eussen, M. L., and Vroomen, J. (2019). Electrophysiological alterations in motor-auditory predictive coding in autism spectrum disorder. *Autism Res.* 12, 589–599. doi: 10.1002/aur.2087

Volkmar, F. R., Lord, C., Bailey, A., Schultz, R. T., and Klin, A. (2004). Autism and pervasive developmental disorders. *J. Child Psychol. Psychiatry* 45, 135–170. doi: 10.1046/j.0021-9630.2003.00317.x

Walker, H. K. (1990). "Cranial nerve V: the trigeminal nerve," in *Clinical Methods: The History, Physical, and Laboratory Examinations*, eds H. K. Walker, W. D. Hall, and J. W. Hurst JW (Boston, MA: Butterworths), 318–321.

Weigard, A., Lane, S., Gates, K., and Beltz, A. (2021). The influence of autoregressive relation strength and search strategy on directionality

recovery in group iterative multiple model estimation. *Psychol. Methods.* doi: 10.1037/met0000460

Yoris, A., García, A., Salamone, P., Sedeño, L., García-Cordero, I., and Ibáñez, A. (2018). "Cardiac interoception in neurological conditions and its relevance for dimensional approaches," in *The Interoceptive Min From Homeostasis to Awareness* (Oxford: Oxford University Press), 187–211.

Yoris, A., García, A. M., Traiber, L., Santamaría-García, H., Martorell, M., Alifano, F., et al. (2017). The inner world of overactive monitoring: neural markers of interoception in obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Psychol. Med.* 47, 1957–1970. doi: 10.1017/S0033291717000368

Yu, M., Hillebrand, A., Tewarie, P., Meier, J., van Dijk, B., Van Mieghem, P., et al. (2015). Hierarchical clustering in minimum spanning trees. *Chaos Interdisc. J. Nonlinear Sci.* 25, 023107. doi: 10.1063/1.4908014

Zamariola, G., Vlemincx, E., Corneille, O., and Luminet, O. (2018). Relationship between interoceptive accuracy, interoceptive sensibility, and alexithymia. *Pers. Individ. Dif.* 125, 14–20. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2017.12.024

Zettle, R. D., Gird, S. R., Webster, B. K., Carrasquillo-Richardson, N., Swails, J. A., and Burdsal, C. A. (2018). The Self-as-Context Scale: development and preliminary psychometric properties. *J. Context. Behav. Sci.* 10, 64–74. doi: 10.1016/j.jcbs.2018.08.010

Zhang, J. (2007). Effect of age and sex on heart rate variability in healthy subjects. J. Manipulative Physiol. Ther. 30, 374–379. doi: 10.1016/j.jmpt.2007. 04.001

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Diogo Telles-Correia, University of Lisbon, Portugal

REVIEWED BY Guido Giovanardi, Sapienza University of Rome, Italy

*CORRESPONDENCE Stefania Cataudella scataudel@unica.it

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Psychopathology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

RECEIVED 30 April 2022 ACCEPTED 29 July 2022 PUBLISHED 08 September 2022

CITATION

Carta S and Cataudella S (2022) Adolescence between biology and culture a perspective on the crisis of symbolization. *Front. Psychol.* 13:932863. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.932863

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Carta and Cataudella. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Adolescence between biology and culture a perspective on the crisis of symbolization

Stefano Carta and Stefania Cataudella*

Department of Pedagogy, Psychology, Philosophy, University of Cagliari, Cagliari, Italy

One way to conceptualize human life is to describe it as a process through which the biological body is progressively transformed into a psychological one through its mentalization and symbolization. This process occurs through the relational field, which begins with caregiver-infant proto-conversations and develops through adolescence into the ongoing complex interpersonal relational network we call society and culture. The essence and the problems of adolescents are intricately tied to the social and cultural contexts in which they experience life. Therefore, adolescence cannot be understood if all the levels that it expresses (biological, psychological cultural/social) are not taken into consideration. We identify three psycho-historical phases through which adolescence has changed in the past century: (1) Oedipal; (2) Narcissistic; and (3) Post-narcissistic. In this last phase due to the psychological and historical failure of the narcissistic ideals, the ideal is mingling with the real in a wholly new way. This process has overturned Erikson's paradigm: identity, opposed and defined by a dichotomic otherness, must be transformed into a fluid integration of similarities and differences negotiated and developed through empirical interpersonal intersubjective experiences. This, in our perspective, is a possible key to understand the rapid change in the nature of consciousness, selfhood, and gendering in today's western world, together with some important psychopathological disorders which describe the new creative challenges of today's adolescents.

KEYWORDS

adolescence, identity, psychopathological disorders, crisis, Oedipus complex, narcissism, anthropology, ethnology

Introduction

It is possible to say that human life is a process through which the biological body is progressively transformed into a psychological one through its mentalization and symbolization (Bion, 1962). This process occurs through the relational field, which begins with caregiver-infant proto-conversations and develops through adolescence into the ongoing, complex, and interpersonal relational network we call society and culture. In this sense, Anthropology is the *complementary* side of a whole in which the other aspect is Psychology (Devereux, 1978). Within this perspective, the essence and the problems of adolescents are tied to the social and cultural contexts in which they experience life (Erikson, 1959; Coleman, 1974; Lerner and Foch, 1987; Dahl et al., 2018; Hurrelmann and Quenzel, 2018; Israel et al., 2021). Therefore, adolescence cannot be understood if all the levels that it expresses (biological and psychological cultural/social) are not taken into consideration (Sawyer et al., 2018; Worthman and Trang, 2018).

Adolescence's developmental tasks (Lancini, 2019; Lancini et al., 2020), as highly complex as they are, define adolescence as a real-time of transformation, so pervasive as to be described as a second birth (Blos, 1962, 1967). Erikson (1968) somehow considered adolescence the barycenter of the subject's development, from the beginning of postnatal life (the Freudian "primary narcissism" and the "oral stage") to old age and the completion of the life cycle by finding meaning in its very finitude. Erikson also theorized that adolescence was essentially a critical process-i.e., somehow a de-integration of the previous infantile state of the self-to obtain a more mature self, now integrated into a developed self-reflective awareness, and subject/object constancy (Mahler et al., 1975)a self-provided with what Erikson called "identity." The critical nature of this process and its challenges, for many aspects such as the deeply ambiguous and disconcerting nature of the middle phase of the anthropological rites of passages as described by Van Gennep (1961), are described by Erikson as a "crisis" which may be resolved at the positive end of the process, or which may end in a fragmented psycho-social organization (confusion and diffusion of identity).

We would like to re-formulate Erikson's view. In fact, we think that today both concepts of crisis and identity have become critical themselves. From the consideration that the child at the end of adolescence will become an active agent of his/her cultural (symbolic), social, economic, and historical world, we maintain that adolescence is not only a process that happens through interpersonal time (and that, therefore, may be studied through a purely psychological lens) but that it also takes place within a social, economic, anthropological, and historical time (and that, therefore, needs an ethno-psychological perspective). The point is that the same applies to Erikson's theory itself, as we think that today-at least in the capitalistic Westthe contemporary empirical form of "identity" is profoundly different from Erikson's time and that this difference implies also a revision of the concept of "crisis," as Erikson conceptualized it. In a few words, identity and crisis themselves might be a historically determined form of the many ways the structural and representational self is organized.

In our opinion, from the middle of the 1960s to the present time adolescence and, therefore, "identity" and "crisis" have undergone a very deep transformation. A point of reference for this is Deleuze and Guattari's *Anti-Oedipus* (Deleuze and Guattari, 1977), in which the authors analyzed the reformulation of the organization of the personality in the West as wholly embedded within history and, therefore, capitalism. In fact, capitalism is the form of the most pervasive contemporary *mythology* that organizes the totality of human life in post-modernity (for an interpretation of mythology see,

for instance, Jung, 1951), and which encompasses narratives that symbolize and organize all levels of life from its embodied forms—such as sex, genders, and procreation—all the way to the social, religious, and cultural levels. Under this perspective, Deleuze and Guattari's position seems very pertinent, indeed.

Within a psycho-historical perspective we individuate three main phases: (1) Oedipal; (2) Narcissistic; and (3) Post-Narcissistic.

The Oedipal phase

Before the 1960s, the main organizing mental-and therefore social and anthropological (hence mythical) structure, at least for the western's mind, was the Oedipus complex. Just to sketch our argument: in the Oedipus complex, history is (a) conservative, as the child must identify with the Father and therefore carry his value-system, under the form of Super-Ego, toward the next generation; and (b) repressive, as the polymorphic and "perverse" (Freud, 1905) nature of the unconscious (the infinitely creative and alive body without organs, as defined by Deleuze and Guattari (1977) is confined within rigid norms under the threat of castration-i.e., the absolute loss of psychic life. Erikson was writing precisely during this time when *historical* identity was under huge attack (a crisis) by the "Beat generation." In fact, during the revolution of the 60s, we notice a migration of the ideal from the Father to the Child. Before the 1960s, the empirical representation of the self could provide stability and recognition to the personality by granting not only its regulative function but because of its transgenerational stability derived from the identification with the Father, also the illusion of its constitutive reality (Kant, 1967), which psychoanalysis (Freud, 1905) and analytical psychology (Jung, 1951) had already definitively dismantled by proving the intrinsic dissociability of the psyche. For Erikson (1950, 1968), the synthetic and regulative function of the ego would grant stability, and recognition together with a highly stableapparently constitutive-identity, which means: the possibility to constitutively belong to a specific psycho-social category, stable in biographical, social and historical time-a category whose borders, once established-had to remain very well defined and fixed. Such an identity would automatically define the other as a wholly Other. Erikson's world was a world based on static and well-defined identities express by nouns, and not on fluid relationships expressed by adjectives and verbs, a world destined to change under a complex set of historical conditions, among which: the two world wars, the ever-increasing pace of capitalism, materialism, individualism, and the subordination of every possible difference to that of the relationship between the subject as a consumer and his objects as commodities, and the logarithmic acceleration of time.

The narcissistic phase

The revolution of the 60s demolished the super-egoic authority of the Father and therefore, broke transgenerational continuity, while historical changes dramatically accelerated (Lévi-Strauss, 1967). This meant the migration of the ideal from the Father to the Child, and the subsequent birth of psychosocial mythology whose essential feature was narcissism (Sobo, 1977). For this myth, the Child, and with-it youth, consumption, creativity, change, manic-like lifestyles, and transgression become the basic organizers of identity. A narcissistic identity for which the adolescent has the illusion that he/she must be a uniquely precious being (who he/she is, indeed. The question is what the adolescent will do with the opposite values: his/her "normality"). In this phase, the Western adolescent (and hence the future adult) believes that he/she may fabricate his/her own values; that he/she is already mature before any painstaking process of learning. The fact that learning is necessary to pursue an ideal that, differently from what the subject believes, is not yet real, and will never be, is negated. In Freudian terms, this is due to the unresolved Oedipal complex and the impossibility to enter into latency. The Child has the illusion to be already an adult. The ideal seems real.

In this narcissistic historical phase, sexuality is liberated; the myths of "authenticity" and creativity are claimed, although the tragic illusion (which will be progressively clear in the next phase) of the right to be adored and admired (by the Oedipal mother) remains an illusion; an illusion which the fundamental capitalistic myth will use for its own structural purposes: consumption and commodification. In this scene, while the adolescent tries to realize his/her "identity," more than getting to love an exogamic-a real-object, he/she wishes to be loved by the object. Ethics-which was a central feature of the previous Oedipal/Superegoic phase-is now substituted by a narcissistic exhibitionism and, therefore, with esthetics. This is the time in which bulimia comes into the world scene for the first time ever, probably as an ethno-psychological tragic cry that something, in the liberation of women from the phallic domination is failing and should be re-thought in much more radical terms (Anderson-Fye, 2018).

This narcissistic historical phase was bound to fail, together with its cocky and yet extremely fragile, insecure "identity," which had lost its symbolic reference to the Father. In fact, this phase-specific form of identity formation cannot mark the completion of adolescence, as it was with Erikson, but will actually infinitely *prolong* it by transforming adolescence itself in a permanent, positive pseudo-value for every age. Instead of a child becoming an adult through adolescence, we witness an eternally pseudo-adolescent ideal adult. Within this sense of identity, everyone wishes to remain young and "creative"; everyone will claim an enslaving and impossible hyper-sexuality (which, in the capitalistic myth will be soon pornographically commodified and used as a form of consumption), an eternal youth, together with the "right" to affirm the subject's opinions even if they have no real ground, logic, rationality, or sophistication. In this context, social media are the places in which everyone may *tell without ever listening* (McCain and Campbell, 2018). Even if there is no real knowledge, expertise, or ground to justify these assertions. Once again: talent is narcissistically given for granted, even if it does not exist, and the process of learning (i.e., living, growing up) is ignored. Within this psycho-anthropological milieu, how can an adolescent realize the tasks of such a complex process? Within this picture, how can we define "crisis" as referred to as adolescence if the whole ideal regarding how life should be has become adolescentlike? The crisis of what once was adolescence becomes the existential crisis of every age for everyone.

The post-narcissistic phase

The third phase is the present one. As with all developmental cycles, the end of the previous narcissistic phase is the result of its own acme, for which, paradoxically, it is the adults who have absorbed many values of adolescence. In this historical phase, a large multiplicity of factors, which involve the structure of the western self, disrupt the very core of what we so far called "identity." Among these factors we may remember: the hyper fragmentation of social life and the transgenerational discontinuity, which entails the idealization of present and future and the de-idealization of the past (which carries a sense of being uprooted from the "world of the ancestors" and makes it much harder to recognize the pervasive transgenerational nature of psychological conflicts); globalization-i.e., the infinite flow of equivalent commodities, among which we include humans, neutralized by their being measured exclusively by their economic value as producers/consumers; the possibility to live apparently infinite lives in what we now know as the "virtual world" (unknown in history before today), while these lives risk to remain virtual anyway and, therefore, are an obstacle to the fundamental goal of adolescence of realizing (knowing / making real) its ideals; the compulsive, desperate way to try to exist as socialized individuals (i.e., to stably exist through compulsive requests of mirroring the adolescent's idealized narcissism by others) as we may notice from the explosion of the phenomenon of the selfie; the progressive empirical realization that the idealized Child actually lives a less creative and meaningful life, bound to commodification and consumption (hence, that the subject of experience is actually subjected to his/her commodified objects); the looming realization that he/she will not be admired as he/she needs, since everyone-as it always happens in adolescence-is looking for the same recognition by the others (Chopik and Grimm, 2019).

To this progressive realization of the betrayed promises that the idealized narcissistic Child pursued is the realization of the climate crises and, generally, of the catastrophic results of the last decades of the Anthropocene. The world is not the oyster in which the narcissistic Child will shine. An anomic trait of this historical phase is the hiatus between an illusion of being an ideal Child and the absurd cutthroat competitiveness which children, adolescents, and post-adolescents must face throughout their schooling, and where cooperation (which, again, promotes social fragmentation, and intrinsic solitude) seems not to be convenient. Here we see the covert, hugely destructive revenge of the Father toward his children.

In fact, the previous narcissistic investment of the idealized Child had created the conditions for a structural shrinking of the former psychosocial categories of identity, which were able to clearly and stably define "how to be what." This phenomenon, for which identity categories become less and less inclusive, is very coherent with the progressive molecularization and fragmentation of the social world (which carries with itself a fragmentation of the nuclear family itself). Now, the adolescent becomes always more and more a self-defined, nuclear subject, while the identity categories, without the organizing role of the Father, become extremely fluid.

In this phase-the present post-narcissistic one-the "identity" of this atomized subject, based on his/her narcissistic idealization (I am special) cannot be considered an identity in the old sense anymore. In fact, in this psycho-historical phase, we witness the end of identity as Erikson had envisioned. The social and psychological fluidity (Bauman, 2000, 2009) coupled with the extreme narcissistic individualism (a sort of ego-centrism) cannot any longer resort to already given categories (destroyed together with the Oedipal Father) into which identify. Now, identity refers not to belonging to an already given social, personal, or sexual top-down category (as it happened in the Oedipal historical phase), but to an empirical bottom-up cluster. If the Oedipal category of the pre-narcissistic phase was a psycho-social formation derived from the idealized Father, now the adolescent's "identity" resembles the aggregation of specific, empirical features that the individual-the subject-collects bottom-up through his/her own intersubjective, interpersonal, and social life. Through this path, he/she will aggregate into a cluster of his/her characteristics and only at this point look around to see who could be defined in the same way, and who could belong to the same cluster. This process is producing enormous stress on language, its nouns, and pronouns (She, He, It, ... How many pronouns will be needed? What will the balance between the narcissistic atomized identity and the fluidity of belonging to clusters be?).

We are witnessing a powerful process of hybridization and creolization, in which differences and similarities mingle and form *fluid identities*, which, paradoxically deconstruct what is identical and do not denote anything as identical anymore (Remotti, 2019). As highlighted by Lemma (2015, 2018) freedom of choice and the right to self-realization emerge as guiding principles. Indeed, it could be argued that nowadays we are expected to present ourselves as biographically flexible and open to change. This freedom of choice finds its synthesis in the ability to customize one's body-a trend modeled on consumer choices under the dominance of the neo-liberal consumerist concept with the attendant risk that identity is based on what the author herself defines as "acquisitive imitations" where imitation trumps identification. It seems that today, what Erikson called "crisis" has actually become the immanent device of this fluidity. What was critical then, is normal and constitutive now. Obviously, the challenges of this peculiar nature of adolescence are, as usual, very great. Yet, they seem to be very different from those of the Erikson's Oedipal phase, and even those of the previous narcissistic phase. The possibility to find and in dwell within these multiple, changing clusters may not only produce a less difference, but also less polarized and conflictual personality structure and society. It may also produce identity disorders and a feeling of non-continuity of one's personal biography (something that we have witnessed in the progressive transformation of psycho-pathologies in the last 60 years), or dangerous potential phenomena of superficial forms of identification in search for a more stable identity definition.

One thing is evident among all: what for Freud was the fundamental, essential, oppositional difference—the difference that granted identity and, therefore, also conflict, scapegoating, and splitting—the *difference between the sexes*—is now about to explode under the phenomenal deconstruction of identity and crisis and the multiplication of psycho-socio genders. Especially, this phenomenon of gender fluidity seems to represent the multiplication of identity clusters and the wholly new way to build bottom-up, a (fluid) identity through biographical time.

Clinical conclusions

Through our perspective, we tried to analyze the historical transformation of adolescence—itself a psychological developmental process embedded in socio-cultural history. The pivotal psychological constructs that we have identified are as follows: (a) the transformation of the ideal and its "migration" from the Father to the Child; (b) the deconstruction of what we usually call "identity," together with; and (c) the conceptualization of the adolescent process as a passage that needs to be structured by rituals as those of the anthropological rites of passage.

This view of ours implies some corollary considerations: (1) the fate of the transformations of adolescence, its ideals and identity, as we have described it, may produce defensive movements of retreat from interpersonal involvement, which may produce phenomena such as that of the so-called hikikomori; (2) the increase of internalized symptoms involving the self, and the body (self), where aggressivity may be conveyed,

with or without acting outs (such as self-harming), instead of the frequent externalizing symptoms (or just manifestations) of the adolescent's protest against society; (3) the difficulty to balance the idealizing ideals toward the object world (such as falling in love) and the narcissistic idealization of one's self (wanting to be admired), which may produce a difficult harmonization of sexual and attachment motivations and the decrease of genital sexual involvement; and (4) the progressive increase of the once (illusory) unity of identity at all levels, from the social/professional one, to those aspects that involve gender.

Referring to the Jungian point of view, we think that within the adolescent's clinical setting not only it is undesirable to promote a transference related to the adolescent's infantile history, but that this would go against the very essence of his/her psychological development (this is also the position of Pietropolli-Charmet et al., 2010). In fact, never as in adolescence is it clear that (all) psychological processes are teleological and that it is useful to consider memories and past events only if we frame them as causes-for-intrinsic aims. The past, infancy, and childhood must be seen as preparatory conditions for something future. This "future"the temporal place where the self will realize itself in the world-happens, in its purest form, within adolescence. Seen this way, the process of adolescence needs not parents, or "experts," who, already "knowing" do not express any future anymore, but figures such as mentors, who are called to initiate the adolescent into the adult world and a coherent psychological organization. This mentor might be called to perform the same functions that through the rites of passage initiate the person into a renewed and more encompassing form of life. Not transference, but the therapeutic alliance is therefore pivotal. Under this respect, the role of the psychotherapist (or also of the non-parental adult) acquires in adolescence a fundamental transitional role, for which knowledge of anthropology and ethnology might be a necessary requisite.

Such a tension toward the future describes the adolescent as the subject engrossed with the quintessential human need: to symbolize effects. It should be obvious that "symbolization" cannot but refer to a psychological activity of the mind which expresses what we call "culture" at any level we may describe it-from the interpersonal way a caregiver interacts with her/his child, to social life within history. Such a perspective, which joins symbolization, relationship, culture, and teleology, involves the adult, but in its purest and most intense form, especially the adolescent. It is adolescence's fundamental nature. This makes it imperative that the psychotherapist acquires an anthropological lens through which he/she may look at the patient, who is wholly engrossed in the very human attempt to symbolize, actualize within the relational world, and dialectically fit within his/her anthropological world his/her emotional (hence also bodily) experience of himself/herself. No reductive psychological

theories or clinical approaches, which purely psychologize or biologize the adolescent's challenges, or which reduce the intrinsic creative and open-ended nature of symbolization, can really help the adolescent. Actually, he/she will rightfully resist them.

In the present times more than ever—times in which the Father must be recreated often through what we may call the *inversion of the Shadow*—for which the "positive" traits of kindness, sensibility, love, curiosity, etc., are hidden under "negative" traits, the adolescent will challenge his/her therapist in order to check whether he/she is taking his/her matter as seriously as he/she is: the matters being nothing less than extracting meaning out of life and transcending its tragic, conflictual aspects.

A last clinical issue involved with the present historical situation has to do with "identity," and therefore, the sense of one's continuity in time and space. Today more than ever, the clinician must not confuse the specific forms within which the adolescent tries to recognize his/her own selfhood with the synthetic activity of the mind. In the past, it was possible to conflate the synthetic activity of the mind with the specific contents and identification that the mind tries to synthesize. In fact, it was possible for someone to be continually, personally, and socially sure "to coherently be a layer," or even "a man/woman." Today this is not so, as the plural, possible personal/social contents of one's identity are much more fluid and, often, fragmented. Therefore, the clinician is called to never conflate the synthesizing ego with its contents, while recognizing, holding, and validating its activity and continuity. The stabilization of the adolescent's identifications, and therefore of an implicit, yet impossible to make explicit sense of identity, will come with time.

Author contributions

Both authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by

its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

Anderson-Fye, E. R. (2018). "Cultural influences on body image and eating disorders," in *The Oxford Handbook of Eating Disorders*, eds W. S. Agras, and A. Robinson (Oxford: Oxford University Press), pp. 187–208. doi: 10.1093/oxfordhb/9780190620998.013.9

Bauman, Z. (2000). Liquid Modernity. Cambridge: Polity Press.

Bauman, Z. (2009). Intervista Sull'identità. Bari: Laterza.

Bion, W. W. (1962). Learning from Experience. Lanham: Rowman and Littlefield.

Blos, P. (1962). On Adolescence—A Psychoanalytic Interpretation. Detroit, MI: Free Press.

Blos, P. (1967). The second individuation process of adolescence. *Psychoanal. Study Child* 22, 162–186. doi: 10.1080/00797308.1967.11822595

Chopik, W. J., and Grimm, K. J. (2019). Longitudinal changes and historic differences in narcissism from adolescence to older adulthood. *Psychol. Aging* 34, 1109–1123. doi: 10.1037/pag0000379

Coleman, J. C. (1974). Relationships in Adolescence. London: Routledge and Kegan Paul.

Dahl, R. E., Allen, N. B., Wilbrecht, L., and Suleiman, A. B. (2018). Importance of investing in adolescence from a developmental science perspective. *Nature* 554, 441–450. doi: 10.1038/nature25770

Deleuze, G., and Guattari, F. (1977). Anti-Oedipus: Capitalism and Schizophrenia. New York, NY: Viking Press.

Devereux, G. (1978). "Two types of modal personality models," in *Ethnopsychoanalisis: Psychoanalisis and Anthropology as Complementary Frames of Reference* (Berkeley, CA: University of California Press), 113–135.

Erikson, E. H. (1950). Childhood and Society. New York, NY: WWN.

Erikson, E. H. (1959). *Identity and the Life Cycle*. Madison, WI: International University Press.

Erikson, E. H. (1968). Identity Youth and Crisis. New York, NY: WW Norton.

Freud, S. (1905). "Tre sagggi sulla teoria sessuale," in Drei Abhandlungen zur Sexualtheorie 1905, ed O. Freud (Torino: Bollati Boringhieri).

Hurrelmann, K., and Quenzel, G. (2018). *Developmental Tasks in Adolescence*. London: Routledge doi: 10.4324/9780429452055

Israel, A. C., Malatras, J. W., and Wicks-Nelson, R. (2021). *Abnormal Child and Adolescent Psychology*. New York, NY: Routledge. doi: 10.4324/9780429286896

Jung, C. G. (1951). Introduction to a Science of Mythology: The Myth of the Divine Child and the Mysteries of Eleusis. London: Routledge and Kegan Paul.

Kant, I. (1967). Critica Della Ragion Pura. Torino: UTET.

Lancini, M. (2019). Il Ritiro Sociale Negli Adolescenti. La Solitudine di una Generazione Iperconnessa. Milano: Raffaello Cortina.

Lancini, M., Cirillo, L., and Zanella, T. (2020). L'adolescente. Psicopatologia e Psicoterapia Evolutiva. Milano: Raffaello Cortina.

Lemma, A. (2015). Psychoanalysis in times of technoculture: some reflections on the fate of the body in virtual space. *Int. J. Psychoanal.* 96, 569–558. doi: 10.1111/1745-8315.12348

Lemma, A. (2018). Trans-itory identities: some psychoanalytic reflections on transgender identities. *Int. J. Psychoanal.* 99, 1089–1106. doi: 10.1080/00207578.2018.1489710

Lerner, R. M., and Foch, T. T. (1987). Biological-Psychosocial Interactions in Early Adolescence: An Overview of the Issues. London: Routledge.

Lévi-Strauss, C. (1967). Razza e Storia e Altri Studi di Antropologia. Milano: Einaudi.

Mahler, M., Pine, F., and Bergman, A. (1975). The Psychological Birth of the Human Infant. New York, NY: Basic Books.

McCain, J. L., and Campbell, W. K. (2018). Narcissism and social media use: a meta-analytic review. *Psychol. Pop Media Cult.* 7, 308–327. doi: 10.1037/ppm00 00137

Pietropolli-Charmet, G., Bignamini, S., and Comazzi, D. (2010). Psicoterapia Evolutiva Dell'adolescente. Milano: Franco Angeli.

Remotti, F. (2019). Somiglianze. Una via Per la Convivenza. Bari: Laterza.

Sawyer, S. M., Azzopardi, P. S., Wickremarathne, D., and Patton, G. C. (2018). The age of adolescence. *Lancet Child Adolesc. Health* 2, 223–228. doi: 10.1016/S2352-4642(18)30022-1

Sobo, S. (1977). Narcissism as a Function of Culture. *Psychoanal. Study Child* 32, 155–172. doi: 10.1080/00797308.1977.11822337

Van Gennep, A. (1961). The Rites of Passage. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press. doi: 10.7208/chicago/9780226027180.001.0001

Worthman, C. M., and Trang, K. (2018). Dynamics of body time, social time and life history at adolescence. *Nature* 544, 451-457. doi: 10.1038/nature25750

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Xavier Noel, Université libre de Bruxelles, Belgium

REVIEWED BY Theodoros Aslanidis, Saint Paul General Hospital, Greece Robert Perna, University of Michigan Medical Center, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Alice Bodart ⊠ Alice.Bodart@umons.ac.be

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Psychopathology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

RECEIVED 27 April 2022 ACCEPTED 17 January 2023 PUBLISHED 10 February 2023

CITATION

Bodart A, Invernizzi S, Lefebvre L and Rossignol M (2023) Physiological reactivity at rest and in response to social or emotional stimuli after a traumatic brain injury: A systematic review. *Front. Psychol.* 14:930177. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2023.930177

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Bodart, Invernizzi, Lefebvre and Rossignol. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Physiological reactivity at rest and in response to social or emotional stimuli after a traumatic brain injury: A systematic review

Alice Bodart*, Sandra Invernizzi, Laurent Lefebvre and Mandy Rossignol

Cognitive Psychology and Neuropsychology Laboratory, Department of Psychology and Educational Sciences, University of Mons, Mons, Belgium

Numerous studies have shown that alterations in physiological reactivity (PR) after traumatic brain injury (TBI) are possibly associated with emotional deficits. We conducted a systematic review of these studies that evaluated PR in adults with moderate-to-severe TBI, either at rest or in response to emotional, stressful, or social stimuli. We focused on the most common measures of physiological response, including heart rate (HR), heart rate variability (HRV), respiratory sinus arrhythmia (RSA), electrodermal activity (EDA), salivary cortisol, facial electromyography (EMG), and blink reflex.

Methods: A systematic literature search was conducted across six databases (PsycINFO, Psycarticles, SciencDirect, Cochrane Library, PubMed, and Scopus). The search returned 286 articles and 18 studies met the inclusion criteria.

Results: Discrepancies were observed according to the type of physiological measure. Reduced physiological responses in patients with TBI have been reported in most EDA studies, which were also overrepresented in the review. In terms of facial EMG, patients with TBI appear to exhibit reduced activity of the corrugator muscle and diminished blink reflex, while in most studies, zygomaticus contraction did not show significant differences between TBI and controls. Interestingly, most studies measuring cardiac activity did not find significant differences between TBI and controls. Finally, one study measured salivary cortisol levels and reported no difference between patients with TBI and controls.

Conclusion: Although disturbed EDA responses were frequently reported in patients with TBI, other measures did not consistently indicate an impairment in PR. These discrepancies could be due to the lesion pattern resulting from TBI, which could affect the PR to aversive stimuli. In addition, methodological differences concerning the measurements and their standardization as well as the characteristics of the patients may also be involved in these discrepancies. We propose methodological recommendations for the use of multiple and simultaneous PR measurements and standardization. Future research should converge toward a common methodology in terms of physiological data analysis to improve inter-study comparisons.

KEYWORDS

traumatic brain injury, brain injury, physiological reactivity, autonomic reactivity, emotion, social stimuli

1. Introduction

Moderate to severe traumatic brain injury (TBI) can cause focal injuries at the site of the impact or in tissues opposite to the impact. Moreover, rapid acceleration and deceleration of the brain within the skull produces diffuse brain injuries characterized by widely distributed damage to axons, diffuse vascular injury, hypoxic-ischemic injury, and brain swelling (oedema; Andriessen et al., 2010). These injuries have a propensity to cause damage to the ventral frontal and temporal cortices (Stuss, 2011). The major sequelae of the damage are persistent emotional and behavioral disorders present in 62% of patients one year after TBI (Deb et al., 1999; Stéfan and Mathé, 2016). This damage is, in part, responsible for persistent emotional and behavioral disorders that disturb daily functioning, socio-professional reintegration, and quality of life (Milders et al., 2003). Among these difficulties, emotion regulation disorders result in emotional lability, indifference, and irritability (McDonald, 2013). Patients also report a decrease in their ability to experience emotional states, such as sadness or fear (Croker and McDonald, 2005), and the degree of impairment in subjective emotional experience is correlated with the severity of social behavioral problems (Hornak et al., 1996). Compared with motor and cognitive sequelae, emotional disorders have a greater impact on social reintegration (Milders et al., 2003). As these disorders are among the most frequent sequelae, it is crucial to investigate their etiology and propose ways to remedy them.

Multilevel models of emotional response postulate that its adequate expression is based on the awareness of the emotion experienced, which in turn is based on the ability to become aware of the bodily changes associated with the emotion (Lane, 2000). These responses refer to physiological reactivity (PR). The implications of PR in emotions have been discussed for more than a century. The first major peripheralist theory of James and Lange (James, 1884) postulated that physiological changes [including facial expressions (crying, smiling, blinking) and peripheral visceral responses (heart rate, emotional sweating, etc.)] elicited by the stimulus are at the origin of the emotional subjective feeling. This theory was strongly criticized by Cannon (1931), who postulated independence between PR and emotion. Modern theories posit that the role of PR in emotional processes lies at the intersection of these two theories (Scherer, 2005). Indeed, PR should be considered a cue, among others, on which the formation of emotion is based (Christopoulos et al., 2019). Damasio's somatic marker hypothesis places the perception of somatic states at the center of emotional reasoning and interpersonal relationships (Damasio et al., 1996). According to this hypothesis, the prefrontal cortex records somatic states experienced during each emotional experience in the form of internal representations called somatic markers. These markers are reactivated upon subsequent confrontations with similar situations/stimuli to adapt behavior for predictable consequences. This hypothesis is based on the famous case of Phineas Gage who, following a severe TBI with prefrontal lesions, developed emotional behavioral disorders similar to an 'acquired sociopathy'. Therefore, this theory supports the involvement of PR in emotional processes.

The PR reflects the electrical and hormonal expression of autonomic activity under the control of the autonomic nervous system (ANS) and limbic-hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis (LHPA). The ANS is part of the nervous system which controls the automatic functions of the body, such as smooth muscles, cardiovascular tissues (heart, blood vessels), sensory systems (eyes, skin), and glands (endocrine and exocrine), to maintain internal homeostasis and adapt it to environmental changes (see Figure 1). The ANS comprises two branches: the sympathetic nervous system (SNS) and parasympathetic nervous system (PNS). The SNS is an activating system for mobilization and activation of the body to facilitate attention, fight, or flight. The PNS is an inhibiting system that allows the restoration and recovery of the body. The ANS activation in response to stimulation produces changes in the heart rate (HR), heart rate variability (HRV), and electrodermal activity (EDA), whereas limbic-hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis (LHPA) activation produces the stress hormone cortisol. The ANS is controlled by a neuronal system composed of the hypothalamus, limbic system, and frontal lobe areas (Christopoulos et al., 2019). Accordingly, impairments in PR are frequently reported following TBI and are not surprising given the location of the lesions. Several studies have reported reduced startle blinks, skin conductance activity, and facial reactivity to emotional pictures and movies (Sánchez-Navarro et al., 2005; Soussignan et al., 2005; Saunders et al., 2006; de Sousa et al., 2010, 2011). Several researchers have hypothesized that abnormalities in PR may underlie the emotional issues in TBI (de Sousa et al., 2010; Rushby et al., 2013b; Francis et al., 2016). In addition to research on TBI populations, other research and reviews have reported links between PR abnormalities and different psychiatric disorders, such as anxiety (Hyde et al., 2019), depression (Sarchiapone et al., 2018), and behavioral disorders, such as aggression, psychopathy, and conduct problems (Lorber, 2004).

Given the role of PR in emotional processes, PR abnormalities may play a major role in the etiology of emotional difficulties after TBI. These difficulties manifest as emotional regulation disorders, such as emotional lability, indifference, or irritability (McDonald, 2013). Patients also report a decrease in their ability to experience emotional states such as sadness or fear (Croker and McDonald, 2005), with the degree of impairment in subjective emotional experience correlating with the severity of social behavioral problems (Hornak et al., 1996). Although these disorders are known to exist, to date, no systematic review of the literature on physiological reactivity abnormalities in TBI has been conducted. Therefore, this review will focus on potential physiological disturbances at rest or in response to emotional, social, and stressful stimuli in adults with moderate-to-severe TBI compared to healthy controls. Social and emotional stimuli refer to all stimuli and tasks involving other people, elements of social interactions (gaze or speech), or human emotions. Stressors refer to all situations that may induce stress in the participants. This review includes the most common measures of physiological responses, including HR, HRV, RSA, EDA, EMG, and blink reflex. For research involving resting physiological data collection, only studies linking physiological data to psychological variables measured using cognitive tasks, self-report, or hetero-report psychometric scales were selected.

2. Methods

2.1. Protocol and registration

Before starting the research procedures, the protocol for this review was submitted to the PROSPERO International Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews in July 2021 (registration number CRD42021266886). This protocol details the complete methodology of this review, and no changes were made during the review.



2.2. Search procedure

We conducted a systematic review of the literature in accordance with the PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyzes) guidelines. The research was conducted using PsycINFO, Psycarticles, SciencDirect, Cochrane Library, PubMed, and Scopus. The search was limited to peer-reviewed articles in French and English from 2000 to 2021. Keywords in the title or abstract were "*traumatic brain injury*" OR "chronic brain injury" OR "brain injury" OR "head injury" OR "head trauma" in combination with the following keywords: "physiological" OR "physiological reactivity" OR "physiological change" OR "physiological response" OR "arousal" OR "skin conductance" OR "heart rate" OR "heart rate variability" OR "facial reactivity" OR "lectrodermal" OR "galvanic skin response" OR "arousal" OR "hyperarousal" OR "hypoarousal" OR "autonomic" OR "eyeblink startle" and "emotion" OR "stimuli" OR "emotional responses" OR "emotional reactivity" OR "rest" OR "stress" OR "habituation."

2.2.1. Inclusion and exclusion criterion

We included studies that (1) had at least one participant with moderate to severe TBI; (2) compared the physiological data of participants with TBI to a group of healthy participants without TBI or other psychiatric or neurologic histories; (3) measured at least one of HR, HRV, RSA, EDA, facial EMG, startle blink, or cortisol; (4) used research designs that exposed participant(s) to at least one stimulus condition different from baseline; or (5) involved resting physiological data collection, linking physiological data to psychological variables measured using cognitive tasks, self-report, or hetero-report psychometric scales. We excluded studies if they (1) are animal studies; (2) utilized physiological measures to assess the efficiency of a pharmacological intervention; (3) included participants under 18 or over 80; (4) included patients in a persistent vegetative state; (5) targeted pathologies other than moderate to severe TBI (post-traumatic stress disorder, mild TBI, TBI without brain lesion or cognitive and emotional sequelae, other neurological, post-traumatic stress disorder); (6) had no control group; (7) involved no physiological measures; and (8) are conference papers because they are not always peer-reviewed or are preliminary data for future publications, abstracts, posters, reviews, or meta-analyzes.

The research returned 286 articles from the six databases. We excluded 39 duplicates and screened 247 articles. Figure 2 summarizes the selection process and details of the reasons for articles' exclusion. The first screening stage for titles and abstracts excluded 220 articles. The main reason for exclusion was the fact that the articles

focused on mild TBI. A second screening stage on the full article excluded nine articles because of the absence of a control group. Eighteen articles were included in this review. Study selection was performed with two reviewers independently and was cross-checked by the two reviewers, and all disagreements in the team were unanimously resolved. For data extraction, a standardized data collection form was used by two independent researchers.

2.3. Quality assessment

To our knowledge, no evaluation criteria exist for non-randomized, non-interventional, and psychophysiological studies. We used Farrington's suggestions for the assessment of methodological quality standards (Farrington, 2003) to develop our own criteria for the quality of the studies included in our review [see also the systematic review on PR in autism by Lydon et al., 2016]. We established 12 criteria (see Table 1), all of which were fulfilled by the 18 selected studies.

3. Results

First, we present the sample characteristic, followed by physiological measures and stimuli. Second, studies' results are presented according to the type of physiological measurement and stimuli used. Table 2 lists the characteristics of the participants, stimuli used, types of physiological measures, main results, and potential link with psychological assessment for each of the 18 studies.

3.1. Sample characteristics

The sample size ranged from 11 to 128 participants, with a total of 386 patients with TBI, 5 patients with ischaemic stroke, and 431 control participants. The mean age of patients was 42.58 and 36.62 for control participants. We analyzed the pooled effect of age using the mean and standard deviation of both groups for 16 studies. Two studies were not included in this analysis because the authors did not specify the mean age and standard deviation (Saunders et al., 2006; McDonald et al., 2011). The pooled effect was medium (d = -0.34, SE = 0.0752, 95% CI 0.4841–0.189) and the heterogeneity between studies moderate (Cochran's Q, df = 15, p = 0.0004, $I^2 = 40.2\%$; Hedges and Olkin, 1985). The patient sample included 290 men (74.17%) and 101 women (25.83%), and the control sample included 285 men (6.13%) and 146



women (33.87%). The percentage of women in the TBI sample was significantly lower than in the control group ($M_{TBI} = 23.77\%$, SD = 12.59, $M_{controls}$: 32.34%, SD = 15.66; W = 92, *p* = 0.028). Conversely, the percentage of men was significantly higher in TBI sample ($M_{TBI} = 78.22\%$, SD = 15.47, $M_{controls} = 67.66\%$, SD = 15.66; W = 88, *p* = 0.019).

Concerning the injury severity, 15 studies included only moderate to severe TBI (Soussignan et al., 2005; Saunders et al., 2006; de Sousa et al., 2010, 2011, 2012; Krpan et al., 2011; McDonald et al., 2011; Williams and Wood, 2012; Rushby et al., 2013a, 2013b, 2016; Fisher et al., 2015; Francis et al., 2016; Kelly et al., 2017; Osborne-Crowley et al., 2020), one study included mild to severe TBI (Aboulafia-Brakha et al., 2016). Sánchez-Navarro et al. (2005) included patients with frontal brain damage, and Amorapanth et al. (2016) included patients with TBI with cognitive or emotional disorders, but these two studies did not specify the severity of brain injuries. Finally, the mean time post-injury was 10.42 years, the shortest post-injury period was 3 months (Aboulafia-Brakha et al., 2016) and the longest was 40 years (de Sousa et al., 2012). Kelly et al. (2017) did not specify the average post-injury time and only mentioned a minimum time of 24 months post-injury.

3.2. Physiological measures

Table 3 summaries the physiological measures contained in each study. Most studies used several physiological measures (82.35%). The most commonly used measure was EDA in 14 studies (Soussignan et al., 2005; de Sousa et al., 2010, 2011, 2012; Krpan et al., 2011; McDonald et al., 2011; Rushby et al., 2013a, 2013b, 2016; Fisher et al., 2015; Aboulafia-Brakha et al., 2016; Kelly et al., 2017; Osborne-Crowley et al., 2020), followed by cardiac activity in 7 studies (Sánchez-Navarro et al., 2005; Soussignan et al., 2005; Krpan et al., 2011; McDonald et al., 2011; Rushby et al., 2013b; Amorapanth et al., 2016; Francis et al., 2016), and facial EMG in 8 studies (Sánchez-Navarro et al., 2005; Soussignan et al., 2005; Saunders et al., 2006; de Sousa et al., 2010, 2011, 2012; Williams and Wood, 2012; Rushby et al., 2013b). Krpan et al. (2011) measured cortisol levels, and Amorapanth et al. (2016) recorded the respiratory rate. As this respiratory measurement is used in combination with cardiac data to calculate the respiratory sinus arrhythmia (RSA), the last study will be discussed in Section 3.

Descriptive validity:	1. The design of the study is stated.				
	2. The sample size is stated.				
	3. Participant characteristics concerning age, gender, TBI severity and time post-injury are outlined.				
	4. The physiological response, and any behavioral responses being measured, are operationally defined.				
	5. The stimulus/stimuli are described in detail including information on their emotional content and duration.				
	6. The study contained a physiological data baseline, and its duration is specified.				
	7. If standardized measures are used, their psychometric properties are stated.				
	8. Statistical methods employed are described.				
Internal validity:	1. The study included a control group.				
	2. Baseline physiological activity is considered during analyzes.				
Statistical conclusion validity:	1. Statistical analyzes are appropriate for the research question and are performed with parametric tests.				
	2. The statistical significance of the findings is stated.				

TABLE 1 Quality criteria.

3.3. Stimuli

The types of stimuli used to elicit PR vary between studies. Eight studies used emotional pictures (Sánchez-Navarro et al., 2005; Soussignan et al., 2005; Saunders et al., 2006; de Sousa et al., 2010, 2011; McDonald et al., 2011; Williams and Wood, 2012; Fisher et al., 2015), three of which presented pictures of emotional faces (de Sousa et al., 2011; McDonald et al., 2011; Fisher et al., 2015), four others presented emotional pictures (Sánchez-Navarro et al., 2005; Soussignan et al., 2005; de Sousa et al., 2010; Williams and Wood, 2012) from the standardized International Affective Picture System (IAPS, Lang et al., 1997), and the last one presented both types of pictures (Saunders et al., 2006). One study used short video clips of emotional faces (Aboulafia-Brakha et al., 2016). Three studies were extracted from famous movies (de Sousa et al., 2012; Rushby et al., 2013b; Amorapanth et al., 2016), two asked participants to report an event (Aboulafia-Brakha et al., 2016; Osborne-Crowley et al., 2020), two simulated social stress situations (Krpan et al., 2011; Kelly et al., 2017), three contained acoustic startle probes (Sánchez-Navarro et al., 2005; Saunders et al., 2006; Williams and Wood, 2012), and one used odor (Soussignan et al., 2005). Five studies included different types of stimuli (Sánchez-Navarro et al., 2005; Soussignan et al., 2005; Saunders et al., 2006; Williams and Wood, 2012; Aboulafia-Brakha et al., 2016), whereas the remaining studies included only one type of stimulus (de Sousa et al., 2010, 2011, 2012; Krpan et al., 2011; McDonald et al., 2011; Rushby et al., 2013a, 2013b, 2016; Fisher et al., 2015; Amorapanth et al., 2016; Francis et al., 2016; Kelly et al., 2017; Osborne-Crowley et al., 2020). Finally, three studies used measures at rest as the main measure (Rushby et al., 2013a, 2016; Francis et al., 2016) and seven others reported physiological data during the baseline (Sánchez-Navarro et al., 2005; Krpan et al., 2011; McDonald et al., 2011; Rushby et al., 2013b; Fisher et al., 2015; Aboulafia-Brakha et al., 2016; Kelly et al., 2017). In the following sections, studies are presented according to the type of physiological measurement and stimuli used.

3.4. Electrodermal activity

Two different indices were used to assess EDA in the reviewed studies: first, the skin conductance response (SCR) refers to a phasic change in the electrical conductivity of the skin in response to a change in an environment, such as emotional stimuli presentation. SCR is measured by the maximum amplitude change of the signal occurring in seconds following stimulation (usually between 1 and 3s; Grapperon et al., 2012). SCR is used, for example, to measure habituation to repeated stimulus presentations. Second, the skin conductance level (SCL) refers to the tonic level of the electrical conductivity of the skin. This reflects general changes in autonomic arousal. It is characterized by slow and long-lasting state changes related to the accumulation or resorption of sweat in the surface layers. SCL increases (sensitisation) after stimuli presentation but rapidly decreases (habituation) when participants are attending passively. However, when participants are actively engaged in a task, habituation does not occur (Barry, 2004; Nagai et al., 2004). Among the 14 studies measuring EDA, 11 studies reported statistically significant differences between the responses of TBI and control participants (Sánchez-Navarro et al., 2005; Soussignan et al., 2005; de Sousa et al., 2010, 2011, 2012; McDonald et al., 2011; Rushby et al., 2013a, 2016; Fisher et al., 2015; Aboulafia-Brakha et al., 2016; Osborne-Crowley et al., 2020). For 9 of them, TBI participants showed a reduction in EDA compared to controls. Conversely, in the study by Aboulafia-Brakha et al. (2016), patients with TBI showed higher SCL during uninstructed anger recall than the control group. Finally, Kelly et al. (2017), Krpan et al. (2011), and Rushby et al. (2013b) did not report significant differences between TBI and control groups.

3.4.1. Pictures

Seven studies measured EDA during image presentation; three used stimuli from the IAPS (Sánchez-Navarro et al., 2005; Soussignan et al., 2005; de Sousa et al., 2010), and the other used pictures or short video clips of facial expressions (Sánchez-Navarro et al., 2005; de Sousa et al., 2011; McDonald et al., 2011; Aboulafia-Brakha et al., 2016).

3.4.1.1. International affective picture system pictures

In three IAPS studies, TBI participants displayed reduced SCR across pleasant, unpleasant, and neutral pictures compared to control participants (Sánchez-Navarro et al., 2005; Soussignan et al., 2005; de Sousa et al., 2010). However, the observed power of the group effect on SCR is only mentioned by de Sousa et al. (2010): the partial eta squared ($\eta^2 p$) was 0.35, which corresponds to a small effect (Cohen, 1988). Concerning a possible valence effect in patients with TBI, no differences were observed between pleasant, unpleasant, and neutral pictures in the studies by de Sousa et al. (2010) and Soussignan et al. (2005). However, Sánchez-Navarro et al. (2005) reported a

valence \times group effect: healthy participants produced greater SCR for pleasant and unpleasant pictures as compared to neutral pictures, while the TBI group showed larger SCR for pleasant pictures only, without any difference between unpleasant and neutral conditions. Moreover, de Sousa et al. (2010) found a significant positive correlation between SCR amplitude and cognitive empathy levels. Similarly, a marginally significant positive correlation was observed with affective empathy. Taken together, these results suggest that after TBI, image valence has less influence on SCR, which is instead predicted by empathy abilities. Although these findings are interesting, variability also existed in the results of the control groups. Hence, compared to neutral images, control participants produced greater SCRs for positive images (de Sousa et al., 2010), negative images (Soussignan et al., 2005), or both (Sánchez-Navarro et al., 2005). However, these studies differed in at least three dimensions. First, stimuli were presented for 6 s in all three studies, but their number differed between the studies: de Sousa et al.'s (2010) study used 18 pictures (6 per category), while Sánchez-Navarro et al. (2005) and Soussignan et al.'s (2005) studies contained 54 (18 per category) and 90 pictures (30 per category),

TABLE 2 Summary of studies.

Author's name	n	Age mean (<u>+</u> SD)	Severity of TBI	Time post injury mean (<u>+</u> SD)	Stimuli/ task	Physiological measure(s)	Findings	Link with psychological assessment
Aboulafia- Brakha et al. (2016)	20 TBI, 22 controls	TBI: 37.4 (±12.6); Controls: 33.4 (± 8.5)	12 severe, 3, moderate, 5 mild	18.8 months (±12.01 months)	Verbal reports; Emotion faces on video clips	EDA; SCL	Anger regulation task: Only in the TBI group was mean SCL higher during uninstructed compared to neutral recall. Emotion recognition task:	/
							No difference between groups was observed	
Amorapanth et al. (2016)	16 TBI, 10 controls	TBI: 51.9(±15.0); Controls: 38.0 (± 14.4)	1	5.9 years (± 8.6 years)	Emotional film clips	ECG; HRV	TBI group exhibited lower LFA HRV during amusement films compared to controls. Conversely, the TBI group showed higher LFA HRV during sad films than the control group.	This increase in sympathetic activity for sad films was correlated with self- reported attentional difficulties and impairment in visual attention.
de Sousa et al. (2012)	21 TBI, 25 controls	TBI: 41.2 (±13.1); Controls: 29.0 (±11.1)	Severe	14.3 years (±10.4 years)	Emotional film clips	EMG; ZM and CM; EDA: SCL	ZM: Greater activity for pleasant films than neutral or unpleasant in controls, little differentiation between the type of films for TBI. Activity increased over time in the control group, especially for pleasant films, this activation decreased in the TBI group, especially for unpleasant films. CM: Greater activation for unpleasant films compared to pleasant and neutral films in controls, no effect valence in TBI. SCL: Lower SCL during unpleasant films in TBI compared to controls. Habituation during unpleasant films and sensitisation during pleasant films only in controls.	

(Continued)

TABLE 2 (Continued)

Author's name	n	Age mean (<u>+</u> SD)	Severity of TBI	Time post injury mean (<u>+</u> SD)	Stimuli/ task	Physiological measure(s)	Findings	Link with psychological assessment
de Sousa et al. (2010)	20 TBI, 22 controls	TBI: 47.4 (±10.0); Controls: 36.1 (± 12.6)	Severe	13.4 years (± 6.9 years)	IAPS pictures	EMG; ZM and CM; EDA: SCR	ZM: No difference between groups. CM: TBI showed reduced responses to unpleasant pictures. SCR: TBI group exhibited reduced SCR in pleasant, unpleasant, and neutral pictures compared to control participants.	ZM: No significant correlations with emotional or cognitive empathy for both groups. CM: Positive correlations with emotional and cognitive empathy scores for controls during unpleasant pictures. SCR: Positive correlation with cognitive empathy and with emotional empathy (trend toward significance) for TBI during pleasant pictures
de Sousa et al. (2011)	21 TBI, 22 controls	TBI: 48.4 (±8.8) Controls: 36.1 (± 12.6)	Severe	11.9 years (± 7.8 years)	Facial expressions pictures	EMG: ZM and CM; EDA: SCR and SCL	SCL: Reduced SCL to anger faces in TBI. SCR: Greater SCR to angry faces compared to happy faces in controls, larger SCR to happy faces.in TBI. ZM: No difference between groups. CM: produced greater activity for angry faces compared to happy faces in controls, with no emotional effect in TBI.	SCR: Same SCR to angry and happy faces for TBI and controls with higher emotional empathy level, participants with a lower level of empathy presented higher SCR for happy faces compared to angry faces. ZM: Larger ZM for happy faces than angry for the higher emotional empathy TBI and controls groups. No emotion effect for the low empathy TBI and control group. CM: Group effect with higher CM for TBI group comparing their control counterparts. Emotion effect and group effect in low empathy group: greater CM for angry faces compared to happy faces, inverse pattern in TBI group

(Continued)

TABLE 2 (Continued)

Author's name	n	Age mean (<u>+</u> SD)	Severity of TBI	Time post injury mean (<u>+</u> SD)	Stimuli/ task	Physiological measure(s)	Findings	Link with psychological assessment
Fisher et al. (2015)	19 TBI, 19 controls	TBI:44.89 (±13.76); Controls: 43.95 (±15.15)	Severe	12.37 years (±7.99 years)	Facial expressions pictures	EDA: SCL	Lower SCL in TBI not emotional effect	
Francis et al. (2016)	30 TBI, 30 controls	TBI: 45,73 (±13,68) Controls: 46,9 (±12,91)	Severe	14.03 years (± 8.74 years)	Resting state and one session of HRV biofeedback	ECG: HRV	No difference between groups at rest and during the biofeedback session	Positive correlation between HRV and social cognition and emotional empathy, negatively correlation with alexithymia in the TBI group.
Kelly et al. (2017)	21 TBI, 17 controls	TBI: 49.81 (±11.81); Controls: 46.29 (±16.22)	Moderate severe	at least 24 months post-injury.	Cyberball game	EDA: SCL	No difference	No correlation between SCLs and self-reported emotional experience in both groups
Krpan et al. (2011)	18 TBI, 24 controls	TBI: 38.8 (±13.6); Controls: 38.7 (± 17.4)	Moderate-severe	153 months (±117 months)	Simulated real-world stress test	EDA: SCL, ECG: HR, cortisol	SCL: No significant difference between groups. HR: No significant difference between groups Cortisol: No significant difference between groups	1
McDonald et al. (2011)	18 TBI, 18 controls	TBI: 49.0 (range 31 to63 years); Controls: 35.9 (range 20 to59 years)	Moderate severe	mean time since injury 13.0 (± 7.0 years)	Emotional faces pictures, passive and identification task	EDA: SCR and SCL, ECG: ECD	SCR: No difference between groups SCL: Passive task: increasing of SCL over trials for angry faces and decreasing for happy faces in controls Habituation and no emotion effect in TBI. Identification task: no habituation for either expression for either the control or TBI participants. ECD: Increasing for the identification condition compared to the passive condition in both groups. Identification task: magnitude increasing across repetition higher in controls relative to TBI. Increasing for the happy face across the repetition and decreasing for the angry face in controls, no emotional effect on TBI	No correlation between physiological measures and accuracy in recognizing tasks in both groups

(Continued)
TABLE 2 (Continued)

Author's name	n	Age mean (<u>+</u> SD)	Severity of TBI	Time post injury mean (<u>+</u> SD)	Stimuli/ task	Physiological measure(s)	Findings	Link with psychological assessment
Osborne- Crowley et al. (2020)	30 TBI, 30 controls	TBI: 44.47 (±15.32); Controls: 41.70 (±14.97)	Moderate Severe	13.63 years (±13.08 years)	Verbal report; Listening stories	EDA: SCL	Greater SCL across the emotional conditions in controls compared to TBI.	
(Rushby et al., 2013a)	17 TBI, 22 controls	TBI: 46.47 (±13.30); Controls: 41.23 (± 14.86)	Severe	12.59 years (± 8.05 years)	Resting state eyes open, eyes closed	EDA: SCL	Lower SCLs across both conditions in TBI compared to controls	
Rushby et al. (2016)	24 TBI, 24 controls	TBI: 43.3 years (± 14.96); Controls: 42.4 (±14.9)	Severe	12.63 years (±8.81 years)	Resting state	EDA: SCL	Lower SCL for the TBI compared to controls	
Rushby et al. (2013b)	19 TBI, 25 controls	TBI: 41.5 (±13.8); Controls: 31.0 (±11.1)	Severe	13.21 years (±10.3 years)	Emotional film clips	EMG: ZM and CM; EDA: SCL, ECG: HR	SCL: Increasing across films repetition in both groups. No emotion effect ZM: No difference between groups CM: Greater activity across all film types in TBI compared to controls. Emotion effect with higher activation for unpleasant films compared to neutral and pleasant films in both groups HR: Increasing across films repetition in controls, deceleration in TBI	SCL: Positive correlation with emotional empathy only in TBI ZM: Larger response in TBI for the low emotional empathy group compared to the higher empathy TBI group.
Sánchez- Navarro et al. (2005)	19 ABI* (14 TBI, 5 ischemic stroke), 23 controls	ABI: 31.63 (±13.05); control: 20.78 (±2.45)	Frontal damage	24.17 years (±2,01 years)	IPAS pictures	EDA: SCL and SCR; Startle blink, ECG: HR	SCL: No significant difference between groups SCR: Lower responses in TBI than in controls Startle blink: Lower responses in TBI for unpleasant pictures and higher ones to pleasant pictures compared to controls HR: No difference between group	
Saunders et al. (2006)	13 TBI, 24 controls	Adults	Severe	Mean: 6 years 9 months (range 1–17 years).	IAPS pictures, emotional faces pictures	Startle blink	IAPS pictures: Attenuation for pleasant pictures and potentiation for unpleasant ones in controls, attenuation for pleasant and unpleasant pictures in TBI. Slower to reach peak eyeblink response for positive and negative pictures in TBI compared to controls Faces pictures: no emotion and group effects	No correlation between subjective valence ratings and eyeblink peak, latency, or subjective arousal ratings in both groups

TABLE 2 (Continued)

Author's name	n	Age mean (<u>+</u> SD)	Severity of TBI	Time post injury mean (<u>+</u> SD)	Stimuli/ task	Physiological measure(s)	Findings	Link with psychological assessment
Soussignan et al. (2005)	1 TBI, 10 controls	TBI: 30, Controls: 26.4 (±4.87)	Severe	11 years	IAPS pictures	EMG: ZM and CM; ECG: HR; EDA:SCR	Pictures: SCR: Lower responses for all pictures in TBI. No emotion effect in TBI contrary to controls.ZM and CM: no emotional effect only in TBI Odors: SCL: No valence effect in TBI, greater SCL for unpleasant odors than pleasant or neutral ones in the control group. HR: No group and valence effect ZM and CM: no valence effect on TBI.	
Williams and Wood (2012)	64 TBI, 64 controls	TBI: 32.05 (±12.60); Controls 34.73 (± 12.14)	Moderate to severe	2.52 years (± 1.422 years)	IAPS pictures acoustic stimulus	Startle blink	Reduce effect of valence in TBI compared to controls	No correlation between with performance on europsychological measures in TBI

ABI, Acquired brain injury.

respectively. Second, the data transformation methods differed between the studies. Sánchez-Navarro et al. (2005) used a log transformation [log (SCR-1)] without a pre-stimulus baseline. Soussignan et al. (2005) subtracted the 2-s baseline pre-stimuli from the largest value averaged in the 2-s window after stimulation, and de Sousa et al. (2010) used a similar method but with a 1-s prepicture baseline. Finally, sample sizes differed, ranging from 10 in Soussignan et al.'s (2005) study to over 20 participants in the two other studies. Moreover, Sánchez-Navarro et al. (2005) included patients with frontal stroke in their TBI group. These methodological discrepancies may have led to inconsistencies in the results of the three control groups as well as in the TBI groups.

3.4.1.2. Facial expressions

Four studies used facial expressions: de Sousa et al. (2011) and McDonald et al. (2011) included happy and angry faces; Fisher et al. (2015) added neutral faces; and Aboulafia-Brakha et al. (2016) used short clips in which actors portrayed anger, surprise, disgust, happiness, sadness, and fear or neutral faces. The type of task also varied between studies. In de Sousa et al.'s (2011) and Fisher et al.'s (2015) studies, participants passively viewed pictures. The task of McDonald et al. (2011) contained two conditions: first, participants passively viewed the pictures; then, they had to identify the emotion among the six other emotions. Aboulafia-Brakha et al. (2016) also proposed an emotional recognition task in which participants identified the emotion portrayed in a clip from a list of seven emotional labels. In the passive viewing condition, the TBI group of de Sousa et al. (2011) exhibited lower SCR for angry faces than the control group. Indeed, while the control group showed greater SCR to angry faces than happy faces, the opposite effect was observed in the TBI group with larger responses to happy faces. However, when emotional empathy was considered, this response pattern was only observed among participants with low emotional empathy. The TBI and control participants with normal emotional empathy levels presented the same SCR to angry and happy faces, suggesting that emotional empathy played a role in SCR to angry faces after TBI. However, during a passive viewing task, the TBI group of Fisher et al. (2015) presented a lower SCL for angry, happy, and neutral faces than the control group; however, no effect of the type of emotion was observed in either group. Conversely, Aboulafia-Brakha et al. (2016) reported an emotional effect on the SCL mean, but no difference between groups during active emotional recognition. In their passive task, McDonald et al. (2011) did not report differences involving group, condition, or emotion in SCR. However, the SCL trial mean exhibited a greater level for happy faces than for angry faces in the TBI group. Moreover, while control participants showed sensitisation (increasing SCL) for angry faces and habituation (decreasing SCL) for happy faces, TBI participants rapidly habituated to both emotions. Habituation effects disappeared in both groups during the attend condition, suggesting the influence of attention on emotional arousal. Taken together, these results suggest that increasing attentional demand allows the EDA to be normalized in TBI, and that the level of empathy may influence electrodermal reactivity. However, the methods of data transformation were not consistent between the studies. Indeed, de Sousa et al. (2011) and McDonald et al. (2011) first subtracted the 1,000 msec prepicture baseline from the 1,000 and 4,000 msec of the picture onset, and then used a log transformation [Log (SCR - skin conductance response +1)] to standardize the data. In contrast, Aboulafia-Brakha et al. (2016) and Fisher et al. (2015) did not use any data transformation methods.

3.4.2. Films

de Sousa et al. (2012) and Rushby et al. (2013b) measured the EDA during pleasant, unpleasant, and neutral scenes from six movies. The data collection of these two studies occurred concurrently, and the first

	TABLE 3	Summary	of	physiological	measurements	by	study.
--	---------	---------	----	---------------	--------------	----	--------

Author's	Table 1			EDA		EMG			Cortisol	
name	HR	HRV	RSA	SCL	SCR	ZM	СМ	Blink reflex		
Aboulafia-Brakha et al. (2016)				Х						
Amorapanth et al. (2016)		X	Х							
de Sousa et al. (2012)				Х		Х	Х			
de Sousa et al. (2010)					Х	Х	Х			
de Sousa et al. (2011)				Х	Х	Х	Х			
Fisher et al. (2015)				Х						
Francis et al. (2016)		Х								
Kelly et al. (2017)				Х						
Krpan et al. (2011)	Х			Х					X	
McDonald et al. (2011)	X			X	X					
Osborne-Crowley et al. (2020)				X						
Rushby et al. (2013a)				Х						
Rushby et al. (2016)				Х						
Rushby et al. (2013b)	Х			Х		X	Х			
Sánchez-Navarro et al. (2005)	X			X	X			X		
Saunders et al. (2006)								X		

report focused on physiological responses to the first viewing of each film clip, while the second examined physiological patterns across five separate viewings of each film. de Sousa et al. (2012) analyzed the SCL data by dividing 90s of film into 3-time intervals (0-30s, 30-60s, 60-90 s). For each interval, TBI participants exhibited less SCL during unpleasant films compared to control participants, while neutral clips produced similar SCL between groups. In addition, habituation to unpleasant films and sensitization to pleasant films were observed in the control group but not in the TBI group which had the same SCL across time. In Rushby et al. (2013b), the SCL increased across five film repetitions (sensitization) in both groups, but no significant effect of group or valence was observed. Moreover, in the TBI group, higher SCL correlated with higher self-reported emotional empathy. Separated analyzes according to emotional empathy levels in TBI groups revealed that increasing SCL across film repetition appeared only in TBI participants with normal to elevated self-report empathy scores, whereas TBI participants with low empathy scores maintained a low level of SCL across repetitions. Like de Sousa et al. (2011), the authors suggested a causal relationship between the loss of emotional contagion and loss of empathy for people after TBI. Finally, note that the data standardization methods used in these two studies were similar. In both studies, the 2 min resting baseline period was subtracted from the first 90s time

interval of each of the film clips presented. However, de Sousa et al. (2012) divided 90 s into three 30-s time intervals (0-30 s, 30-60 s, and 60-90 s). The SCL was calculated by subtracting the mean activity in the resting baseline period from the activity at each time interval.

3.4.3. Emotion induction

Aboulafia-Brakha et al. (2016) and Osborne-Crowley et al. (2020) elicited emotions through the recall of emotional memories. Aboulafia-Brakha et al. (2016) investigated SCL during an anger regulation task. In this task, participants were asked to recall a self-experienced neutral and angering event aloud. In the latter, participants had to recall the same event in three different conditions, (1) without instruction, (2) while focusing on the emotional aspects and (3) while focusing on the perspective of the other involved person. The authors found that the mean SCL was higher during uninstructed anger recall than during neutral recall only in the TBI group. However, these results have not been replicated by Osborne-Crowley et al. (2020). In this study, participants first recounted emotional self-experienced events that evoked anger, happiness, and sadness. The second time, they heard three stories like their own and three stories based on the stories of other participants. Healthy participants exhibited greater SCL than TBI participants under all conditions. An effect of condition was observed in both groups with higher SCL for telling their story compared to listening to a similar or dissimilar story. However, no interaction between the group and emotion was observed. Note that Aboulafia-Brakha et al. (2016) included mild TBI whereas the Osborne-Crowley et al.'s (2020) sample contained only moderate to severe TBI. Contrary to de Sousa et al. (2010, 2011), who linked abnormal SCL for emotional expressions of anger and pleasant pictures after TBI with low selfreported empathy, Osborne-Crowley et al. (2020) found no difference between the self-reported emotional empathy of patients with TBI and controls. These authors suggest that after TBI, empathy is preserved despite reduced autonomic arousal. Finally, note that the data standardization of these two studies differed: Osborne-Crowley et al. (2020) took a baseline 10s before the start of the recall which they subtracted from the first minute of the recall, while Aboulafia-Brakha et al. (2016) did not standardize the data with the baseline and used the SCL mean during 3 minutes of verbal reports.

3.4.4. Social stress situation

Two studies used social situation paradigms to obtain more ecological data (Krpan et al., 2011; Kelly et al., 2017). Kelly et al. (2017) measured the SCL during a cyberball game. This internet-based social exclusion paradigm involves an inclusion condition in which the ball is equally shared with the participant and an ostracism condition in which the participant is ignored by the other (fictive) players and does not receive the ball tosses. The results showed different patterns of SCL between the TBI and control groups. Whereas the SCL increased during the ostracism condition in the control group, the SCL was higher during the inclusion condition in the TBI group. However, the difference was not statistically significant. However, the self-reported emotional experience of ostracism significantly differed between the groups; TBI participants felt less included in the inclusion condition than in the control group and similarly excluded in the exclusion condition. Given that these self-reported behavioral results were not correlated with SCL, these authors postulated a dissociation of self-report and physiological arousal after TBI. Krpan et al., 2011 measured SCL during a psychosocial stress test in which participants had to prepare and give a speech to an expert in communications and perform mental arithmetic while being video recorded. The video recordings during the speech preparation were then analyzed to compare the number of avoidance behaviors (e.g., reading magazines, playing puzzles, text messaging, staring into space) and planful behaviors (e.g. writing, reviewing the speech or writing, and appearing to think). The groups did not differ in SCL or self-reported stress levels during the psychosocial stress test. However, the TBI group exhibited more avoidant than planful behaviors, whereas the opposite was true for the control group. Therefore, contrary to Kelly et al. (2017), there was no dissociation between SCL and self-reported emotional experience, but the authors found a dissociation between behaviors and PR induced by stress. Finally, Kelly et al. (2017) reduced the SCL data with the difference between the mean value of the 2-min baseline period and the mean value for each 10-s epoch across the game; then, the data were standardized with a log transformation. However, Krpan et al. (2011) did not mention the reduction or standardization of the data.

3.4.5. Startle acoustic

Only one study, by Sánchez-Navarro et al. (2005), measured SCR during an acoustic startle stimulus. The authors did not report any SCR difference between TBI and control participants during an acoustic stimulus of a 50-ms burst of white noise.

3.4.6. Olfactory stimuli

In Soussignan et al.'s (2005) case study, participants smelt five pleasant, five unpleasant, and five neutral odors before rating the level of pleasure and intensity of the smell. Analyzes showed greater SCR for unpleasant odors than for pleasant and neutral odors only in the control group. Moreover, unpleasant odors produced higher SC changes in controls than in participants with TBI. However, pleasure and intensity ratings differed between participants with TBI and controls. Finally, SCR correlated with pleasure and intensity ratings in control participants, but SCR did not correlate with rating scores in patients with TBI. These results suggest a dissociation between PR and self-reported measures. Concerning the data standardization method, the authors subtracted the SCR at the 2 s SC level immediately preceding the stimulus onset from the largest value averaged in the 2-s window after stimulation.

3.4.7. Resting state

Among the eight studies examining resting-state SCL (Sánchez-Navarro et al., 2005; Krpan et al., 2011; McDonald et al., 2011; Rushby et al., 2013b, 2016; Fisher et al., 2015; Aboulafia-Brakha et al., 2016; Kelly et al., 2017), half reported a lower level of SCL in the TBI group compared to the control group. Indeed, Rushby et al. (2013b) and Fisher et al. (2015) found a marginally significant lower SCL in their TBI groups during a 2 min resting condition. This difference was significant in studies by Rushby et al. (2016) and McDonald et al. (2011). The duration of Rushby et al.'s (2016) resting condition was 2 min. The resting data of McDonald et al. (2011) were derived in the 500 ms period immediately before stimulus onset. It is noteworthy that for this last study, baseline data were taken between two stimuli, while for the three other studies, data were taken at rest. Conversely, several studies showed no difference in SCL between controls and patients with TBI during baselines of 5 min (Krpan et al. (2011), 3 min (Sánchez-Navarro et al., 2005; Aboulafia-Brakha et al., 2016), or 2 min (Kelly et al., 2017).

3.5. Facial electromyography

The study of emotional reactivity by facial EMG is mainly based on the measurement of the contraction of the brow muscles, namely the corrugator supercilia (CR), the cheek muscles, namely the zygomaticus major (ZM), and the startle blink. Whereas the ZM contraction produces smiling expressions, the CR is the muscle above the eyebrows that brings them together and contracts during negative emotions such as grief or anger (Ekman and Friesen, 1978). The measure of the startle blink is based on a biphasic emotional theory, as negative stimuli activate the defence system, and positive stimuli activate the appetitive system (Lang et al., 1990). As blinking is an aversive reflex, it is potentiated for unpleasant stimuli and decreased for pleasant stimuli. Usually, an acoustic startle probe is presented together with the stimuli. It often consists of short bursts of white noise. Among the five studies measuring ZM and CM (Soussignan et al., 2005; de Sousa et al., 2010, 2011, 2012; Rushby et al., 2013b), only one reported a difference between the ZM responses of TBI and control participants (de Sousa et al., 2012). Conversely, regarding CR, only one study observed a similar response between groups (de Sousa et al., 2012). Finally, three studies investigating startle blinks found differences between groups (Sánchez-Navarro et al., 2005; Saunders et al., 2006; Williams and Wood, 2012).

3.5.1. Pictures

3.5.1.1. International affective picture system pictures

Among the five studies using IAPS pictures, de Sousa et al. (2010) and Soussignan et al. (2005) measured ZM and CR activity, whereas Sánchez-Navarro et al. (2005), Williams and Wood (2012), and Saunders et al. (2006) measured startle blinks.

3.5.1.1.1. Corrugator supercilia and zygomaticus major activity

de Sousa et al. (2010) reported higher ZM activity for pleasant pictures than for unpleasant and neutral pictures in both groups. A main effect of valence was also observed for CR, with higher activity for unpleasant pictures than for pleasant and neutral pictures. Moreover, an interaction between valence and group emerged, with significantly lower responses to unpleasant versus neutral pictures and marginally reduced activity to unpleasant versus pleasant pictures in the TBI group compared to controls. Interestingly, TBI participants self-rated these unpleasant pictures as less unpleasant and arousing than controls. Finally, while a positive correlation was observed between emotional and cognitive empathy scores and CR to unpleasant pictures in the control group, no correlation was observed in the TBI group. According to the authors, impaired emotional responsivity is associated with the impairment of the empathy network. In a study by Soussignan et al. (2005), a valence effect was observed in the control group with higher CR activation for unpleasant pictures and higher ZM activation for pleasant pictures. In contrast, participants with TBI's ZM and CM activity did not differ according to the valence of the picture. Notably, Soussignan et al. (2005) study examined only one patient with TBI, but it contained three times more pictures (54) than de Sousa et al.'s (2010) study. However, the data reduction methods used in these two studies were similar (see above).

3.5.1.1.2. Startle blink

Sánchez-Navarro et al. (2005) found a main effect of valence on blink magnitude in both groups, with larger blinks for unpleasant pictures than pleasant ones. In the control group, the blinks were larger during unpleasant than neutral pictures and lower during pleasant than neutral pictures. In contrast, in the TBI group, the difference between the unpleasant and neutral pictures did not reach statistical significance, and no difference between the pleasant and neutral pictures was observed. Finally, the intergroup comparison revealed that TBI participants showed lower startle blinks to unpleasant pictures and higher responses to pleasant pictures compared with the control group. Williams and Wood (2012) also found a valence effect in the control group, with linear amplitude increasing for pleasant, neutral, and unpleasant pictures. This linear pattern was also observed in the TBI group, but the differences among the three conditions were not significant. Moreover, like Sánchez-Navarro et al.'s (2005) results, unpleasant pictures produced larger startle responses in the control group than in the TBI group; however, no group effect was observed for neutral pictures. However, unlike in the latter study, no group effect was observed for pleasant pictures. Finally, Saunders et al. (2006) showed a trend of increasing blink amplitude from pleasant to neutral and unpleasant pictures in the control group. However, the TBI group produced higher blinks for neutral pictures than for pleasant and unpleasant pictures. Owing to this unusual and unexplained result, the authors compared blinks to pleasant and unpleasant pictures in TBI and control participants. The control group displayed an attenuation of the startle eyeblink response for pleasant pictures and potentiation for unpleasant pictures, whereas TBI participants demonstrated an attenuated startle eyeblink for both pleasant and unpleasant pictures. Saunders et al. (2006) also measured eyeblink latency as an index of interest in pictures. The TBI group was significantly slower to reach peak eyeblink response for both positive and negative pictures than the control group. In conclusion, these three studies show that blink reflexes are less differentiated according to the valence of the pictures after TBI and are attenuated for unpleasant pictures. Note that Sánchez-Navarro et al.'s (2005) study contained five patients with stroke and used 54 pictures (18 per category), whereas Williams and Wood (2012) and Saunders et al. (2006) included only TBI patients and used only 15 pictures (5 per category) and 18 pictures (6 per category), respectively. Williams and Wood (2012) and Sánchez-Navarro et al. (2005) also present startle probes in the absence of pictures. Williams and Wood (2012) found no significant differences across groups during the baseline of 12 startle probes before the presentation of the pictures. Sánchez-Navarro et al. (2005) reported significantly larger startle blinks in the control group than in the TBI group; however, these measurements were taken during the interstimulus phases between two pictures. For data reduction, the three studies standardized the raw amplitude in *z* scores and transformed them to *t* scores.

3.5.1.2. Facial expressions

Two studies measured EMG in response to the passive viewing of pictures of angry and happy faces (Saunders et al., 2006; de Sousa et al., 2011). First, de Sousa et al. (2011) measured the contraction of the ZM and CR muscles and observed that happy faces elicited greater ZM activity than angry faces in both groups. However, the control group exhibited greater CR activity for angry faces than for happy faces, whereas no emotional effect was observed in the TBI group. Analyzes according to the level of emotional empathy showed similar ZM responses for the higher empathy TBI group and the control group, with happy faces evoking larger ZM responses than angry faces. In contrast, no group or emotional effects emerged in the low-emotional-empathy group. Concerning CR activity, responses were higher for both faces in the normal emotional empathy TBI group than in their control counterparts. However, in the low emotional empathy group, whereas control participants exhibited greater CR activity in response to angry faces compared to happy faces, the TBI group demonstrated an inverse pattern, with higher CR activity in response to happy faces compared to angry faces. These authors concluded that the loss of emotional empathy after TBI could contribute to the lack of CR reactivity in response to angry faces. Second, Saunders et al. (2006) measured eyeblink startles and showed no group or emotional effects.

3.5.2. Films

de Sousa et al. (2012) and Rushby et al. (2013b) studied facial reactivity during the same movie clips. As mentioned in the previous section, the data collection of these two studies occurred concurrently; the first paper focused on physiological responses to the first viewing of each film clip, while the second examined physiological patterns across five separate viewings of each film. de Sousa et al. (2012) reported a reduced facial response in the TBI group. Indeed, the control group exhibited greater ZM activity for pleasant films than for neutral or unpleasant films, whereas the TBI group showed no emotion effect. The same pattern was observed for CR: the control group displayed greater activation for unpleasant films than for pleasant and neutral films, while there was no valence effect in the TBI group. Interestingly, a different pattern in the two groups was observed for the mean change in ZM activation during the clips. While ZM activity increased over time in the

control group, especially for pleasant films, it decreased in the TBI group, especially for unpleasant films. Unlike ZM, the same effect over time of increasing CR for unpleasant films and decreasing CR for pleasant films was observed in both groups. These authors suggest that the "contagion" effect was amplified with time, especially in the control group. Contrary to the results of de Sousa et al. (2012) and Rushby et al. (2013a) reported no changes in ZM activity in patients with TBI, as both groups exhibited greater ZM activity for pleasant clips than for neural and unpleasant clips. Contrary to expectations, separate analyzes according to the self-reported level of emotional empathy of TBI participants showed a larger ZM response for the group with low empathy scores than for those with normal to elevated self-reported empathy scores. Moreover, the TBI group exhibited greater CR activity across all film types than the control group. Finally, the valence effect, characterized by a higher CR activation for unpleasant films than for neutral and pleasant films, was observed in both groups. In their discussion, Rushby et al. (2013a) explained the contradiction of their results with those of de Sousa et al. (2012) by the fact that repeated watching might normalize the ZM reactivity in TBI participants. Moreover, repeated watching requires more attention after TBI, which is marked by a higher CR activity in this group. As mentioned in the EDA section, the data standardization methods were similar in both studies.

3.5.3. Odors

In addition to the IAPS pictures task, Soussignan et al. (2005) measured facial reactivity during the olfactory task described above. Control participants exhibited a main effect of valence with higher CR activity for unpleasant odors and greater ZM activity for pleasant odors, but participants with TBI showed no difference between these conditions, consistent with their picture task results.

3.6. Cardiac measures

Across seven studies on cardiac measures, four measured HR (Sánchez-Navarro et al., 2005; Soussignan et al., 2005; Krpan et al., 2011; Rushby et al., 2013b), two measured HRV (Amorapanth et al., 2016; Francis et al., 2016) and one measured evoked cardiac deceleration (ECD; McDonald et al., 2011). HRV refers to the variation in the time interval between heartbeats. This is an interesting index of the influence of the ANS on HR (Laborde et al., 2017). The ANS comprises an activating sympathetic branch and inhibiting parasympathetic branch. These two branches are responsible for the acceleration and deceleration of the HR, respectively. HRV can be quantified using time-domain and frequency-domain methods. In time-domain methods, the standard deviation of interbeat intervals (SDNN) and the root-mean-square of interbeat intervals (rMSSD) are often used as a global measure of temporal variability. Frequencydomain methods disentangle the influence of the parasympathetic and sympathetic systems on HRV. The low frequency (LF) component of HRV reflects both parasympathetic and sympathetic influences while the high frequency (HF) component reflects the parasympathetic influence (Shaffer and Ginsberg, 2017). Respiratory sinus arrhythmia (RSA), which refers to the phenomenon of HR acceleration on inspiration and HR deceleration on expiration, is also an indication of the influence of the parasympathetic system on HRV. Finally, ECD reflects the orienting attentional reflex toward new stimuli. This is the difference between the pre-stimulus baseline period and the slowest HR obtained during the post-stimulus period of the epoch (Graham and Clifton, 1966). A small majority of the cardiac studies in this review found similar responses for participants with TBI and controls. Indeed, across the four HR and ECD studies, two reported statistical differences between groups (McDonald et al., 2011; Rushby et al., 2013b) while the rest found no significant differences (Sánchez-Navarro et al., 2005; Soussignan et al., 2005; Krpan et al., 2011). In the two HRV studies, significant differences were found in the frequency domain for LF and HF (Amorapanth et al., 2016). Another study reported high interindividual differences in the TBI group, but no statistical difference between the groups (Francis et al., 2016).

3.6.1. Pictures

3.6.1.1. International affective picture system pictures

Two articles reported HR during the presentation of IAPS pictures. First, Sánchez-Navarro et al. (2005) reported no difference between groups, as unpleasant and pleasant pictures produced higher HR deceleration than neural ones in both groups. Moreover, no difference was observed between the HR deceleration elicited by pleasant and unpleasant pictures. However, in Soussignan et al.'s (2005) study, for both groups, only the unpleasant pictures produced higher deceleration than the pleasant and neutral ones. Like Sánchez-Navarro et al.'s (2005) findings, no statistical difference was observed between the TBI and control groups. As discussed, these studies both contained 54 pictures (18 per category), but de Sousa et al.'s (2010) data reduction method subtracted the baseline pre-stimuli, whereas Sánchez-Navarro et al. (2005) used a log transformation [log (SCR-1)]. Finally, as mentioned above, Sánchez-Navarro et al. (2005) included patients with frontal stroke.

3.6.1.2. Facial expressions

McDonald et al. (2011) were interested in ECD that occurs after angry and happy face presentations in a passive viewing condition and an attended emotional recognition condition. In both groups, a conditioning effect was observed, with higher ECD in the attended condition than in the passive condition. The control and TBI participants exhibited ECD to the emotional faces, with no difference between angry and happy expressions in either group. However, in the attended condition, ECD magnitude increased across repetitions. This increase was greater in the control group than that in the TBI group. Post hoc analyzes revealed that the control group exhibited an ECD increase for happy faces across repetition and a decrease for angry faces, whereas no difference between faces over trials was observed in the TBI group. Finally, no correlation between ECD and emotion recognition accuracy was found in either the group or condition. The authors concluded that there was an improvement in the orientation reflex due to increased attentional demand after TBI. However, the relationship between this and the emotion recognition accuracy remains unclear.

3.6.2. Movies

Amorapanth et al. (2016) measured HRV during clips that elicited amusement, sexual amusement, sadness, or fear, compared to neutral films. No difference between the groups was observed for parasympathetic activity during RFA. However, for sympathetic activity, participants with TBI exhibited lower LF during amusement films than control participants. Conversely, TBI participants showed a higher LF during sad films than the control group. This increase in sympathetic activity for the sad film was correlated with self-reported attentional

10.3389/fpsyg.2023.930177

difficulties and impairment in visual attention shifting during the rapid number naming test. The authors concluded that attentional difficulties may contribute to abnormal reactivity to sad stimuli. In Rushby et al.'s (2013b) study, participants viewed five repetitions of six 2-min film clip segments containing pleasant, unpleasant, and neutral content. In the control group, the average HR over time showed a small increase across film repetitions, whereas a large deceleration was observed in the TBI group. The authors explained this HR deceleration over time by the attentional effort involved in sustaining attention to repetitions. Taken together, these two studies seem to link cardiac reactivity and attentional difficulties following TBI. However, the comparability of patients in these two studies cannot be guaranteed. Indeed, the Rushby et al. (2013b) patient group contained only severe TBIs, but Amorapanth et al. (2016) did not specify the severity of the TBI and included patients with cognitive or emotional impairment. Moreover, the type and number of film clips used differed between the two studies. Indeed, both studies contained films from similar validated and normed sets; however, Rushby et al. (2013b) also included films used in previous research, not from validated sets. In addition, Amorapanth et al. (2016) used 11 different clips (two per emotional category and one neutral), whereas Rushby et al.'s (2013b) study only contained six clips (two per category). Finally, the data reduction methods used were different. Rushby et al. (2013b) computed the HR signals by subtracting the mean activity at baseline prior to that occurring in the first 90s of each film. Amorapanth et al. (2016) first determined an interval of interest (IOI) which was the 30 s of the film clip that most strongly elicited the target emotion (the authors did not specify whether this IOI was determined based on selfreported data or physiological data). Second, RFA and LFA were standardized by dividing the baseline activity 30s before IOI. Third, logarithmic transformation was performed for each variable.

3.6.3. Odors

The study by Soussignan et al. (2005) did not show HR modulations in response to odors according to valence or group.

3.6.4. Social stress situation

Krpan et al. (2011) measured HR during psychosocial test stress (see description above) and did not report differences between the groups. As expected, controls and participants with TBI exhibited increased HR when performing the psychosocial stress test compared with the 5 min' baseline.

3.6.5. Resting state

Three studies reported the cardiac data at rest. First, Francis et al. (2016) measured HRV at rest and during an HRV biofeedback session in which participants reduced their breathing to six breaths per minute. Concerning HRV at rest, the TBI group showed higher within-group variability in the temporal and frequency domains, especially for HF and LF/HF ratio. The authors presented this LF/HR ratio as an index of sympatho-vagal balance, but the accuracy of this measure has been questioned (Billman, 2013). After a log transformation value, no difference between the groups was observed in the time and frequency domains. In the TBI group, HRV at rest was correlated with self-reported measurements of alexithymia, empathy, emotion perception, and social cognition abilities. Specifically, SDNN, rMSSd, LF, and HF positively correlated with self-reported empathy and social cognition performance. SDNN and LF negatively correlated with self-reported alexithymia. The authors did not specify the values of these correlations for the control group. Finally, the HRV changes for the time and frequency domains during biofeedback were similar in both groups. Second, for HR data, Sánchez-Navarro et al. (2005) and Krpan et al. (2011) did not observe any difference between control and TBI during their 3- and 5-min baseline.

3.7. Cortisol

A single study, led by Krpan et al. (2011), measured cortisol levels and reported no difference between the groups before and after the psychosocial stress test (described above).

4. Discussion

This systematic review aimed to detail the main findings of 18 studies published between 2000 and 2021 and examine electrodermal, facial, cardiac, and cortisol reactivity to emotional stimuli, odors, social stressors, and at rest among individuals with moderate to severe TBI. The findings showed discrepancies depending on the type of physiological measures and stimuli. First, patients with TBI often showed reduced electrodermal responses compared to controls. Across the 14 studies measuring EDA, 11 studies reported lower EDA after TBI during picture presentations, movies, participants' verbal report (Sánchez-Navarro et al., 2005; Soussignan et al., 2005; de Sousa et al., 2010, 2011, 2012; McDonald et al., 2011; Rushby et al., 2013a, 2016; Fisher et al., 2015; Aboulafia-Brakha et al., 2016; Osborne-Crowley et al., 2020), two studies using a social stress situation paradigm found no difference between groups (Krpan et al., 2011; Kelly et al., 2017) and one reported higher SCL in the TBI group during a verbal report task of anger event recall (Aboulafia-Brakha et al., 2016). Lower reactivity was also observed for CR contraction and blink reflex in EMG studies. Across five studies measuring CM, four reported lower CM activation in the TBI group during film or picture presentation (Soussignan et al., 2005; de Sousa et al., 2010, 2011, 2012). Concerning the startle blink, three studies showed that responses of patients with TBI were less differentiated according to picture valence and attenuated for unpleasant pictures (Sánchez-Navarro et al., 2005; Saunders et al., 2006; Williams and Wood, 2012). In contrast, patients with TBI displayed significantly reduced ZM activity in only one of four studies (Soussignan et al., 2005). Similarly, the impact of TBI on PR was not so clear in ECG studies; among the seven reviewed studies, only two reported lower HRV or ECD in the TBI groups (McDonald et al., 2011; Amorapanth et al., 2016), four found no difference (Sánchez-Navarro et al., 2005; Soussignan et al., 2005; Krpan et al., 2011; Francis et al., 2016) and one reported higher HR deceleration across film repetitions (Rushby et al., 2013b). Finally, the only study measuring cortisol levels did not show abnormalities in the TBI group (Krpan et al., 2011). To explain these PR inconsistencies, we will discuss the role of neurophysiological factors as well as emotional, sociodemographic, and methodological factors.

The defense system reduced activation in TBI patients is our first hypothesis, as they may experience reduced affective responsivity, particularly to aversive and unpleasant-negative stimuli (Saunders et al., 2006; de Sousa et al., 2010; McDonald et al., 2011; Williams and Wood, 2012). According to motivational theory, two dimensions of motivation compose emotional responses: defensive for aversive stimuli and appetitive for attractive stimuli (Lazarus, 1991). The physiological pattern of defensive reactions reflecting sympathetic activation to provide energy and facilitate adaptive behaviors such as attack or escape, involves limbic brain structures, including the amygdala (Adolphs, 2001). This last interpret signals from the environment as a threat that triggers an alarm signal, induced by specific ascending systems of the brainstem. First, through the hypothalamus, it activates the functions of sweat glands, resulting in EDA (Christopoulos et al., 2019). Although EDA is not exclusively related to the defence network, studies have reported that the direct stimulation of the amygdala generates an immediate increase in EDA (Lang et al., 1964; Inman et al., 2020). Second, facial motoneurons of the brain stem activate cranial nerve VII which produces contraction of the orbicularis muscle, resulting in a blink startle reflex (Kettle et al., 2006). Third, fibers descending from the brainstem innervate the preganglionic neurones of the sympathetic system. The activation of sympathetic fibers results from an increase in adrenaline in the bloodstream and causes the release of noradrenaline at sympathetic nerve endings. This produces measurable physiological responses, such as an increase in cardiorespiratory rate. Finally, the amygdala is involved in CR contraction. Indeed, electrical stimulation induces an increase in the EMG activity of the CR (Lanteaume et al., 2007). Moreover, increases in CR activity during negative picture viewing are associated with greater amygdala activity (Heller et al., 2014).

Although the TBI population is heterogeneous in terms of the location and severity of the injury, the frontal and temporal areas (including important limbic structures such as the amygdala) are particularly vulnerable to brain damage. The hypothesis of reduced affective responsivity in TBI could explain the lower CR activation and startle blinking together with the absence of ZM activity differences (Sánchez-Navarro et al., 2005; Saunders et al., 2006; de Sousa et al., 2010, 2011; Williams and Wood, 2012; Rushby et al., 2013b). CR and startle blinks are activated in response to unpleasant aversive stimuli. The ZM is activated in response to pleasant stimuli. Finally, the lower EDA observed in most TBI groups in the reviewed EDA studies is consistent with this aversive defence system disturbance.

The lack of difference between the groups in ECG studies could be explained by the implication of processes other than the aversive system in the cardiac reflex. Like EDA, CM activation, or the startle reflex, some cardiac reactions are implicated in the aversive defence system (i.e., the defence reflex). The defence reflex is characterized by heart acceleration to provide energy to facilitate adaptive behaviors such as attack or escape (Lang et al., 2000). However, other cardiac reflexes are also correlated with the attentional process, such as the orienting reflex. This orienting reflex causes heart deceleration. It is elicited by a novel stimulation to facilitate the attention and perception of the stimulus (Vila et al., 2007). Cardiac deceleration reflects the processing of new perceptual information. This type of reflex is less affected by the valence of the stimulus than is the defence reflex (Bradley, 2009). According to Phillips et al.'s (2003) neural model of emotional perception, attentional processes during emotional perception are mediated by the dorsal system. The identification of the emotional significance of stimuli and the production of the affective state are mediated by the ventral system which includes the amygdala. These reflexes depend on two different processes and the neural system. This dissociation between the orienting and defence reflexes could explain the discrepancy between the cardiac studies in our review. The orienting reflex was preserved after the TBI. This is consistent with the HR deceleration in both groups after the presentation of the pleasant and unpleasant pictures reported by Sánchez-Navarro et al. (2005). In McDonald et al. (2011), both groups demonstrated an increase in heart rate deceleration in the attend condition relative to the passive condition. However, in Soussignan et al.'s (2005) study, deceleration was not affected by the valence of emotion in the TBI group. Rushby et al. (2013b) observed HR acceleration and deceleration in the control and TBI groups, respectively.

However, given the unequal distribution between the study measures, these interpretations should be considered with caution. Indeed, across the 18 studies included in this review, 13 examined EDA measures, whereas only eight measured ECG or EMG and only one cortisol. It would be important to gather more data to identify a clear trend. Moreover, as a given emotional stimulus did not have the same effect on all physiological measures, future studies should take several measures simultaneously (Lydon et al., 2016). This refers to the directional fractionation phenomenon as described by Lacey (1967). Accordingly, a specific stimulation gives rise to a particular multidimensional activation pattern. For example, the orientation reflex results in an increase in EDA together with a deceleration of HR. In contrast, the increase in EDA is associated with an acceleration of HR during a defence reflex.

A second hypothesis would concern the level of empathy of the TBI participants involved in the studies. Empathy is crucial to understand and respond appropriately to the emotional experience of others (Decety and Ickes, 2011). Cognitive empathy refers to the ability to adopt another person's point of view, while emotional empathy refers to the ability to experience affective reactions to the emotional displays of others. Emotional empathy implies a mimicry of the physiological reactions of the others and, accordingly, PR to emotional stimuli is an important component of emotional empathy (de Wied et al., 2006; Nummenmaa et al., 2008; Bogdanov et al., 2013; Sonnby-Borgström, 2002). The literature has shown a decrease of emotional empathy after a TBI (de Sousa et al., 2010, 2011; Williams and Wood, 2012) contributing to the behavioral disorders frequently reported in this population (Milders, 2019). Several studies in this review investigated the link between PR and empathy (de Sousa et al., 2010, 2011, 2012; Rushby et al., 2013b; Francis et al., 2016; Osborne-Crowley et al., 2020). However, the results differed between studies according to the group of participants. Indeed, de Sousa et al. (2011) and Rushby et al. (2013b) found a positive correlation between EDA and emotional empathy in TBI group only. In addition, de Sousa et al. (2011) revealed the same SCR pattern in the "normal" level of empathy group for both controls and TBI participants, while in the low level of empathy group, this pattern differed between control and TBI participant. These results suggested that a loss of empathy after TBI leads to abnormal PR. There would be two subgroups across the TBI population: one with a preserved level of empathy and PR and another with reduced empathy affecting their PR. The abnormal EMG responses found in the lower empathy TBI groups of Rushby et al. (2013b) and de Sousa et al. (2011) support this assumption that a loss of empathy after TBI impacts the PR. But some results contradicted the idea that TBI participants with higher emotional empathy have preserved PR like those of control groups. Indeed, the TBI participants of de Sousa et al. (2011) with "normal" levels of emotional empathy demonstrated higher CM contraction than controls. In addition, Osbourne did not find a difference in self-reported emotional empathy between TBI participants and controls, while the TBI participants exhibited reduced EDA. This intact emotional empathy in the TBI group highlights the heterogeneity of emotional profiles after a TBI. In their discussion, de Sousa et al. (2012) suggested that two profiles of emotional disorder can be found in the TBI population. One is characterized by a loss of emotional control and higher emotional empathy levels, the other by an impaired drive (or motivation) and lower levels of emotional empathy. The loss of emotional control can correspond to impulsive profiles while the loss of drive corresponds to

apathetic profiles (Tate, 1999). Indeed, TBI can lead to various behavioral disorders that can range from general hypoactivity with apathy, abulia and loss of psychic self-activation to general hyperactivity with impulsivity, distractibility, and disinhibition (Godefroy, 2004). Apathy after TBI has been linked with lower PR (Andersson et al., 1999). Beyond the level of empathy, apathy and this involvement with PR should be more investigated. The decrease of empathy after a TBI could be the consequence of a general lack of interest and loss of motivation. The study of the relation between PR and apathetic profiles could contribute to understanding the discrepancies observed across the studies reviewed.

Related to this idea of the influence of apathy on PR after TBI, one explanatory factor for PR inconsistency across studies is the attentional demands of the tasks. Overall, the physiological differences between TBI and controls are more pronounced in studies involving passive tasks (Sánchez-Navarro et al., 2005; Soussignan et al., 2005; Saunders et al., 2006; de Sousa et al., 2010, 2011, 2012; McDonald et al., 2011; Williams and Wood, 2012; Rushby et al., 2013a, 2016; Fisher et al., 2015; Amorapanth et al., 2016). These differences tend to diminish for studies in which participants are active (Krpan et al., 2011; McDonald et al., 2011; Aboulafia-Brakha et al., 2016; Francis et al., 2016; Kelly et al., 2017). This trend suggests that attend tasks could overcome the hypo reactivity induced by apathy in TBI participants. Future research should consider the effect of attentional demand of the task on PR after TBI.

In parallel, the presence of psychopathological disorders in patients with TBI may also influence PR. For instance, brain lesions often result from a traumatic experience (fall, traffic accident, interpersonal violence, war injury) and post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) is particularly frequent in TBI patients (Williams et al., 2002). In the general population, PTSD affects 27% of patients with severe TBI (Bryant et al., 2000) but the frequency of PTSD may reach 89% in war veterans with mild TBI (Carlson et al., 2011). As this review is the first to focus on PR after TBI, we have chosen not to include studies focusing on PTSD. However, PTSD has been associated with hyperarousal (Weston, 2014) and future studies should consider PTSD symptoms and their impact on PR in TBI participants.

In addition, demographic factors, like age and gender, also have an impact on PR. Indeed, PR declines with age (Neiss et al., 2009) and women exhibited higher PR for emotional stimuli than men (Bianchin and Angrilli, 2012). In this review, we noticed differences in age and gender distribution across the TBI participants and control samples. First, TBI patients were generally older than control participants. The mean age was 43 years old for TBI and 37 for control participants. Since PR to emotional stimuli declines with age (Gavazzeni et al., 2008), future studies should further match their samples by age and control the influence of age on their PR results. Secondly, the number of men was higher in TBI samples than in the control samples. This difference is not surprising as TBI occurs more frequently in men. Indeed, TBI usually results from risk-taking behaviors (traffic accidents, contact and extreme sports) or accidents at work in male-dominated professions (i.e., construction, military occupations; Iverson et al., 2011; Colantonio, 2016). In Europe, the prevalence of TBI is significantly higher in men than in women (independently of age, severity, and mechanism of injury), ranging from 55% in Sweden in 2001 to 80% in Ireland in 2005-2007 (Peeters et al., 2015). In The United States, men are approximately 40% more likely to suffer a TBI than women (Coronado et al., 2012). But in our case, these gender-based differences could contribute to the lower PR observed in TBI participants, as men exhibited lower PR than women (Bianchin and Angrilli, 2012; Bari, 2020). Therefore, this lack of gender matching in the samples limits the interpretation of several studies. Accordingly, we recommend considering the effect of gender on emotional responses in future research. Specifically, the persistence of the gender effect on PR after moderate to severe TBI should be investigated.

The amount of time post-injury could also contribute to the PR discrepancies. Most of the studies in this review used an inclusion criterion of at least one-year post-trauma. However, five studies did not use this criterion and included patients less than one year after their injury (Sánchez-Navarro et al., 2005; de Sousa et al., 2011; Williams and Wood, 2012; Aboulafia-Brakha et al., 2016; Amorapanth et al., 2016). According to the neuroplasticity principles, the brain recovers and restructures itself after an injury (Nudo, 2013). After a TBI, spontaneous recovery, which refers to the recovery of neurotransmission in spared tissue near and remote from the site of injury (Levin, 2003), occurs within six months after the injury (Nakamura et al., 2009). However, training can also induce plastic changes in the brain occurring months to years after injury (Chen et al., 2010). Conversely, TBI induced irreversible neurodegenerative changes related to widespread brain atrophy. This atrophy progresses over several months and perhaps even years post-injury (Sidaros et al., 2009). Therefore, studies on PR should preferably include patients only one year after their injury to minimize the influence of these processes on PR.

The heterogeneity of patient injuries between samples may also explain PR discrepancies. While focusing on moderate to severe TBI, our review also integrates studies with patients with mild TBI (Aboulafia-Brakha et al., 2016) or ischemic stroke (Sánchez-Navarro et al., 2005), raising the question of the influence of these differences. Only Aboulafia-Brakha et al. (2016) report higher reactivity for TBI group compared to the control. Their inclusion of patients with mild TBI may contribute to this higher reactivity. Since neurocognitive sequelae and the dysfunction of the ANS highly vary regarding the severity of the TBI (Dikmen et al., 2009; Esterov and Greenwald, 2017; Hilz et al., 2017), each study should include only one type of TBI. Second, with a group including stroke patients, Sánchez-Navarro et al. (2005) reported the valence effect of IAPS pictures while this effect was attenuated in the related studies (Soussignan et al., 2005; Saunders et al., 2006; de Sousa et al., 2010; Williams and Wood, 2012), supporting the potential influence of stroke patients' inclusion on this valence effect. Although with brain injuries of the same size and location, patients with TBI and stroke may experience equal neurological, cognitive, and psychological disorders (Castor and El Massioui, 2018), spontaneous recovery would be about three months shorter after a stroke than after a TBI (Chen et al., 2010). Therefore, it seems appropriate to balance samples between TBI and stroke patients if their injuries and deficit profiles are comparable and respect the one-year post-injury delay (see above). To ensure the recruitment of patients with the same profiles, we recommend assessing psychological and neurocognitive deficits and ensuring that the patients present lesions of the same size and location. This inclusion of studies that did not respect post-injury delay and homogeneity of patients group limited general inferences in our review, but it also permitted us to highlight the major role of both methodological issues in future research.

A last factor that could explain PR discrepancies is the divergence between data recording and recording methods across the studies. These divergences were particularly marked in EDA studies. Regarding data recording, we noted differences or lack of information about the sampling rate. The sampling rate refers to the number of samples of the signal taken per second and is measured in hertz (Hz). The data quality and the possibility of smoothing them depend strongly on the selected sampling rate, but several studies do not specify them. For those that did, most used a sampling rate of 100 Hz, while only Rushby et al. (2016) used 256 Hz. According to the Nyquist theorem, to accurately reproduce the signal the sampling rate must be at least twice as high as the highest frequency in the signal (Landau, 1967). The EDA is considered as a 'slow measure' with a maximal frequency of 35 Hz (Boucsein, 2012); therefore, a sampling of 70 Hz should be enough. However, if the analysis requires the separation of phasic waveforms from tonic signals, which is the case in most of the studies in this review, a sampling no lower than 100-200 Hz is recommended (Figner and Murphy, 2011). In addition, smoothing procedures are sometimes necessary to remove noise from the signal. These procedures, which involve down-sampling, have less impact on the quality of the signal at higher sampling rates. However, the studies in this review did not specify whether they used smoothing methods for EDA data. Given the low sampling rates used in these, these procedures could have an impact on the quality of their data. Therefore, we recommend using sampling rates of at least 100-200 hz. Furthermore, we encourage future studies to specify the values of the sampling rate used and, if applicable, the type of smoothing method used. Discrepancies were also noticeable in the data reduction methods. For example, for the three studies using IAPS pictures, Soussignan et al. (2005) and de Sousa et al. (2010) derived SCR from a pre-stimulus baseline, but its length differed by one second. Sánchez-Navarro et al. (2005) used log transformation [log (SCR-1)] without a pre-stimulus baseline. Regardless of the type of stimulus, this discrepancy in data reduction procedures appears in all EDA studies. Moreover, some authors did not use the baseline to reduce the data or did not specify it (Krpan et al., 2011; Fisher et al., 2015; Aboulafia-Brakha et al., 2016). This lack of methodological specification raises questions as it does not allow for the replicability of studies. Other studies used the baseline before the experiment (de Sousa et al., 2011, 2012; Rushby et al., 2013b; Kelly et al., 2017) or directly before each stimulus (Sánchez-Navarro et al., 2005; Soussignan et al., 2005; de Sousa et al., 2010, 2011; McDonald et al., 2011; Osborne-Crowley et al., 2020). Finally, some authors used log transformation in addition to baseline subtraction (Sánchez-Navarro et al., 2005; de Sousa et al., 2011; McDonald et al., 2011; Kelly et al., 2017). To the best of our knowledge, there is no recognized reference method for physiological data standardization. This is a matter of debate in the EDA literature (Caruelle et al., 2019). The guide issued by the Biopac MP36R & Acknowledge software (Braithwaite et al., 2013) provides some suggestions for EDA data standardization and normalization. First, it is important to distinguish between normalization and standardization methods. The foremost method is intended to correct the data for parametric statistical analysis. If the data are not normally distributed, it is recommended to apply logarithmic or square-root transformations for the SCL and SCR amplitude measurements. As SCR magnitude measurements include data of 0, the log SCR + 1 transformation is recommended for this type of measure. Second, standardization methods are corrections that reduce inter-individual variability and facilitate the comparison of data. There are two common standardization methods. The first is to subtract for SCL or divide for SCR the maximum data from the minimum data taken at rest or during a baseline. But this method is controversial for two reasons: (1) the minimum value depends on the sensitivity of the device and may not correspond to the true value, and (2) the maximum value is inconsistent, even within the same individual (Dawson et al., 2016). To avoid this problem, it is recommended to use a second method of transformation into standard values such as Z-scores, by taking the mean value and standard deviation (Ben-Shakhar, 1985).

To conclude, this review is the first systematic study of PR after moderate-to-severe TBI. This review highlights methodological discrepancies regarding the collection and analysis of physiological data and composition of participants with TBI. For each of these, we propose concrete proposals for improvement in future studies. Furthermore, this systematic analysis made possible to highlight the physiological divergence according to the type of measurement. Based on this, we hypothesized their link with brain injuries after TBI and their impact on the underlying emotional process. We also discuss the role of emotional, sociodemographic on PR. However, studies with multiple simultaneous physiological measures and more homogeneous and controlled TBI samples are needed to test these hypotheses. Finally, the study of PR is the first step in understanding emotional processes and underlying body-brain interactions. The assessment of interoceptive abilities, that is, the perception of the state of the body (Ceunen et al., 2016), is the next step. Indeed, in the emotional process, PR is only effective if the individual is aware of it (Damasio, 2000). Since interoception modulates emotional experience, future studies should also assess this dimension. This will allow for a better and more complete understanding of emotional disorders in this population.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Author contributions

AB designed the study, searched the scientific literature, collected data, performed the analyzes, and drafted the manuscript. SI was an independent reviewer who conducted the cross-check. MR revised the manuscript. All authors have contributed to and approved the final manuscript.

Funding

AB was funded by a doctoral award from the University of Mons. SI was funded by the National Heath Institute of Belgium (F.R.S.-FNRS, Rue d'Egmont 5–1000 Bruxelles, Belgium, grant number: 40008729).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as potential conflicts of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

Aboulafia-Brakha, T., Allain, P., and Ptak, R. (2016). Emotion regulation after traumatic brain injury: distinct patterns of sympathetic activity during anger expression and recognition. *J. Head Trauma Rehabil.* 31, E21–E31. doi: 10.1097/HTR.000000000000171

Adolphs, R. (2001). The neurobiology of social cognition. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 11, 231–239. doi: 10.1016/S0959-4388(00)00202-6

Amorapanth, P., Raghavan, P., Aluru, V., Lu, Y., Cox, S., Tang, A., et al. (2016). Traumatic brain injury results in altered physiologic, but not subjective, responses to emotional stimuli. *Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil.* 97, e29–e30. doi: 10.1016/j. apmr.2016.09.081

Andersson, S., Krogstad, J. M., and Finset, A. (1999). Apathy and depressed mood in acquired brain damage: relationship to lesion localization and psychophysiological reactivity. *Psychol. Med.* 29, 447–456. doi: 10.1017/S0033291798008046

Andriessen, T. M. J. C., Jacobs, B., and Vos, P. E. (2010). Clinical characteristics and pathophysiological mechanisms of focal and diffuse traumatic brain injury. *J. Cell. Mol. Med.* 14, 2381–2392. doi: 10.1111/j.1582-4934.2010.01164.x

Barry, R. J. (2004). Stimulus significance effects in habituation of the phasic and tonic orienting reflex. *Integr. Physiol. Behav. Sci.* 39, 166–179. doi: 10.1007/BF02734437

Bari, D. S. (2020). Gender Differences in Tonic and Phasic Electrodermal Activity Components. Sci. J. Univ. Zakho 8:1. doi: 10.25271/sjuoz.2020.8.1.670

Ben-Shakhar, G. (1985). Standardization within individuals: a simple method to neutralize individual differences in skin conductance. *Psychophysiology* 22, 292–299. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8986.1985.tb01603.x

Bianchin, M., and Angrilli, A. (2012). Gender differences in emotional responses: a psychophysiological study. *Physiol. Behav.* 105, 925–932. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2011.10.031

Billman, G. E. (2013). The LF/HF ratio does not accurately measure cardiac sympathovagal balance. *Front. Physiol.* 4:26. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2013.00026

Bogdanov, V. B., Bogdanova, O. V., Gorlov, D. S., Gorgo, Y. P., Dirckx, J. J. J., Makarchuk, M. Y., et al. (2013). Alexithymia and empathy predict changes in autonomic arousal during affective stimulation. *Cogn. Behav. Neurol.* 26, 121–132. doi: 10.1097/ WNN.000000000000002

Boucsein, W. (2012). "Methods of Electrodermal recording" in *Electrodermal Activity*. ed. W. Boucsein (Boston, MA: Springer US), 87–258.

Bradley, M. M. (2009). Natural selective attention: orienting and emotion. *Psychophysiology* 46, 1–11. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8986.2008.00702.x

Braithwaite, J. J., Watson, D. G., Jones, R., and Rowe, M. (2013). A guide for analysing electrodermal activity (EDA) & skin conductance responses (SCRs) for psychological experiments. *Psychophysiology* 49, 1017–1034.

Bryant, R. A., Marosszeky, J. E., Crooks, J., and Gurka, J. A. (2000). Posttraumatic Stress Disorder After Severe Traumatic Brain Injury. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 157, 629–631. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.157.4.629

Cannon, W. B. (1931). Again the James-Lange and the thalamic theories of emotion. *Psychol. Rev.* 38, 281–295.

Carlson, K. F., Kehle, S. M., Meis, L. A., Greer, N., MacDonald, R., Rutks, I., et al. (2011). Prevalence, assessment, and treatment of mild traumatic brain injury and posttraumatic stress disorder: a systematic review of the evidence. *J. Head Trauma Rehabil.* 26, 103–115. doi: 10.1097/HTR.0b013e3181e50ef1

Caruelle, D., Gustafsson, A., Shams, P., and Lervik-Olsen, L. (2019). The use of electrodermal activity (EDA) measurement to understand consumer emotions – a literature review and a call for action. *J. Bus. Res.* 104, 146–160. doi: 10.1016/j. jbusres.2019.06.041

Castor, N., and El Massioui, F. (2018). Traumatic brain injury and stroke: does recovery differ? *Brain Inj.* 32, 1803–1810. doi: 10.1080/02699052.2018.1508748

Ceunen, E., Vlaeyen, J. W. S., and Van Diest, I. (2016). On the origin of interoception. Front. Psychol. 7:743. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00743

Chen, H., Epstein, J., and Stern, E. (2010). Neural plasticity after acquired brain injury: evidence from functional neuroimaging. *PM&R* 2, S306–S312. doi: 10.1016/j. pmrj.2010.10.006

Christopoulos, G. I., Uy, M. A., and Yap, W. J. (2019). The body and the brain: measuring skin conductance responses to understand the emotional experience. *Organ. Res. Methods* 22, 394–420. doi: 10.1177/1094428116681073

Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences*. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Hillsdale, MI, 20–26.

Colantonio, A. (2016). Sex, gender, and traumatic brain injury: a commentary. Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil. 97, S1–S4. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2015.12.002

Croker, V., and McDonald, S. (2005). Recognition of emotion from facial expression following traumatic brain injury. *Brain Inj.* 19, 787–799. doi: 10.1080/02699050500110033

Coronado, V. G., McGuire, L. C., Sarmiento, K., Bell, J., Lionbarger, M. R., Jones, C. D., et al. (2012). Trends in Traumatic Brain Injury in the U.S. and the public health response: 1995–2009. *J. Safety Res.* 43, 299–307. doi: 10.1016/j.jsr.2012. 08.011

Damasio, A. R. (2000). The Feeling of What Happens: Body and Emotion in the Making of Consciousness. Ist Harvest. San Diego, CA: Harcourt Inc.

Damasio, A. R., Everitt, B. J., and Bishop, D. (1996). The somatic marker hypothesis and the possible functions of the prefrontal cortex [and discussion]. *Philos. Trans. Biol. Sci.* 351, 1413–1420.

Dawson, M. E., Schell, A. M., and Filion, D. L. (2016). "The electrodermal system" in *Handbook of Psychophysiology Cambridge Handbooks in psychology*. eds. G. G. Berntson, J. T. Cacioppo and L. G. Tassinary (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press), 217–243.

de Sousa, A., McDonald, S., and Rushby, J. (2012). Changes in emotional empathy, affective responsivity, and behavior following severe traumatic brain injury. J. Clin. Exp. Neuropsychol. 34, 606–623. doi: 10.1080/13803395.2012.667067

de Sousa, A., McDonald, S., Rushby, J., Li, S., Dimoska, A., and James, C. (2010). Why don't you feel how I feel? Insight into the absence of empathy after severe traumatic brain injury. *Neuropsychologia* 48, 3585–3595. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2010.08.008

de Sousa, A., McDonald, S., Rushby, J., Li, S., Dimoska, A., and James, C. (2011). Understanding deficits in empathy after traumatic brain injury: the role of affective responsivity. *Cortex* 47, 526–535. doi: 10.1016/j.cortex.2010.02.004

de Wied, M., van Boxtel, A., Zaalberg, R., Goudena, P. P., and Matthys, W. (2006). Facial EMG responses to dynamic emotional facial expressions in boys with disruptive behavior disorders. *J. Psychiatr. Res.* 40, 112–121. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2005.08.003

Deb, S., Lyons, I., and Koutzoukis, C. (1999). Neurobehavioural symptoms one year after a head injury. Br. J. Psychiatry 174, 360–365. doi: 10.1192/bjp.174.4.360

Decety, J., and Ickes, W. (2011). *The Social Neuroscience of Empathy*. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.

Dikmen, S. S., Corrigan, J. D., Levin, H. S., Machamer, J., Stiers, W., and Weisskopf, M. G. (2009). Cognitive outcome following traumatic brain injury. *J. Head Trauma Rehabil.* 24, 430–438. doi: 10.1097/HTR.0b013e3181c133e9

Ekman, P., and Friesen, W. V. (1978). Facial Action Coding System: Manual. Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press.

Esterov, D., and Greenwald, B. D. (2017). Autonomic dysfunction after mild traumatic brain injury. *Brain Sci.* 7:100. doi: 10.3390/brainsci7080100

Farrington, D. P. (2003). Methodological quality standards for evaluation research. Ann. Am. Acad. Pol. Soc. Sci. 587, 49–68. doi: 10.1177/0002716202250789

Figner, B., and Murphy, R. O. (2011). "Using skin conductance in judgment and decision making research" in *A Handbook of Process Tracing Methods for Decision Research* (London: Psychology Press), 163–184.

Fisher, A. C., Rushby, J. A., McDonald, S., Parks, N., and Piguet, O. (2015). Neurophysiological correlates of dysregulated emotional arousal in severe traumatic brain injury. *Clin. Neurophysiol.* 126, 314–324. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2014.05.033

Francis, H. M., Fisher, A., Rushby, J. A., and McDonald, S. (2016). Reduced heart rate variability in chronic severe traumatic brain injury: association with impaired emotional and social functioning, and potential for treatment using biofeedback. *Neuropsychol. Rehabil.* 26, 103–125. doi: 10.1080/09602011.2014.1003246

Gavazzeni, J., Wiens, S., and Fischer, H. (2008). Age effects to negative arousal differ for self-report and electrodermal activity. *Psychophysiology* 45, 148–151. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8986.2007.00596.x

Godefroy, O. (2004). Syndromes frontaux et dysexécutifs. *Rev. Neurol.* 160, 899–909. doi: 10.1016/S0035-3787(04)71071-1

Graham, F. K., and Clifton, R. K. (1966). Heart-rate change as a component of the orienting response. *Psychol. Bull.* 65, 305–320. doi: 10.1037/h0023258

Grapperon, J., Pignol, A. C., and Vion-Dury, J. (2012). The measurement of electrodermal activity. *Encéphale* 38, 149–155. doi: 10.1016/j.encep.2011.05.004

Hedges, L. V., and Olkin, I. (1985). Statistical Methods for Meta-Analysis. 1st. Orlando: Academic Press.

Heller, A. S., Lapate, R. C., Mayer, K. E., and Davidson, R. J. (2014). The face of negative affect: trial-by-trial corrugator responses to negative pictures are positively associated with amygdala and negatively associated with ventromedial prefrontal cortex activity. *J. Cogn. Neurosci.* 26, 2102–2110. doi: 10.1162/jocn_a_00622

Hilz, M. J., Wang, R., Markus, J., Ammon, F., Hösl, K. M., Flanagan, S. R., et al. (2017). Severity of traumatic brain injury correlates with long-term cardiovascular autonomic dysfunction. *J. Neurol.* 264, 1956–1967. doi: 10.1007/s00415-017-8581-1

Hornak, J., Rolls, E. T., and Wade, D. (1996). Face and voice expression identification in patients with emotional and behavioural changes following ventral frontal lobe damage. *Neuropsychologia* 34, 247–261.

Hyde, J., Ryan, K. M., and Waters, A. M. (2019). Psychophysiological markers of fear and anxiety. *Curr. Psychiatry Rep.* 21:56. doi: 10.1007/s11920-019-1036-x

Inman, C. S., Bijanki, K. R., Bass, D. I., Gross, R. E., Hamann, S., and Willie, J. T. (2020). Human amygdala stimulation effects on emotion physiology and emotional experience. *Neuropsychologia* 145:106722. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2018.03.019

Iverson, K. M., Hendricks, A. M., Kimerling, R., Krengel, M., Meterko, M., Stolzmann, K. L., et al. (2011). Psychiatric diagnoses and neurobehavioral symptom severity among OEF/OIF VA patients with deployment-related traumatic brain injury: a gender comparison. *Womens Health Issues* 21, S210–S217. doi: 10.1016/j. whi.2011.04.019

James, W. (1884). II.—what is an emotion? *Mind* os–IX, 188–205. doi: 10.1093/mind/ os-IX.34.188

Kelly, M., McDonald, S., and Rushby, J. (2017). Ostracism and physiological arousal following traumatic brain injury. *Brain Inj.* 31, 550–559. doi: 10.1080/02699052.2016.1271457

Kettle, J. W. L., Andrewes, D. G., and Allen, N. B. (2006). Lateralization of the startle reflex circuit in humans: an examination with monaural probes following unilateral temporal lobe resection. *Behav. Neurosci.* 120, 24–39. doi: 10.1037/0735-7044.120.1.24

Krpan, K. M., Stuss, D. T., and Anderson, N. D. (2011). Planful versus avoidant coping: behavior of individuals with moderate-to-severe traumatic brain injury during a psychosocial stress test. *J. Int. Neuropsychol. Soc.* 17, 248–255. doi: 10.1017/S1355617710001499

Laborde, S., Mosley, E., and Thayer, J. F. (2017). Heart rate variability and cardiac vagal tone in psychophysiological research – recommendations for experiment planning, data analysis, and data reporting. *Front. Psychol.* 8:213. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00213

Lacey, J. I. (1967). "Somatic response patterning and stress: some revisions of activation theory" in *Psychological Stress: Issues in Research*. eds. D. M. Appley and R. T. Diritto (New York, NY: Appleton-Century-Crofts), 14–42.

Landau, H. J. (1967). Sampling, data transmission, and the Nyquist rate. *Proc. IEEE* 55, 1701–1706. doi: 10.1109/PROC.1967.5962

Lane, R. D. (2000). "Levels of emotional awareness : Neurological, psychological, and social perspectives" in *The Handbook of Emotional Intelligence: Theory, Development, Assessment, and Application at Home, School, and in the Workplace.* eds. Jossey-Bass, 171–191.

Lang, P. J., Bradley, M. M., and Cuthbert, B. N. (1990). Emotion, attention, and the startle reflex. *Psychol. Rev.* 97, 377–395. doi: 10.1037/0033-295X.97.3.377

Lang, P. J., Bradley, M. M., and Cuthbert, B. N. (1997). International affective picture system (IAPS): technical manual and affective ratings. *NIMH Center for the Study of Emotion and Attention* 1, 39–58.

Lang, P. J., Davis, M., and Öhman, A. (2000). Fear and anxiety: animal models and human cognitive psychophysiology. J. Affect. Disord. 61, 137–159. doi: 10.1016/S0165-0327(00)00343-8

Lang, H., Tuovinen, T., and Valleala, P. (1964). Amygdaloid after discharge and galvanic skin response. *Electroencephalogr. Clin. Neurophysiol.* 16, 366–374. doi: 10.1016/0013-4694(64)90070-7

Lanteaume, L., Khalfa, S., Régis, J., Marquis, P., Chauvel, P., and Bartolomei, F. (2007). Emotion induction after direct intracerebral stimulations of human amygdala. *Cereb. Cortex* 17, 1307–1313. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhl041

Lazarus, R. S. (1991). Progress on a cognitive-motivational-relational theory of emotion. *Am. Psychol.* 46, 819–834. doi: 10.1037//0003-066x.46.8.819

Levin, H. S. (2003). Neuroplasticity following non-penetrating traumatic brain injury. *Brain Inj.* 17, 665–674. doi: 10.1080/0269905031000107151

Lorber, M. F. (2004). Psychophysiology of aggression, psychopathy, and conduct problems: a meta-analysis. *Psychol. Bull.* 130, 531-552. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.130.4.531

Lydon, S., Healy, O., Reed, P., Mulhern, T., Hughes, B. M., and Goodwin, M. S. (2016). A systematic review of physiological reactivity to stimuli in autism. *Dev. Neurorehabil.* 19, 335–355. doi: 10.3109/17518423.2014.971975

McDonald, S. (2013). Impairments in social cognition following severe traumatic brain injury. J. Int. Neuropsychol. Soc. 19, 231–246. doi: 10.1017/s1355617712001506

McDonald, S., Rushby, J., Li, S., de Sousa, A., Dimoska, A., James, C., et al. (2011). The influence of attention and arousal on emotion perception in adults with severe traumatic brain injury. *Int. J. Psychophysiol.* 82, 124–131. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2011.01.014

Milders, M. (2019). Relationship between social cognition and social behaviour following traumatic brain injury. *Brain Inj.* 33, 62–68. doi: 10.1080/02699052.2018.1531301

Milders, M., Fuchs, S., and Crawford, J. R. (2003). Neuropsychological impairments and changes in emotional and social behaviour following severe traumatic brain injury. J. Clin. Exp. Neuropsychol. 25, 157–172. doi: 10.1076/jcen.25.2.157.13642

Nagai, Y., Critchley, H. D., Featherstone, E., Trimble, M. R., and Dolan, R. J. (2004). Activity in ventromedial prefrontal cortex covaries with sympathetic skin conductance level: A physiological account of a "default mode" of brain function. *NeuroImage* 22, 243–251. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2004.01.019

Nakamura, T., Hillary, F. G., and Biswal, B. B. (2009). Resting network plasticity following brain injury. *PLoS One* 4:e8220. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0008220

Neiss, M. B., Leigland, L. A., Carlson, N. E., and Janowsky, J. S. (2009). Age differences in perception and awareness of emotion. *Neurobiol. Aging* 30, 1305–1313. doi: 10.1016/j. neurobiolaging.2007.11.007

Nudo, R. (2013). Recovery after brain injury: mechanisms and principles. Front. Hum. Neurosci. 7:887. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2013.00887

Nummenmaa, L., Hirvonen, J., Parkkola, R., and Hietanen, J. K. (2008). Is emotional contagion special? An fMRI study on neural systems for affective and cognitive empathy. *NeuroImage* 43, 571–580. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008.08.014

Osborne-Crowley, K., Wilson, E., De Blasio, F., Wearne, T., Rushby, J., and McDonald, S. (2020). Empathy for people with similar experiences: can the perception-action model explain empathy impairments after traumatic brain injury? *J. Clin. Exp. Neuropsychol.* 42, 28–41. doi: 10.1080/13803395.2019.1662375

Peeters, W., van den Brande, R., Polinder, S., Brazinova, A., Steyerberg, E. W., Lingsma, H. F., et al. (2015). Epidemiology of traumatic brain injury in Europe. *Acta Neurochir.* 157, 1683–1696. doi: 10.1007/s00701-015-2512-7

Phillips, M. L., Drevets, W. C., Rauch, S. L., and Lane, R. (2003). Neurobiology of emotion perception I: the neural basis of normal emotion perception. *Biol. Psychiatry* 54, 504–514. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(03)00168-9

Rushby, J. A., Fisher, A. C., McDonald, S., Murphy, A., and Finnigan, S. (2013a). Autonomic and neural correlates of dysregulated arousal in severe traumatic brain injury. *Int. J. Psychophysiol.* 89, 460–465. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2013.05. 009

Rushby, J. A., McDonald, S., Fisher, A. C., Kornfeld, E. J., De Blasio, F. M., Parks, N., et al. (2016). Brain volume loss contributes to arousal and empathy dysregulation following severe traumatic brain injury. *NeuroImage Clin.* 12, 607–614. doi: 10.1016/j. nicl.2016.09.017

Rushby, J. A., McDonald, S., Randall, R., de Sousa, A., Trimmer, E., and Fisher, A. (2013b). Impaired emotional contagion following severe traumatic brain injury. *Int. J. Psychophysiol.* 89, 466–474. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2013.06.013

Sánchez-Navarro, J. P., Martínez-Selva, J. M., and Román, F. (2005). Emotional response in patients with frontal brain damage: effects of affective valence and information content. *Behav. Neurosci.* 119, 87–97. doi: 10.1037/0735-7044.119.1.87

Sarchiapone, M., Gramaglia, C., Iosue, M., Carli, V., Mandelli, L., Serretti, A., et al. (2018). The association between electrodermal activity (EDA), depression and suicidal behaviour: a systematic review and narrative synthesis. *BMC Psychiatry* 18:22. doi: 10.1186/s12888-017-1551-4

Saunders, J. C., McDonald, S., and Richardson, R. (2006). Loss of emotional experience after traumatic brain injury: findings with the startle probe procedure. *Neuropsychology* 20, 224–231. doi: 10.1037/0894-4105.20.2.224

Scherer, K. R. (2005). What are emotions? And how can they be measured? *Soc. Sci. Inf.* 44, 695–729. doi: 10.1177/0539018405058216

Shaffer, F., and Ginsberg, J. P. (2017). An overview of heart rate variability metrics and norms. *Front. Public Health* 5:258. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2017.00258

Sidaros, A., Skimminge, A., Liptrot, M. G., Sidaros, K., Engberg, A. W., Herning, M., et al. (2009). Long-term global and regional brain volume changes following severe traumatic brain injury: a longitudinal study with clinical correlates. *NeuroImage* 44, 1–8. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008.08.030

Sonnby-Borgström, M. (2002). Automatic mimicry reactions as related to differences in emotional empathy. Scand. J. Psychol. 43, 433–443. doi: 10.1111/1467-9450.00312

Soussignan, R., Ehrlé, N., Henry, A., Schaal, B., and Bakchine, S. (2005). Dissociation of emotional processes in response to visual and olfactory stimuli following frontotemporal damage. *Neurocase* 11, 114–128. doi: 10.1080/13554790590922513

Stéfan, A., and Mathé, J.-F. (2016). What are the disruptive symptoms of behavioral disorders after traumatic brain injury? A systematic review leading to recommendations for good practices. *Ann. Phys. Rehabil. Med.* 59, 5–17. doi: 10.1016/j. rehab.2015.11.002

Stuss, D. T. (2011). Traumatic brain injury: relation to executive dysfunction and the frontal lobes. *Curr. Opin. Neurol.* 24, 584–589. doi: 10.1097/wco.0b013e3283 4c7eb9

Tate, R. L. (1999). Executive dysfunction and characterological changes after traumatic brain injury: two sides of the same coin? *Cortex* 35, 39–55. doi: 10.1016/s0010-9452(08)70784-6

Vila, J., Guerra, P., Muñoz, M. A., Vico, C., Viedma-del Jesús, M. I., Delgado, L. C., et al. (2007). Cardiac defense: from attention to action. *Int. J. Psychophysiol.* 66, 169–182. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2007.07.004

Weston, C. S. E. (2014). Posttraumatic stress disorder: a theoretical model of the hyperarousal subtype. Front. Psych. 5:37. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2014.00037

Williams, W. H., Evans, J. J., Wilson, B. A., and Needham, P. (2002). Brief report: prevalence of post-traumatic stress disorder symptoms after severe traumatic brain injury in a representative community sample. *Brain Inj.* 16, 673–679. doi: 10.1080/02699050210128861

Williams, C., and Wood, R. L. (2012). Affective modulation of the startle reflex following traumatic brain injury. *J. Clin. Exp. Neuropsychol.* 34, 948–961. doi: 10.1080/13803395.2012. 703641

Frontiers in Psychology

Paving the way for a greater understanding of human behavior

Discover the latest **Research Topics**



Contact us



